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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED December 31, 2013

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number: 001-32270

STONEMOR PARTNERS L.P.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 80-010315¢

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

311 Veterans Highway, Suite E
Levittown, Pennsylvania 19056
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area cod€215) 826-2800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) d¢fie Act:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which register
Common Units New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢fie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edb#turities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes[ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastia@s. Yes[x] No [



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted @auntstio Rule 405 of Regulation5¢8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grbnths
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgeléfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 11l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdited, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reportirmpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act (Check one):

Large accelerated file O Accelerated filel

Non-accelerated file [ (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of the common units lineltbn-affiliates of the registrant was approxiehat522.5 million as of June 28,
2013 based on $25.16 per unit, the closing pridce@tommon units as reported on the New York SEbahange on that date.!

The number of the registrant’s outstanding commuitswat March 1, 2014 was 23,690,276.

Documents incorporated by reference: None

1 The aggregate market value of the common unitfosh above equals the number of the registrazdimmon units outstanding, reduced
by the number of common units held by executivecefs, directors and persons owning 10% or motaefegistrant’s common units,
multiplied by the last reported sale price for tegistrant’s common units on June 28, 2013, theblasiness day of the registrant’'s most
recently completed second fiscal quarter. The médion provided shall in no way be construed aadmission that any person whose
holdings are excluded from this figure is an &dfdi of the registrant or that any person whoseimgddare included in this figure is not an
affiliate of the registrant and any such admisssonereby disclaimed. The information provided irerg included solely for record
keeping purposes of the Securities and Exchangen@igsion.
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Iltem 1. Business
Overview

We were formed as a Delaware limited partnershifggril 2004 to own and operate the assets and bsses previously owned and
operated by Cornerstone Family Services, Inc., (€rstone”), which was converted into CFSI LLCinaitied liability company, prior to our
initial public offering of common units represemgitimited partner interests on September 20, 2G@4nerstone had been founded in 1999 by
members of our management team and a private dguigtment firm, which we refer to as McCown Desuw, in order to acquire a group of
123 cemetery properties and 4 funeral homes. OreMber 30, 2010, McCown De Leeuw transferred cedhits interests to MDC IV Trust
U/T/A November 30, 2010, MDC IV Associates TrusTIA November 30, 2010 and Delta Trust U/T/A Novem®@, 2010, which we
collectively refer to as the MDC IV Liquidating Tsts, and McCown De Leeuw was subsequently terndnétethis Annual Report on Form
10-K, unless the context otherwise requires, refegs to “we,” “us,” “our,” “StoneMor”, the “Compariyor the “Partnership” are to StoneMor
Partners L.P. and its subsidiaries.

We are currently the second largest owner and tgreshcemeteries in the United States. As of Ddoen31, 2013, we operated 277
cemeteries in 27 states and Puerto Rico. We owroR8fese cemeteries and we manage or operatertragning 18 under management or
operating agreements with the nonprofit cemeterpamations that own the cemeteries. As of DecerBtheR013, we also owned and operated
90 funeral homes in 18 states and Puerto Ricoyfue of these funeral homes are located on thengi®of the cemeteries that we own.

The cemetery products and services that we sélldeche following:

Interment Rights Merchandise Service:
 burial lots  burial vaults * installation of burial vaults
» lawn crypts » caskets * installation of caskets
* mausoleum crypts » grave markers and grave marker « installation of other cemetery
» cremation niches bases merchandise
» perpetual care righ e memorials  other service item

We sell these products and services both at the dindleath, which we refer to asreged, and prior to the time of death, which werregdi
as pre-need. Our sales of real property, includimgal lots (with and without installed vaults)a and mausoleum crypts and cremation
niches, generate qualifying income sufficient ferta be treated as a partnership for federal inclameurposes. In 2013, we performed 45,47/
burials and sold 30,543 interment rights (net afoedlations). Based on our sales of interment spac2013, our cemeteries have an
aggregated weighted average remaining sales li2d0fyears.

Our cemetery properties are located in Alabamafd®aia, Colorado, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawdinois, Indiana, lowa, Kansa
Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan, Mississippi, MissouXew Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, Pemnagyh, Puerto Rico, Rhode Island,
South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, Washington\&iedt Virginia. One cemetery in Hawaii that we doeghin December 2007 is still
awaiting regulatory approval and has not yet besveyed to us. Our cemetery operations accountegpforoximately 81.8%, 85.3% and
86.7% of our revenues in 2013, 2012 and 2011, ctispdy.

Our primary funeral home products are caskets aladed items. Our funeral home services includesglbation, the removal and
preparation of remains, and the use of funeral hiamiéties for visitation and prayer services.

Our funeral homes are located in Alabama, ArkanSa$fornia, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, W&nd, Mississippi, Missouri, Ohit
Oregon, Pennsylvania, Puerto Rico, South Carolieanessee, Virginia, Washington and West Virgi@ar funeral home revenues accountec
for approximately 18.2%, 14.7% and 13.3% of oueraies in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Owralihome operations are conducted
through various wholly-owned subsidiaries thatteeated as corporations for U.S. federal incomeptaposes.

Operations
Segment Reporting and Related Information

We have five distinct reportable segments whichctassified as Cemetery Operations — Southeaste@eynOperations — Northeast,
Cemetery Operations — West, Funeral Homes, andoCaie
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We have chosen this level of organization and djssgpation of reportable segments due to the fattaheach reportable segment has
unique characteristics that set it apart from offegments; b) we have organized our managemerdrperisat these operational levels; and c) i
is the level at which our chief decision makers atiger senior management evaluate performance.

Our Cemetery Operations segments sell intermehtsjgaskets, burial vaults, cremation niches, srarind other cemetery related
merchandise. The nature of our customers diffeemah of our regionally based Cemetery Operatiegmgnts. Cremation rates in the West
region are substantially higher than they are @Sbutheast region. Rates in the Northeast regimthto be somewhere between the two.
Statistics indicate that customers who select ctiemaervices have certain attributes that diffenf customers who select other methods of
interment. The disaggregation of cemetery operatinto the three distinct regional segments is gritndue to these differences in customer
attributes along with the previously mentioned nggmaent structure and senior management analysioo@bgies.

Our Funeral Homes segment offers a range of fumetaled services such as family consultationyéimeoval of and preparation of
remains and the use of funeral home facilities/fsitation and prayer services. These servicesliatenctly different than the cemetery
merchandise and services sold and provided by émee®ry Operations segments.

Our Corporate segment includes various home offiting and administrative expenses that are matable to the other operating
segments.

Cemetery Operations

Our cemetery operations include sales of cemetgeyment rights, merchandise and services anddffermance of cemetery
maintenance and other services. An interment gglitles a customer to a burial space in one ofceureteries and the perpetual care of that
burial space. Burial spaces, or lots, are pardgbsaperty that hold interred human remains. Oumeteries require a burial vault to be place
each burial lot. A burial vault is a rectangulantner, usually made of concrete but also madstesfl or plastic, which sits in the burial lot
in which the casket is placed. The top of the bhwaalt is buried approximately 18 to 24 inchesowethe surface of the ground, and the caske
is placed inside the vault. Burial vaults prevertond settling that otherwise occurs when a cagiteted directly in the ground, begins to
decay creating uneven ground surface. Groundrsgtifipically results in higher maintenance cost$ ianreased potential liability for slip-and-
fall accidents on the property. Lawn crypts areres of closely spaced burial lots with preinst@iVaults and other improvements, such as
landscaping, sprinkler systems and drainage. A olausi crypt is an above ground structure that neagldsigned for a particular customer,
which we refer to as a private mausoleum, or it to@y larger building that serves multiple custanethich we refer to as a community
mausoleum. Cremation niches are spaces in whichghes remaining after cremation are stored. Ciemaiches are often part of community
mausoleums, although we sell a variety of crematiches to accommodate our customers’ preferences.

Grave markers, monuments and memorials are aboundproducts that serve as memorials by showingisshemembered, the dates
of birth and death and other pertinent informatibimese markers, monuments and memorials includglsiptates, such as those used in a
community mausoleum or cremation niche, flush--ghound granite or bronze markers, headstones@e ktone obelisks.

One of the principal services we provide at our emies is an “opening and closing,” which is thggihg and refilling of burial spaces
to install the vault and place the casket intovihiglt. With pre-need sales, there are usually tpenings and closings. During the initial
opening and closing, we install the burial vaulttie burial space. We usually perform this sergivertly after the customer signs a pre-need
contract. Advance installation allows us to withdtthe related funds from our merchandise trustkimgathe amount in excess of our cost to
purchase and install the vault available to uther uses, and eliminates future merchandisengistquirements for the burial vault and its
installation. During the final opening and closimgs remove the dirt above the vault, open theflithe vault, place the casket into the vault,
close the vault lid and replace the ground coveth\at-need sales, we typically perform the inibpkening and closing at the time we perform
the final opening and closing. Our other serviceude the installation of other cemetery merchsadind the perpetual care related to
interment rights.

As of December 31, 2013, we provided services toelBieteries under management or operating agregméhtthe nonprofit cemetery
corporations that own the cemeteries. These nomperheteries are organized as such either bectatgelaw requires cemetery properties to
be owned by nonprofit entities, such as in Newelerer because they were originally establisheoaprofit entities. We have voting rights,
along with member owners of burial spaces, in the Rew Jersey nonprofit cemeteries as a resutwiing all of their outstanding certificates
of indebtedness or interest. To obtain the benéfirofessional management services, the remaitngonprofit cemeteries have entered into
agreements with us. The agreements under whiclperate these 18 nonprofit cemeteries generally teawes ranging from 3 to 40 years (but
some are subject to early termination rights arljations) and provide us with management or ojiegates that approximate what we would
earn if we owned those cemeteries and held thefor-iprofit entities.
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In 2013, of the 18 cemeteries we operated undengenent or operating agreements, 2 cemeterieséhbegan operating under long-
term operating agreements in 2009 did not quakfaequisitions for accounting purposes. As a readtdid not consolidate all of the existing
assets and liabilities related to these cemetanNeshave consolidated the existing assets andifiabiof each of these cemeteri@serchandis
and perpetual care trusts as variable interediengince we control and receive the benefitsadosibrb any losses from operating these trusts
Under these long-term operating agreements, whiglsibject to certain termination provisions, we thie exclusive operator of these
cemeteries. We earn revenues related to salesrchamralise, services, and interment rights and iegpenses related to such sales and the
maintenance and upkeep of these cemeteries. Upnmtgion of these contracts, we will retain altlog benefits and related contractual
obligations incurred from sales generated durirgcthntract period. We have also recognized theiegismerchandise liabilities assumed as
part of these agreements.

Funeral Home Operations

As of December 31, 2013, we owned, operated anavamaged 90 funeral homes, 41 of which are locaetthe grounds of cemetery
properties that we own. Our funeral homes offearaye of services to meet a family’s funeral negd$uding family consultation, the removal
and preparation of remains, provision of casketsratated funeral merchandise, the use of funemalehfacilities for visitation, worship and
funeral services and transportation services. Rlit@me operations primarily generate revenues fitbmeed sales. Our funeral home segmel
has continued to grow and has become a largeopattr total revenues in each of the last threesyea

We purchase caskets from Thacker Caskets, Incransigpply agreement that expires on December@®5.2This agreement entitles us
to specified discounts on the price of casketsiugs Thacker Caskets, Inc. the right of first safiuon all of our casket purchases. We do not
have minimum purchase requirements under this guggpkeement.

Cremation Products and Services

We operate crematories at some of our cemeterigeral homes, but our primary cremation operatiare sales of receptacles for
cremated remains, such as urns, and the inurnnientmated remains in niches or scattering gardéftiéle cremation products and services
usually cost less than traditional burial prodwstd services, they yield higher margins on a peaggnbasis and take up less space than bt
We sell cremation products and services on botteaiped and at-need basis.

Seasonality

The death care business is relatively stable aadigtable. Although we experience seasonal incegasdeaths due to extreme weather
conditions and winter flu, these increases havéistorically had any significant impact on ouruks of operations. In addition, we perform
fewer initial openings and closings in the wintdram the ground is frozen.

Sales Contracts

Pre-need products and services are typically soldnoinstallment basis. At-need products and sesvéce generally required to be paid
for in full in cash by the customer at the timesafe. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysisrancial Condition and Results of
Operations—Overview—Cemetery Operations—Pre-nedésSand “—At-need Sales” for a description of pue-need and at-need products
and services.

Trusts

Sales of cemetery products and services are subjactariety of state regulations. In accordanith these regulations, we are required
to establish and fund two types of trusts, merclsntlusts and perpetual care trusts, to ensuteviéhaan meet our future obligations. Our
funding obligations are generally equal to a petags of sales proceeds of the products and semieesll. For a detailed discussion of these
trusts, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysisrancial Condition and Results of Operations—sfing.”

Sales Personnel, Training and Marketing

As of December 31, 2013, we employed 834 full-tonenmissioned salespeople and 132 full-time salpp@tiand telemarketing
employees. We had eight regional sales vice presdripporting our cemetery operations. They wapparted by two Divisional Vice
Presidents of Sales who report to our Chief Opegadfficer. Individual salespersons are typicatlgdted at the cemeteries they serve and
report directly to the cemetery sales manager. We Imade a strong commitment to the ongoing edurcatid training of our sales force and
to salesperson retention in order to ensure oupmess receive the highest quality customer seranmketo ensure compliance with all
applicable requirements. Our training program idekiclassroom training at our headquarters, fraidihg, continuously updated training
materials that utilize media, such as the Interfioetinteractive training and participation in irglty seminars. We place special emphasis on
training property sales managers, who are key altsie a successful pre-need sales program.

5
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We reward our salespeople with incentives for gatiey new customers. Sales force performance isiatesl by sales budgets, sales mi
and closing ratios, which are equal to the numibepotracts written, divided by the number of preagions that are made. Substantially all of
our sales force is compensated based solely onrpsahce. Commissions are augmented with variougsand incentive packages to ensu
high quality, motivated sales force. We pay comioissto our sales personnel on pre-need contrasisdoupon a percentage of the value of
the underlying contracts. Such commissions vaneddmg upon the type of merchandise and servidds\8te also pay commissions on at-
need contracts that are generally equal to a fasedentage of the contract amount. In addition,etery managers receive an override
commission that is equal to a percentage of thesgsales price of the contracts entered into bgdhespeople assigned to the cemeteries the)
manage.

We generate sales leads through focused telemagkelirect mail, television advertising, funeralda-up and sales force cold calling,
with the assistance of database mining and othékatiag resources. We have created a marketingrahegat to allow us to use more
sophisticated marketing techniques to more effettifocus our telemarketing and direct sales effdgles leads are referred to the sales forc
to schedule an appointment, most often at the mests home. We believe these activities complylimaterial respects with legal
requirements.

Acquisitions and Long-Term Operating Agreements

Refer to Note 13 of our consolidated financialestants in “Item 8” of this Form 10-K for a more ai&td discussion of our acquisitions
and long-term operating agreements. A summary pfoquisition activities is as follows:

2013

We completed two acquisitions during the year eridecember 31, 2013 to acquire one cemetery in Nisgand six funeral homes in
Florida. The aggregate fair value of the total @destion for these acquisitions was $21.6 milli@m September 26, 2013, we entered into th
Lease and the Management Agreement with the Arcled® of Philadelphia pursuant to which we will gperl3 cemeteries in Pennsylvania
for a term of 60 years, subject to certain clogsiogditions and subject to early termination in @@rcircumstances. While there is no assur:
we expect to close this transaction in the first bB2014.

2012

We completed six acquisitions during the year eridledember 31, 2012 to acquire 5 cemeteries andrigfdl homes. The acquired
properties were located in Ohio, Illinois, Calif@nOregon and Florida. The aggregate fair valudefotal consideration paid for these
acquisitions was $34.9 million. Effective March 2012, we terminated a long-term operating agre¢emered into in 2010 related to 3
cemeteries with the Archdiocese of Detroit, resgliin a gain of $1.7 million.

2011

We completed six acquisitions during the year eridlecember 31, 2011 to acquire 17 cemeteries aridnE2al homes. The acquired
properties were located in Mississippi, Missourdrth Carolina, Puerto Rico, Tennessee and Virgifiiee aggregate fair value of the total
consideration paid for these acquisitions was $tr6lon. On December 30, 2011, we sold one funboahe in West Virginia for $0.1 millior
resulting in a gain of $0.1 million.

Competition

Our cemeteries and funeral homes generally sestemers that live within a 10 to 15-mile radiusagfroperty’s location. Within this
localized area, we face competition from other denres and funeral homes located in the area. Bfd$tese cemeteries and funeral homes al
independently owned and operated, and most of thwesers and operators are smaller than we are aralfewer resources than we do. We
generally face limited competition from the two paly held death care companies that have U.S.aijmers —Service Corporation
International and Carriage Services, Inc. — as tteypot directly operate cemeteries in the sama lgeographic areas where we operate.

Within a localized area of competition, we compatenarily for at-need sales because many of thepeddently owned, local
competitors either do not have pre-need sales anogjor have pre-need programs that are not asapeeehs ours. Most of these competitors
do not have as many of the resources that areatailo us to launch and grow a substantial prel-sakes program. The number of customers
that cemeteries and funeral homes are able t@aisréargely a function of reputation and heritagiéhough competitive pricing, professional
service and attractive, well maintained and coreetty located facilities are also important factdrse sale of cemetery and funeral home
products and services on a pre-need basis hassicgly been used by many companies as an impantarkieting tool. Due to the importance
of reputation and heritage, increases in custorase lare usually gained over a long period of time.

6
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Competitors within a localized area have an adwntaver us if a potential customer’s family membaesalready buried in the
competitor's cemetery. If either of the two publitield death care companies identified above opérair in the future were to operate,
cemeteries within close proximity of our cemetertbey may have a competitive advantage over uausecthey have greater financial
resources available to them due to their size andss to the capital markets.

We believe that we currently face limited competitfor cemetery acquisitions. The two publicly he&hth care companies identified
above, as well as Stewart Enterprises, Inc., wiviab acquired by Service Corporation Internationddécember 2013, have historically been
the industry’s primary consolidators but have liy@ertailed cemetery acquisition activity since9®9Furthermore, these companies continue
to generate a majority of their revenues from fahBome operations. Based on the relative levetepfetery operations and funeral home
operations of these publicly traded death care emis, which are disclosed in their SEC filings,hvedieve that we are the only public death
care company that focuses a significant portioitsoéfforts on cemetery operations.

Requlation
General

Our operations are subject to regulation, supemwiand licensing under federal, state and locas laWwich impacts the goods and serv
that we may sell and the manner in which we magiglrgoods and services.

Cooling-Off Legislation

Each of the states where our current cemeteryametél home properties are located has “coolingtedfislation with respect to pre-
need sales of cemetery and funeral home produdtseamices. This legislation generally requiresousefund proceeds from pre-need sales
contracts if canceled by the customer for any neagithin three to thirty days, or in certain statedil death, from the date of the contract,
depending on the state (and some states permiékatian and require refund beyond that time). Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, also
requires a cooling-off period of three businesssday door to door sales, during which time a cacttmay be cancelled entitling a customer tc
refund of the funds paid.

Trusting

Sales of cemetery interment rights and pre-neexs siflcemetery and funeral home merchandise amitesrare generally subject to
trusting requirements imposed by state laws in rabtie states where we operate. See “ManagemBrgtsission and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Trusting.”

Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z

Our pre-need installment contracts are subjediaedederal Truth-in-Lending Act, or TILA, and thegulations thereunder, which are
referred to as Regulation Z. TILA and Regulatioprdmote the informed use of consumer credit by iretguus to disclose, among other
things, the annual percentage rate, finance chamggsmount financed when extending credit to coess.

Other Consumer Credit-Related Laws and Regulations

As a provider of consumer credit and a businedsgiaerally deals with consumers, we are subjecatmus other state and federal laws
covering matters such as credit discrimination,use of credit reports, identity theft, the hanglof consumer information, consumer privacy,
marketing and advertising, debt collection, extensiof credit to service members, and prohibitimmsinfair or deceptive trade practices.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Proéction Act, or Dodd-Frank

Dodd-Frank, signed into law by President Obamautyn 21, 2010, created a new federal Bureau of Coesurinancial Protection, or the
Bureau. In addition to transferring to the Bureal@+writing authority for nearly all federal consanfinance-related laws and giving the
Bureau rule-writing authority in other areas, Ddelégnk empowers the Bureau to conduct examinatind$eang enforcement actions against
certain consumer credit providers and other estitféering consumer financial products or servit#hile not presently subject to examination
by the Bureau, we potentially could be in the fatir connection with our pre-need installment cacts. The Bureau also has authority to
conduct investigations and bring enforcement astagainst providers of consumer financial serviceduding providers over which it may
not currently have examination authority. The Buresay seek penalties and other relief on behatboSumers that are substantially in exces:
of the remedies available under such laws pri@ddd-Frank. On July 21, 2011, the Bureau officiasumed rule-writing and enforcement
authority for most federal consumer finance laveswall as authority to write rules to prohibit uinfaleceptive or abusive practices related to
consumer financial products and services.
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Telemarketing Laws

We are subject to the requirements of two fedeedlites governing telemarketing practices, thepghelae Consumer Protection Act, or
TCPA, and the Telemarketing and Consumer Frauddmde Prevention Act, or TCFAPA. These statutesosepsignificant penalties on thc
who fail to comply with their mandates. The Fed€&ammunications Commission, or FCC, is the fedagaincy with authority to enforce the
TCPA, and the FTC, has jurisdiction under the TCBAPhe FTC and FCC jointly administer a nationab ‘bt call” registry, which
consumers can join in order to prevent unwantezhtatketing calls. Primarily as a result of impletaéion of the “do not call” legislation and
regulations, the percentage of our pre-need salesrgted from telemarketing leads has decreasatasuilally in the past ten years. We are
also subject to similar telemarketing consumerequiddn laws in all states in which we currently gie. These states’ statutes similarly permit
consumers to prevent unwanted telephone solicitsitim addition, in cases where telephone solioitatare permitted, there are various
restrictions and requirements under state and &tew in connection with such calls.

Occupational Safety and Health Act and EnvironmenthLaw Requirements

We are subject to the requirements of the OccupaltiBafety and Health Act, or OSHA, and comparatdée statutes. OSHA'’s
regulatory requirement known as the Hazard Comnatimic Standard, the Emergency Planning and Commight-to-Know Act
(“EPCRA”") and similar state statutes require usefmort information about hazardous materials usedaintained for our operations to state,
federal and local authorities. We may also be suitgeTier 1 or Tier 2 Emergency and Hazardous Gbaninventory reporting requirements
under EPCRA depending on the amount of hazardotsriaa maintained on-site at a particular facilye are also subject to the federal
Americans with Disabilities Act and similar laws iwh, among other things, may require that we modify facilities to comply with minimum
accessibility requirements for disabled persons.

Federal Trade Commission

Our funeral home operations are comprehensivelylated by the FTC under Section 5 of the Federadl@ Commission Act and a trade
regulation rule for the funeral industry promulghteereunder, referred to as the “Funeral Ruleg Fhneral Rule requires funeral service
providers to disclose the prices for their goods services as soon as the subject of price ansgsliscussion with a potential customer (this
entails presenting various itemized price listhé consultation is in person, and readily ansvgeaihprice-related questions posed over the
telephone), and to offer their goods and servicearounbundled basis. The Funeral Rule also prshitisrepresentations in connection with
our sale of goods and services, and requireshibatdnsumer receive an itemized statement of tbdsgand services purchased. Through thes
regulations, the FTC sought to give consumers liilgyato compare prices among funeral service pieks and to avoid buying packages
containing goods or services that they did not wahé unbundling of goods from services has alsmeg the way for third-party, discount
casket sellers to enter the market, although thesently do not possess substantial market share.

In addition, our pre-need installment contractssfales of cemetery and funeral home merchandissemites are subject to the FTC's
“Holder Rule,” which requires disclosure in thetalbnent contract that any holder of the contractubject to all claims and defenses that the
consumer could assert against the seller of thdgjooservices, subject to certain limitations. Sheontracts are also subject to the FTC's
“Credit Practices Rule,” which prohibits certairedit loan terms and practices.

Future Enactments and Regulation

Federal and state legislatures and regulatory agefrequently propose new laws, rules and reguiatand new interpretations of
existing laws, rules and regulations which, if éadoor adopted, could have a material adverseteifeour operations and on the death care
industry in general. A significant portion of oyserations is located in California, Pennsylvaniachiggan, New Jersey, Virginia, Maryland,
North Carolina, Ohio, Indiana, Florida and Westgifiia and any material adverse change in the rémylaequirements of those sta
applicable to our operations could have a matadakrse effect on our results of operations. Weaegpredict the outcome of any proposed
legislation or regulations or the effect that angltslegislation or regulations, if enacted or addptight have on us.

Environmental Regulations and Liabilities

Our operations are subject to federal, state acal Environmental regulations in three princip&aar. (1) crematories for emissions to air
that may trigger requirements under the Clean Air, £2) funeral homes for the management of hazerdeaterials and medical wastes and
(3) cemeteries and funeral homes for the manageafiesaiid waste, underground and above ground géotanks and discharges to wastewate
treatment systems and/ or septic systems.
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Clean Air Act

The Federal Clean Air Act and similar state lawhiol regulate emissions into the air, can affeettatory operations through permitti
and emissions control requirements. Our crematpmraiions may be subject to Clean Air Act regulaiander federal and state law and may
be subject to enforcement actions if these operatim not conform to the requirements of these.laws

Emergency Planning and Community Rig-to-Know Act

As noted above, federal, state and local regulatagply to the storage and use of hazardous miatatiaur facilities. Depending on the
types and quantities of materials we manage aparycular facility, we may be required to maintaimd submit Material Safety Data Sheets
and inventories of these materials located at acififies to the regulatory authorities in comptarwith EPCRA or similar state statutes.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatiom Liability Act

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensand Liability Act, or CERCLA, and similar s¢alaws affect our cemetery
and funeral home operations by, among other thingspsing investigation and remediation obligatifosthreatened or actual releases of
hazardous substances that may endanger publibegaitelfare or the environment. Under CERCLA aimdilar state laws, strict, joint and
several liability may be imposed upon generatats,@vners and operators, and others regardlefsaitbfor the legality of the original disposal
activity. Our operations include the use of someemials that may meet the definition of “hazardeubstances” under CERCLA or state laws
and thus may give rise to liability if releasedhe environment through a spill or release. Shawddacquire new properties with pre-existing
conditions triggering CERCLA or similar state lilityi, we may become liable for responding to thosaditions under CERCLA or similar
state laws. We may become involved in proceediitggation or investigations at one or more sitdsene releases of hazardous substances
have occurred, and we cannot assure you that soeiated costs and potential liabilities would betmaterial.

Underground and Above Ground Storage Tank Laws galid Waste Laws

Federal, state and local laws regulate the insi@tiaremoval, operations and closure of undergdastorage tanks, or USTs and above
ground storage tanks, or ASTs, which are locatesbatte of our facilities as well as the managemedtdisposal of solid waste. Most of the
USTs and ASTs contain petroleum for heating ouldings or are used for vehicle maintenance, or ggmgerations. Depending upon the age
and integrity of the USTs and ASTs, they may regjupgrades, removal and/or closure, and remediatepnbe required if there has been a
potential discharge or release of petroleum ingoethvironment. All of the aforementioned activitieay require us to incur capital costs and
expenses to ensure continued compliance with emviemtal requirements. Should we acquire propentisexisting USTs and ASTs that are
not in compliance with environmental requirements,may become liable for responding to releaséisg@nvironment or for costs associated
with upgrades, removal and/or closure costs, andamaot assure you that the costs or liabilitidsvait be material in that event. Solid wastes
have been disposed of at some of our cemeteridsJdwfully and unlawfully. Prior to acquiring ammetery, an environmental site assessmen
is usually conducted to determine, among other itiond, if a solid waste disposal area or landfiIsts on the parcel which requires removal,
cleaning or management. Depending upon the existehany such solid waste disposal areas, we magdugred by the applicable regulatory
authority to remove the waste materials or to cehdemediation and we cannot assure you that this oo liabilities will not be material in
that event.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, our general partner andfitliates employed 2,946 full-time and 71 pame employees. Five employees at
one of our cemeteries located in New Jersey aresepted by a union and are subject to a collebtivgaining agreement which expires in
September 2015. Twenty-five employees at elevesuntemeteries located in Pennsylvania are repiedday three different unions and are
subject to collective bargaining agreements thpirexn November 2014, June 2015 and June 2017. éraployees at one of our cemeteries
located in lllinois are represented by a union arelsubject to a collective bargaining agreemetithwbxpires in September 2014. Nine
employees at one of our locations in Californiaragresented by a union and are subject to a tiokeloargaining agreement that expires in
June 2017. Eight employees at one cemetery in &ioepresented by a union and are subject tdectiee bargaining agreement that is
currently being renegotiated. We believe that elationship with our employees is good.
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Available Information

We maintain an Internet website with the addredstpt//www.stonemor.com. The information on thishgite is not, and should not be
considered part of this Annual Report on Form 18+4 is not incorporated by reference into this doent. This website address is only
intended to be an inactive textual reference. Gopfeur reports filed with, or furnished to, thEGon Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K and any
amendments to such reports are available for vigwird copying at such Internet website, free ofgdaas soon as reasonably practicable
after filing such material with, or furnishing @,tthe SEC.

Financial Information

Information for each of our segments is presenmteéPart Il, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supyetary Data” in this report.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors
Risk Factors Related to Our Business

Important factors that could cause actual resaltfiffer materially from our expectations includit are not limited to, the risks set forth
below. The risks described below should not be idened comprehensive and all-inclusive. Additionsits and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be imnialtatso may materially adversely affect our bus@dinancial condition and/or operating
results. If any events occur that give rise toftilewing risks, our business, financial conditionresults of operations could be materially and
adversely impacted. These risk factors should &é i conjunction with other information set foiththis Annual Report on Form 10-K,
including our consolidated financial statements @edrelated notes. Many such factors are beyondalaility to control or predict. Investors i
cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-leglstatements that involve risks and uncertainties

We may not have sufficient cash from operationsctantinue paying distributions at their current leyjeor at all, after we have paid our
expenses, including the expenses of our generalipar, funded merchandise and perpetual care truatsl established necessary cash
reserves.

The amount of cash we can distribute on our umitscjpally depends upon the amount of cash we gaadrom operations, which
fluctuates from quarter to quarter based on, anudher things:

» the volume of our sale
» the prices at which we sell our products and sesjianc

» the level of our operating and general and admmatise costs

In addition, the actual amount of cash we will havailable for distribution will depend on othecfiars, such as working capital
borrowings, capital expenditures and funding regjaients for trusts and our ability to withdraw amisunom trusts.

If we do not generate sufficient cash to continagipg distributions at their current level, the k&trprice of our common units may
decline materially. We expect that we will need kinng capital borrowings of approximately $21.0 moifl during the twelve-month period
ending December 31, 2014 in order to have suffiaerating surplus to pay distributions at theirrent level on all of our common units for
that period, although the actual amount of worldagital borrowings could be materially more or Ié8sese working capital borrowings
enable us to finance the build-up in our accouetgivables, and to construct mausoleums and pwgraducts for our pre-need sales in
advance of the time of need which, in turn, allmggo generate available cash for operating sumlas time by accessing the funds held in
trust for the products purchased.

Our substantial level of indebtedness could matdyiadversely affect our ability to generate sufiént cash for distribution to our
unitholders, to fulfill our debt obligations and toeperate our business.

We have a substantial amount of debt, which requgignificant interest and principal payments. ABDecember 31, 2013, we had
approximately $114.0 million of total debt outstarglon a revolving credit facility that maturesJanuary 2017, which would give us
approximately $26.0 million of available borrowingpacity under our credit facility. In addition, asDecember 31, 2013, we had $175.0
million aggregate principal amount of 7.875% Semotes due 2021 outstanding. Leverage makes us vobrerable to economic downturns.
Because we are obligated to dedicate a portiomio€ash flow to service our debt obligations, castcflow available for operations and for
distribution to our unitholders will be reduced.eTamount of indebtedness we have could limit axiffiility in planning for, or reacting to,
changes in the markets in which we compete, limitability to obtain additional financing, if nesasy, for working capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other purposes, and require ugtticdte more cash flow to service our debt than@gire. Our ability to satisfy our
indebtedness as required by the terms of our dillbevdependent on, among other things, the ssfgkesxecution of our long-term strategic
plan. Subject to limitations in our debt obligatpme may incur additional debt in the future,doquisitions or otherwise, and servicing this
debt could further limit our cash flow available fiperations and distribution to unitholders.
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Restrictions in our existing and future debt agreemts could limit our ability to make distribution® you or capitalize on acquisition an
other business opportunities.

The operating and financial restrictions and cowén@ our senior notes, our revolving credit fiwind any future financing agreeme
could restrict our ability to finance future opéoat or capital needs or to expand or pursue osinbgs activities. For example, our senior r
and our revolving credit facility contain covenatitat restrict or limit our ability to:

* enterinto a new line of busine:

* enter into any agreement of merger or acquisil
» sell, transfer, assign or convey ass

e grant certain liens

e incur or guarantee additional indebtedn:

* make certain loans, advances and investm

» declare and pay dividends and distributic

* enter into transactions with affiliates; a

* make voluntary payments or modifications of indebtss

In addition, our revolving credit facility contaigevenants requiring us to maintain certain finah@tios and tests. These restrictions
may also limit our ability to obtain future finangs. Our ability to comply with the covenants aestrictions contained in our senior notes anc
revolving credit facility agreement may be affecbgdevents beyond our control, including prevailempnomic, financial and industry
conditions. If market or other economic conditi@asitinue to deteriorate, our ability to comply witiese covenants may be impaired. See
“ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdficial Condition and Results of Operations—Ligi@ind Capital Resources—Long-
Term Debt.”

In addition, our debt obligations limit our abilitg make distributions to our unitholders. Our semiotes and revolving credit facility
obligations prohibit us from making such distritouis if we are in default, including with regardaiar revolving credit facility obligations as a
result of our failure to maintain specified finaalaiatios. We cannot assure you that we will mamntiaese specified ratios and satisfy these
for distributing available cash from operating susp

If we violate any of the restrictions, covenanédias or tests in our revolving credit facility agment or senior notes indenture, the
lenders will be able to accelerate the maturitglbborrowings thereunder, cause cross-defaultdemdand repayment of amounts outstanding,
and our lenders’ commitment to make further loangs under the revolving credit facility may terai@. We might not have, or be able to
obtain, sufficient funds to make these accelerptggments. Any subsequent replacement of our ddigiabions or any new indebtedness could
have similar or greater restrictions.

Any reductions in the principal or the earnings difie investments held in merchandise and perpetualectrusts could adversely affect o
revenues and cash flow.

A substantial portion of our revenue is generatethfinvestment returns that we realize from merdisnand perpetual care trusts.
Unstable economic conditions have, at times, causdd experience declines in the fair value ofabsets held in these trusts. Future cash
flows could be negatively impacted if we are fortediquidate assets that are in impaired positions

We invest primarily for current income. We rely thre interest and dividends paid by the assetsiinrosts to provide both revenue and
cash flow. Interest income from fixed-income setiesiis particularly susceptible to changes inrggerates and declines in credit worthiness
while dividends from equity securities are susdaetto the issuer’s ability to make such payments.

Any decline in the interest rate environment orchedit worthiness of our debt issuers or any sosipe or reduction of dividends could
have a material adverse effect on our financiabldt@n and results of operations.

In addition, any significant or sustained unrealiigvestment losses could result in merchandisasiuaving insufficient funds to cover
our cost of delivering products and services. la fitenario, we would be required to use our operagsh to deliver those products and
perform those services, which could decrease alr agailable for distribution.

Pre-need sales typically generate low or negative cstv in the periods immediately following sales whicould adversely affect our abili
to make distributions to our unitholders.

When we sell cemetery merchandise and servicespoe-aeed basis, we pay commissions on the salertealespeople and are required
by state law to deposit a portion of the salesgeds into a merchandise trust. In addition, mosuoftustomers finance
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their pre-need purchases under installment costrzatable over a number of years. Depending otriiséng requirements of the states in
which we operate, the applicable sales commissiesrand the amount of the down payment, our ¢dashfifom sales to customers through
installment contracts is typically negative unté Wwave collected the related receivable or untipwehase the products or perform the sen
and are permitted to withdraw funds we have depdsit the merchandise trust. To the extent we asa@re-need sales, state trusting
requirements are increased and we delay the peafarenof the services we sell on a pre-need basigash flow immediately following pre-
need sales may be further reduced, and our atnlityake distributions to our unitholders could deesely affected.

The cemetery and funeral home industry continuesh® competitive.

We face competition in all of our markets. Mosbof competitors are independent operations. Olityatn compete successfully
depends on our management’s forward vision, timetponses to changes in the business environmentemeteries and funeral homes’
ability to maintain a good reputation and high pesional standards as well as offer products amwites at competitive prices. We have
historically experienced price competition fromé@pendent cemetery and funeral home operators. #rev@nable to successfully compete, ou
financial condition, results of operations and cielvs could be materially adversely affected.

Because fixed costs are inherent in our businesslegrease in our revenues can have a disproportiengffect on our cash flow and profit

Our business requires us to incur many of the afatperating and maintaining facilities, land agliipment regardless of the level of
sales in any given period. For example, we mustsadgries, utilities, property taxes and mainteepasasts on our cemetery properties and
funeral homes regardless of the number of intermentuneral services we perform. If we cannot dase these costs significantly or rapidly
when we experience declines in sales, declineal@s £an cause our margins, profits and cash flodetline at a greater rate than the decline
in our revenues.

Our failure to attract and retain qualified salesgpsonnel and management could have an adverse éffecour business and financial
condition.

Our ability to attract and retain a qualified sdl@se and other personnel is an important fact@ahieving future success. Buying
cemetery and funeral home products and servicpscigly at-need products and services, is verytiemal for most customers, so our sales
force must be particularly sensitive to our custsheeeds. We cannot assure you that we will beessful in our efforts to attract and retain ¢
skilled sales force. If we are unable to maintagqualified and productive sales force, our reveruay decline and our cash available for
distribution may decrease.

Our success also depends upon the services ankiiltggsof our management team. Management estadsdi the “tone at the top” by
which an environment of ethical values, operatitytesand management philosophy is fostered. Thigilibaof our senior management team to
maintain a proper “tone at the top” or the losservices of one or more members of senior managessemell as the inability to attract
qualified managers or other personnel could havairial adverse effect on our business, finamziatlition, and results of operations. We
may not be able to locate or employ on acceptabiag qualified replacements for senior managemekeyemployees if their services were
no longer available. We do not maintain key empéoiyesurance on any of our executive officers.

We may not be able to identify, complete, fund ocsessfully integrate additional cemetery acquisits which could have an adverse effect
on our results of operations.

A primary component of our business strategy igraw through acquisitions of cemeteries and, tesadr extent, funeral homes. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to ideraifg acquire cemeteries on terms favorable to as ali. We may face competition from other
death care companies in making acquisitions. Hisatly, we have funded a significant portion of @aquisitions through borrowings. Our
ability to make acquisitions in the future may taited by our inability to secure adequate finaggirestrictions under our existing or future
debt agreements, competition from third partiea tack of suitable properties. As of December 1,3 we had approximately $26.0 million
of available borrowing capacity under our revolvergdit facility.

In addition, if we complete acquisitions, we mag@mter various associated risks, including thesipdes inability to integrate an
acquired business into our operations, diversiomafiagement’s attention and unanticipated probtamtiabilities, some or all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our operatioddiaancial performance. Also, when we acquire demes that do not have an existing pre-
need sales program or a significant amount of pedrproducts and services that have been soldbyehpurchased or performed, the
operation of the cemetery and implementation afeaneed sales program after acquisition may regigrgficant amounts of working capital.
This may make it more difficult for us to make aisifions.

If the trend toward cremation in the United Statesntinues, our revenues may decline which could baan adverse effect on our busine
and financial condition.

We and other death care companies that focus ditibrzal methods of interment face competition frva increasing number of
cremations in the United States. Industry studid&ate that the percentage of cremations hasibtéacteased and that cremations
represented approximately 43% of the United Stdgéash care market in 2012. This percentage of diensais expected to continue to
increase. Because the products and services a®&sbaisth cremations, such as niches and urns, pbhwer revenues than the products



services associated with traditional intermentrtinuing trend toward cremations may reduce euvemues.
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Declines in the number of deaths in our markets caause a decrease in revenu

Declines in the number of deaths could cause ad-sakes of cemetery and funeral home merchandissemices to decline and could
cause a decline in the number of pre-need saléis,dbevhich could decrease revenues. Changes inutdber of deaths can vary among local
markets and from quarter to quarter, and variatioibe number of deaths in our markets or fromrtgudo quarter are not predictable.
However, generally, the number of deaths fluctuatiéls the seasons with more deaths occurring dutiegvinter months primarily resulting
from pneumonia and influenza. These variationsazarse revenues to fluctuate.

We rely significantly on information technology anany failure, inadequacy, interruption or securitapse of that technology, including any
cybersecurity incidents, could harm our ability tiperate our business effectively.

Our ability to manage and maintain our internabrépeffectively and integration of new businesguésitions depends significantly on
our enterprise resource planning system and otii@mnation systems. Some of our information techgglsystems may experience
interruptions, delays or cessations of servicerodpce errors in connection with ongoing systen@mentation work. Cybersecurity attacks
in particular are evolving and include, but are limotted to, malicious software, attempts to gaimauthorized access to data and other
electronic security breaches that could lead taugisons in systems, misappropriation of our coafitial or otherwise protected information
and corruption of data. The failure of these systémoperate effectively or to integrate with otegstems, or a breach in security or other
unauthorized access of these systems, may alsib ireseduced efficiency of our operations and corgquire significant capital investments to
remediate any such failure, problem or breachpfalthich could adversely affect our business, feiahcondition and results of operations.

The financial condition of third-party insurance ampanies that fund our pre-need funeral contracts gnanpact our financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

Where permitted, customers may arrange their peetfigneral contract by purchasing a life insuramcannuity policy from third-party
insurance companies. The customer/policy holdegasshe policy benefits to our funeral home to fimthe pre-need funeral contract at the
time of need. If the financial condition of therthiparty insurance companies were to deterioratenady because of market conditions or
otherwise, there could be an adverse effect orability to collect all or part of the proceeds bétlife insurance policy, including the annual
increase in the death benefit. Failure to collechsgproceeds could have a material adverse effectiofinancial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Regulatory and Legal Risks

Our operations are subject to regulation, supamiand licensing under numerous federal, statdaoad laws, ordinances and
regulations, including extensive regulations conirgy trusts/escrows, pre-need sales, cemetery awipefuneral home ownership, marketing
practices, crematories, environmental matters amidws other aspects of our business.

If state laws or interpretations of existing stak@ws change or if new laws are enacted, we maydmgired to increase trust/escrow depos
or to alter the timing of withdrawals from trustséerows, which may have a negative impact on ourerewes and cash flow.

We are required by most state laws to deposit Bpdgiercentages of the proceeds from our pre-aeddatneed sales of interment rig|
into perpetual care trusts and generally proceens dur pre-need sales of cemetery and funeral hpoducts and services into merchandise
trusts/escrows. These laws also determine wherrevallawed to withdraw funds from those trusts/ess. If those laws or the interpretations
of those laws change or if new laws are enactednese be required to deposit more of the sales pdxeve receive from our sales into the
trusts/escrows or to defer withdrawals from thetsiescrows, thereby decreasing our cash flow wetiire permitted to withdraw the depos
amounts. This could also reduce our cash avaifableistribution.

If state laws or their interpretations change, oew laws are enacted relating to the ownership ofneteries and funeral homes, ol
business, financial condition and results of opeiats could be adversely affected.

Some states require cemeteries to be organizéx indnprofit form but permit those nonprofit emtitito contract with for-profit
companies for management services. If state laasgdor new laws are enacted that prohibit us franaging cemeteries in those states,
our business, financial condition and results afrafions could be adversely affected. Some stat flastrict ownership of funeral homes to
licensed funeral directors. If state laws changeew laws are enacted that prohibit us from margafiineral homes in those instances, thet
business, financial condition and results of openatcould be adversely affected.
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We are subject to legal restrictions on our markegipractices that could reduce the volume of outesawhich could have an adverse effect
on our business, operations and financial condition

The enactment or amendment of legislation or refuia relating to marketing activities may makeitre difficult for us to sell our
products and services. For example, the federahtaall” legislation has adversely affected obitity to market our products and services
using telephone solicitation by limiting who we m@all and increasing our costs of compliance. Assalt, we rely heavily on direct mail
marketing and telephone follow-up with existing tamts. Additional laws or regulations limiting caility to market through direct mail, over
the telephone, through Internet and e-mail advegisr door-todloor may make it difficult to identify potential stomers, which could increa
our costs of marketing. Both increases in marketiogts and restrictions on our ability to markéeetively could reduce our revenues and
could have an adverse effect on our business, tipasaand financial condition, as well as our a@pito make cash distributions to you.

We are subject to environmental and health and dgflaws and regulations that may adversely affeat @perating results.

Our cemetery and funeral home operations are sulgjeximerous federal, state and local environmemta health and safety laws and
regulations. We may become subject to liabilitytfos removal of hazardous substances and solicewaster CERCLA and other federal and
state laws. Under CERCLA and similar state lawigtsjoint and several liability may be imposed\arious parties, regardless of fault or the
legality of the original disposal activity. Our feral home, cemetery and crematory operations iedinel use of some materials that may meet
the definition of “hazardous substancesiier CERCLA or state laws and thus may give od@bility if released to the environment throus
spill or release. We cannot assure you that wenaillface liability under CERCLA or state laws &ty environmental conditions at our
facilities, and we cannot assure you that thegdlitias will not be material. Our cemetery and ésal home operations are subject to regulatio
of underground and above ground storage tanksaamsianaging the disposal of solid waste. If neyuirements under local, state or federal
laws were to be adopted, and were more stringant éxisting requirements, new permits or capitpkexlitures may be required.

Our funeral home operations are generally subgefgderal and state laws and regulations regatti@glisposal of medical waste, and
are also subject to regulation by federal, stateeal authorities under the EPCRA. We are requing@PCRA to maintain and report to the
regulatory authorities, if applicable thresholds aret, a list of any hazardous chemicals and exisehazardous substances, which are storec
or used at our facilities.

Our crematory operations may be subject to reguiainder the federal Clean Air Act and any analsggiate laws. If new regulations
applicable to our crematory operations were todmpted, they could require permits or capital exiitemes that could increase our costs of
operation and compliance.

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose ussignificant liabilities and damage our reputatiot

From time to time, we are party to various claimd &gal proceedings, including, but not limited¢mployment, cemetery or burial
practices, and other litigation. Adverse outconmethe pending cases may result in monetary danmgegunctive relief against us, as
litigation and other claims are subject to inhetamtertainties. For each of our outstanding legattens, we evaluate the merits of the case, oL
exposure to the matter, possible legal or settl¢steategies, and the likelihood of an unfavorahlecome. We base our assessments, estima
and disclosures on the information available tatuhe time. Actual outcomes or losses may diffatarially from assessments and estimates.
Costs to defend litigation claims and legal pro@egsland the cost of actual settlements, judgmantssolutions of these claims and legal
proceedings may negatively affect our businessfiaadcial performance. We hold insurance policest inay reduce cash outflows with
respect to an adverse outcome of certain litigatiatters, but may exclude certain claims arisindeuthe Fair Labor Standards Act. To the
extent that our management will be required toigipette in or otherwise devote substantial amoohtsne to the defense of these matters,
such activities would result in the diversion of amanagement resources from our business operatimhthe implementation of our business
strategy, which may negatively impact our finangiasition and results of operations. Any adverdadipitly resulting from allegations made in
litigation claims or legal proceedings may alsoadely affect our reputation, which in turn couttvarsely affect our results of operations.

Risk Factors Related to an Investment in Us

Our general partner and its affiliates have conftiof interest and limited fiduciary duties, whiahay permit them to favor their own
interests to your detriment.

CFSI LLC owns all of the Class A units of our geaigrartner. Conflicts of interest may arise betw€&s| LLC and its affiliates,
including our general partner, on the one hand,usnaind our unitholders, on the other hand. Asaltref these conflicts, our general partner
may favor its own interests and the interestsséaffiliates over the interests of the unithold@isese conflicts include, among others, the
following situations:

e The board of directors of our general partselécted by the owners of our general partnehodigh our general partner has a
fiduciary duty to manage us in good faith, the clioes of our general partner also have a fiduaifuty to manage our general
partner in a manner beneficial to the owners ofganeral partner. By purchasing common units, ofdérs will be deemed to ha
consented to some actions and conflicts of intehedtmight otherwise constitute a breach of fidngior other duties under
applicable law
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*  Our partnership agreement limits the liabibfyour general partner, reduces its fiduciary dutiad restricts the remedies available
to unitholders for actions that might, without thmitations, constitute breaches of fiduciary du

» Our general partner determines the amountiaridg of asset purchases and sales, capital exjpeeslj borrowings, issuances of
additional limited partner interests and resereash of which can affect the amount of cash thdisisibuted to unitholder:

» Our partnership agreement does not restricgeneral partner from causing us to pay it orfiiiates for any services rendered to
us or entering into additional contractual arrangets with any of these entities on our bef

» Our general partner controls the enforcement dfjabibns owed to us by our general partner andffiates.

« In some instances, our general partner mayecasi$o borrow funds or sell assets outside obtlaary course of business in order
to permit the payment of distributions, even if fugpose or effect of the borrowing is to makeréhistions in respect of incentive
distribution rights

Holders of our common units have limited voting hits and are not entitled to elect our general pagtror its directors, which could reduc
the price at which the common units will trade.

Unitholders have only limited voting rights on neat affecting our business and, therefore, liméeiity to influence management’s
decisions regarding our business. Unitholders didselect our general partner or elect the boadirettors of our general partner and will
have no right to select our general partner orntéieboard of directors in the future. We are mesjuired to have a majority of independent
directors on our board. The board of directorswfgeneral partner, including the independent tlirsg is chosen entirely by the owners of ou
general partner and not our unitholders. As a teduhese limitations, the price at which the coomunits will trade could be diminished
because of the absence or reduction of a takeogaripm in the trading price.

Our partnership agreement restricts the voting righof unitholders owning 20% or more of our commainits.

Unitholders’ voting rights are further restricteg the partnership agreement provision providing &my units held by a person that owns
20% or more of any class of units then outstanditiger than the general partner, its affiliatesjrtiransferees and persons who acquired suc
units with the prior approval of the board of digrs of our general partner, cannot be voted onnaatger. In addition, the partnership
agreement contains provisions limiting the abitifyunitholders to call meetings or to acquire imfation about our operations, as well as othe
provisions limiting the unitholders’ ability to ilfence the manner or direction of management.

Our general partner can transfer its ownership imst in us without unitholder consent under certagircumstances, and the control of our
general partner may be transferred to a third pastythout unitholder consent

Our general partner may transfer its general pantierest to a third party in a merger or in a&galall or substantially all of its assets
without the consent of the unitholders. Furthermtrere is no restriction in the partnership agresinon the ability of the owners of our
general partner to transfer their ownership inteirethe general partner to a third party. The mewmer of our general partner would then be in
a position to replace the board of directors affiderfs of the general partner with its own choiaad thereby influence the decisions taken by
the board of directors and officers.

We may issue additional common units without yoyppaoval, which would dilute your existing ownershipterests.
We may issue an unlimited number of limited paringrests of any type without the approval of ginéholders.

The issuance of additional common units or otheitggecurities of equal or senior rank will hate following effects:
e your proportionate ownership interest in us wiltd&ase
» the amount of cash available for distribution ooheanit may decreas
» the relative voting strength of each previouslystanding unit may be diminishe
» the market price of the common units may declimet

» the ratio of taxable income to distributions magrease

Cost reimbursements due to our general partner niggysubstantial and will reduce the cash availabte tlistribution to you.

Prior to making any distribution on the common sjte will reimburse our general partner and ifsiaties, including CFSI LLC and tF
officers and directors of our general partner dibexpenses they incur on our behalf. The reimément of expenses could adversely affect
ability to pay cash distributions to you. Our gexigrartner determines the amount of these expelmsaddition, our general partner and its
affiliates may provide us with other services fdrigh we will be charged fees as determined by emegal partner.
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In establishing cash reserves, our general partmeay reduce the amount of available cash for distriton to you.

Subject to the limitations on restricted paymemtstained in the indenture governing the 7.875% @dxotes due 2021 and other
indebtedness, the master partnership distributed alr “available cash” each quarter to its ligtitpartners and general partner. “Available
cash” is defined in the master partnership’s pastnip agreement, and it generally means, for eiachlfquarter, all cash and cash equivalents
on hand on the date of determination for that quaeiss the amount of cash reserves establisttbd discretion of the general partner to:

» provide for the proper conduct of our busine
» comply with applicable law, the terms of any of debt instruments or other agreement:

» provide funds for distributions to its unitholdensd general partner for any one or more of the feextcalendar quarter

These reserves will affect the amount of cash alskglfor distribution to you.

Our general partner has a limited call right that ay require you to sell your common units at an ursitable time or price.

If, at any time, our general partner and its affdis own more than 80% of the common units, oueigdpartner will have the right, but
not the obligation, which it may assign to anytsféffiliates or to us, to acquire all, but notsiélsan all, of the remaining common units held by
unaffiliated persons at a price not less than tein-current market price. As a result, you mayduagiired to sell your common units at an
undesirable time or price and may not receive atyyrn on your investment. You may also incur alighility upon the sale of your common
units.

You may be required to repay distributions that ybave received from us.

Under certain circumstances, unitholders may havegpay amounts wrongfully returned or distributethem. Under Section 17-607 of
the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership, e may not make a distribution to you if thetidigition would cause our liabilities to
exceed the fair value of our assets. Delaware i@awiges that for a period of three years from tatedf the impermissible distribution, limited
partners who received the distribution and who kaéthe time of the distribution that it violate@lBware law will be liable to the limited
partnership for the distribution amount. Assigneb® become substituted limited partners are lifdai¢he obligations of the assignor to make
contributions to the partnership. However, assigrage not liable for obligations unknown to theigsse at the time the assignee became a
limited partner if the liabilities could not be demnined from the partnership agreement. Liabiliteepartners on account of their partnership
interest and liabilities that are non-recoursehtgartnership are not counted for purposes ofm@ieng whether a distribution is permitted.

Tax Risks to Common Unitholders

Our tax treatment depends on our status as a parshé for federal income tax purposes as well ag owt being subject to a material
amount of entitylevel taxation by individual states. If the IRS weeto treat us as a corporation for federal incormextpurposes or we were
become subject to additional amounts of entity-letexation for state tax purposes, it would reduttee amount of cash available for
distribution to you and payments on our debt obligpn.

Although we do not believe based upon our curreetations that we are so treated, and despitaatidéHat we are a limited partnership
under Delaware law, it is possible in certain anstiances for a partnership such as ours to betteata corporation for federal income tax
purposes. A change in our business (or a chanigevincould cause us to be treated as a corpor&didiederal income tax purposes or
otherwise subject us to taxation as an entity.

If we were treated as a corporation for U.S. feldeme tax purposes, we would pay federal inctemeon our taxable income at the
corporate tax rate, which is currently a maximun3®¥, and would likely be liable for state incora® &t varying rates. If we were required to
pay tax on our taxable income, it would result imaterial reduction in the anticipated cash flow after-tax return to the unitholders, likely
causing a substantial reduction in the value ofammmon units. Moreover, treatment of us as a gatjmn could materially and adversely
affect our ability to make payments on our debtgattions.

The IRS audited our federal income tax return lieryear ended December 31, 2010. The scope deiietal income tax audit included
an audit of our qualifying income. In order fortasbe treated as a partnership for federal incaxgurposes, at least 90% of our gross incomn
must be qualifying income. The IRS concluded itdiband notified us on April 11, 2013 that it wast proposing any adjustments to the returt
as filed.

Current law may change so as to cause us to ltedraa a corporation for federal income tax purpa@setherwise subject us to entity-
level taxation. For example, from time to time, nirs of the U.S. Congress propose and considetasuve changes to the federal income
tax laws that affect publicly traded partnershipsrrently, one such legislative proposal would éliate the exception upon which we rely for
our treatment as a partnership for U.S. federarme tax purposes. We are unable to predict whetlepf these changes, or other proposals,
will be reconsidered or will ultimately be enactéahy such changes could negatively impact the amoficash available for distribution to y
and payments on our debt obligations. At the déatel, because of widespread state
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budget deficits and other reasons, several statesvaluating ways to subject partnerships to\etgitel taxation through the imposition of
state income, franchise and other forms of taxatimposition of such a tax on us by any state sgitluce the cash available for distribution to
you and payments on our debt obligatic

The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships an investment in our units could be subject totpatial legislative, judicial or
administrative changes or differing interpretationpossibly applied on a retroactive basis.

Current law may change to cause us to be treataccagoration for U.S. federal income tax purpasestherwise subjecting us to entity
level taxation. Specifically, the present U.S. fedécome tax treatment of publicly traded parshgps, including us, or an investment in our
common units may be modified by administrativejdksgive or judicial changes or differing interpagbns at any time. For example, from time
to time, members of Congress propose and congithstantive changes to the existing U.S. federarretax laws that affect publicly traded
partnerships. We are unable to predict whetherofniyese changes or other proposals will be rediuiced or will ultimately be enacted. Any
such changes could negatively impact the valuaafieestment in our common units. Any modificatiorlJ.S. federal income tax laws may
applied retroactively and could make it more difftcr impossible for us to meet the qualifyingante requirement to be treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We have subsidiaries that will be treated as coqu@ns for federal income tax purposes and subjextorporate-level income taxes.

Some of our operations are conducted through siabigid that are organized as C corporations. Adoghyg these corporate subsidiaries
are subject to corporate-level tax, which redubescash available for distribution to our partngrstnd, in turn, to you. If the IRS were to
successfully assert that these corporations have tar liability than we anticipate or legislatismas enacted that increased the corporate tax
rate, the cash available for distribution couldim¢her reduced.

Audit adjustments to the taxable income of our corpte subsidiaries for prior taxable years may rexuthe net operating los
carryforwards of such subsidiaries and thereby iease their tax liabilities for future taxable perits.

Our business was conducted by an affiliated grdugiporations during periods prior to the compmetof our initial public offering and,
since the initial public offering, continues to d@nducted in part by corporate subsidiaries. Theuarnof cash distributions we receive from
our corporate subsidiaries over the next seveaisyill depend in part upon the amount of net afieg losses available to those subsidiaries
to reduce the amount of income subject to fedame tax they would otherwise pay. These net dipgriosses will begin to expire in 2019.
The amount of net operating losses available tagedhe income tax liability of our corporate sulssiies in future taxable years could be
reduced as a result of audit adjustments with kdpeprior taxable years. Notwithstanding any tediindemnification rights we may have, |
increase in the tax liabilities of our corporatésidiaries because of a reduction in net operdtisges will reduce our cash available for
distribution.

Changes in the ownership of our units may resultamnual limitations on our corporate subsidiariesbility to use their net operating loss
carryforwards, which could increase their tax lidities and decrease cash available for distributionfuture taxable periods.

Our corporate subsidiaries’ ability to use their oyerating loss carryforwards may be limited i&oges in the ownership of our units
causes our corporate subsidiaries to undergo anémhip change” under applicable provisions ofithernal Revenue Code. In general, an
ownership change will occur if the percentage ofunits, based on the value of the units, owneddsiain unitholders or groups of unithold
increases by more than fifty percentage pointsnduai running three-year period. Recent changesrimwnership may result in an “ownership
change.” A future ownership change may result fregsnances of our units, sales or other dispositidmsir units by certain significant
unitholders, certain acquisitions of our units, @sliances, sales or other dispositions or acouisipf interests in significant unitholders, and
we will have little to no control over any such at& To the extent that an annual net operatirgllostation for any one year does restrict the
ability of our corporate subsidiaries to use tmgit operating loss carryforwards, an increasextiaailities of our corporate subsidiaries could
result, which would reduce the amount of cash abél for distribution to you.

If the IRS contests the federal income tax posit®we take, the market for our common units may lukv@rsely impacted, and the cost of ¢
IRS contest will reduce our cash available for dibution to you.

We have not requested a ruling from the IRS willpegt to our treatment as a partnership for fedecaime tax purposes or any other
matter affecting us. The IRS may adopt positioms thiffer from the positions we take. It may be ewsary to resort to administrative or court
proceedings to sustain some or all of the positieasake. A court may not agree with some or athef
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positions we take. Any contest with the IRS mayaeriatly and adversely impact the market for our omon units and the price at which they
trade. In addition, our costs of any contest wh tRS will be borne indirectly by our unitholdensd our general partner because the costs w
reduce our cash available for distribution.

You may be required to pay taxes on income fromeuen if you do not receive any cash distributiomsrh us.

Because you will be treated as a partner to whonwilvallocate taxable income that could be difierén amount than the cash we
distribute, you may be required to pay federal medaxes and, in some cases, state and local intzor@g on your share of our taxable incom
even if you receive no cash distributions fromYusu may not receive cash distributions from us étugour share of our taxable income or
even equal to the actual tax liability resultingrfr that income.

Tax gain or loss on disposition of our common uniteuld be more or less than expected.

If you sell your common units, you will recognizgain or loss equal to the difference between yonount realized and your tax basi:
those common units. Because distributions in exeégeur allocable share of our total net taxablgome decrease your tax basis in your
common units, the amount, if any, of such prioresscdistributions with respect to the units yols#l, in effect, become taxable income to
you if you sell such units at a price greater thanr tax basis in those units, even if the price ygceive is less than your original cc
Furthermore, a substantial portion of the amoualized, whether or not representing gain, may kedas ordinary income due to potential
recapture items, including depreciation recaptireddition, because the amount realized includesitholder’s share of our nonrecourse
liabilities, if you sell your units, you may incartax liability in excess of the amount of cash yeceive from the sale.

Tax-exempt entities and non-U.S. persons face urgdax issues from owning common units that may ris$n adverse tax consequences to
them.

Investment in common units by tax-exempt entitieeh as employee benefit plans individual retirenaenounts (known as IRAs) and
non-U.S. persons raises issues unigue to themexaonple, virtually all of our income allocated tganizations that are exempt from federal
income tax, including IRAs and other retirementglawill be unrelated business taxable income aide/taxable to them. Distributions to
non-U.S. persons will be reduced by withholdingegat the highest applicable effective tax ratd,reon-U.S. persons will be required to file
United States federal tax returns and pay tax eim #inare of our taxable income. If you are a terept entity or a non-U.S. person, you
should consult your tax advisor before investinguim common units.

We treat each purchaser of common units as havihg same tax benefits without regard to the actuahtmon units purchased. The IRS
may challenge this treatment, which could adversaffect the value of the common units.

Due to a number of factors, including our inabitiymatch transferors and transferees of commats,umé take depreciation and
amortization positions that may not conform toaalpects of the existing Treasury Regulations. Aes&ful IRS challenge to those positions
could adversely affect the amount of tax benefralable to you. It also could affect the timingtb&se tax benefits or the amount of gain fron
the sale of common units and could have a negatipact on the value of our common units or resuliudit adjustments to your tax returns.

We have adopted certain valuation methodologiesttimay result in a shift of income, gain, loss anédliction between the general partner
and the unitholders. The IRS may challenge thisatenent, which could adversely affect the value bétcommon units.

When we issue additional units or engage in ced#iar transactions, we will determine the fair kedvalue of our assets and allocate
any unrealized gain or loss attributable to ouetss® the capital accounts of our unitholders@mndgeneral partner. If the IRS challenges our
methodology it may be viewed as understating theevaf our assets. In that case, there may befiaodlimcome, gain, loss and deduction
between certain unitholders and the general paniviéch may be unfavorable to such unitholders. &édoer, under our valuation methods,
subsequent purchasers of common units may haveategiportion of their Internal Revenue Code Sact#3(b) adjustment allocated to our
tangible assets and a lesser portion allocatedrtintangible assets. The IRS may challenge owratan methods, or our allocation of the
Section 743(b) adjustment attributable to our talegand intangible assets, and allocations of irggayain, loss and deduction between the
general partner and certain of our unitholders.

A successful IRS challenge to these methods ocatilons could adversely affect the amount of tax@idome or loss being allocated to
our unitholders. It also could affect the amoungaiin from our unitholders’ sale of common unitsl @ould have a negative impact on the
value of the common units or result in audit adjuestts to our unitholders’ tax returns without tieaéfit of additional deductions.
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The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capigld profits interests during any twelvaonth period will result in the termination of ou
partnership for federal income tax purpose

We will be considered to have terminated our pastnip for federal income tax purposes if there $ake or exchange of 50% or more of
the total interests in our capital and profits with twelve-month period. For purposes of deterngjnwhether the 50% threshold has been met
multiple sales of the same interest will be courdBly once. Our termination would, among other gsirresult in the closing of our taxable
year for all unitholders which would result in diling two tax returns for one fiscal year and @buésult in a deferral of depreciati
deductions allowable in computing our taxable ineoin the case of a unitholder reporting on a texgbar other than a calendar year, the
closing of our taxable year may result in more ttvaelve months of our taxable income or loss bémetudable in his taxable income for the
year of termination. Our termination currently wabmot affect our classification as a partnershipfiéderal income tax purposes, but inste
we would be treated as a new partnership for tapqaes. If treated as a new partnership, we mukémew tax elections and could be subjec
to penalties if we are unable to determine thatmination occurred. The IRS has recently annouaaesief procedure whereby if a publicly
traded partnership that has technically terminat¢gdests and the IRS grants special relief, amtimgy things, the partnership will be required
to provide only a single Schedule K-1 to unithofdfer the tax years in which the termination occurs

You will likely be subject to state and local taxasd filing requirements in jurisdictions where yodo not live as a result of an investment in
units.

In addition to federal income taxes, you will likdde subject to other taxes, including state andlltaxes, unincorporated business taxe:s
and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes theatraposed by the various jurisdictions in whichdeebusiness or own property, even if you do
not live in any of those jurisdictions. You wilkkly be required to file state and local incomerebarns and pay state and local income taxes
some or all of these jurisdictions. Further, yowrha subject to penalties for failure to complyhmihose requirements. We own assets or
conduct business in the majority of states anduierf® Rico. Most of these various jurisdictionsreatly impose, or may in the future impose,
an income tax on individuals, corporations and oémities. As we make acquisitions or expand agirfess, we may own assets or do
business in additional states that impose a pergm@ne tax. It is your responsibility to file dlinited States federal, state and local tax
returns.

A unitholder whose units are the subject of a seitias loan (e.g., a loan to “short seller” to cover a short sale of units) mdye considered
as having disposed of those units. If so, the uwitther would no longer be treated for tax purposesapartner with respect to those units
during the period of the loan and may recognize gair loss from the disposition.

Because there are no specific rules governing tle féderal income tax consequence of loaning ta@aship interest, a unitholder wh
units are the subject of a securities loan maydmsidered as having disposed of the loaned unitthat case, you may no longer be treated fo
tax purposes as a partner with respect to thogs duaiing the period of the loan to the short selted the unitholder may recognize gain or los
from such disposition. Moreover, during the periddhe loan to the short seller, any of our incogan, loss or deduction with respect to tr
units may not be reportable by the unitholder amdaash distributions received by the unitholdetoathose units could be fully taxable as
ordinary income. Unitholders desiring to assurértsiatus as partners and avoid the risk of gaiogeition from a loan to a short seller are
urged to modify any applicable brokerage accourg@ments to prohibit their brokers from borrowihgit units.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and detilon between transferors and transferees of ouritsreach month based upon the
ownership of our units on the first day of each mitn instead of on the basis of the date a partiauiait is transferred. The IRS may
challenge this treatment, which could change thdoalation of items of income, gain, loss and dedactiamong our unitholders.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and diolu between transferors and transferees of oits @ach month based upon the
ownership of our units on the first day of each thomstead of on the basis of the date a partiaul# is transferred. Nonetheless, we allocate
certain deductions for depreciation of capital dds based upon the date the underlying propsnbyt in service. The use of this proration
method may not be permitted under existing TreaRagulations. Recently, however, the U.S. TreaB@apartment issued proposed Treasury
Regulations that provide a safe harbor pursuawhioh publicly traded partnerships may use a sinmianthly simplifying convention to
allocate tax items among transferor and transfen@@olders. Nonetheless, the proposed reguladonsot specifically authorize the use of the
proration method we have adopted. If the IRS werhgllenge our proration method, we may be reduwechange the allocation of items of
income, gain, loss and deduction among our unithsldvinson & Elkins L.L.P. has not rendered amag with respect to whether our
monthly convention for allocating taxable income dwsses is permitted by existing Treasury Regurati
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ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2.  Properties
Cemeteries and Funeral Homes

The following table summarizes the distributioroof cemetery and funeral home properties by statd Becember 31, 2013 as well as
the weighted average estimated remaining salemlifears for our cemeteries based upon the nuofiiaterment spaces sold during 2013:

Weighted Number of

Average Interment
Total Estimated Net Spaces Sol

Cemeterie: Funeral Homes Net Acres Sales Life in Year: in 2013
Alabama 9 6 30& 181 1,41%

Arkansas — 2 — — —
California 7 9 27C 64 1,15¢
Colorado 2 — 12 87¢ 16
Delaware 1 — 12 231 20
Florida 4 17 11¢ 134 38C
Georgia 7 — 13t 19¢ 62C

Hawaii 1 — 6 201 —
Illinois 8 2 27€ 164 99¢
Indiana 11 5 1,012 417 1,21:
lowa 1 — 89 221 144
Kansas 3 2 84 13€ 33¢
Kentucky 2 — 59 89 32t
Maryland 10 1 71€ 16C 1,50C
Michigan 13 — 81¢ 50¢ 1,10C
Mississippi 2 1 44 19t 94
Missouri 6 5 277 28¢€ 61€
New Jerse! 6 — 341 35 2,02¢
North Caroling 16 — 41F 12¢ 2,747
Ohio 14 2 95& 19¢ 3,211
Oregon 7 11 181 36¢ 49¢€
Pennsylvani: 52 8 2,547 41¢ 3,53:
Puerto Ricc 7 5 20¢ 23¢ 49¢
Rhode Islanc 2 — 70 1,72¢ 15
South Carolin: 8 3 39t 252 73¢
Tennesse 11 5 657 29C 1,39¢
Virginia 31 2 1,05( 231 2,45¢
Washingtor 3 2 33 49 17C
West Virginia 33 2 1,404 33¢ 2,22
Total 277 90 12,49( 24C 29,44’

We calculated estimated remaining sales life fehez our cemeteries by dividing the number of Uth&aterment spaces by the number
of interment spaces sold at that cemetery in thet me@ent year. For purposes of estimating remgisates life, we defined unsold interment
spaces as unsold burial lots and unsold spacegsiing mausoleum crypts as of December 31, 2018 défined interment spaces sold in 201
as:

» the number of burial lots sold, net of cancellasic
» the number of spaces sold in existing mausoleumptsryet of cancellations; ai

» the number of spaces sold in mausoleum cryptsatbdtave not yet built, net of cancellatio
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We count the sale of a double-depth burial lohassiale of two interment spaces since a doubleadmptal lot includes two interment
rights. For the same reason we count an unsoldielaldpth burial lot as two unsold interment spaBesause our sales of cremation niches
were immaterial, we did not include cremation ngirethe calculation of estimated remaining safesWhen calculating estimated remaining
sales life, we did not take into account any futemetery expansion. In addition, sales of an wallyshigh or low number of interment spaces
in a particular year affect our calculation of esgtted remaining sales life. Future sales may diffan previous years’ sales, and actual
remaining sales life may differ from our estimat@& calculated the weighted average estimated rénggsales life by aggregating unsold
interment spaces and interment spaces sold onealstastate or companyide basis. Based on the number of interment spsaldsn 2013, w
estimate that our cemeteries have an aggregatétedigverage remaining sales life of 240 years.

The following table shows the cemetery propertied tve owned or operated as of December 31, 2048pgd by estimated remaining
sales life:

0-25 26-49 50-10C 101-15C 151-20C

years years years years years Over 200 year:
Alabama — 1 3 — 1 4
California 2 1 3 — — 1
Colorado — — — — — 2
Delaware — — — — — 1
Florida — — 1 — 1 2
Georgia 1 — — 1 — 5
Hawaii — — — — — 1
lllinois 1 — — 2 2 3
Indiana — — 1 — — 10
lowa — — — — — 1
Kansas — — 1 1 1 —
Kentucky — 1 — — 1 —
Maryland 1 2 — 3 — 4
Michigan — 1 — 1 1 10
Mississippi — — — — 1 1
Missouri — — — 1 2 3
New Jerse! 3 2 — — — 1
North Caroline — — 6 2 4 4
Ohio 1 — 3 — 2 8
Oregon — — — 2 — 5
Pennsylvani: 5 — 4 5 3 35
Puerto Ricc 1 1 1 1 — 3
Rhode Islanc — — — — — 2
South Carolin: — 1 — 1 2 4
Tennesse — — 1 — 1 9
Virginia 1 1 7 3 2 17
Washingtor 1 1 1 — — —
West Virginia 5 2 1 2 3 20
Total 22 14 33 25 27 15€

We believe that we have either satisfactory tleit valid rights to use all of our cemetery prd@s: The 18 cemetery properties that we
manage or operate under lotagm operating agreements have nonprofit ownersb&lleve that these cemeteries have either satisfetitle tc
or valid rights to use these cemetery propertiesthat we have valid rights to use these propeutneter the long-term agreements. Although
title to the cemetery properties is subject to emmances such as liens for taxes, encumbrancesmgpayment obligations, easements,
restrictions and immaterial encumbrances, we ddaléve that any of these burdens should materikgtract from the value of these
properties or from our interest in these properties should these burdens materially interferdwie use of our cemetery properties in the
operation of our business as described above. Maoyr cemetery properties are located in zonewnsgand we believe that cemetery use is
permitted for those cemeteries either (1) as espregermitted under applicable zoning ordinanc2ktifrough a special exception to applice
zoning designations; or (3) as an existing non-aoning use.
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Other

Our home office is located in a 37,000 square lisated space in Levittown, Pennsylvania. The lbasea term expiring in 2020, and we
consider the space to be adequate for our presdrargticipated future requirements. We are alsartisnunder various leases covering office
spaces other than our corporate headquarters.

In addition, we own a 13,500-square-foot plant utl®& County, Pennsylvania, where we manufactur@abuaults used in our cemetery
operations.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

We and certain of our subsidiaries are partiesegallproceedings that have arisen in the ordinauyse of business. We do not expect
these matters to have a material adverse effestipnonsolidated financial position, results of igi@ns, or cash flows. We carry insurance
with coverage and coverage limits that we believied customary in the funeral home and cemetenysiniés. Although there can be no
assurance that such insurance will be sufficieprédect us against all contingencies, we beliéat our insurance protection is reasonable in
view of the nature and scope of our operations.

ltem 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

23



Table of Contents
PART Il

ltem 5.  Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Information

Our common units are listed on the New York StogkHange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “STON". As of Méarl, 2014, there were
23,690,276 common units outstanding, represent®®} 34% limited partner interest in us. As of Felip20, 2014, there were 33,120
beneficial holders and 62 unitholders of recorde Tdllowing table sets forth the high and low galiees of our common units for the periods
indicated, based on the daily composite listingaiimon unit transactions for the NYSE, as applieabl

Price range Declared
Quarter endec High Low Distributions (1)
March 31, 2012 $26.6¢ $22.07 $ 0.585(
June 30, 201 $26.7( $23.91 $ 0.585(
September 30, 201 $28.6¢ $20.6: $ 0.590(
December 31, 201 $24.51 $20.1( $ 0.590(
March 31, 201: $26.9¢ $21.51 $ 0.590(
June 30, 201 $28.0( $23.6: $ 0.595(
September 30, 201 $26.9¢ $21.2: $ 0.600(
December 31, 201 $26.51 $23.5¢ $ 0.600(

(1) Distributions were declared and paid within 45 daf/the close of each quart:

Cash Distribution Policy

Quarterly Distributions of Available Cash

General

Within 45 days after the end of each quarter, wiedistribute all of our available cash to unithetd of record on the applicable record
date.

Available cash for any quarter consists of cashamd at the end of that quarter, plus cash on frandworking capital borrowings mau
after the end of the quarter but before the datietdrmination of available cash for the quaressicash reserves. Cash and other investment
held in merchandise trusts and perpetual caresteustnot treated as available cash until theglistebuted to us.

We are prohibited from making any distributionsutotholders if the distributions would cause anrgva default, or if an event of defa
is existing, under our debt agreements.

General Partner Interest and Incentive Distribution Rights

As of December 31, 2013, our general partner iglesto 1.83% of all distributions that we makéoptto our liquidation. Our general
partner has the right, but not the obligation,datdbute a proportionate amount of capital toaimtintain its current general partner interest.
The general partner’s interest in these distrimgtimay be reduced if we issue additional unithéftuture and our general partner does not
contribute a proportionate amount of capital taamaintain its 1.83% general partner interest.

Our general partner also currently holds incendiistribution rights that entitle it to receive ieasing percentages, up to a maximum of
49.83%, of the cash we distribute from operatinglsis in excess of $0.5125 per unit. The maximustrihiution of 49.83% includes
distributions paid to the general partner on i83% general partner interest, and assumes thagetheral partner maintains its general partner
interest at 1.83%, but does not include any digtidms that the general partner may receive orsuhét it owns.
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Unreqistered Sale of Securities

Our general partner entered into a non-competesagget dated as of June 21, 2010 with Ronald P. fave pursuant to which
Mr. Robertson agreed not to compete with the gépargner and the companies under its management@mtrol. Pursuant to the non-
compete agreement, we issued 9,853 common unitseariosing date of the transaction and we werigatgld to issue additional common
units which were initially valued at a fair valuE$D.5 million based on a unit price of $20.30 ptiwthe date of acquisition. As a result, we
issued 9,853 units in June of 2011 and 2012, andsued 4,923 units in June of 2013.

In connection with and as partial considerationdioe of our second quarter 2012 acquisitions, ageid 13,720 unregistered common
units representing limited partnership interestssivalued at approximately $0.35 million pursuarthe terms of the purchase agreement. In
connection with and as partial consideration foe ofiour third quarter 2012 acquisitions, we issti28,299 unregistered common units
representing limited partnership interests in use@at approximately $3.5 million pursuant to thems of the purchase agreement. In
connection with and as partial consideration farfourth quarter 2012 acquisition, we issued 28,86&gistered common units representing
limited partnership interests in us valued at apipnately $0.65 million pursuant to the terms of fhechase agreement.

In connection with and as partial considerationdor first quarter 2013 acquisition, we issued 639,unregistered common units
representing limited partnership interests in usegat approximately $3.6 million pursuant to thems of the purchase agreement.

See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statesneastuded in “Part II” of this Annual Report on o 10-K for a description of these
acquisitions.

We offered and issued the foregoing common unitgliance upon the exemption from registration aor@d in Section 4(a)(2) of the

Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Regul&ipromulgated thereunder. We relied on this exesnpfiom registration based in part on
representations made by the investors.

Operating Surplus and Capital Surplus

General

All cash distributed to unitholders is charactedizs either “operating surplus” or “capital surpli&e distribute available cash from
operating surplus differently than available casimf capital surplus. We treat all available castriiuted as coming from operating surplus
until the sum of all available cash distributedceinve began operations equals the operating suaplo§the most recent date of determination
of available cash. We will treat any amount disttéal in excess of operating surplus, regardleds eburce, as capital surplus.

Operating Surplus
Operating surplus consists of:
» our cash balance on September 20, 2004;
»  $5.0 million (as described below); pl
» cash receipts from our operations, including cashdsawn from merchandise and perpetual care trpsis

» working capital borrowings made after the ehd quarter but before the date of determinatioopgfrating surplus for that quarter;
less

» operating expenditures, including cash depdsitanerchandise and perpetual care trusts, mantencapital expenditures and the
repayment of working capital borrowings; ¢

» the amount of cash reserves for future operatipgeditures and maintenance capital expenditi

As reflected above, operating surplus includes $%lllon in addition to our cash balance on Septenft), 2004, cash receipts from our
operations and cash from working capital borrowirigés amount does not reflect actual cash on liaaidis available for distribution to our
unitholders. Rather, it is a provision that willagshe us, if we choose, to distribute as operatinglas up to $5.0 million of cash we receive in
the future from non-operating sources, such ag aates outside the ordinary course of busine$ess s our equity and debt securities, and
long-term borrowings, that would otherwise be distired as capital surplus.
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As described above, operating surplus is reducatidogmount of our maintenance capital expenditbvésiot our expansion capital
expenditures. For our purposes, maintenance capitenditures are those capital expenditures redjtir maintain, over the long term, the
operating capacity of our capital assets, and esiparcapital expenditures are those capital experedi that increase, over the long term, the
operating capacity of our capital assets.

Examples of maintenance capital expenditures irctusbts to build roads and install sprinkler system our cemetery properties and
purchases of equipment for those purposes andpgt imstances, costs to develop new areas of ooetegies. Examples of expansion capital
expenditures include costs to identify and compdetguisitions of new cemeteries and funeral homeést@ construct new funeral homes. Cc
to construct mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts neagdmsidered to be a combination of maintenanciat@xpenditures and expansion
capital expenditures. Our general partner, withciiecurrence of its Conflicts Committee, may alteczapital expenditures between
maintenance capital expenditures and expansiotat@gipenditures and may determine the period sich maintenance capital expenditt
will be subtracted from operating surplus.

As described above, operating surplus is reducatidogmount of our operating expenditures. Oumgaship agreement specifically
excludes certain items from the definition of opi@gexpenditures, such as cash expenditures neagequisitions or capital improvements,
including, without limitation, all cash expenditsravhether or not expensed or capitalized for taxcoounting purposes, incurred during the
first four years following an acquisition in orderbring the operating capacity of the acquisitiothe level expected to be achieved in the
projections forming the basis on which our genpeatner approved the acquisition. Examples of sas expenditures include certain
maintenance capital expenditures and cash expeeslittat we believe are necessary to develop thagrd sales programs of businesses or
assets we acquire. Where cash expenditures areimpdd for acquisitions or capital improvementsl an part for other purposes, our general
partner, with the concurrence of our Conflicts Caittew, will determine the allocation between theoants paid for each and the period over
which cash expenditures made for other purposdd@/iubtracted from operating surplus.

Capital Surplus

Capital surplus consists of:
» borrowings other than working capital borrowin
» sales of our equity and debt securities;

» sales or other dispositions of assets for ¢aster than sales or other dispositions of excessetery property up to an aggregate
amount in any fouguarter period calculated pursuant to our partigm@streement; sales or other dispositions of imwgniaccount
receivable and other assets in the ordinary cafrbasiness; and sales or other dispositions @tass a part of normal retirements
or replacements

The exception for sales of excess cemetery projpedyy four-quarter period generally is calculabgdmultiplying $1.0 million by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number efeteries and funeral homes owned and operated by the last day of the quarter in wh
the sale occurs and the denominator of which is 139

Distributions of Available Cash from Operating Surplus

The following table illustrates the priority of tidutions of available cash from operating surfglesnveen the unitholders and our gen
partner. The amounts set forth in the table inctiamn titled “Marginal Percentage Interest in Disitions” are the percentage interests of ou
general partner and the unitholders in any availabkh from operating surplus we distribute umtbiacluding the corresponding amount in
the column titled “Total Quarterly Distribution Tgat Amount per Common Unit,” until the availableskhdrom operating surplus that we
distribute reaches the next target distributioreleif any. The percentage interests shown forgamuneral partner include its 1.83% general
partner interest and assume the general partneromasbuted any additional capital required to mhain its current general partner interest anc
has not transferred the incentive distribution tggh
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Total Quarterly Marginal Percentage Interest in
Distribution Distributions

Target Amount Common General

per Common Unit Unitholders Partner
First Target Distribution Up to $0.512¢ 98.11% 1.8%%
Second Target Distributic Above $0.5125 up to $0.58 85.11% 14.8%
Third Target Distributior Above $0.5875 up to $0.71. 75.1% 24.89%
Thereaftel Above $0.712¢ 50.1% 49.8%%

Distributions of Available Cash from Capital Surplus

We do not currently expect to make any distribwgiohavailable cash from capital surplus. Howebased on our general partner’s
current 1.83% ownership level, to the extent thatmake any distributions of available cash fromiteapurplus, they will be made in the
following manner:

» first, 98.17%to all common unitholders, pro rata, and 1.83%uogeneral partner, until we have distributed factecommon unit
an amount of available cash from capital surplusaétp the initial public offering price

» thereafterwe will make all distributions of available casbrn capital surplus as if they were from operatinghis.

The partnership agreement treats a distributiazapftal surplus as the repayment of the initiat price from the initial public offering,
which is a return of capital. The initial publicfefing price less any distributions of capital dugpgper unit is referred to as the “unrecovered
initial unit price.” Each time a distribution of jgial surplus is made the target distribution lewelll be reduced in the same proportion as the
corresponding reduction in the unrecovered initidt price. Because distributions of capital susphill reduce the first target distribution, ai
any of these distributions are made, it may beeedsi the general partner to receive incentivérithistions.

If we distribute capital surplus on a unit in anamt equal to the initial unit price and have palicarrearages on the common units, the
target distribution levels will be reduced to zebmce the target distribution levels are reducezktto, all subsequent distributions will be from
operating surplus, with 50.17% being paid to thielés of units and 49.83% to our general partner.

Adjustment of Target Distribution Levels

In addition to adjusting the target distributiondés to reflect a distribution of capital surplifsye combine our units into fewer units or
subdivide our units into a greater number of units,will proportionately adjust:

» the target distribution levels; al

e the unrecovered initial unit pric

For example, if a two-for-one split of the commanitsi should occur, the target distribution leveis she unrecovered initial unit price
would each be reduced to 50% of its initial leW&k will not make any adjustment by reason of tkeasce of additional units for cash or

property.

In addition, if legislation is enacted or if exiggilaw is modified or interpreted in a manner tteises us to become taxable as a
corporation or otherwise subject to taxation asmtity for federal, state or local income tax pugs, we will reduce the target distribution
levels for each quarter by multiplying each disitibn level by a fraction, the numerator of whistavailable cash for that quarter and the
denominator of which is the sum of available camtttiat quarter plus our general partner’s estimataur aggregate liability for the income
taxes payable by reason of that legislation orpréation. To the extent that the actual tax ligbdiffers from the estimated tax liability for
any quarter, the difference will be accounted fosuibsequent quarters.

Distributions of Cash Upon Liquidation

If we dissolve in accordance with the partnersltgpeament, we will sell or otherwise dispose of asgets in a process called liquidation.
We will first apply the proceeds of liquidationttee payment of our creditors. We will distributeyaemaining proceeds to the unitholders and
our general partner, in accordance with their rehpe capital account balances, as adjusted teatediny taxable gain or loss upon the sale or
other disposition of our assets in liquidation.
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The allocations of taxable gain upon liquidatioa eatended, to the extent possible, to allow thedrs of common units to receive
proceeds equal to their unrecovered initial uritgfor the quarter during which liquidation occpr#or to any allocation of gain to the
common units. There may not be sufficient taxalali@ gipon our liquidation to enable the holdersafmon units to fully recover all of these
amounts. Any additional taxable gain will be all@zhin a manner intended to allow our general gautim receive proceeds in respect of its
incentive distribution rights.

If there are losses upon liquidation, they wilkfibe allocated to the general partner and thémetcommon units and the general partner
interest until the capital accounts of the commpitsthave been reduced to zero. Any remainingwik$e allocated to the general partner
interest.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See the equity compensation plan table set fortRamt 111, Item 12. Security Ownership of Cert@eneficial Owners and Management
and Related Stockholder Matters.”
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following tables present selected financial apdrating data of the Company for the periodsandf the dates indicated derived
from our audited consolidated financial statemenie following tables should be read in conjunctidgth “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggtiems”and our audited historical consolidated finandiatesnents and accompanying nc
thereto set forth in this Annual Report on FormKLG-urther, data for the 2011 and 2010 years han becast to retrospectively reflect
adjustments made to our initial assessment of ¢h@adues of assets and liabilities acquired iruéstions.

Table 1: Operating and Net Income (Loss) Data

Year ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except for per unit data

Cemetery revenue

Merchandise $110,67: $114,02¢ $108,08¢ $ 94,89¢ $ 87,83¢

Services 44,05 46,09 46,99¢ 40,95 36,94°

Investment and othe 46,95¢ 46,80¢ 42,90: 35,89° 33,05¢
Funeral home revenue

Merchandise 18,92: 15,55! 12,81( 10,43t 9,701

Services 26,03: 20,12¢ 17,59 15,11; 13,66¢
Total revenue 246,64: 242,60t 228,38t 197,29. 181,20:
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation sheeparately below

Perpetual car 5,65¢ 5,71¢ 5,72 5,094 4,72

Merchandise 22,201 22,38¢ 20,38¢ 18,43t 17,067
Cemetery expens 57,56¢ 55,41( 57,14¢ 48,78¢ 41,24¢
Selling expens 47,83: 46,87¢ 45,29: 38,24¢ 34,12¢
General and administrative expel 31,87: 28,92¢ 29,54« 24,59: 22,49¢
Corporate overhead (including unit-based compemsati $1,370 in 2013,

$916 in 2012, $773 in 2011, $711 in 2010, and $.ij572009) 28,87¢ 28,16¢ 23,76¢ 24,37¢ 22,37(

Depreciation and amortizatic 9,54¢ 9,431 8,53¢ 8,84¢ 6,52¢
Funeral home expen:

Merchandise 5,56¢ 5,20( 4,47 4,001 3,71¢

Services 19,19( 14,57¢ 11,717 9,752 9,27¢

Other 10,89: 8,957 7,36¢ 6,18¢ 6,01¢
Acquisition related costs, net of recover 1,051 3,12:¢ 4,60< 5,71¢ 1,072
Total costs and expens 240,25t 228,76! 218,55 194,02! 168,63
Operating profit 6,38: 13,84: 9,83t 3,261 12,56¢
Gain on acquisition 2,53( 12z — 7,15z —
Gain on termination of operating agreem — 1,73 — — —
Gain on settlement agreement, 12,26 — — — —
Gain on sale of other ass 15E — — — —
Gain on sale of funeral hon — — 92 — 434
Loss on early extinguishment of de 21,59¢ — 4,01(

Increase (decrease) in fair value of interestsatep (1) — — 4,72¢ (2,68))

— 452

Expenses related to refinancing — — 2,24:
Interest expens 21,07( 20,50 19,19¢ 21,97 14,41(
Net loss before income tax (21,336) (4,807%) (13,739 (6,830) (6,339
Income tax expense (bene! (2,309 (1,790 (4,019 (5,389 (1,945
Net loss $(19,039) $ (3,019 $ (9,71 $ (1,44) $ (4,389
Net loss per limited partner unit (basic and didi) $ (08 $ (0.1 $ (050 $ (0.10 $ (0.3¢)

(1) Interest rate swaps were terminated on Octobe?@1).
(2) Represents wri-downs in previously capitalized debt issuance c
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Table 2: Balance Sheet Data

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Cemetery propert $ 316,46¢ $ 309,98( $ 298,93t $ 283.46(  $228,04¢
Total assets (1 1,473,32 1,343,72! 1,248,75 1,145,59. 855,30:
Deferred cemetery revenues, net 581,58! 497,86 441,67¢ 386,46! 259,32;
Total debt 291,93. 254,94¢ 195,32; 220,39 183,19¢
Total partner capital $ 107,52( $ 135,18. $ 180,27¢ $ 128,19. $111,93

(1) Includes the fair value of assets held in tleahandise and perpetual care trusts. Refer to Nofeour consolidated financial statements
for a detailed discussion of the consolidationsute these asset

(2) Represents revenues to be recognized fromairen§ merchandise and services. Refer to Notedupntonsolidated financial statements
for a detailed discussion on the revenue recognitides.

Table 3: Cash Flow and Other Financial Data

Year ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per unit data

Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activitie: $3507. $3189% $ 5466 $ 3,106 $14,72¢

Investing activities (26,697 (39,949 (29,18¢) (49,55) (12,180

Financing activitie: (4,157 3,94( 28,24 40,50! 3,86:
Change in assets and liabilities that provideddusash:

Merchandise trus (36,919 (11,80¢) (23,889 (13,519 (6,139

Merchandise liability (3,86)) (7,260) (5,669 (2,40)) (4,337)
Capital expenditure:

Maintenance capital expenditul 6,98¢ 4,87¢ 6,04( 7,87¢ 2,52¢

Expansion capital expenditures, including acquisg 19,86¢ 35,07 23,26¢ 41,325 4,77(
Distributions declared per common u $ 238 $ 2350 $ 2.34C $ 225 $ 2.2
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Table 4: Operating Data

Interments performed
Cemetery revenues per interment perfori

Interment rights sold (1
Lots
Mausoleum crypts (including -construction,
Niches
Net interment rights sold (
Number of contracts writte
Aggregate contract amount, in thousands (excluthitegest)
Average amount per contract (excluding inter
Number of pr-need contracts writte
Aggregate pr-need contract amount, in thousands (excludingest§
Average amount per g-need contract (excluding intere
Number of e-need contracts writte
Aggregate «need contract amount, in thousands (excludingest§
Average amount per-need contract (excluding intere

(1) Net of cancellations. Sales of doL-depth burial lots are counted as two sé
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Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
45,47( 45,12¢ 45,23¢ 41,55¢ 37,78:
$ 443¢ $ 458 $ 4377 $ 4,13 $ 4,17¢
27,33¢ 26,63¢ 26,40 24,35 22,631
2,10¢ 2,20¢ 2,51¢ 2,58¢ 2,31¢
1,09¢ 98t 1,12¢ 1,071 88¢
30,54 29,82¢ 30,04 28,00¢ 25,84
102,04 98,297 101,28 92,66! 83,04
$268,62. $251,99¢ $244,92: $221,89' $197,78'
$ 2632 $ 256¢ $ 241t $ 2,398 $ 2,38
51,73% 48,13 49,74: 45,19¢ 39,04
$180,32¢ $163,62° $157,41( $143,02! $124,99°
$ 348 $ 340C $ 3,164 $ 3,168 $ 3,207
50,31( 50,16¢ 51,53¢ 47,46¢ 44,00(
$ 88,29t $ 88,37: $ 87,51 $ 78,87 $ 72,79(
$ 1,758 $ 1,762 $ 1,69t $ 166z $ 1,65¢



Table of Contents

ltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

You should read the following discussion of ousficial condition and results of operations in canfion with the consolidated financ
statements and notes thereto included in “PateihI18” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Thoseeasoalso give more detailed information
regarding the basis of presentation for the follgypinformation.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this Annual Repofform 10-K, including, but not limited to, infoation regarding the status and
progress of our operating activities, the plans anjdctives of our management, assumptions regaulin future performance and plans, and
any financial guidance provided, as well as ceritafiormation in our other filings with the SEC aeldewhere are forward-looking statements.
The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “catinue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “project,” “expe¢t “predict” and similar expressions
identify these forward-looking statements. These/éd-looking statements are made subject to cerisks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those sthor implied, including, but not limited to, thallbwing: uncertainties associated with future
revenue and revenue growth; the effect of econalmenturns; the impact of our significant leverageoair operating plans; our ability to
service our debt and pay distributions; the dedlinthe fair value of certain equity and debt s@mg held in our trusts; our ability to attract,
train and retain an adequate number of sales peapdertainties associated with the volume andniinaf pre-need sales of cemetery services
and products; increased use of cremation; chamgthe ideath rate; changes in the political or raguy environments, including potential
changes in tax accounting and trusting policies;anility to successfully implement a strategicrptalating to achieving operating
improvements, strong cash flows and further delgiag; our ability to successfully compete in teenetery and funeral home industry;
uncertainties associated with the integration dicgrated benefits of our recent acquisitions oy frure acquisitions; our ability to complete
and fund additional acquisitions; litigation or &&groceedings that could expose us to signifiiabilities and damage our reputation; the
effects of cyber security attacks due to our sigaift reliance on information technology; uncettiei relating to the financial condition of
third-party insurance companies that fund our preenfuneral contracts; and various other uncertaigissociated with the death care industry
and our operations in particular.

When considering forward-looking statements, yoousth keep in mind the risk factors and other canstiy statements set forth under
Risk Factors in “Part I, Item 1A” and our other oegs filed with the SEC. Except as required ungmgliaable law, we assume no obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statementsenfeatein or any other forward-looking statementderay us, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Organization

We were organized on April 2, 2004 to own and ofeetiae cemetery and funeral home business condbgt&€brnerstone and its
subsidiaries. On September 20, 2004, in connegtitmour initial public offering of common unitspeesenting limited partner interests,
Cornerstone contributed to us substantially altofssets, liabilities and businesses, and thewerted into CFSI LLC, a limited liability
company. This transfer represented a reorganizafientities under common control and was recoatdustorical cost.

Cornerstone had been founded in 1999 by membearsrahanagement team and a private equity investfivtemtn order to acquire a
group of 123 cemetery properties and 4 funeral lsoi8ce that time, Cornerstone, succeeded byassatquired additional cemeteries and
funeral homes, entered into long term cemeteryaipey agreements, built funeral homes, and soldeteries and funeral homes, resulting in
the operation of 277 cemeteries and 90 funeral saamef December 31, 2013.

Capitalization

On September 20, 2004, we completed our initialipudffering. Since that time, we have completediidnal follow-on public offering:
in December 2007, November 2009, September 201Gabidiary 2011. On March 26, 2013, we completaallaw-on public offering of
1,610,000 common units at a price of $25.35 petr i@t proceeds of the offering, after deductingemvriting discounts and offering
expenses, were approximately $38.4 million. Thegedls from the offering were used to pay down daeldur credit facility.

On February 27, 2014, we completed a follow-on jubffering of 2,300,000 common units at a pricésa#.45 per unit. Net proceeds of
the offering, after deducting underwriting discaiahd offering expenses, were approximately $53libm The proceeds were used to pay
down borrowings outstanding under our revolvingldréacility.



Overview
Cemetery Operations

We are currently the second largest owner and tgres&cemeteries in the United States. As of Ddoen31, 2013, we operated 277
cemeteries in 27 states and Puerto Rico. We owroRltese cemeteries, and we operate the remal@nmder management or operating
agreements with the nonprofit cemetery corporattbat own the cemeteries. As a result of the agee¢snother control arrangements and
applicable accounting rules, we have treated Baxfe cemeteries as acquisitions for accountinggses.
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We operate 2 cemeteries under long-term operafreeanents that do not qualify as acquisitions émoanting purposes. As a result, we
did not consolidate all of the existing assets leatdlities related to these cemeteries. We havesolidated the existing assets and liabilities of
each of these cemeteries’ merchandise and perpetreatrusts as variable interest entities sinceamtrol and receive the benefits and absorb
any losses from operating these trusts. Under tlo@geterm operating agreements, which are sulbjecgrtain termination provisions, we are
the exclusive operator of these cemeteries. Wereaanues related to sales of merchandise, sepandsnterment rights and incur expenses
related to such sales and the maintenance and ppkéleese cemeteries. Upon termination of theséraots, we will retain all of the benefits
and related contractual obligations incurred frales generated during the contract period. We hbeerecognized the existing merchandise
liabilities assumed as part of these agreements.

We sell cemetery products and services both dirnieeof death, which we refer to as at-need, amar po the time of death, which we
refer to as pre-need. During the year ended DeceB1he2013, we performed 45,470 burials and sol88®interment rights (net of
cancellations) compared to 45,128 and 29,829 ir2 20 45,236 and 30,047 in 2011, respectively. Genpeevenues accounted for
approximately 81.8%, 85.3% and 86.7% during thes/eaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, regglycti

Our results of operations for our Cemetery Openatiare determined primarily by the volume of saliggroducts and services and the
timing of product delivery and performance of seeg. We derive our cemetery revenues primarily from

e at-need sales of cemetery interment rightscheerdise and services, which we recognize as revehen we have delivered the
related merchandise or performed the sen

e pre-need sales of cemetery interment rightschvive generally recognize as revenues when we tallected 10% of the sales
price from the custome

» pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise, whicheaognize as revenues when we satisfy the erispecified below for delivery of
the merchandise to the custorr

» pre-need sales of cemetery services which we recogsizevenues when we perform the services for te@er;

» investment income from assets held in our mandise trust, which we recognize as revenues wieedeliver the underlying
merchandise or perform the underlying servicesrandgnize the associated sales revenue as discaissee,

* investment income from perpetual care trustslugling realized gains and losses on the saleusf &ssets, which we recognize as
revenues as the income is earned in the trust

» other items, such as interest income or-need installment contracts and sales of |;
The criteria for recognizing revenue related toghke of cemetery merchandise is that such meritaigd“delivered” to our customer,
which generally means that:
» the merchandise is complete and ready for insiatiaor

» the merchandise is either installed or stotemheoff-site location, at no additional cost tg aisd specifically identified with a
particular customer; ar

» the risks and rewards of ownership have passdtetoustometr

We generally satisfy these delivery criteria byghasing the merchandise and either installing ib@ncemetery property or storing it, at
the customer’s request, in third-party warehouatsp additional cost to us, until the time of neafith respect to burial vaults, we install the
vaults rather than storing them to satisfy thevéeli criteria. When merchandise is stored for darasr, we may issue a certificate of
ownership to the customer to evidence the traniefére customer of the risks and rewards of owrnprsh

Pre-need Sales

As previously noted, we do not recognize revenupremeed sales of merchandise and services umtilave delivered the merchandise
or performed the services. Accordingly, deferredcereies from pre-need sales and related merchatndssearnings are reflected as a liability
on our consolidated balance sheet in deferred eFynetvenues, net.

Total deferred cemetery revenues, net, also insldééerred revenues from pre-need sales that vateecel into by entities we acquired
prior to the time we acquired them. This includethithose entities that we acquired at the timdeformation of Cornerstone and other
subsequent acquisitions. Our profit margin on preehsales entered into by entities we subsequacdlyired is generally less than our profit
margin on other pre-need sales because, in acamdeith industry practice at the time these acquire
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pre-need sales were made, none of the selling egpemere recognized at the time of sale. As atreselare required to recognize all of the
expenses (including deferred selling expensesagsd with these acquired pre-need sales whereeggnize the revenues from that sale.

Pre-need products and services are typically soldnoinstallment basis. Subject to state law, titesd¢racts are normally subject to
“cooling-off” periods, generally between three dhiity days, during which the customer may eleatdacel the contract and receive a full
refund of amounts paid. Also, subject to applicatége law, we are generally permitted to retagmamounts already paid on contracts,
including any amounts that were required to be diégt into trust, on contracts cancelled after‘tomling-off” period. Historical post
“cooling-off” period cancellations total approxineait 10% of our prereed sales (based on contract dollar amountd)e lptoducts and servic
purchased under a pre-need contract are neededdonent before payment has been made in fulleggly the balance due must be
immediately paid in full.

Contracts related to pre-need installment salesisuelly for a period not to exceed 60 months, wialiments of principal and interest
required. Pre-need sales contracts normally coptavisions for both principal and interest. Fargh contracts that do not bear a market rate
of interest, we impute such interest based upomptinee rate plus 150 basis points, which resultea iate of 4.75% during 2013, 2012 and
2011.

We normally offer prepayment incentives to custamnenose pre-need contracts are longer than 36 manith bear interest. If those
customers pay their contracts in full in less th@months, we rebate the interest that we haveateli from them. Even though this rebate
policy reduces the amount of interest income weiwecon our accounts receivable, the net effeghigicrease in our immediate cash flow.

In certain cases, pmeeed contracts will be cancelled before they alfg fiaid. In these circumstances, we are genepahynitted to retai
amounts already paid to us, including any amouraswere required to be deposited into trust. hta@e other cases, the products and service
purchased under a pre-need contract are neededdonent before payment has been made in futhése cases, we are generally entitled to
be immediately paid in full for any amounts stilitetanding.

At-need Sales

Revenue on at-need merchandise sales is defertibthertime that such merchandise is delivereck THy between the contract
origination and delivery is normally minimal. At-ee sales of products and services are generallyregtito be paid for in full at the time of
sale. At that time, we will deposit amounts, aslgrequired, into our perpetual care trusts. Weret required to deposit any amounts from
our at-need sales into merchandise trusts.

Expenses
We analyze and categorize our operating expensed@ss:

1. Cost of goods sold and selling exper

Cost of goods sold reflects the actual cost of lpasing products and performing services. Salesmietery lots and interment rights,
whether at-need or pre-need, typically have a lawest of goods sold than other merchandise thatele

Selling expenses consist of salesperson and saleagament payroll costs, including selling commissj bonuses and employee
benefits. We self-insure medical expenses of owpleyees up to certain individual and aggregatettimaver which we have stdpss insuranc
coverage. Our self-insurance policy may resultdariability in our future operating expenses. Sellaxpenses also includes other costs of
obtaining product and service sales, such as asivgrt marketing, postage and telephone.

Direct costs associated with pre-need sales of mggnmerchandise and services, such as sales ceiongsand cost of goods sold, are
reflected in the consolidated balance sheet inrdeleselling and obtaining costs and deferred cempeevenues, net, respectively, and are
expensed as the merchandise is delivered or thizserare performed. Indirect costs, such as miakend advertising costs, are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

2. Cemetery Expenst

Cemetery expenses represent the cost to maintdiregair our cemetery properties and consist pilynaf labor and equipment, utilitie
real estate taxes and other maintenance itemsiRe@essary to maintain our cemeteries are egpeasthey are incurred. Other
maintenance costs required over the long term fataia the operating capacity of our cemeterieshsas to build roads and install sprinkler
systems, are capitalized.
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3. General and administrative expen

General and administrative expenses, which donottde corporate overhead, primarily include pengboosts, insurance and other
costs necessary to maintain our cemetery offices.

4.  Depreciation and amortizatic

We depreciate our property and equipment on agtirdine basis over their estimated useful lives.

5.  Acquisition related cost

Acquisition related costs, which include legal faesl other third party costs incurred in acquisitielated activities, are expensed as
incurred.

Funeral Home Operations

As of December 31, 2013, we owned and operated®€rél homes. These properties are located inesghdtates and Puerto Rico.
Forty-one of our funeral homes are located on thengds of cemeteries that we own.

We derive revenues at our funeral homes from tleeafduneral home merchandise, including casketsralated funeral merchandise,
and services, including removal and preparatioreofains, the use of our facilities for visitatievgrship and performance of funeral services
and transportation services. We sell these sergicdsnerchandise generally at the time of neeizintj salaried licensed funeral directors.
Funeral home revenues accounted for approximaeBeA4, 14.7% and 13.3% during the years ended Dese8ih 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Pursuant to state law, a portion of proceeds reckirom pre-need funeral service contracts is ot rust while amounts used to defray
the initial administrative costs are not. All intreent earnings generated by the assets in the(tnegiding realized gains and losses) are
deferred until the associated merchandise is deliver the services are performed. The balandeecfitnounts in these trusts is included wi
the merchandise trusts.

We generally include revenues from pre-need casMes in the results of our cemetery operationsvever, some states require that
caskets be sold by funeral homes, and revenuesdasket sales in those states are included inumarél home results.

Our funeral home operating expenses consist priynafricompensation to our funeral directors, dagéy costs of managing the busin
and the cost of caskets.

Corporate

We incur fixed costs for corporate overhead pritgddr centralized functions, such as payroll, aguting, collections and professional
fees. We also incur expenses relating to reporgagirements under U.S. federal securities lawscanigin other additional expenses of being
a public company.
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Revenues by State
The following table shows the percentage of reveraiibutable to each of the states in which weraie for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Alabama 3.8% 3.8% 3.6%
California 8.6% 8.C% 8.6%
Florida 4.2% 1.C% 0.1%
Georgia 1.€% 1.2% 1.2%
Illinois 2.7% 2.€% 2.2%
Indiana 6.7% 6.€% 8.C%
Kansas 1.2% 1.2% 1.4%
Maryland 5.7% 5.8% 6.C%
Michigan 6.2% 6.1% 8.€%
Missouri 1.€% 1.5% 1.€%
New Jerse! 6.2% 7.1% 6.8%
North Caroling 4.8% 5.6% 5.8%
Ohio 8.1% 9.2% 8.7%
Oregon 2.% 2.7% 2.%
Pennsylvani: 12.7% 13.2% 14.7%
Puerto Ricc 3.1% 3.2% 0.%%
South Carolin: 1.8% 1.% 2.1%
Tennesse 3.6% 3.7% 2.4%
Virginia 6.7% 6.8% 6.5%
West Virginia 5.1% 5.€% 5.2%
All others 2.2% 2.2% 2.C%
Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
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Principal Products and Services

The following table shows the percentage of reveraitibutable to our principal products, serviaed other items during the periods
presented:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Pre-need sales:
Burial lots 8.8% 9.€% 8.€%
Mausoleum crypt 4.7% 5.1% 4.7%
Markers 4.€% 4.€% 4.2%
Grave marker bast 1.C% 1.1% 1.1%
Burial vaults 4.2% 5.1% 5.C%
Lawn crypts 1.2% 1.5% 1.4%
Caskets 1.2% 0.8% 2.%%
Initial openings and closings ( 5.5% 6.2% 6.5%
Other (2) 5.7% 5.5% 4.8%
Total pre-need sale 37.(% 40.(% 39.5%
Interest from pre-need sale: 2.8% 2.6% 2.6%
Investment income from trusts:
Perpetual care trus 5.4% 6.1% 6.6%
Merchandise trust 4.5% 3.6% 3.7%
Total investment income from trus 9.€% 9.% 10.2%
At-need sales
Openings and closings ( 10.% 11.1% 12.4%
Markers 8.2% 7.€% 7.7%
Burial lots 3.2% 3.4% 3.6%
Mausoleum crypt 1.C% 1.2% 1.2%
Grave marker bast 1.6% 1.6% 1.7%
Foundations and inscriptions ( 0.8% 0.£% 1.C%
Burial vaults 1.€% 1.5% 1.€%
Other (5) 3.2% 3.2% 3.7%
Total a-need sale 30.6% 30.6% 32.%
Funeral home revenues 18.2% 14.7% 13.2%
Other revenues(6) 1.5% 1.8% 1.4%
Total revenues 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

(1) Installation of the burial vault into the grour

(2) Includes revenues from niches, mausoleum ljgitsnations, pet cemeteries, installation of Bwaalts and markers sold to our
customers by third parties and pre-need sales mattmnection with the relocation of other cemetetgrment rights. Also includes
document processing fees on pre-need contractieandrom sales of travel care protection, whichets shipping costs of a body if
death occurs more than 100 miles from the plagesiflence

(3) Installation of the burial vault into the grounddathe placement of the casket into the ve

(4) Installation of the marker on the ground and itciption.

(5) Includes revenues from lawn crypts, decordipfats installed on mausoleum crypts, installatioh®urial vaults, markers sold to our
customers by third parties, cremation fees and meci-processing fees on-need contract:

(6) Includes sales of manufactured burial vaulthia parties, sales of cemetery and undeveloged, lcommissions from sales of pre-need
funeral and death benefit insurance policies predithrough a thii-party insurer and other miscellaneous reven
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Cash Flow

Pre-need sales often generate short-term cashdiéfigits due to the timing of when we receive antedrom customers, pay related
commissions and deposit amounts into the perpetualand merchandise trusts.

We generally require customers to make a down payorea pre-need contract of at least 5% of the satles price. When we receive a
payment from a customer on a pre-need contracfirstedeposit the requisite portion into trust eguired by state law. Then, we pay all or a
portion of the commission due to the salespersgpamsible for the sale up to a maximum of totahagaseived. In many cases, the sum of the
commission paid and amount deposited into the &xsteds the total cash received, causing a strontdash flow deficit.

If the down payment received from the customeissufficient to cover the entire commission, tmaining commission is paid from
subsequent installments, but only to the exte®08b of the cash received from the customer in @zthllment. Again, in the near-term there
is a possibility that the sum of the commissiordgaid amount deposited into the trust exceedsthbdash received, causing an additional
short-term cash flow deficit. These short-term defiare eventually recaptured as the total ammagived exceeds the commissions paid anc
we meet the requirements for withdrawing amoungmodited into the merchandise trust.

The following example assumes a pre-need contralbtatotal sales price of $1,000, a 10% down payree40% perpetual care and
merchandise trusting requirement, a 15% sales cesiom and a one-year term without interest, ourtdleom cash flow would be as follows:

*  When we receive the $100 down payment from theocost, we would deposit 40% of the payment, or $4ust and pay 100%
the commission due to the salesperson, or $15@rilyto the extent that we received cash fromctiigtomer, or $100. Our total
cash obligations would be $140 even though we medgived $100 from the customer. We would use $4ipoperating cash to
pay the sales commission and, at this time, woaldash flow negative on the contre

* In month one, when we receive the first $75alment from the customer, we would deposit 40930, into trust and pay 100%
of the balance of the commission due to the saesop, or $50. Our total cash obligations woul&8@ even though we only
received $75 from the customer. We would use $Suoperating cash to pay sales commission anddnstill be cash flow
negative on the contrac

* In month two, when we receive the next $75alhstent from the customer, we would deposit 40%$30, into trust, but we would
have no further commission due on the sale. Thairdng $45 received from the customer would go batk our operating cash,
and we would break even on the contract on a-flow basis.

* In month three, when we receive the next $8kliment from the customer, we would deposit 468430, into trust and the
remaining $45 would go back into our operating céslthis month, we would become cash flow positimethe contrac

We can accelerate our operating cash flow by pwingeand delivering many of our products in advawoicie time of customer need,
either by installing them in the customer’s busphce (in the case of burial vaults) or storingrttier the customer, and by performing certain
services prior to the time of need. For exampléhiwithe allowances of state law, we purchase buaalts, grave markers and caskets, and
perform initial openings and closings to insta# thurial vault in the ground before the time ofdhé&hen we satisfy the criteria for delivery of
pre-need products or perform pre-need servicegsrev@ermitted to withdraw the related principal angt income and capital gains that we
have not already withdrawn from the merchandissttrand we recognize the amounts withdrawn, inalgidimounts previously withdrawn, as
revenues. Advance purchasing helps us avoid thativegcash flow impact of depositing significantfans of our sales proceeds in trusts
while earning rates on those trusts that are ctlyrégss than interest rates we pay on our debth&eextent that we can purchase and deliver
products and perform services in advance of the tifmeed, we can accelerate, within the limitatiohGAAP, the timing of our revenue
recognition for these products and services. Assalt, decisions made by our management to pur@rabsedeliver products or perform servi
in advance, for cash flow or other reasons, atfeetiming of revenue recognition from the undertysales.

We are somewhat limited, however, in our abilityptochase some products in advance of the timeed because of their availability.
Given our large volume of pneeed sales, it is unlikely that our suppliers cquriolvide, or we could manufacture, all of the pratduncluded ir
our pre-need backlog at any given time. For exanwpéegenerally need more vaults per year to fuliiit preneed contract obligations, than
currently manufacture at our plants. We must pwelany excess from third party suppliers who misst meet the demands of other cemeten
operators.

We currently purchase some of our burial vaultsifthird-party providers to assist us in meeting the demandsir accelerated purche
and delivery program. We are also limited in oufigtto perform certain services in advance of timee of need because of their nature or out
resources. For example, we cannot perform the éipahing and closing, which is the placing of thsket into the ground, or inscribe the date
of death on the monument or marker until the tifeemd. Even if we chose to perform all of the sE@win our pre-need backlog that could be
performed in advance of need, such as installihgfahe burial vaults in our pre-need backlog, waeuld not currently have the labor,
equipment or other resources to perform all of ¢hservices in a short period of time.
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Trusting

We are required to deposit a portion of amountsivet on sales of certain cemetery merchandisesearces into a perpetual care
and/or merchandise trust. These amounts are irt/bgtthird-party investment managers who are seteloy the Trust and Compliance
Committee of the board of directors of our genpeatner. These investment managers are requiriegdst our trust funds in accordance with
applicable state law and internal investment gingsladopted by the Trust and Compliance Commi@ee.investment managers are
monitored by third-party investment advisors selddiy the Trust and Compliance Committee who adhise&eommittee on the determination
of asset allocations, evaluate the investment nemsand provide detailed monthly reports on théoperance of each merchandise and
perpetual care trust.

Perpetual Care Trus

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceents the sale of cemetery property is required tpdid into perpetual care trusts. While
this amount varies, it is generally 10% to 20%hef $ales price of the interment right. All prindipaust remain in this trust into perpetuity
while interest and dividends may be released @mnasused to defray cemetery maintenance costshvanécexpensed as incurred. Earnings
from the perpetual care trusts are recognized lirenticemetery revenues. To maximize this inconehave established investment guideline
for the third-party investment managers that marhgérust so that substantially all of the fundsiavested in intermediate-term investment-
grade fixed-income securities, high-yield fixedonte securities, master limited partnerships anidestate investment trusts.

We fund these amounts pro-rata on an “as receibasis. As payments are received from the custonesgdeposit a pro-rata amount of
the payment into a perpetual care trust. For exanifplve receive a payment of 20% of the salesediiom the customer, we would deposit i
the perpetual care trust 20% of the total amountired to be placed into trust for that sale.

We consolidate the assets of the trust in accodaiith the provisions of ASC 810, as the trustossidered to be a variable interest
entity for which we are the primary beneficiary.sats are reflected at fair market value on thetgsstion of our consolidated balance shee
an asset entitled “perpetual care trusts, resttj@efair value,” and an equal amount is reflectsa liability as “perpetual care trust corpus.”

Merchandise Trusi

We are generally required by state law to depogirtion of the sales price of pre-need cemetemchandise and services, or the
estimated current cost of providing that merchamdisd those services, into a merchandise trustsiore that we will have sufficient funds in
the future to purchase the merchandise or perfobesérvices. The amount we are required to dejpbsitt merchandise trust varies from state
to state but is generally 40% to 70% of the sate®pf the merchandise or services.

We fund these amounts pro-rata on an “as receibasis. As payments are received from the custonesdeposit a pro-rata amount of
the payment into a merchandise trust. For exanfple receive a payment of 20% of the sales prioefthe customer, we would deposit into
the merchandise trust 20% of the total amount requb be placed into trust for the merchandisesamdices sold.

We consolidate the assets of the trust in accorlaiith the provisions of ASC 810, as the trustossidered to be a variable interest
entity for which we are the primary beneficiary.sats are reflected at fair market value on thetgsstion of our consolidated balance shee
an asset entitled “merchandise trusts, restrietefhir value”.

Unlike assets in the perpetual care trusts, agséie® merchandise trusts will be released to wlseatime we meet the requirements. Tt
requirements vary from state to state depending applicable laws.

Earnings on funds held in merchandise trusts, @iolyinvestment income and capital gains, are defiesind included in our consolida:
balance sheet in deferred cemetery revenues, métsuch time that we recognize the revenue frbenrelated sale.

We are permitted to withdraw the investmirobme, such as interest and dividends, as welhpgal gains, from merchandise trusts at
varying times depending on the applicable state laome states, we are permitted to make momitihdrawals of investment income, bui
other states we are permitted to withdraw incorse feequently or only upon death. In all statesydaer, we are permitted to withdraw trust
principal and earnings to purchase the merchamdiperform the services or, generally, when theausr cancels the contract. Some states
impose additional restrictions on our ability taldraw merchandise trust earnings if those trust® liealized losses. For example, if a
Pennsylvania merchandise trust realizes a losdrukeis required to recover the amount of théized loss, either by earning income or
generating capital gains, before we are alloweaditbdraw earnings, except to purchase the relatedyzts or perform the related services.
Other states, such as Virginia, permit continuetthdgvawals of merchandise trust earnings followingalized loss so long as the fair market
value of the funds held in trust equals or excekdsost of the related products and services.

We invest the amounts deposited into merchandisgstrwithin specified investment guidelines, priilgdn intermediate-term,
investment-grade fixed-income securities, highd/feted-income securities, real estate investmerst$ and, to a lesser extent, equity
securities and cash.
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The income earned on funds held in the perpetualaad merchandise trusts can be materially afidayefluctuations in interest rates,
dividend payments and, in the case of merchandisést by the performance of the stock market. dtment income from the trusts accounted
for 9.9%, 9.9% and 10.3% of our 2013, 2012 and 201l revenues, respectively. During 2013, 201@ 2011 our average annual rates of
return (not including changes in unrealized gaims lasses) on funds held in the merchandise tmsts 9.4%, 6.7% and 7.5%, respectively,
while our average annual rates of return on furedd im the perpetual care trusts were 4.8%, 5.986a2%0, respectively. Past performance is
not indicative of future performance.

Unrealized gains and losses in the merchandiststans deferred and accordingly have no immedimpact on our revenues, earnings ol
cash flow unless the fair market value of the fudeslines below the estimated costs to deliveretated products and services, in which case
we would be required to record a current chargeataings equal to the difference between the faikeat value of the funds and the estimated
costs.

We determine whether or not assets in the mercharadid perpetual care trusts have an other-thapetamy impairment on a security-
by-security basis. This assessment is made basedaupumber of criteria including the length oféim security has been in a loss position,
changes in market conditions, concerns relatedsgreaific issuer and our ability and intent to hedaturities until they recover their value. If a
loss is considered to be other-than-temporaryctis¢ basis of the security is adjusted downwaiitstmarket value.

For assets held in the perpetual care trusts,edyction in the cost basis due to an other-thampoeary impairment is offset with an
equal and opposite reduction in the perpetual tast corpus and has no impact on earnings.

For assets held in the merchandise trusts, anytiedun the cost basis due to an other-than-teamgampairment is recorded in deferred
revenue.

The trust footnotes (Notes 5 and 6 of our constdiddinancial statements included in “Part Il 1t8i%) disclose the adjusted cost basis of
the assets in the trusts and contain a more det@digeussion of other-than- temporarily impaireseds.

Current Market Conditions and Economic Developments

We are subject to fluctuations in the fair valueeqtiity and fixed-maturity debt securities in awsts. These values can be negatively
impacted by contractions in the credit market averall downturns in economic activity.

In general, the financial markets have trended ugwance 2009. As of December 31, 2013, the mar&iete of the assets in our
merchandise trusts exceeded their amortized co8t@9g, which is an improvement from December 31,2@hen the market value of the
assets exceeded their amortized cost by 0.2%. Beoémber 31, 2013, the market value of the agsetsr perpetual care trusts exceeded
amortized cost by 10.5% which is an improvemennfidecember 31, 2012 when the market value of thetagxceeded their amortized cost
by 5.8%.

Further, we raised capital via a follow-on publfteang of our common units in March of 2013. Indittbn, in May of 2013, we
completed an offering of $175.0 million aggregatagpal amount of 7.875% Senior Notes due 2024 nt proceeds of which were used to
pay the tender offer consideration and redeemban butstanding 10.25% Senior Notes due 2017. Axoémber 31, 2013, the majority of
our long-term debt consisted of $175.0 million En®r Notes due 2021 and $114.0 million of borraygimnder our credit facility which
expires in 2017. As of December 31, 2013, we hai@gillion of availability under our revolving afé facility.

The average dollar value of contracts written hatsdeteriorated and the values for the year endszbiber 31, 2013 exceed the values
from 2012.

We will continue to monitor evolving economic cotiolis, including changes in inflation rates anchpacordingly.

Recent Developments

On February 27, 2014, we completed a follow-on jpubifering of 2,300,000 common units at a pricésdf.45 per unit. Net proceeds of
the offering, after deducting underwriting discauand offering expenses, were approximately $53liom The proceeds were used to pay
down borrowings outstanding under our revolvingddréacility.

Change in Market Value of Trust Assets

We have a substantial portfolio of invested asiselt®th our merchandise and perpetual care trBsith trusts have a mix of cash and
cash equivalents, fixed maturity debt securitied @quity securities. Declines in the fair valueeqgtiity securities, and to a lesser degree, fixed
maturity debt securities held in our trusts, camaitical issue for us. The financial marketséngenerally trended upward since 2009 and
reached a new record high at the end of Decemtes. ZDuring 2013 and 2012, we determined that asfel@ct assets in our merchandise trus
had been impaired and we took an impairment chafrgeproximately $1.0 million in both years. Weatietermined an impairment in our
perpetual care trust assets in 2012, resulting img@airment charge of
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approximately $2.8 million. These impairment chargee deferred until such time that we deliverrttegchandise or perform the services for
which the trust assets are set aside. The impatrofremges reduced the cost basis of the assédieitdair value. As of December 31, 2013, the
aggregate post write-down fair value of the asisetair merchandise trust exceeded its amortizetilio®.6% and the aggregate post write-
down fair value of the assets in our perpetual taist exceeded its amortized cost by 10.5%.

Funds in our trusts are managed by third-partysimaent managers who are in turn monitored by d4{barty investment advisor selec
by our Trust and Compliance Committee. The thirdypavestment advisor provides the committee iiflyuent updates on the performance
of our investments. We will continue to monitorstipierformance closely. See “ltem 7A. Quantitatind Qualitative Disclosure About Market
Risk” for more information.

The perpetual care trust and merchandise truseé sexstly different purposes and the risks and icatilbns of changes in trust asset va
are dissimilar.

Perpetual Care Trus

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeantn the sale of cemetery property must be depositech perpetual care trust.

The perpetual care trust principal does not betongs and must remain in the trust into perpetWg. consolidate the trust into our
financial statements in accordance with ASC 813443 through 22) because the trust is consideneitiable interest entity for which we
are the primary beneficiary.

The fair value of trust assets is recorded as set@as our consolidated balance sheet and is kntiifset by a liability. This liability is
recorded as “Perpetual care trust corpus”. Chaimgidr value of trust assets are recognized bystijg both the trust asset and the offsetting
liability. Impairment of the value of trust assetdether temporary or other-than-temporary, will inopact periodic earnings nor will it impact
our financial position or liquidity at any point time.

Our primary risks related to the assets in the gteigd care trust relate to the interest and divddegraid and released to us and used to
defray cemetery maintenance costs. Any materialatgsh in this income stream could have a matefigict on our financial condition, results
of operations and liquidity. Interest income earnadhe perpetual care trust assets was approXingi6.7 million, $16.7 million and $15.8
million during the years ended December 31, 200322and 2011, respectively.

Merchandise Trust

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceents the sale of pre-need cemetery and funeral hoarelandise and services must be
deposited into a merchandise trust.

Unlike the perpetual care trust, the principalia merchandise trust will ultimately revert to Tkis will occur once we have met the
various requirements for its release which is galhethe delivery of merchandise or performancermderlying services. Accordingly, changes
in the fair value of trust assets, both temporay ather-than-temporary, may ultimately impact periodic earnings and financial position or
liquidity at any point in time.

Managing the cash flow associated with the reledsmist assets and investment income is a critioaiponent of our overall corporate
strategy. Our investment strategy reflects thetfzat the release of trust assets and the resalahtflow is critical to our ability to meet our
profitability goals and liquidity needs. Accordigglwe set such strategy to balance the potentiaktorn with the need to maintain asset value

A decline in the market value of the assets inntleechandise trust could ultimately impair our peaddility and resulting financial positic
and liquidity should we be forced to liquidate sadsets at an amount significantly below our oebéxpectation, which is ultimately asset
cost.

We mitigate this risk by ensuring that a sufficipottion of trust assets is invested in cash astl eguivalents that do not have signific
risk to principal. We can then manage trust assetbat released amounts are liquidated from thid @s opposed to any pool of assets that al
currently valued below cos



At December 31, 2013, the merchandise trust hatbappately $46.5 million in cash and cash equivtdefhis amount functions to
mitigate the risk of liquidating impaired assetselaluating the sufficiency of this amount agts$ceifectiveness in mitigating the risk of
liquidating impaired assets, we have considerechéténflows and outflows of cash into the trusteéaent prior periods. These net inflows and
outflows are a function of both sales originatiansl the corresponding trust deposits and meetmgriteria for releasing funds. Total net cast
inflows into the merchandise trust for the yearexh®ecember 31, 2013 were approximately $12.4anilwhich includes an inflow of $10.3
million related to acquisitions made in 2013. Skigtiidity and Capital Resources” within this “Iteri for more information.

Absent a substantial downturn in pre-need saledelieve that the cash and cash equivalent allmcati the merchandise trust assets is
sufficient to mitigate the risk of liquidating imipad assets in the near future.
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Impact of Current Market Conditions on Our Ability to Meet Our Debt Covenants

Current market conditions have not negatively inbpaour ability to meet our significant debt covetsa These covenants specifically
relate to a certain measure of Consolidated EBITHDA certain coverage and leverage ratios as defintbé Credit Agreement described
below.

Consolidated EBITDA is primarily related to the mmt period value of contracts written, investmiecbme from the merchandise and
perpetual care trusts, and current expenses irturte revenue recognition rules we must follovaégordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of AmgfiG®AAP”) are not considered.

We have two primary debt covenants that are depgng®mn our financial results, the Consolidateddrage Ratio and the Consolidated
Debt Service Coverage Ratio. The Consolidated lamyeRatio relates to the ratio of Consolidated Edriddebtedness to Consolidated
EBITDA. Our Consolidated Leverage Ratio was 3.8Batember 31, 2013 compared to a maximum allowal 084.00. The Consolidated
Debt Service Coverage Ratio relates to the ratiGafsolidated EBITDA to Consolidated Debt Servidar Consolidated Debt Service
Coverage Ratio was 3.33 at December 31, 2013 cadpara minimum allowed ratio of 2.50.

Net Income (Loss), Operating Cash Flows and Partnébistributions
The table below details net income (loss), opegatash flows and partner distributions made in 2@032 and 2011, respectively:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Net income (loss $(19,03)) $(3,019) $(9,715)
Operating cash flow 35,075 31,89¢ 5,46¢
Partner distribution 52,05 47,45: 44,60¢

Cash flows from operations for the years ended Bes 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $35.1 milliod, $3nillion and $5.5 million,
respectively, which exceeded our net loss of $t8@lidon, $3.0 million and $9.7 million, respectiyelduring the same periods. The differences
between our operating cash flows and net lossdiage part attributable to the fact that varioash inflows for payments of amounts due
under pre-need sales contracts were not and agsrajtyet recognized as revenues as we had ndteednot met the delivery criteria for
revenue recognition. Although there is no assurameeexpect that the trend of operating cash flemeseeding our net income or net loss will
continue into the foreseeable future.

Consolidation

Our historical operations are part of a consolidap®up for financial reporting purposes that ingluhe cemeteries we operate under
long-term operating agreements. We currently opet8tcemeteries, 16 of which have been fully cadatdd, under these long-term operating
agreements. Intercompany balances and transattamesbeen eliminated in consolidation.

Income Taxes

Our historical financial statements include theeef§ of applicable U.S. federal and state incomestén order to comply with GAAP. W
are a limited partnership that has elected todmed as a partnership for U.S. federal incom@uagoses and therefore not be subject to U.S.
federal or applicable state income taxes. In otalée treated as a partnership for federal incanetirposes, at least 90% of our gross incom
must be qualifying income, which includes incormanirthe sale of real property, including burial Iftsth and without installed vaults), lawn
and mausoleum crypts and cremation niches. Maostio&ctivities that do not generate qualifying imeg such as the sale of other cemetery
products, the provision of perpetual care servittespperation of our managed cemeteries and mdiréd home operations, will be owned by
and conducted through corporate subsidiaries, wiitibe subject to tax on their net taxable inco&idends we receive from corporate
subsidiaries will be qualifying income.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based upon etorigal consolidated financial
statements. We prepared these financial staterimreatsmformity with GAAP. The preparation of thesmnesolidated financial statements
required us to make estimates and assumptionaffieated the reported amounts of assets and liasitand disclosure of contingent assets an
liabilities as of the date of the consolidated ficial statements and the reported amounts of
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revenues and expenses during the reporting pef@d$ased our estimates, judgments and assumptiohistorical experience and known
facts and other assumptions that we believed tedsonable under the circumstances. In future gigrise expect to make similar estimates,
judgments and assumptions on the same basis aaweéhtstorically. Our actual results in future pdd may differ from these estimates un
different assumptions and conditions. We beliewt the following accounting policies or estimatesl lor will have the greatest potential
impact on our consolidated financial statementgHerperiods discussed and for future periods.

Revenue Recoghnitio

We sell our merchandise and services on both aged-and at-need basis. All at-need sales arenzeabjas revenues and recorded in
earnings at the time that merchandise is delivaretiservices are performed.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery interrigdis in constructed burial property are defematl at least 10% of the sales price
has been collected, at which time they are fullyed.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery interrigdris in unconstructed burial property, such assoseum crypts and lawn crypts,
are recognized using the percentage-of-completiethad of accounting, with no revenue being recagphizntil at least 10% of the sales price
has been received. The percentage-of-completiohadaif accounting requires us to make certain egéimas of our reporting dates. These
estimates are made based upon information avaiddlilee reporting date and are updated on a spéaéfntification method at the end of each
reporting period. Periodic earnings are calculé@sed upon the total sales price, estimated acostplete and the percentage completed
during a given reporting period.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery mercleaadisservices are deferred until the merchanslidelivered or the services are
performed, at which time they are fully earned.

Investment earnings, including realized gains aisdds, generated by assets in our merchandise anestieferred until the associated
merchandise is delivered or the services are paddr

In order to appropriately match revenue and expenge defer certain pre-need cemetery and preadafugperal direct obtaining costs
that vary with and are primarily related to acqigsis of new pre-need cemetery and prearrangeddlhbesiness until such time that the
associated revenue is recognized.

Deferred Cemetery Revenues, I

Revenues from the sale of services and mercharatisgell as any investment income from the mercisertdust is deferred until such
time that the services are performed or the mextiarns delivered.

In addition to amounts deferred on new contraoigstment income and unrealized gains on our medis@ trust, deferred cemetery
revenues, net, includes deferred revenues fronmgee-sales that were entered into by entities pitite acquisition of those entities by us,
including entities that were acquired by CornerstBamily Services, Inc. upon its formation in 1998 provide for a reasonable profit mar
for these deferred revenues (deferred margin)¢owatt for the future costs of delivering produatd @roviding services on pre-need contracts
that we acquired through acquisitions. Deferredgimaamounts are deferred until the merchandiseliseted or the services are performed.

Accounts Receivable Allowance for Cancellatio

At the time of a pre-need sale, we record an ado@oeivable in an amount equal to the total cantvalue less any cash deposit paid ne
of an estimated allowance for cancellations.

The allowance for cancellations is established dhag®n our estimate of expected cancellations &tdrical experiences and is currel
approximately 10% of total contract values. Fuaacellation rates may differ from this curreniraate. We will continue to evaluate
cancellation rates and will make changes to thenast should the need arise. Actual cancellatiotsidt vary significantly from the estimates
of expected cancellations at December 31, 201®b2 2

Merchandise Trust Assel

Assets held in our merchandise trusts are cartiéalravalue. Any change in unrealized gains argsés is reflected in the carrying value
of the assets and is recognized as deferred revAmyeand all investment income streams, includirtgrest, dividends or gains and losses
from the sale of trust assets are offset agairfstiel revenue until such time that we deliveruhderlying merchandise. Investment income
generated from our merchandise trust is includeddametery revenues — investment and other.

We evaluate whether or not the assets in our mediba trusts have an other-than-temporary impaitoerm security-by-security basis.
This assessment is made based upon a numbereasfacittcluding the length of time a security hasrbi a loss position, changes in market
conditions, concerns related to the specific isamer our ability and intent to hold the securityilubregains its value. If a loss is considerec



be other-than-temporary, the cost basis of therggés adjusted downward to its market
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value. Any reduction in the cost basis of the ashetd in our merchandise trusts due to an othe-temporary impairment is offset against
deferred revenue. Refer to Note 5 of our consdidifinancial statements included in this Annual &epn Form 10-K for a more detailed
discussion of other-than-temporarily impaired asset

Perpetual Care Trust Asse

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeamntn the sale of cemetery property is required tpdid into perpetual care trusts. All
principal must remain in this trust into perpetuitiiile interest and dividends may be released aed to defray cemetery maintenance costs,
which are expensed as incurred.

Assets in our perpetual care trusts are carriéagiratalue. Any change in unrealized gains anddess reflected in the carrying value of
the assets and is offset against perpetual casedoupus.

We evaluate whether or not the assets in our pgmpedire trusts have an other-than-temporary impsit on a security-bgecurity basis
This assessment is made based upon a numberasfeciiicluding the length of time a security hasrb@ a loss position, changes in market
conditions, concerns related to the specific isamer our ability and intent to hold the securityilubrecovers its value. If a loss is considered
to be other-than-temporary, the cost basis of dearrity is adjusted downward to its market valuey Aeduction in the cost basis of the assets
held in our perpetual care trusts due to an otten-temporary impairment is offset against perpetaige trust corpus. There is no impact on
earnings. Refer to Notes 5 and 6 of our consoldiitencial statements included in this Annual Répa Form 10-K for a more detailed
discussion of other-than-temporarily impaired asset

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets
We determine whether or not the impairment of adixaturity debt security is other-than-temporargbaluating each of the following:
. Whether it is our intent to sell the security.Héte is intent to sell, the impairment is considdrebe othe-thar-temporary

. If there is no intent to sell, we evaluatet isinot more likely than not that we will be repd to sell the debt security before
its anticipated recovery. If we determine thasitriore likely than not that it will be requiredgell an impaired investment
before its anticipated recovery, the impairmertassidered to be ott-thar-temporary.

We further evaluate whether or not all assetsémntlerchandise trusts have other-than-temporaryiimpats based upon a number of
criteria including the length of time a securitysh#een in a loss position, changes in market donditand concerns related to the specific
issuer.

If an impairment is considered to be other-thangterary, the cost basis of the security is adjudtadnward to its fair value.

For assets held in the perpetual care trusts,edyction in the cost basis due to an other-thampoeary impairment is offset with an
equal and opposite reduction in the perpetual wast corpus and has no impact on earnings.

For assets held in the merchandise trusts, anyctiedun the cost basis due to an other-than-teargampairment is recorded in deferred
revenue.

The trusts footnotes (Notes 5 and 6) disclose dijiested cost basis of the assets in both the medis@and perpetual care trusts. This
adjusted cost basis includes any adjustments tortgmal cost basis due to other-than-temporamyaimments.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable net assetpuared. We test goodwill for impairme
using a two-step test. In the first step of thé, t@e compare the fair value of the reporting tmiits carrying amount, including goodwill. We
determine the fair value of each reporting unihgghe income approach. We do not record an impaitrof goodwill in instances where the
fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carryamgount. If the aggregate fair value of a reporting is less than the related carrying amount,
we proceed to the second step of the test in whighvould determine and record an impairment losmimamount equal to the excess of the
carrying amount of goodwill over the implied fa@lue. The goodwill impairment test is performeduwadly or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that impairment may exist.
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Income Taxes

Our corporate subsidiaries are subject to bothrééd@amd state income taxes. We record deferreddagts and liabilities to recognize
temporary differences between the bases of assetsadilities in our tax and GAAP balance sheetd for federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards and alternative minimum tax credits.

We record a valuation allowance against our dedeta® assets if we deem that it is more likely thahthat some portion or all of the
recorded deferred tax assets will not be realizeibfeture periods.

In evaluating our ability to recover deferred tasets, we consider all available positive and megatvidence, including our past
operating results, recent cumulative losses andasacast of future taxable income. In determirfingire taxable income, we make
assumptions for the amount of taxable income, ¢hrersal of temporary differences and the implentemtaf feasible and prudent tax plann
strategies. These assumptions require us to makenients about our future taxable income and arsistemt with the plans and estimates we
use to manage our business. Any reduction in etgiifature taxable income may require us to reeorddditional valuation allowance aga
our deferred tax assets. An increase in the valnatilowance would result in additional income ¢éxpense in the period and could have a
significant impact on our future earnings.

As of December 31, 2013, our taxable corporateidigvies had federal net operating loss carryfodsaf approximately $194.3 millio
which will begin to expire in 2019 and $238.2 naifliin state net operating losses, a portion of wbipires annually. Our ability to use such
federal net operating losses may be limited by gharin the ownership of our units deemed to résuah “ownership change” under the
applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue CoidE986, as amended.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In the third quarter of 2013, the Financial AccangtStandards Board issued Update No. 2013-11nhecbaxes (Topic 740) (“ASU
2013-11"). ASU 2013-11 provides guidance on tharicial statement presentation of an unrecognizetdaefit when a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward exists. This amendment requires artyetdgipresent in the financial statements an
unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an ungeéred tax benefit, as a reduction to a deferre@saset for a net operating loss carryforward,
a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforwamicept as follows. To the extent that (i) a net afiag loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a
tax credit carryforward is not available at thearting date under the tax law of the applicablésyliction to settle any additional income taxes
that would result from the disallowance of a tasipon; or (ii) the tax law of the applicable judistion does not require, and the entity does
intend to use, the deferred tax asset for suchosesghe unrecognized tax benefit should be predentthe financial statements as a liability
and should not be combined with deferred tax as¢étsapplied the provisions of ASU 2013-11 to altecognized tax benefits that existed at
the effective date of December 15, 2013. This adomtid not have a significant impact on our fin@hposition, results of operations, or cash
flows.

Segment Reporting and Related Information

The Company is organized into five distinct repbigasegments which are classified as Cemetery @pesa—Southeast, Cemetery
Operations—Northeast, Cemetery Operations—Westfaliiomes, and Corporate.

We chose this level of organization and disaggiegatif reportable segments due to the fact thatah reportable segment has unique
characteristics that set it apart from each othewe have organized our management personnetse thperational levels; and c) this is the
level at which our chief decision makers and ofertior management evaluate performance.

The Cemetery Operations segments sell intermelntsiigaskets, burial vaults, cremation niches, erarknd other cemetery related
merchandise. Our cemetery operations are disaggegao three different geographically based segmé he nature of our customers differs
in each of our regionally based cemetery opera@ygments. Cremation rates in the West region dostautially higher than they are in the
Southeast region. Rates in the Northeast regiahttebe somewhere between the two. Statistics atelithat customers who select cremation
services have certain attributes that differ frammtomers who select other methods of interment.diseggregation of cemetery operations
the three distinct regional segments is primarilg tb these differences in customer attributesgabaith the previously mentioned managen
structure and senior management analysis methodslog

Our Funeral Homes segment offers a range of fumetaled services such as family consultationyémeoval of and preparation of
remains and the use of funeral home facilities/fsitation. These services are distinctly differdran the cemetery merchandise and services
sold and provided by the Cemetery Operations setgnen

Our Corporate segment includes various home offigenses, miscellaneous selling, cemetery and glesdministrative expenses that
are not allocable to other operating segmentsaicetiepreciation and amortization expenses andisitiqn related costs.
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Results of Operations- Segments

We account for and analyze the results of operationour segments on a basis of accounting tdifferent from GAAP. We reconcile
these norlGAAP accounting results of operations to GAAP bammdunts at the consolidated level. This recortwmliais included in Note 14
the consolidated financial statements includedis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The method of accounting we utilize to analyze aarall results of operations, including segmestts, provides for a production
based view of our business. Under the producti@edaiew, we recognize revenues at their contralcievat the point in time in which the
contract is written, less a historic cancellatiesarve. All related costs are expensed in the goéini® contract is recognized as revenue. In
contrast, GAAP requires that we defer all revenaad, the direct costs associated with these regenmél we meet certain delivery and
performance requirements. The nature of our busiisesuch that there is no meaningful relationslaippveen the time that elapses from the
a contract is executed and the date the underiyieighandise is delivered or the service, delivexy gerformance requirements are met.
Further, certain factors affecting this time perisdch as weather and supplier issues, are outrafamtrol. As a result, during a period of
growth, operating profits as defined by GAAP wilhtd to lag behind operating profits on a productiased view because of the required
deferral of revenues. Our performance based viearias these delays and presents results basedhganderlying value of contracts writte
We believe this is the most reliable indicator of performance for a given period as the valueootmacts written less a historical cancellation
reserve reflects the economic value added durgigen period of time. Accordingly, the ensuing segindiscussion is on a basis of accour
that differs from generally accepted accountinggigles. See Note 1 to the consolidated finantébements included in this Annual Report or
Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion of ouraeding policies under GAAP.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2012

Cemetery Segments

Cemetery Operations — Southeast

In 2012 and 2013 we acquired five properties in@emetery OperationsSoutheast segment. Of these acquisitions, fourrcadwaluring
the third quarter of 2012 and one occurred durtirggthird quarter of 2013. Therefore, the resultspsrations for these properties have either
lesser or no impact on the results for the yeaeéaecember 31, 2012, but are included in the tefml the year ended December 31, 2013.
These additions are responsible for approximatedythirds of the increase to revenues and appraeiyane half of the increase to costs and
expenses for this segment.

The table below compares the results of operafimnsur Cemetery Operations — Southeast for the geded December 31, 2013 to the
year ended December 31, 20

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $134,04¢ $129,21: $ 4,83 3.7%
Total costs and expens 95,72¢ 91,23¢ 4,48 4.%
Operating profit $ 38,32( $ 37,97 $ 347 0.%%
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Revenue

The increase in revenues was related to an oveca#lase in the value of contracts written, withrarease of $1.6 million in the value
at-need contracts and $0.2 million in the valuprefneed contracts. We also had increases of $ilidmin income from our trusts, partially
offset by a decrease of $0.4 million in interestaonounts receivable and other income. Our invedtnesults can vary from period to period
based on a number of factors including realizedrime and the timing of the recognition of gains wtthe trusts.

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primalaiecketo:
* A $0.1 million increase in cost of goods sold pniityaattributable to the increase in the value ofitacts written and product mi

* A $1.0 million increase in cemetery expensasarily due to increases of $0.6 million in labarsts and $0.4 million in repair and
maintenance cost

* A $1.7 million increase in selling expensesaiily attributable to increases of $0.9 milliondemmissions and personnel expenses, $0
million in advertising and telemarketing costs,Zillion in travel costs, and $0.1 million in sdigs and printing expense

* A $1.5 million increase in general and administ@agxpenses primarily due to increases of $0.3aniih personnel costs, $0.3 million
insurance costs, $0.2 million in professional f&s1 million in travel costs, $0.1 million in répand maintenance expense, and $0.1
million in rent expense, with the remaining incredsie to general office cos

* A $0.2 million increase in depreciation primarilyedto the acquired properti¢

Cemetery Operations — Northeast

The table below compares the results of operafansur Cemetery Operations — Northeast for the geaded December 31, 2013 to the
year ended December 31, 20

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $63,11( $60,35" $ 2,75: 4.6%
Total costs and expens 43,28: 40,62( 2,66: 6.6€%
Operating profi $19,82: $19,73; $ 90 0.5%

Revenue

The increase in revenues was related to an oveca#lase in the value of contracts written, withrarease of $2.5 million in the value
pre-need contracts, partially offset by a decred$9.6 million in the value of at-need contrad¢tsaddition, we had an increase of $1.6 million
in income from our trusts, partially offset by acosase of $0.7 million in other income. Our investitresults can vary from period to period
based on a number of factors including realizedrime and the timing of the recognition of gains wtthe trusts.

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primalaiecketo:

* A $0.5 million increase in cost of goods sotdnarily attributable to the corresponding increasthe value of contracts written and
product mix.

e A $0.9 million increase in cemetery expenseémarily due to increases of $0.4 million in labasts, $0.2 million in repair and
maintenance expense, $0.2 million in utility castsl $0.1 million in automobile and equipment expst
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* A $0.9 million increase in selling expensesaiily attributable to increases of $0.5 milliondemmissions and personnel expenses, $0
million in advertising and telemarketing costs &@dl million in travel costs

* A $0.4 million increase in general and admmaiste expenses primarily due to increases of $0l®on in personnel costs and $0.2
million in insurance cost:

Cemetery Operations — West

Effective March 31, 2012, we terminated our opagtgreement with the Archdiocese of Detroit. Tfaree the results of operations for
these properties are only included in the year @idecember 31, 2012 up to that point, and havenpact on the results for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The removal of these propdries our results of operations resulted in a $1illon decrease in revenues and $1.6
million decrease in costs and expenses periodmemod. In the second quarter of 2012 we made ogaisition in our Cemetery Operations —
West segment. This acquisition did not have a Sagmit impact on the comparison of the segmengsiis of operations below.

The table below compares the results of operafimnsur Cemetery Operations — West for the yeaedridecember 31, 2013 to the year
ended December 31, 2012:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $78,63¢ $68,76¢ $ 9,87( 14.0%
Total costs and expens 48,95¢ 45,43" 3,521 7.7%
Operating profit $29,67¢ $23,32¢ $ 6,34¢ 27.2%

Revenue

The increase in revenues was related to an oveca#lase in the value of contracts written, withraorease of $3.7 million in the value
pre-need contracts, partially offset by a decred$9.4 million in the value of at-need contrad¢tsaddition, we had an increase of $7.0 million
in income from our trusts, partially offset by ectEase of $0.4 million in interest and other inco@er investment results can vary from pel
to period based on a number of factors includirdized income and the timing of the recognitiorgains within the trusts.

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primaldied:to:

* A $1.1 million increase in cost of goods soldnarily attributable to the corresponding increasthe value of contracts written and
product mix.

* A $0.2 million increase in cemetery expensésarily due to increases of $0.3 million in repaird maintenance expense and $0.2
million in real estate taxes, partially offset bgecrease of $0.3 million in personnel co

A $1.4 million increase in selling expensesaiily attributable to increases of $1.0 milliondommissions and personnel expenses, $0
million in advertising and telemarketing costs &2 million in travel costs, partially offset bynat $0.1 million decrease in
miscellaneous selling cos

A $1.0 million increase in general and admiaiste expenses comprised of increases of $0.2omilh personnel costs, $0.2 million in
legal costs, $0.1 million in insurance costs, $aillion in professional fees, and $0.1 million mavel costs, with the remaining increase
due to general office cost

* A $0.2 million decrease in depreciatic

Funeral Homes Segment

In 2012 and 2013 we acquired twenty three funesatds. Of these acquisitions, two occurred duriegsércond quarter of 2012, fourteen
occurred during the third quarter of 2012, one amzliduring the fourth quarter of 2012 and six eoed during the first quarter of 2013.
Therefore, the results of operations for these gngs have either a lesser or no impact on thdteefor the year ended December 31, 2012
are included in the results for the year ended Bes 31, 2013. These additions are primarily resitda for the increases to revenues and
costs and expenses for the Funeral Homes segment.
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The table below compares the results of operafiansur Funeral Homes segment for the year endexkibber 31, 2013 to the year
ended December 31, 2012:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $50,80¢ $37,98¢ $ 12,82 33.7%
Total costs and expens 39,35¢ 31,48¢ 7,86¢ 25.(%
Operating profit $11,45: $ 6,502 $ 4,95] 76.1%

Revenue

The increase in revenues was primarily attributéble $7.3 million increase in pre-need revenu&s.a million increase in at-need
revenues and a $2.2 million increase in other regsn

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primatillgiatble to increases of $4.3 million in persdrexenses, $0.6 million in
merchandise costs, $0.4 million in other servicg supplies expenses, $0.7 million in advertisingt€0$0.7 million in facility costs, and $0.5
million in depreciation and amortization expenséhuhe remainder attributable to increases in ogemeral expense categories.

Corporate Segment

The table below compares expenses incurred by dngoate segment for the year ended December 3B, ®the year ended
December 31, 2012:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Selling, cemetery and general and administratiyeepses $ 972 $ 87C $ 10z 11.7%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,17¢ 1,54: (36€) -23.1%
Acquisition related costs, net of recovel 1,051 3,12: (2,072) -66.2%
Corporate expense
Corporate personnel expen: 14,47¢ 12,30¢ 2,16¢ 17.€%
Other corporate expens 14,39° 15,86( (1,463 -9.2%
Total corporate overhes 28,87: 28,16 70€ 2.5%
Total corporate expens $32,07¢ $33,70¢ $ (1,630 -4.8%

Selling, cemetery and general and administratiyeeages allocated to the Corporate segment remegfagively consistent period over
period.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization wagala decrease in the amortization of deferreahfiing fees.
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Acquisition related costs include legal fees arfgeothird party costs incurred in acquisition rethactivities. These costs will vary from
period to period depending on the amount of actioiisactivity that takes place. There was a deer@ashe expense related to a recovery of
legal fees in the first and second quarters of 2@%8Iting from a legal settlement.

The increase in total corporate overhead was atafile to increases of $2.2 million in personnglemses and $0.4 million in unit-based

compensation expense. These increases were paofitsét by a $1.0 million decrease in professideak, primarily related to a recovery of
legal fees from a legal settlement during the séaprarter of 2013, and a $0.9 million decreaseliregtising and public relations costs.

Reconciliation of Segment Results of Operations Gonsolidated Results of Operations

As discussed in the segment sections of this Managgs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comditand Results of Operations,
cemetery revenues and their associated costs adeaemt the segment level are not deferred unti sime that we satisfy the delivery criteria
for revenue recognition.

Periodic consolidated revenues recorded in accosdaith GAAP reflect the amount of total merchardisd services which were
delivered during the period. Accordingly, perioceoperiod changes to revenues can be impacted by:

» Changes in the value of contracts written atheiorevenues generated during a period that dineedkd in their period of origin and are
recognized as revenue and not deferred as of thefaheir period of originatior

» Changes in merchandise and services that are celiiiring a period that had been originated duaipgior period

The table below analyzes results of operationst@@hanges therein for the year ended Decemb&03B, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012. The table is structured sodimateaders can determine whether changes werd bpse changes in the level of
merchandise and services and other revenues getiehating each period and/or changes in the timfnghen merchandise and services were
delivered. During 2013 we acquired 1 cemetery afdchéral homes. During 2012 we acquired 5 cemetenie 17 funeral homes. The results
of operations for these properties have eithesseleor no impact on the results for the year elmbmber 31, 2012, but are included in the
results for the year ended December 31, 2013. Téditions are contributing a significant portidrtlee increases to revenues and costs and
expenses in the table below. Effective March 31,22@ve terminated our operating agreement withAfeldiocese of Detroit; consequently,
the results of operations for these propertiesranleded in 2012 up to that point, and are notudeld in 2013.

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Change in Change in
Segment Segment GAAP results  GAAP results
Results GAAP GAAP Results GAAP GAAP
(non-GAAP)  Adjustments Results (non-GAAP)  Adjustments Results (%) (%)

Revenue:
Pre-need cemetery revenu $ 13485 $ (43,719 $ 91,14! $ 128,43 $ (31,43) $ 97,000 $ (5,857 -6.C%
At-need cemetery revenu 80,00( (4,56¢) 75,43: 79,34¢ (4,557) 74,79 63€ 0.%
Investment income from trus 50,56+ (26,159 24,40¢ 38,57 (14,446 24,12t 281 1.2%
Interest incom 6,92¢ — 6,92¢ 6,69¢ — 6,69¢ 22¢ 3.4%
Funeral home revenu 50,80¢ (5,859 44,95¢ 37,98t (2,309 35,67¢ 9,27¢ 26.(%
Other cemetery revenu 3,44¢ 334 3,77¢ 5,28: (979) 4,31( (537) -12.%%
Total revenue 326,60( (79,959 246,64. 296,32 (53,717 242,60t 4,03t 1.7%
Costs and expens
Cost of goods sol 35,38: (7,529 27,85¢ 33,80° (5,70€6) 28,10: (242) -0.9%
Cemetery expens 57,56¢ — 57,56¢ 55,41( — 55,41( 2,15¢€ 3.%
Selling expens 58,78: (10,950 47,83. 54,64 (7,76%) 46,87¢ 954 2.C%
General and administrative

expense 31,87: — 31,87: 28,92¢ — 28,92¢ 2,94¢ 10.2%
Corporate overhee 28,87t — 28,87¢ 28,16¢ — 28,16¢ 70¢€ 2.5%
Depreciation and amortizatic 9,54¢ — 9,54¢ 9,431 — 9,431 117 1.2%
Funeral home expen: 36,31¢ (665) 35,65¢ 28,97" (252) 28,72t 6,92¢ 24.1%
Acquisition related costs, net o

recoveries 1,051 — 1,05] 3,12: — 3,12 (2,072) -66.2%
Total costs and expens 259,39¢ (19,13¢ 240,25¢ 242,48t (13,727) 228,76! 11,49: 5.C%
Operating profi $ 6720« $ (60,82) $ 6,380 $ 5383 $ (39,990 $ 1384. $ (7,459 -53.%%
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Revenue

Preneed cemetery revenues were $91.1 million for #er gnded December 31, 2013, a decrease of $3i@mndr 6.0%, as compared
$97.0 million during 2012. An increase of $6.4 ioifl in the value of pre-need cemetery contractievriwas offset by an increase of $12.3
million in deferred revenue.

At-need cemetery revenues were $75.4 million for g ynded December 31, 2013, an increase of $0iérmor 0.9%, as compared
$74.8 million during 2012. The increase was caumsedn increase in the value of at-need cemeteriracts written.

Investment income from trusts was $24.4 milliontfoe year ended December 31, 2013, an increade ®hdillion, or 1.2%, as compar
to $24.1 million during 2012. On a segment basishad an increase of $12.0 million, which was dffgean adjustment of $11.7 million
related to funds for which we have not met the iguents that would allow us to recognize themeagmue. Our investment results can vary
from period to period based on a number of fadtwrkiding realized income and the timing of theagition of gains within the trusts.

Interest income on accounts receivable was $6.8omilor the year ended December 31, 2013, an asge®f $0.2 million, or 3.4%, as
compared to $6.7 million during 2012.

Funeral home revenues were $45.0 million for ther ymded December 31, 2013, an increase of $9li@mibr 26.0%, compared to
$35.7 million during 2012. The increase was pritgaattributable to the acquisitions of 23 funerahies made during 2012 and 2013.

Other cemetery revenues include miscellaneous iteatsare not grouped with our cemetery mercharatiskeservices. Other cemetery
revenues were $3.8 million for the year ended Déuggr31, 2013, a decrease of $0.5 million, or 12.8%compared to $4.3 million during
2012. The decrease was primarily related to noafreg other income from the sale of assets thatioed in 2012.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of goods sold were $27.9 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013, a decrease of $0.2 midio®.9%, as compared to $28.1
million in 2012. The ratio of cost of goods soldpi@-need and at-need cemetery revenues was 16ra¥efyear ended December 31, 2013 a:
compared to 16.4% during 2012. The change in ttie paimarily relates to changes in product mix.

Cemetery expenses were $57.6 million during the gaded December 31, 2013, an increase of $2.milbr 3.9%, compared to $55.4
million during 2012. This increase was compriseéhofeases of $0.7 million in labor costs, $0.4lionl in utility and fuel costs, $0.3 million
travel costs and $0.9 million in repair and maiatere expenses, which were partially offset by alaetease of $0.1 million in cemetery
overhead and other costs. Cemetery expenses teldie current costs of managing and maintainirrgcemetery properties. These costs are
expensed as incurred and are not deferred. Acaglydiftom a margin standpoint, the most effectiaeige of measuring cemetery expenses is
as a ratio of segment level pre-need and at-neméteey revenues. Changes in this ratio give arcatitin of our ability to manage and control
our operating costs relative to our overall cemetgrerations. An increase in the ratio indicates #xpense increases related to the operation
and maintenance of our cemetery properties exceaedezhses in the value of contracts written, whildecrease in the ratio indicates that
expense growth did not exceed increases in thealgontracts written. In the shderm, this ratio can be positively or negativelypauted b
our acquisitions, including such factors as howgldriakes us to fully implement our pre-need salegrams and whether there are any
unanticipated costs. Over the long-term, we woufaket this ratio to slightly decline as many of thgenses in this category are fixed in
nature. The ratio of cemetery expenses to segraeeek pre-need and ated cemetery revenues was 26.8% during the ydadddecember 3
2013 as compared to 26.7% during 2012.

Selling expenses were $47.8 million during the yerated December 31, 2013, an increase of $0.9miltir 2.0%, as compared to $46.9
million in 2012. The expense increase is comprifesegment based increases of $2.3 million in cossions and personnel expenses, $1.1
million in advertising and telemarketing costs &35 million in travel expenses and a net $0.2iamlin general selling costs, which were
offset by an increase in deferred selling expen$&8.2 million. The ratio of selling expenses tmetery revenues was 28.7% for the year
ended December 31, 2013 as compared to 27.3% de@ih@) This ratio gives some indication of how efifieely the money we invest in selli
efforts is translating into sales. However, thearigj of our selling expenses are directly relai@dales commissions and bonuses, which
would be directly related to changes in the valiugre-need and at-need contracts written. As dtrese would expect this ratio to remain
fairly consistent.

General and administrative expenses were $31.&miluring the year ended December 31, 2013, aease of $3.0 million, or 10.2%,
as compared to $28.9 million during 2012. This éase was due to increases of $0.7 million in pemlarosts, $0.6 million in insurance costs,
$0.3 million in professional fees, $0.2 milliontiavel costs and $0.1 million increases each iples office rent, and repairs and
maintenance. The remaining increase was due tagesféice and miscellaneous costs. General andradtrative expenses are expensed as
incurred and are not deferred. Accordingly, fromargin standpoint, the most effective gauge of meag
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general and administrative expenses is as a rafiegment level pre-need and at-need cemetery uegeiChanges in this ratio give an
indication of our ability to manage and control general and administrative costs relative to aarall cemetery operations. An increase in
the ratio indicates that general and administrgtiseentage expense increases related to our agmpetperties exceeded percent increases il
the value of contracts written, while a decreasihénratio indicates that expense growth on a peéage basis did not exceed percentage
increases in the value of contracts written. Inghert-term, this ratio can be positively or negglti impacted by our acquisitions, including
such factors as how long it takes us to fully impéat our pre-need sales programs and whether déner@ny unanticipated costs. Over the lon
term, we would expect this ratio to slightly de@eas many of the expenses in this category agd fixnature. The ratio of general and
administrative expenses to segment level pre-neddtineed cemetery revenues was 14.8% duringetliregnded December 31, 2013 as
compared to 13.9% during 2012.

Total corporate overhead was $28.9 million durimg year ended December 31, 2013, an increase dhdilion, or 2.5%, compared to
$28.2 million during 2012. The increase in totalpmrate overhead was attributable to increase® @f ®illion in personnel expenses and $0.4
million in unit-based compensation expense. Theseases were partially offset by a $1.0 milliosréase in professional fees, primarily
related to a recovery of legal fees from a legtlesaent during the second quarter of 2013, and.f fillion decrease in advertising and pu
relations costs.

Depreciation and amortization was $9.5 million dgrthe year ended December 31, 2013, an incregk@ bmillion, or 1.2%, as
compared to $9.4 million during the same periotiyasr. The increase was primarily due to additiclepreciation and amortization from our
recent acquisitions offset by runoff of existingets, including deferred financing fees.

Funeral home expenses were $35.7 million for ttee gaded December 31, 2013, an increase of $7li@mibr 24.1%, compared to
$28.7 million during 2012. The increase was pritgaitiven by our acquisitions and was attributablsegment increases of $4.3 million in
personnel expenses, $0.6 million in merchandisesc$6.4 million in other service and supplies exges, $0.7 million in advertising costs, anc
$0.7 million in facility costs, with the remaindattributable to increases in other general expeategories. These increases were offset by ar
increase of $0.4 million in deferred funeral hompenses.

Acquisition related costs were $1.1 million for §ear ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $fidhiror 66.3%, as compared to

$3.1 million during 2012. The decrease was prirgatie to a legal settlement which resulted in avery of legal fees in the first and second
quarters of 2013. These costs will vary from petmg@eriod depending on the amount of acquisitictivity that takes place.

Non-segment Allocated Results

Certain statement of operations amounts are nota#d to segment operations. These amounts ae lihe items that can be found on
our consolidated statement of operations belowaipey profit and above net income (loss).

The table below summarizes these items and thegelsdmetween the years ended December 31, 2013048d 2

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
Gain on acquisition $ 2,53( $ 12z $ 2,40¢ 1,973.%
Gain on termination of operating agreem — 1,737 (1,739 -100.(%
Gain on settlement agreement, 12,26 — 12,26: 100.(%
Gain on sale of other ass: 15t — 15E 100.(%
Loss on early extinguishment of de 21,59¢ — 21,59¢ 100.(%
Interest expens 21,07( 20,50 567 2.8%
Income tax expense (bene $(2,309 $(1,790 $ (519 28.7%

The gain on acquisition recorded during the yeaedrDecember 31, 2013 relates to our third quaA&B acquisition. The gain on
acquisition recorded during the year ended Dece®bg2012 relates to one of our second quarter 28fjRisitions.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we rezedra gain of $1.7 million related to the termioatof an operating agreement.
Refer to Note 13 of our consolidated financialestants in “ltem 8” of this Form 10-K for a more ai&td discussion.
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, certaiogeds received from a legal settlement were redoas a gain on settlement
agreement on the consolidated statement of opegtiesulting in a total gain on settlement of $1Aillion.

The early extinguishment of debt charge of $21 lianirelates to the tender premium of $14.9 milliwe paid in connection with the
early repayment of $150.0 million of our 10.25% i®eMNotes due 2017 and the write-off of $6.7 milliof unamortized fees and discounts
related to those notes.

Interest expense has increased during the yeaddhgleember 31, 2013 as compared to the same pasibgear. This increase is
primarily caused by an increase in the aggregateipal amount outstanding on our credit facilppgrtially offset by a reduction of interest
expense related to the refinancing of our Senideblo the second quarter of 2013. Average amawrittanding under our credit facility were
$101.3 million and $80.7 million during the yearsled December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

We had an income tax benefit of $2.3 million foe fear ended December 31, 2013, an increase letiefit of $0.5 million, or 28.7%,
compared to a benefit of $1.8 million during 20IBe increase in the income tax benefit is primatilg to an increase in pre-tax losses at oul
corporate subsidiaries that are subject to corpdeat. Our effective tax rate differs from our staty tax rate primarily because our legal entity
structure includes different tax filing entitieaciuding a significant number of partnerships trat not subject to paying tax.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2011
Cemetery Segments

Cemetery Operations — Southeast

In 2011 and 2012, we made several acquisitionsiirCemetery Operations — Southeast segment. Of #erpiisitions, 6 occurred during
the third quarter of 2011, 5 occurred during therflo quarter of 2011 and 4 occurred during thedthirarter of 2012. Therefore, the results of
operations for these properties have less of aadtand in some cases no impact, on the year ddelegimber 31, 2011, but are included in
the results of operations for the year ended Deeerdb, 2012. These additions are contributing fr@dmately two thirds of the increase in
revenues and the entire increase in costs and sgpéor this segment.

The table below compares the results of operafansur Cemetery Operations — Southeast for the geded December 31, 2012 to the
year ended December 31, 20

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $129,21: $113,75¢ $ 15,45¢ 13.6%
Total costs and expens 91,23¢ 82,67 8,56¢ 10.4%
Operating profi $ 37,97¢ $ 31,08t $ 6,89( 22.2%

Revenue

The increase in revenues was related to an oveca#lase in the value of contracts written, withrarease of $9.7 million in the value
pre-need contracts and $2.8 million in the valuataieed contracts. We also had increases of $illitmin income from our trusts, $0.8
million in interest on accounts receivable and $titlion in other income. Our investment results eary from period to period based on a
number of factors including realized income andttiming of the recognition of gains within the ttsis

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primalaliecketo:

* A $2.7 million increase in cost of goods sold. This attributable to the corresponding increaghernvalue of contracts writte
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* A $1.6 million increase in selling expensesistas primarily attributable to increases of $@iion in salary and benefit expenses and
$1.3 million in commission related expenses, offsea decrease of $0.4 million in advertising, pblene and telemarketing cos

* A $2.4 million increase in cemetery expensé® Mcrease was primarily due to increases of 80ll#bn in labor costs, $1.0 million in
repair and maintenance costs and $0.1 millionilityuand fuel costs, with the remainder attribltato equipment rental and other
miscellaneous cost

* A $1.3 million increase in general and administ@gxpenses. This was primarily due to increas&& in labor costs, $0.1 in insura
costs, $0.1 million in professional fees and $0ifian in other general office and miscellaneoustsc

* A $0.5 million increase in depreciatic

Cemetery Operations — Northeast

The table below compares the results of operafimnsur Cemetery Operations — Northeast for the yeded December 31, 2012 to the
year ended December 31, 20

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $60,35" $57,26: $ 3,09« 5.4%
Total costs and expens 40,62( 39,94 677 1.7%
Operating profit $19,73’ $17,32( $ 2,41; 14.(%

Revenue

The increase in revenues was related to an overcatase in the value of contracts written, withiraarease of $1.6 million in the value
pre-need contracts and $0.4 million in the valuataieed contracts. In addition, we had an incre&$6.2 million in income from our trusts
and $0.9 million in other income. Our investmerstules can vary from period to period based on abermof factors including realized income
and the timing of the recognition of gains withiire ttrusts.

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primalaieceto:
» A $0.6 million increase in cost of goods sold. Tlis attributable to the corresponding increaghénvalue of contracts writte

» A $0.8 million increase in selling expensesisMas primarily attributable to increases of $@i8ion in labor costs, $0.2 million in
commissions, and $0.2 million in advertising, télepe and telemarketing cos

» A $0.3 million decrease in cemetery expensae. decrease was primarily due to decreases off§lli@n in labor costs and $0.1 million
in utility and fuel costs

A $0.4 million decrease in general and admiatste expenses primarily due to a decrease of ®ll®n in insurance costs and $0.1
million in other general office and miscellaneouwsts.

Cemetery Operations — West

Effective March 31, 2012, we terminated our opagtgreement with the Archdiocese of Detroit. Tfores the results of operations for
these properties are only included in the year @ideEcember 31, 2012 up to that point, but are gledlin the entire year ended December 31
2011. The removal of these properties from ourltesd operations resulted in a $6.5 million desee revenues and $5.2 million decrease ir
costs and expenses period over period, and therefoesponsible for the majority of the decreas@venues and costs and expenses.

Further, in the second quarter of 2011 we madeg8isitions and in the second quarter of 2012 weeamate acquisition in our Cemetery
Operations — West segment. Therefore, the restutiparations for these properties have less ofrgract on the year ended December 31,
2011, but are included in the results of operationshe year ended December 31, 2012. The addifidhese properties to our results of
operations is responsible for a $1.5 million inse@ revenues and $1.1 million increase in castisexpenses period over period.
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The table below compares the results of operafimnsur Cemetery Operations — West for the yeaedridecember 31, 2012 to the year
ended December 31, 2011:

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $68,76¢ $78,45¢ $ (9,697 -12.4%
Total costs and expens 45,43" 52,99: (7,555 -14.2%
Operating profit $23,32¢ $25,46¢ $ (2,13) -8.4%

Revenue

The decrease in revenues was driven by a decnedise value of contracts written as a result ofaftsementioned contract termination.
There was a decrease of $5.6 million in the vafygr®-need contracts written, a decrease of $3liBmin the value of at-need contracts
written, and a decrease of $1.7 million in incommaf our trusts offset by an increase of $0.9 mllie other income. Our investment results
can vary from period to period based on a numbéaaibrs including realized income and the timifighe recognition of gains within the

trusts.

Total costs and expenses

The decrease in costs and expenses was driverlbyae expenses as a result of the aforementiongchcbtermination and primarily
related to:

» A $0.6 million decrease in cost of goods sold. Mws attributable to the corresponding decreasieeivalue of contracts writte

* A $1.5 million decrease in selling expense. @aerease was primarily due to decreases of $0lie@min labor, $0.8 million in
commissions and $0.1 in telemarketing cc

» A $3.8 million decrease in cemetery expensae. decrease was primarily due to decreases off§iflién in labor costs, $0.3 million in
utility costs, $0.3 million in repair and mainterarcosts and $0.4 million in real estate ta

* A $1.7 million decrease in general and administeaixpenses. The decrease was primarily due teases of $0.5 million in labor cos
$0.3 million in insurance costs, $0.3 million irofessional fees, $0.2 million in management infdramacosts and $0.4 million in other

office costs

Funeral Homes Segment

In 2011 and 2012 we acquired several funeral hoEthese acquisitions, 4 occurred during the seécprarter of 2011, 4 occurred
during the third quarter of 2011, 4 occurred dutimg fourth quarter of 2011, 2 occurred duringsbeond quarter of 2012, 14 occurred during
the third quarter of 2012 and 1 occurred duringfthugth quarter of 2012. Therefore, the resultepérations for these properties have either n
impact or, in some cases, have less of an impattteypear ended December 31, 2011, but are inclundénd results of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2012. These additions are piymasponsible for the increase to revenues amstkand expenses for this segment.
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The table below compares the results of operafiansur Funeral Homes segment for the year endexkibber 31, 2012 to the year
ended December 31, 2011:

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $37,98t¢ $31,16: $ 6,82t 21.%
Total costs and expens 31,48t 25,15 6,33¢ 25.2%
Operating profit $ 6,502 $ 6,017 $ 49C 8.2%

Revenue

The increase in revenues was primarily attributébla $2.9 million increase in at-need revenuéi,.8 million increase in pre-need
revenues and a $2.0 million increase in other regsn

Total costs and expenses

The increase in costs and expenses was primatillgietble to increases of $2.9 million in persdrexpenses, $0.6 million in facility
costs, $0.9 million in merchandise costs, $0.2iamlin advertising costs, $0.1 million in vehiclests and $0.9 million in depreciation, with 1
remainder attributable to increases in other gém@ch administrative expense categories.

Corporate Segment

The table below compares expenses incurred by dngoate segment for the year ended December 32, ®the year ended
December 31, 2011:

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Selling, cemetery and general and administratiyeepses $ 87C $ 832 % 38 4.6%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,54z 2,12 (585) -27.5%
Acquisition related costs, net of recovel 3,12z 4,60¢ (1,487 -32.2%
Corporate expense
Corporate personnel expen: 12,30¢ 11,58( 72¢ 6.2%
Other corporate expens 15,86( 12,18¢ 3,674 30.1%
Total corporate overhes 28,16¢ 23,76¢ 4,40z 18.5%
Total corporate expens $33,70¢  $31,32¢ $ 2,37¢ 7.€%

Selling, cemetery and general and administratiyeeages allocated to the Corporate segment remegfagively consistent from period
to period.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization wadala decrease in amortized deferred financieg. fe
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Acquisition related costs include legal fees arfgeothird party costs incurred in acquisition rethactivities. These costs will vary from
period to period depending on the amount of actioiisactivity that takes place. For the years eridedember 31, 2012 and 2011, acquisition
related costs include legal fees, net of recoved£$0.3 million and $1.2 million, respectivelglated to amounts paid to pursue the recove
misappropriation claims related to our fourth gea®011 and second quarter 2010 acquisitions, cagphy.

The increase in total corporate overhead was pifyrettributable to increases of $0.7 million inrpennel costs, $1.0 million in

professional fees, $1.0 million in advertising exges, and $0.1 million in technology and managenméoitmation costs, with the remainder
attributable to various corporate expenses.

Reconciliation of Segment Results of Operations t6onsolidated Results of Operations

As discussed in the segment sections of this Managgs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comditand Results of Operations,
cemetery revenues and their associated costs adeemt the segment level are not deferred unth sime that we satisfy the delivery criteria
for revenue recognition.

Periodic consolidated revenues recorded in accosdaith GAAP reflect the amount of total merchaerdisd services which were
delivered during the period. Accordingly, perioceoperiod changes to revenues can be impacted by:

» Changes in the value of contracts written atheiorevenues generated during a period that dineedkd in their period of origin and are
recognized as revenue and not deferred as of thefeheir period of originatior

» Changes in merchandise and services that are celidiiring a period that had been originated duaipgior period

The table below analyzes results of operationst@adhanges therein for the year ended Decemb@032, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011. The table is structured sodiimateaders can determine whether changes werd bpse changes in the level of
merchandise and services and other revenues getiehating each period and/or changes in the timfnghen merchandise and services were
delivered. During 2011 we acquired 17 cemeterieslghfuneral homes. During 2012 we acquired andirmameteries and 17 funeral homes.
The results of operations for these properties lesgof an impact, and in some cases little dmpact, on the year ended December 31, 2
but are included in the results of operations lieryear ended December 31, 2012. These additiersoatributing the majority of the increases
to revenues and costs and expenses in the taloe.bel

Effective March 31, 2012, we terminated our opagtgreement with the Archdiocese of Detroit; congatly, the results of operations
for these properties are only included in 2012aithat point, but are included in the entire peffiadthe year ended December 31, 2011.
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Change in Change in
Segment Segment GAAP results  GAAP results
Results GAAP GAAP Results GAAP GAAP
(non-GAAP)  Adjustments Results (non-GAAP)  Adjustments Results ($) (%)

Revenue:
Pre-need cemetery revenu $ 128,437 $ (31,437) $ 97,00C $ 122,78¢ $ (31,73H $ 91,05« $  5,94¢ 6.5%
At-need cemetery revenu 79,34¢ (4,557) 74,79¢ 79,50: (5,147 74,36( 434 0.6%
Investment income from trus 38,57: (14,44¢) 24,12t 38,94 (15,399 23,54« 581 2.5%
Interest incom 6,69¢ — 6,69¢ 5,864 — 5,864 834 14.2%
Funeral home revenu 37,98¢ (2,309 35,67¢ 31,16 (759 30,40« 5,27¢ 17.2%
Other cemetery revenu 5,28: (973) 4,31( 2,38( 782 3,16z 1,14¢ 36.2%
Total revenue 296,32: (53,717) 242,60t 280,64( (52,25) 228,38t 14,21¢ 6.2%
Costs and expens
Cost of goods sol 33,80 (5,706 28,10: 31,15« (5,039 26,11t 1,98¢ 7.€%
Cemetery expens 55,41( — 55,41( 57,14¢ — 57,14¢ (1,739 -3.C%
Selling expens 54,64 (7,76%) 46,87¢ 53,78« (8,497 45,29: 1,587 3.5%
General and administrative

expense 28,92¢ — 28,92¢ 29,54’ 3 29,54« (61€) -2.1%
Corporate overhee 28,16¢ — 28,16¢ 23,76¢ — 23,76¢ 4,40: 18.5%
Depreciation and amortizatic 9,431 — 9,431 8,53« — 8,53¢ 897 10.5%
Funeral home expen: 28,97% (252) 28,72t 23,55« — 23,55¢ 5,171 22.(%
Acquisition related costs, net o

recoveries 3,12: — 3,12:¢ 4,604 — 4,604 (1,48)) -32.2%
Total costs and expens 242,48¢ (13,727) 228,76! 232,08t (13,53%) 218,55 10,21: 4.7%
Operating profit $ 53,837 $ (39,990 $ 13,84 $ 4855 $ (38,71) $ 983k $ 4,00¢ 40.7%
Revenue

Pre-need cemetery revenues were $97.0 milliorhyear ended December 31, 2012, an increase @h$bion, or 6.5%, as compared
to $91.1 million during 2011. The increase was priity caused by an increase of $5.6 million in th&ie of cemetery contracts written and a
decrease of $0.3 million in deferred revenue.

At-need cemetery revenues were $74.8 million for #er ¥nded December 31, 2012, an increase of $0idmor 0.6%, as compared
$74.4 million during 2011. The increase was pritgaraused by a decrease of $0.2 million in the @aficemetery contracts written which v
offset by a decrease of $0.6 million in deferreceraie.

The majority of the increase in the value of preghand at-need contracts was primarily driven byGemetery Operations-Southeast
segment where we acquired 6 cemeteries duringhttteduarter of 2011, 5 cemeteries during the fogdarter of 2011 and 4 cemeteries du
the third quarter of 2012. Therefore, the resultsperations for these cemeteries are includeteryear ended December 31, 2012, but have
little to no impact on the year ended Decembe2B1,1. In addition, the value of pre-need andexd contracts was negatively impacted by
termination of our operating agreement with thehliocese of Detroit that occurred March 31, 2012.

Investment income from trusts was $24.1 milliontfee year ended December 31, 2012, an increade ®@hdillion, or 2.5%, as compar
to $23.5 million during 2011. On a segment basshad a decrease of $0.4 million, which was otigean adjustment of $1.0 million related
to funds for which we have met the requirementswwauld allow us to recognize them as revenue.i@ugstment results can vary from period
to period based on a number of factors includirdized income and the timing of the recognitiorgains within the trusts.

Interest income on accounts receivable was $6.fomilor the year ended December 31, 2012, an asgef $0.8 million, or 14.2%, as
compared to $5.9 million during 201



Revenues for the Funeral Homes segment were $3Bidmfior the year ended December 31, 2012, areiase of $5.3 million, or 17.3¢
compared to $30.4 million during 2011. The increass primarily attributable to the acquisitions28ffuneral homes made during 2011 and
2012.

Other cemetery revenues include miscellaneous iteatsare not grouped with our cemetery mercharatiskeservices. Other cemetery
revenues were $4.3 million for the year ended DéearB1, 2012, an increase of $1.1 million, or 36.8%compared to $3.2 million during
2011. The increase was primarily related to nonsméeg other income from the sale of assets.
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Costs and Expenses

Cost of goods sold were $28.1 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012, an increase of $2.0 mikin7.6%, as compared to $26.1
million in 2011. The ratio of cost of goods soldpi@-need and at-need cemetery revenues was16rdbiefgear ended December 31, 2012 as
compared to 15.8% during 2011. The change in ttie paimarily relates to changes in product mix.

Cemetery expenses were $55.4 million during the gaded December 31, 2012, a decrease of $1.Dmithr 3.0%, compared to $57.1
million during 2011. Overall, expense decreaseslo8 million in labor costs, $0.3 million in utiitand fuel cost, and $0.3 million in real estate
taxes were partially offset by an increase of $8ilion in repairs and maintenance expense. Cemetguenses relate to the current costs of
managing and maintaining our cemetery propertibes& costs are expensed as incurred and are eotedkfAccordingly, from a margin
standpoint, the most effective gauge of measurémgetery expenses is as a ratio of segment leveigerd and at-need cemetery revenues.
Changes in this ratio give an indication of oudigbto manage and control our operating coststisdao our overall cemetery operations. An
increase in the ratio indicates that expense ise®eelated to the operation and maintenance afesaetery properties exceeded increases in
the value of contracts written, while a decreasihénratio indicates that expense growth did nokeer increases in the value of contracts
written. In the shorterm, this ratio can be positively or negativelyp#masted by our acquisitions, including such faces$iow long it takes us
fully implement our pre-need sales programs andhérghere are any unanticipated costs. Over thg-term, we would expect this ratio to
slightly decline as many of the expenses in thisgary are fixed in nature. The ratio of cemeteqgemses to segment level pre-need and at-
need cemetery revenues was 26.7% during the ydadddecember 31, 2012 as compared to 28.2% du@ihgy. 2

Selling expenses were $46.9 million during the yerated December 31, 2012, an increase of $1.6omiltir 3.5%, as compared to $45.3
million in 2011. The major components of the ovieeapense increase include $0.7 million in comnoeissiand $0.3 million in salaries and
benefits, as well as a reduction in deferred sgkirpenses of $0.7 million, which were offset imtfiyy a decrease of $0.3 million in
advertising, telephone and telemarketing costs.ratie of selling expenses to cemetery revenues2ia$o for the year ended December 31,
2012 as compared to 27.4% during 2011. This ratiesgsome indication of how effectively the money mvest in selling efforts is translating
into sales. However, the majority of our sellingperses are directly related to sales commissiothi®anuses, which would be directly related
to changes in the value of pre-need and at-neetamts written. As a result, we would expect tlaisa to remain fairly consistent.

General and administrative expenses were $28.@milluring the year ended December 31, 2012, sedserof $0.6 million, or 2.1%, as
compared to $29.5 million during 2011. The majamponents of the overall expense decrease includeases of $0.7 million in information
system related charges, $0.6 million in insurarastscand $0.1 million in professional fees, whidrevoffset in part by increases $0.4 million
in labor costs and $0.4 million in general officelaniscellaneous costs. General and administratipenses are expensed as incurred and ar
not deferred. Accordingly, from a margin standpginé most effective gauge of measuring generakaininistrative expenses is as a ratio of
segment level pre-need and at-need cemetery rese@hanges in this ratio give an indication of ability to manage and control our general
and administrative costs relative to our overathetery operations. An increase in the ratio indisdahat general and administrative percentag
expense increases related to our cemetery propestieded percent increases in the value of aistraitten, while a decrease in the ratio
indicates that expense growth on a percentage tialsist exceed percentage increases in the véloentracts written. In the short-term, this
ratio can be positively or negatively impacted by acquisitions, including such factors as how ldrigkes us to fully implement our pre-need
sales programs and whether there are any unanédigasts. Over the long-term, we would expectréi® to slightly decrease as many of the
expenses in this category are fixed in nature.r@lie of general and administrative expenses tonsag level pre-need and at-need cemetery
revenues was 13.9% during the year ended Decemb@032 as compared to 14.6% during 2011.

Total corporate overhead was $28.2 million durimg year ended December 31, 2012, an increase4h@Hion, or 18.5%, compared to
$23.8 million during 2011. The increase in totalpmrate overhead was primarily attributable to éases of $0.7 million in personnel costs,
$1.0 million in professional fees, $1.0 millionadvertising expenses, and $0.1 million in technplaigd management information costs, with
the remainder attributable to various corporatecesps.

Depreciation and amortization was $9.4 million dgrthe year ended December 31, 2012, an incregi® ®Mmillion, or 10.5%, as
compared to $8.5 million during the period lastry@de increase was primarily due to additionalrdejation and amortization from recent
acquisitions.

Funeral Home expenses were $28.7 million for tre yaded December 31, 2012, an increase of $5lipmior 22.0%, compared to
$23.5 million during 2011. The increase in costd eaxpenses was primarily attributable to increa$é?.9 million in personnel expenses, $
million in facility costs, $0.9 million in merchais# costs, $0.2 million in advertising costs and.$8illion in vehicle costs.
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Acquisition related costs were $3.1 million for tyear ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $lidhnor 32.2%, as compared to
$4.6 million during 2011. Acquisition related costslude legal fees and other third party costsiired in acquisition related activities. These
costs will vary from period to period dependingtba amount of acquisition activity that takes pldeer the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, acquisition related costs include leges$f net of recoveries, of $0.3 and $1.2 milliespectively, related to amounts paid to pursue
the recovery of misappropriation claims relateduo fourth quarter 2011 acquisition and secondtgu@010 acquisition, respectively.

Non-segment Allocated Results

As previously mentioned, certain income statemeardunts are not allocated to segment operationseramounts are those line items
that can be found on our consolidated statemeapefations below operating profit and above nediime (loss).

The table below summarizes these items and thegelsaretween the years ended December 31, 2012044d 2

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 Change ($ Change (%)
(in thousands)
Gain on acquisition $ 12z $ — $ 12z 100.(%
Gain on termination of operating agreem 1,737 — 1,735 100.(%
Gain on sale of funeral hon — 92 (92 -100.(%
Loss on early extinguishment of de — 4,01( (4,010 -100.(%
Expenses related to refinanci — 45% (459 -100.(%
Interest expens 20,50: 19,19¢ 1,30¢ 6.8%
Income tax expense (bene $(1,790 $(4,019 $ 2,22¢ -55.5%

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we rezedra gain of $1.7 million related to the termioatof an operating agreement. The
gain on acquisition relates to one of our secorattgn 2012 acquisitions. Refer to Note 13 of ourstdidated financial statements in “Iltem 8”

of this Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion.
The gain on sale of a funeral home in 2011 relatdlse sale of one funeral home in West Virginiat thve sold for $0.1 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we indu#€e5 million of expenses when we amended ouritciadlities in January of 2011
and incurred an early extinguishment of debt chafdit.0 million related to a one-time make-whoterpium we paid in connection with the
early repayment of our $35.0 million in Class B &ldss C Senior Secured Notes.

Interest expense has increased during the yeaddheleember 31, 2012 as compared to the same pasibgear. This increase is caused
by increased borrowings on our credit facility, elhare offset in part by a change in our debt mik @duced interest rates. Average amounts
outstanding under our credit facility were $80.7liomi and $15.9 million during the year ended Debem31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
However, amendments that we made to our crediitiabave lowered our interest rate to a lower tatn what was in effect in the same
period last year. In addition, we had $35.0 milladrSenior Secured Notes, which bore interest &%?2outstanding at the beginning of 2011.
The Senior Secured Notes were repaid in Februa?pdf.

We had an income tax benefit of $1.8 million foe fear ended December 31, 2012, a decrease iretieditof $2.2 million, or 55.5%,
compared to a benefit of $4.0 million during 20The decrease in the income tax benefit is duediecaease in pre-tax losses at our corporate
subsidiaries that are subject to corporate taxheurin 2011 we recorded a otiee income tax benefit of $0.9 million relatedtbe reversal ¢
uncertain tax positions for which the statute ofifations had expired. In addition, our effectia tate differs from our statutory tax rate
primarily because our legal entity structure inesdlifferent tax filing entities, including a si§jpant number of partnerships that are not

subject to paying tax.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Our primary shorterm liquidity needs are to fund general workingita requirements, repay our debt obligationsyiserour debt, mal
routine maintenance capital improvements and pstyillutions. We will need additional liquidity t@estruct mausoleum and lawn crypts on
the grounds of our cemetery properties.

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flow fraperations and amounts available under our rengleredit facility as described
below. In the past, we have been able to increaséquidity through long-term bank borrowings athé issuance of additional common units
and other partnership securities, including delttjext to the restrictions in our revolving crefditility and under our senior notes.
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We believe that cash generated from operation®antdorrowing capacity under our revolving creditifity, which is discussed below,
will be sufficient to meet our working capital resgments as well as our anticipated capital exganes for the foreseeable future.

In addition to macroeconomic conditions, our apitd satisfy our debt service obligations, fundnpled capital expenditures, make
acquisitions and pay distributions to partners délpend upon our future operating performance.dperating performance is primarily
dependent on the sales volume of customer contthetgost of purchasing cemetery merchandisentbdtave sold, the amount of funds
withdrawn from merchandise trusts and perpetua traists and the timing and amount of collectiom®or pre-need installment contracts.

Offerings of Common Units

On March 26, 2013, we completed a follow-on pubfiering of 1,610,000 common units at a price 0585 per unit. Net proceeds of
the offering, after deducting underwriting discaiahd offering expenses, were approximately $38libm The proceeds from the offering
were used to pay down debt on the credit facility.

On February 27, 2014, we completed a follow-on jpubffering of 2,300,000 common units at a pricés@#.45 per unit. Net proceeds of
the offering, after deducting underwriting discauand offering expenses, were approximately $53liom The proceeds were used to pay
down borrowings outstanding under our revolvingddréacility.

Long-term Debt
7.875% Senior Notes due 2021
Purchase Agreeme

On May 16, 2013, we, Cornerstone Family Serviced/est Virginia Subsidiary, Inc., our wholly ownedbsidiary (“Cornerstone Co.”
and together with us, the “Issuers”), and certaimsgliary guarantors (the “Guarantors”) entered amPurchase Agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) with Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & 8mincorporated, acting on behalf of itself andfas representative for the other initial
purchasers named in the Purchase Agreement (¢edlgtthe “Initial Purchasers”). Pursuant to tha@éhase Agreement, the Issuers, as joint
and several obligors, agreed to sell to the InRialichasers $175.0 million aggregate principal arhoti7.875% Senior Notes due 2021 (the
“Senior Notes”), with an original issue discountagiproximately $3.8 million, in a private placemerempt from the registration requirements
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended @eedrities Act”), for resale by the Initial Purches (i) to qualified institutional buyers
pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Aciipo(tside the United States to non-U.S. persansimpliance with Regulation S under the
Securities Act (the “Notes Offering”). The Notesf@ing closed on May 28, 2013.

The Purchase Agreement contains customary repeggrTd and warranties of the parties and indenatifio and contribution provisions
under which the Issuers and the Guarantors, orhand, and the Initial Purchasers, on the other lagveed to indemnify each other against
certain liabilities, including liabilities underdtSecurities Act.

The net proceeds from the Notes Offering were tisedtire a $150.0 million aggregate principal amtoaf 10.25% Senior Notes due
2017 (the “Prior Senior Notes”), as described belamd the remaining proceeds were used for generpbrate purposes. The Senior Notes
were issued at 97.832% of par resulting in groesgeds of $171.2 million with an original issuecdisnt of approximately $3.8 million. We
incurred debt issuance costs and fees of approgiynd4.6 million. These costs and fees are defearebwill be amortized over the life of th
notes. We also entered into a Registration Riglgieément (described below) for the benefit of hdae the Senior Notes.

Indenture

On May 28, 2013, the Issuers, the Guarantors, aifrdivgton Trust, National Association, as succesrastee by merger to Wilmington
Trust FSB (the “Trustee”), entered into an indeaffthe “Indenture”) governing the Senior Notes.

The Issuers pay 7.875% interest per annum on theipal amount of the Senior Notes, payable in cashiannually in arrears on Juni
and December 1 of each year, commencing on Decemi2€r13. The Senior Notes mature on June 1, 2021.
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The Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligatibtieedssuers that:
» rank equally in right of payment with all existiagd future senior debt of the Issue
e rank senior in right of payment to all existing datlire senior subordinated and subordinated detbteolssuers

« are effectively subordinated in right of payrmtnexisting and future secured debt of the Issuerthe extent of the value of the
assets securing such debt; i

» are structurally subordinated to all of theséirig and future liabilities of each subsidiantid Issuers that does not guarantee the
Senior Notes

The Issuers’ obligations under the Senior Notesthadndenture are jointly and severally guaranigieel “Note Guarantees”) by each of
our subsidiary, other than Cornerstone Co., thabhawe caused or will cause to become a Guarantsugnt to the terms of the Indenture
(each, a “Restricted Subsidiary”).

At any time on or after June 1, 2016, the Issusrtheir option, may redeem the Senior Notes, inlevlor in part, at the redemption prit
(expressed as percentages of the principal ameantprth below, together with accrued and unpaterest, if any, to the redemption date, if
redeemed during the 12-month period beginning Jusiethe years indicated:

Year Percentagt

2016 105.90(%
2017 103.93%
2018 101.96%
2019 and thereaftt 100.000%

At any time prior to June 1, 2016, the Issuers naypne or more occasions, redeem all or any podidhe Senior Notes, upon not less
than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, at a redempirice equal to 100% of the principal amounthaf Senior Notes redeemed, plus the
Applicable Premium (as defined in the Indenturedpfathe redemption date, including accrued and ighiséerest to the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to June 1, 2016, Idsuers, at their option, may redeem up to 35%h@figgregate principal amount of the
Senior Notes issued under the Indenture with theash proceeds of certain our equity offeringsdieed in the Indenture at a redemption
price equal to 107.875% of the principal amourthef Senior Notes to be redeemed, plus accruedmpaldiinterest, if any, to the redemption
date provided, however, that (i) at least 65% efdggregate principal amount of the Senior Notsed under the Indenture remain
outstanding immediately after the occurrence ohgedemption and (ii) the redemption occurs with® days of the closing date of such
offering.

Subject to certain exceptions, upon the occurrefeeChange of Control (as defined in the Indentwgach holder of the Senior Notes
will have the right to require the Issuers to passthat holder's Senior Notes for a cash pricalequl01% of the principal amounts to be
purchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest tdateeof purchase.

The Indenture requires the Issuers and/or the Gtarsa as applicable, to comply with various coveaancluding, but not limited to,
covenants that, subject to certain exceptionst mii and our Restricted Subsidiaries’ ability jdrfcur additional indebtedness; (ii) make
certain dividends, distributions, redemptions mestments; (iii) enter into certain transactionthveiffiliates; (iv) create, incur, assume or
permit to exist certain liens against their asq@lstnake certain sales of their assets; and (\age in certain mergers, consolidations or sale:
of all or substantially all of their assets. Thdénture also contains various affirmative coveneegarding, among other things, delivery of
certain reports filed with the SEC and materiatpuieed pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securitiesté holders of the Senior Notes and
joinder of future subsidiaries as Guarantors umigeindenture. As of December 31, 2013, we wemimpliance with all applicable covena
under the Indenture.

Events of default under the Indenture that couldjexct to certain conditions, cause all amountsigwinder the Senior Notes to become
immediately due and payable include, but are maitéid to, the following:

« failure by the Issuers to pay interest on afthe Senior Notes when it becomes due and theérearice of any such failure for 30
days;
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» failure by the Issuers to pay the principalamry of the Senior Notes when it becomes due andipaywhether at stated maturity,
upon redemption, upon purchase, upon acceleratiotherwise

» the Issuers’ failure to comply with the agreatseand covenants relating to limitations on entginto certain mergers,
consolidations or sales of all or substantiallyodiltheir assets or in respect of their obligatiompurchase the Senior Notes in
connection with a Change of Contr

» failure by the Issuers to comply with any othgreement or covenant in the Indenture and theéne@mce of this failure for 60 days
after notice of the failure has been given to tlhen@any by the Trustee or holders of at least 25%h@faggregate principal amount
of the Senior Notes then outstandi

» failure by the Company to comply with its coaahto deliver certain reports and the continuafcich failure to comply for a
period of 120 days after written notice thereof basn given to the Company by the Trustee or bydhders of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes thestanding

» certain defaults under mortgages, indenturestiaer instruments or agreements under which tmanebe issued or by which there
may be secured or evidenced indebtedness of thep@wonor any Restricted Subsidiary, whether suchbtetiness now exists or is
incurred after the date of the Indent.

» certain judgments or orders that exceed $10l®min the aggregate for the payment of moneyehbeen entered by a court of
competent jurisdiction against the Company or aagticted Subsidiary and such judgments have ren batisfied, stayed,
annulled or rescinded within 60 days of being ead

» certain events of bankruptcy of the Compangn8Mor GP LLC, the general partner of the Compding (General Partner"pr any
Significant Subsidiary (as defined in the Indenfuoe

» other than in accordance with the terms ofNb&e Guarantee and the Indenture, the Note Guarafiteny Significant Subsidiary
ceasing to be in full force and effect, being desdanull and void and unenforceable, found to lvalid or any Guarantor denying
its liability under its Note Guarante

Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the sale of the Senior Notes, Iffsuers, the Guarantors party thereto and Mésnilth, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, as representative of the initial pasers of the Senior Notes, entered into a Reti@irRights Agreement (the “Registration
Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which the Issuethe Guarantors agreed, for the benefit of tHédrs of the Senior Notes, to use their
commercially reasonable efforts to file a registrastatement with the SEC with respect to a regést offer to exchange the Senior Notes for
new “exchange” notes having terms substantiallntidal in all material respects to the Senior Npwgsh certain exceptions (the “Exchange
Offer”). If the Senior Notes are not freely tradably persons other than affiliates pursuant to Rdkeunder the Securities Act on or before the
366th day after the issuance of the Senior Notes“fExchange Date”), the Issuers and the Guaraagneed to use their commercially
reasonable efforts (i) to consummate such Exch@fifgr on or before the Exchange Date, and (ii) ufi@noccurrence of certain events
described in the Registration Rights Agreementctvinésult in the inability to consummate the Exade®ffer, to cause a shelf registration
statement covering resales of the Senior Noteg teblared effective. The Issuers are requiredyogalditional interest to the holders of the
Senior Notes under certain circumstances if thédydaomply with their obligations under the Regaion Rights Agreement

10.25% Senior Notes due 2017

Prior to their retirement in the second quarte2@f3, we had outstanding a $150.0 million aggregateipal amount of Prior Senior
Notes, with an original issue discount of approxieha$4.0 million. We paid 10.25% interest per amnon the principal amount of the Pr
Senior Notes, payable in cash semi-annually ireasren June 1 and December 1 of each year. The$&ioor Notes were due to mature on
December 1, 2017. In the second quarter of 2013¢etiured the notes using the proceeds from theoBéiotes offering described above.

On May 13, 2013, StoneMor Operating LLC (the “Op@gCompany”), Cornerstone Co. and Osiris Holdiidg/laryland Subsidiary,
Inc. (“Osiris Co.”, and together with the Operati@gmpany and Cornerstone Co., the “Prior Senioebltgsuers”), each of which is our
subsidiary, commenced (i) cash tender offer to lpase any and all of their outstanding $150.0 nmilkggregate principal amount of the Prior
Senior Notes and (ii) consent solicitation to abtdnsents to amendments to the Indenture datefiNevember 24, 2009, as amended (the
“2009 Indenture”), governing the Prior Senior Notdpon the expiration of the consent solicitationhay 24, 2013, the Prior Senior Notes
Issuers received tenders and consents from thetsodd approximately $132.2 million in aggregate@pal amount, or approximately 88.1%,
of the outstanding Prior Senior Notes.
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In connection with the expiration of the conserliciiation, on May 24, 2013, Prior Senior Notesuksss, we, the Guarantors named in
2009 Indenture and the Trustee, entered into trerflle Supplemental Indenture to the 2009 Indeniiine.Seventh Supplemental Indenture
amended the 2009 Indenture to shorten to threaéssidays the minimum notice period for optiondereptions and eliminated substantially
all of the restrictive covenants and certain evehtdefault contained in the 2009 Indenture.

On June 14, 2013, the remaining Prior Senior Net® redeemed, pursuant to redemption provision®gh in the 2009 Indenture, at a
price of 100% of the principal amount of the Pi&&mior Notes, plus the Applicable Premium (as @efim the 2009 Indenture) equal to
9.554%, together with accrued and unpaid intemediut not including, June 14, 2013. The 2009 Ihgienwas satisfied and discharged in
accordance with its terms, effective June 14, 2013.

We paid $14.9 million to retire the Prior SeniortBloinclusive of the tender premium and accruestést from the date of repurchase
through December 1, 2013, the first redemption fatéhe Prior Senior Notes. In addition, we in@ariexpenses of $6.7 million related to the
refinancing event inclusive of $2.6 million of unartized original issue discount and $4.1 millionuofamortized capitalized debt issue costs
related to the Prior Senior Notes.

Credit Facility

On August 15, 2007, we, the General Partner, ther&@ing Company and various subsidiaries of ther@jg Company (collectively,
the “Borrowers”) entered into an Amended and Resté&iredit Agreement (the “Original Credit Agreeniemtith Bank of America, N.A.
(“Bank of America”), other lenders, and BAS (cotieely, the “Lenders”). The Original Credit Agreentgrovided for both an acquisition
credit facility (the “Acquisition Credit Facility”and a revolving credit facility (the “Revolving €lit Facility”). Capitalized terms which are 1
defined in the following description shall have #ame meaning assigned to such terms in the Origneadit Agreement, as amended.

The Original Credit Agreement initially providedath (1) the Acquisition Credit Facility would hagemaximum principal amount of
$40.0 million (with an option to increase such liacby an additional $15.0 million on an uncomnadtbasis) and the term of 5 years, and
(2) the Revolving Credit Facility would have a maxim principal amount of $25.0 million (with an aptito increase such facility by up to
$10.0 million on an uncommitted basis) and a teffd years. Amounts borrowed under the Acquisitioedt Facility and repaid or prepaid
could not be reborrowed and amounts borrowed utigeRevolving Credit Facility and repaid or prepdiding the term could be reborrowed.
In addition, Bank of America agreed to providette Borrowers swing line loans (“Swing Line Loang/ijh a maximum limit of $5.0 million,
which was a part of the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Original Credit Agreement was amended eighesiprior to April 29, 2011, to, among other thin@siend borrowing levels, interest
rates and covenants.

On April 29, 2011, we entered into the Second Aneenaind Restated Credit Agreement (the “RevisediCAggleement”) among the
Operating Company as the Borrower, each of theidialpies of the Operating Company as additionalrBeers, the General Partner and us as
Guarantors, the Lenders identified therein, andkB#rAmerica, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swihie Lender and L/C Issuer. The terms
of the Revised Credit Agreement were substanttallysame as the terms of the Original Credit Agexgnirhe primary purpose of entering
into the Revised Credit Agreement was to consdaidae amendments to the Original Credit Agreemedtta update outdated references. The
Revised Credit Agreement provided for an Acquisit@redit Facility of $65.0 million and a Revolvi@yedit Facility of $55.0 million. The
Revised Credit Agreement was further amended twediprior to January 19, 2012.

On January 19, 2012, we entered into the Third Adedrand Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit &gent”). The terms of the
Credit Agreement and the Revised Credit Agreemensabstantially similar. The current terms of @redit Agreement are set forth below.
Capitalized terms which are not defined in thedwihg description shall have the meaning assigoesith terms in the Credit Agreement.
Credit Agreement consolidated the Acquisition Cré&gicility and the Revolving Credit Facility intosingle Revolving Credit Facility (the
“Credit Facility”) with a borrowing limit of $130.@nillion. The maturity date of the Credit FacilisyJanuary 19, 2017.

On February 19, 2013, we entered into the First Adngent to the Credit Agreement, which increaseddts availability under the
Credit Facility by $10.0 million to $140.0 million.

On May 8, 2013, we entered into the Second Amendioghe Credit Agreement, which allowed us to inadditional indebtedness to
evidenced by the Senior Notes, to enter into tldemture governing the Senior Notes and to usertteepds of the Notes offering, in part, to
fund the tender offer and consent solicitation wébpect to the Prior Senior Notes.
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On June 18, 2013, we entered into the Third Amemdnwethe Credit Agreement, which increased ourdotidated Leverage Ratio to
4.00 through December 31, 2013, 3.875 at Marct2314, and 3.750 thereafter. The amendment alsedsed the ranges of the Applicable
Rates to 3.00%, 4.00%, and .800% for Base Rated,daurodollar Rate Loans and Letter of Credit Fard, Commitment Fees, respectively,
when the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is greater ¢thaequal to 3.75 to 1.0. The Third Amendment alshibits us to permit Consolidated
EBITDA for any most recently completed four fisgaiarters to be less than the sum of (i) $57.8 omilplus (ii) 80% of the aggregate of all
Consolidated EBITDA for each Permitted Acquisitmmpleted after March 31, 2013.

The Third Amendment also increased the amount gfegiite consideration that we may pay for a PezthAtcquisition after March 31,
2014, without Required Lender approval, to $10.0ioni on an individual basis and $50.0 million whaggregated with the total Aggregate
Consideration paid by or on behalf of us for allestPermitted Acquisitions which closed within tirenediately preceding 365 days.

The Third Amendment also added a defined term iigmiicant Permitted Acquisition Transaction to dese a Permitted Acquisition in
which the Aggregate Consideration exceeds $35 llomivhen aggregated with the total Aggregate Gabersition for all other Permitted
Acquisitions which closed within the immediatelyepeding 180 days. In the case of a Significant RenAcquisition Transaction, the Third
Amendment permits the Borrowers, subject to ceftaiiiations, to temporarily increase the Consdiéghl everage Ratio to 4.00 to 1.0 for one
or more the four immediately succeeding covenargsuement periods. In addition, the Third Amendnireeitided certain conforming
changes to reflect the issuance of the Senior Notes

At December 31, 2013, amounts outstanding undeCthdit Facility bore interest at rates betweed#ahd 4.3%. Amounts borrowed
may be either Base Rate Loans or Eurodollar Ragm&@and amounts repaid or prepaid during the teambe reborrowed. Depending on the
type of loan, borrowings bear interest at the BRate or Eurodollar Rate, plus applicable margingjireg from 1.25% to 3.00% and 2.25% to
4.00%, respectively, depending on our Consolidatagrage Ratio. The Base Rate is the highest dPtiree Rate, the Federal Funds Rate
0.50%, or the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.0%. The Eultadaate is the British Bankers Association LIBGRte. Amounts outstanding under the
Credit Facility approximate their fair value.

The Credit Agreement contains restrictive coventtra§ among other things, prohibit distributioqen defined events of default, rest
investments and sales of assets and require uaitdgaim certain financial covenants, including sfied financial ratios. A material decrease in
revenues could cause us to breach certain of mandial covenants. Any such breach could allow #veders to accelerate our debt (and caus
crossedefault) which would have a material adverse eftecour business, financial condition or resultepérations. As of December 31, 2(
we were in compliance with all applicable finanaalvenants.

The Borrowers under the Credit Agreement paid fed3ank of America, as Administrative Agent, and®Aas Arranger. In addition, t
Credit Agreement requires us to pay an unused Ctment Fee, which is calculated based on the amwnunthich the commitments under the
Credit Agreement exceed the usage of such commitgm&he Commitment Fee Rate ranges from 0.375%8@00 depending on our
Consolidated Leverage Ratio.

The proceeds of the Credit Facility may be usethkyBorrowers to finance working capital requiretsePermitted Acquisitions, and t
purchase and construction of mausoleums. The Benmswbligations under the Credit Agreement aregniged by both us and the General
Partner.

The Borrowers’ obligations under the Credit Fagiite secured by a first priority lien and securitigrest in substantially all of the
Borrowers’ assets, whether then owned or thereafiguired, excluding: (i) trust accounts, certaincpeds required by law to be placed into
such trust accounts and funds held in trust aceo(iiitthe General Partner’s interest in us, theentive distribution rights under our
partnership agreement and the deposit accounkedbéneral Partner into which distributions areenesd; (iii) Equipment subject to a
purchase money security interest or equipment Ipaseitted under the Credit Agreement and certtierocontract rights under which
contractual, legal or other restrictions on assigninwould prohibit the creation of a security iet&ror such creation of a security interest
would result in a default thereunder.

Events of Default under the Credit Agreement ineluaut are not limited to, the following:
e nor-payment of any principal, interest or other amouluts under the Credit Agreement or any other Ci2dd@dument;

» failure to observe or perform any covenantates to: (i) the delivery of financial statememtsmpliance certificates, reports and
other information; (ii) providing prompt notice Biefaults and other events; (iii) the preservatibthe legal existence and good
standing of each Borrower and Guarantor; (iv) thiitg of the Administrative Agent and each Lendewisit and inspect propertit
examine books and records, and discuss financibbasiness affairs with directors, officers andeipeindent public accountants of
each Borrower and Guarantor; (v) restrictions anube of proceeds; (vi) guarantees by new Subsidjdwii) the maintenance of
corporate formalities for each Borrower and Guargr{iii) the maintenance of Trust Accounts and§irFunds; and (ix) any of tl
negative covenants contained in the Credit Agreén
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» failure to observe or perform any other covenémncured 30 days after notice thereof is pded by the Administrative Agent or
Lenders;

» any default under any other Indebtedness of thedBars or Guarantor.
e any insolvency proceedings by a Borrower or Guaira

» the insolvency of any Borrower or Guarantoraavrit of attachment or execution or similar pregéssuing or being levied against
any material part of the property of a BorroweGararantor; an

e any Change in Contrc

Amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility fluetied during the years ended December 31, 2012@t@l At the beginning of 2012,
we had $43.8 million outstanding on our Credit ktes, which were combined into one facility imniery of 2012. We borrowed an additio
$7.3 million, $10.9 million, $22.7 million and $D7million in the first, second, third and fourthagters, respectively, and had outstanding
borrowings of $101.7 million on our Credit Faciléy December 31, 2012. During the first quarte2@f3, we reduced our borrowings on the
Credit Facility by $19.8 million as we had borrow&tB.6 million prior to March 26, 2013 and then wged the net proceeds of approximately
$38.4 million from our March 26, 2013 follow-on fdighoffering to repay amounts outstanding on ouedirFacility. We borrowed an
additional $21.0 million during the second quadfe2013 and then we used the remaining proceedppximately $11.9 million from our
May 28, 2013 debt offering to further repay amounttstanding on our Credit Facility. During therthand fourth quarters of 2013, we had ne
borrowings of $8.5 million and $14.5 million, respigely, resulting in outstanding borrowings of $1a million on our Credit Facility at
December 31, 2013. The average amounts borroweat wod Credit Facility were $101.3 million and $Billion for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Notes Payable Acquisition

In July of 2009, certain of our subsidiaries erdareo a $1.4 million note purchase agreement inmeation with an operating agreement
in which we became the exclusive operator of Gteemn Cemetery (the “Green Lawn Note”). The Greewhdote bears interest at a rate of
6.5% per year on unpaid principal and is payablatiig, beginning on August 1, 2009. Principal oa tfote is due in 96 equal installments
beginning on July 1, 2011. At December 31, 2013itislity related to the installment note was ethbn our consolidated balance sheet at
approximately $1.0 million.

In February 2013, certain of our subsidiaries idsare unsecured promissory note in the principalarnof $3.0 million in connection
with the first quarter 2013 acquisition discussedlote 13 of our consolidated financial statemémt$tem 8” of this Form 10-K. The
promissory note bears interest at a rate of 5.08@ay unpaid balance is due 12 months from clogW@ecember 31, 2013, the liability
related to this promissory note was stated on onsalidated balance sheet at approximately $0.Eomil

Acquisition Nor-Compete Notes

In connection with several of our 2013, 2012, 2@mdl 2010 acquisitions, certain of our subsidiagesed installment notes in
consideration for nomempete agreements executed with the former ovafdhe acquired entities. The installment notesshaarying paymel
terms and mature between April 1, 2014 and FebrL@y®019. The installment notes do not have adtatte of interest. At inception, we
recorded the installment notes at their fair maviedtie of approximately $5.7 million. The face amtsuof the installment notes were
discounted approximately $1.2 million, and the distt is being amortized to interest expense owelifta of the installment notes. At
December 31, 2013 the liability related to thealistent notes, net of discounts, was stated orconsolidated balance sheet at approximately
$3.4 million.

Agreements with the Archdiocese of Philadelpt

On September 26, 2013, we entered into the Leas¢éharManagement Agreements with the Archdiocedghdadelphia under which v
will operate 13 cemeteries in Pennsylvania fomratef 60 years, subject to certain closing condgid-or more details, see Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements included in “Paf this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

66



Table of Contents

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities wer&.$3mnillion during 2013, an increase of $3.2 millieompared to cash provided by
operating activities of $31.9 million during thevsaperiod last year. Factors contributing to amaease in cash flows from operations incl
cash received in our legal settlement, more caskrgéed from normal revenue producing activities, less cash used for accounts payable,
offset by increased uses of cash into our merckartdiists.

Cash flows provided by operating activities wer& . $3million during 2012, an increase of $26.4 roilli compared to cash provided by
operating activities of $5.5 million in 2011. Thecrease was caused in part by increased operatifiyyhich was largely due to increased
pre-need cemetery sales. In addition, we had iserkaash flows of $2.8 million from our accountseieable and net deposits into our
merchandise trusts decreased by $12.1 million.

Cash flows from operations in 2013, 2012 and 20&Ekeded our net loss of $19.0 million, $3.0 milleomd $9.7 million, respectively,
during the same periods. The differences betweeoperating cash flows and net loss are in largegifibutable to the fact that various cash
inflows for payments of amounts due under pre-reggels contracts were not and are not as of yegnéoed as revenues as we had not and
have not met the delivery criteria for revenue ggttion. Although there is no assurance, we exfietthe trend of operating cash flows
exceeding our net income or net loss will contimie the foreseeable future.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $26.Tionilduring 2013, a decrease in cash used of $h8l®n, compared to $39.9 million
during 2012. Cash flows used for investing acegtduring 2013 primarily were $14.1 million for thequisition of 6 funeral homes and one
cemetery and $12.8 million for other capital expands, partially offset by $0.2 million in proceeffom the sale of other assets, compared t
$28.0 million utilized for the acquisition of 5 cetery properties and 17 funeral homes and $118&mfor other capital expenditures in 2012.

Net cash used in investing activities was $39.%ianilduring 2012, an increase of $10.7 million, g@red to $29.2 million during 2011.
Cash flows used for investing activities during 2@timarily were $28.0 million for the acquisitiaf 5 cemetery properties and 17 funeral
homes and $11.9 million for other capital expern@isuicompared to $16.1 million utilized for the asiion of 17 cemetery properties and 12
funeral homes and $13.2 million for other capitgpenditures in 2011.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $4.liomlduring 2013, compared to $3.9 million net cpebvided by financing activities
during 2012. Cash flows provided by financing ati#s during 2013 consisted of $38.4 million of peeds from our follow-on public offering
and $269.5 million from long term borrowings, insilve of the issuance of $175.0 million of Senioté$o These in-flows were offset by
repayments of long-term debt of $239.9 million lirséve of the retirement of our $150.0 million aid® Senior Notes, as well as fees
associated with this retirement of $14.9 millioosts of financing activities of $5.1 million andstedistributions to unit holders of $52.1
million. Cash flows provided by financing activieluring 2012 primarily were $54.0 million of netrtowing of longterm debt, offset by ca:
distributions to unit holders of $47.5 million aodsts of financing activities of $2.4 million. Adidinally, we borrow to fund working capital
a result of cash build-ups in our accounts recéévabhd merchandise trusts and to fund acquisitielaged to pre-need sales growth.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8iBion during 2012, a decrease of $24.3 millioagrpared to $28.2 million net cash
provided by financing activities during 2011. Cdislws provided by financing activities during 20f@marily were $54.0 million of net
borrowing of long-term debt, offset by cash disitibns to unit holders of $47.5 million and costdimancing activities of $2.4 million. Cash
flows provided by financing activities during 20fidimarily were $103.2 million of proceeds from quublic offering and a contribution from
our general partner of $2.3 million offset by nepayments of long-term debt of $27.1 million, cditributions to unit holders of $44.6
million and the payment of a $4.0 million make-wdpremium related to the pay-off of $35.0 millionsenior secured notes.
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Capital Expenditures

The following table summarizes total maintenang@tahexpenditures and expansion capital expeneifuncluding expenditures for the
construction of mausoleums and for acquisitionsttie periods presented:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Maintenance capital expenditui $ 6,98¢ $ 4,874 $ 6,04(
Expansion capital expenditur 19,86¢ 35,07« 23,26¢
Total capital expenditure $26,85: $39,94¢ $29,30¢

Pursuant to our partnership agreement, in conneetith determining operating cash flows availaldedistribution, costs to construct
mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts may be considered a combination of maintenance capital expaneitand expansion capital
expenditures depending on the purposes for congtru©ur general partner, with the concurrencgso€onflicts Committee, has the
discretion to determine how to allocate a capixpleaditure for the construction of a mausoleum toym lawn crypt between maintenance
capital expenditures and expansion capital experedit In addition, maintenance capital expendittoethe construction of a mausoleum ct
or a lawn crypt are not subtracted from operatinglsis in the quarter incurred but rather are sudvéd from operating surplus ratably during
the estimated number of years it will take to aBlbf the available spaces in the mausoleum onlerypt. Estimated life is determined by our
general partner, with the concurrence of its CotgliCommittee.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligats and Contingencies

We have assumed various financial obligations amdngsitments in the ordinary course of conducting lmusiness. We have contractual
obligations requiring future cash payments relatedebt maturities, interest on debt, operatingdesgreements, and liabilities to purchase
merchandise related to our in force pre-need salegacts.

A summary of our total contractual obligations &®ecember 31, 2013 is presented in the table below

As of 12/31/201%

Less thar 1-3 35 More than

Total 1 year years years 5 years

(in thousands)

Debt (1) $413,60: $21,37: $39,27( $143,217 $209,74¢
Operating lease 7,62¢ 1,712 2,15¢ 1,83( 1,92

Merchandise liabilities (2 127,80t — — — —
Total $549,03: $23,08¢ $41,42¢ $145,04. $211,67:

(1) Represents the interest payable and par véldelt due and does not include the unamortizetldisbounts of $4.1 million at
December 31, 2013. This table assumes that cuareatints outstanding under our Credit Facility arapaid until the maturity date of

January 2017
(2) Total cannot be separated into periods becauseevgnable to anticipate when the merchandise withéedec

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as ofnilesre31, 2013 or 2012.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

The information presented below should be reasimunction with the notes to our audited consoéddinancial statements included
under “ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplemgmata”.

The market risk inherent in our market risk semsitnstruments and positions is the potential ckaargsing from increases or decreases
in interest rates and the prices of marketabletggeicurities, as discussed below. Our exposumeatdet risk includes forward-looking
statements and represents an estimate of poskifges in fair value or future earnings that waaddur assuming hypothetical future
movements in interest rates or debt and equity etarkOur views on market risk are not necessardicative of actual results that may occur
and do not represent the maximum possible gaingossds that may occur, since actual gains anddosil differ from those estimated, based
on actual fluctuations in interest rates, equitykats and the timing of transactions. We classify market risk sensitive instruments and
positions as “other than trading.”

Interest-bearing Investments

Our fixed-income securities subject to market deksist primarily of investments in our merchandissts and perpetual care trusts. As
of December 31, 2013, the fair value of fixed-in@securities in our merchandise trusts represeh&d of the fair value of total trust assets
while the fair value of fixed-income securitiesaar perpetual care trusts represented 8.1% ofdaihedlue of total trust assets. The aggregate
quoted fair value of these fixed-income securities $16.5 million and $25.3 million in the merchimedrusts and perpetual care trusts,
respectively, as of December 31, 2013. Each 1%gshaninterest rates on these fixed-income seesritiould result in changes of
approximately $165,000 and $253,000 in the fairkmiavalue of the assets in our merchandise trustparpetual care trusts, respectively,
based on discounted expected future cash flowkefe securities are held to maturity, no chandaiinmarket value will be realized.

Our money market and other short-term investmartigest to market risk consist primarily of invesmin our merchandise trusts and
perpetual care trusts. As of December 31, 201 3aih@alue of money market and shtetm investments in our merchandise trusts repted
10.8% of the fair value of total trust assets while fair value of money market and short-term stwents in our perpetual care trusts
represented 5.4% of the fair value of total trissteds. The aggregate quoted fair value of theseynmiarket and short-term investments was
$46.5 million and $16.7 million in the merchandirests and perpetual care trusts, respectivelgf B2cember 31, 2013. Each 1% change in
interest rates on these money market and shortiterestments would result in changes of approxiiyaté65,000 and $167,000 in the fair
market value of the assets in our merchandisestarsd perpetual care trusts, respectively, baseliseounted expected future cash flows.

Marketable Equity Securities

Our marketable equity securities subject to marik&tconsist primarily of investments held in ouenthandise trusts and perpetual care
trusts. These assets consist of investments inibdividual equity securities as well as closed apdn ended mutual funds. As of
December 31, 2013, the fair value of marketablaetggecurities in our merchandise trusts represeh®9% of the fair value of total trust
assets while the fair value of marketable equitusées in our perpetual care trusts represengetiod of total trust assets. The aggregate
quoted fair market value of these marketable egetyurities was $85.7 million and $37.8 milliorour merchandise trusts and perpetual care
trusts, respectively, as of December 31, 2013,dardinal quoted sales prices. Each 10% changjeeiaverage market prices of the equity
securities would result in a change of approxinya®®&.6 million and $3.8 million in the fair marketlue of securities held in the merchandise
trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectivelyofA3ecember 31, 2013, the fair value of marketahdsed and open ended mutual funds in our
merchandise trusts represented 62.3% of the fhiewaf total trust assets while the fair value losed and open ended mutual funds in our
perpetual care trusts represented 74.3% of tatsil &ssets. The aggregate quoted fair market wdlinese closed and open ended mutual func
was $268.9 million and $231.6 million in the menetise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respegtiaslof December 31, 2013, based on fina
guoted sales prices. Each 10% change in the averageet prices of the closed and open ended mfundks would result in a change of
approximately $26.9 million and $23.2 million iretfair market value of securities held in our mardfise trusts and perpetual care trusts,
respectively.

Investment Strategies and Objectives

Our internal investment strategies and objectieedunds held in the merchandise trusts and peapeare trusts are specified in an
Investment Policy Statement which requires us tthédollowing:

» State in a written document our expectations, divjes, tolerances for risk and guidelines in theestment of our asse!

» Set forth a disciplined and consistent struefor managing all trust assets. This structulEmsed on a long-term asset allocation
strategy, which is diversified across asset classesstment styles and strategies. We believesthigture is likely to meet our
stated objectives within our tolerances for riskl aariability. This structure also includes rangesund the target allocations
allowing for adjustments when appropriate to redisleor enhance returns. It further includes gliigss for the selection of
investment managers and vehicles through whicmpdement the investment strate:
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» Provide specific guidelines for each investnmmeanager. These guidelines control the level ofalgsk and liquidity assumed in
each portfolio

*  Appoint third-party investment advisors to cse the specific investment managers and advis€rast and Compliance
Committee; an

» Establish criteria to monitor, evaluate and pane the performance results achieved by the dveusat portfolios and by our
investment managers. This allows us to comparpehfrmance results of the trusts to our objectared other benchmarks,
including peer performance, on a regular be

Our investment guidelines are based on relativatg investment horizons, which vary with the typérost. Because of this, interim
fluctuations should be viewed with appropriate petsive. The strategic asset allocation of thet fpostfolios is also based on this longer-term
perspective. However, in developing our investnpenicy, we have taken into account the potentigiatiee impact on our operations and
financial performance of significant short-term litees in market value.

We recognize the challenges we face in achievimgrmestment objectives in light of the uncertastand complexities of contemporary
investment markets. Furthermore, we recognize ihatder to achieve the stated long-term objestivee may have short-term declines in
market value. Given the need to maintain consistehies in the portfolio, we have attempted to dgve strategy which is likely to maximize
returns and earnings without experiencing overtlides in value in excess of 3% over any 12-m@etfiod. In 2011, when the markets took &
downturn over fears of a European debt crisis adahat fully recover by year end, we did not aclei@ur investment objective. We were able
to achieve our investment objective in 2012 and3201

In order to consistently achieve the stated retdnjactives within our tolerance for risk, we usstrategy of allocating appropriate
portions of our portfolio to a variety of assetsdas with attractive risk and return charactessaod low to moderate correlations of returns.
See the notes to our consolidated financial statésrfer a breakdown of the assets held in our nzardise and perpetual care trusts by asset
class.

Debt Instruments

Our Credit Facility bears interest at a floatinterdbased on LIBOR, which is adjusted quarterlyisBubjects us to increases in interest
expense resulting from movements in interest réteof December 31, 2013, we had $114.0 milliobafrowings outstanding under our
Credit Facility. After these borrowings, our unugiee of credit under the Credit Facility is $26rlllion. The interest rates on amounts
outstanding under the Credit Facility were betwé&d6 and 4.3% at December 31, 2013. A 1% increwaeari interest rates would increase
annual interest expense by approximately $1.1anillbased on our borrowings outstanding under tediCFacility as of December 31, 2013.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors of StoneMor Partners @& land Unitholders of StoneMor Partners L.P.

Levittown, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of StoneMor Partners L.P. and subsidi@thie “Company”) as of

December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasetl statements of operations, partners’ capital ,cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2013. These fiabstatements are the responsibility of the Corgpmmanagement. Our responsibility it
express an opinion on the financial statementschaseur audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of StoneMor Partners L.P.
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 201 2thenksults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with acciognprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2013, based on the criteria establighbddrnal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission and our report datedcMa7, 2014 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal cohtiver financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 17, 2014
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StoneMor Partners L.P.
Consolidated Balance Sheet
(in thousands)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Prepaid expenst¢
Other current asse

Total current asse

Long-term accounts receivable, net of allowa
Cemetery propert

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depregi
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve

Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi

Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amatitn
Deferred selling and obtaining co:

Deferred tax asse

Goodwill

Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and partners’ capital

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Accrued interes
Current portion, lon-term debt

Total current liabilities

Other lon¢-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred cemetery revenues,
Deferred tax liabilitie:
Merchandise liability
Perpetual care trust corp
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Partners’ capital

General partne

Common partner

Total partner capital

Total liabilities and partne’ capital

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated FinhBts#ements.
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December 31

December 31

2013 2012
$ 1217 $  7,94¢
55,11¢ 51,89¢
3,62- 3,83:
22,66 17,41¢
93,57¢ 81,09:
78,35¢ 71,52:
316,46 309,98(
85,00° 79,74(
431,55( 375,97:
311,77 282,31
8,30¢ 9,23¢
87,99¢ 76,31
42 381
48,03 42 ,39;
12,20 14,77
$1,473,32  $1,343,72
$ 37,26¢ $ 28,97
1,51z 1,83
2,91¢ 2,17¢
41,69 32,98:
1,52 1,83
289,01 252,77
581,58! 497,86
12,40; 14,91
127,80 125,86
311,77 282,31
1,365,800  1,208,54
(2,13)) 38€
109,65 134,79
107,52 135,18:
$1,473,32  $1,343,72
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StoneMor Partners L.P.
Consolidated Statement of Operations
(in thousands, except per unit data)

Revenues:
Cemetery
Merchandise
Services
Investment and othe
Funeral hom
Merchandise
Services
Total revenue:
Costs and Expenses
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation shegparately below
Perpetual car
Merchandise
Cemetery expens
Selling expens
General and administrative expel
Corporate overhead (including $1,370, $916 and $7®it-based compensation for 2013, 20
and 2011, respectivel
Depreciation and amortizatic
Funeral home expen:
Merchandise
Services
Other
Acquisition related costs, net of recovel
Total cost and expens
Operating profit
Gain on acquisition
Gain on termination of operating agreem
Gain on settlement agreement,
Gain on sale of other asst
Gain on sale of funeral hon
Loss on early extinguishment of d¢
Expenses related to refinanci
Interest expens
Net loss before income tax

Income tax expense (bene!
Net loss

General partn(’s interest in net loss for the peri
Limited partner’ interest in net loss for the peri
Net loss per limited partner unit (basic and dii)i

Weighted average number of limited part’ units outstanding (basic and dilute
Distributions declared per ur

2013 2012 2011
$110,67. $114,02!  $108,08t
44,05 46,09¢ 46,99
46,95¢ 46,80¢ 42,90
18,92: 15,55: 12,81(
26,03 20,12¢ 17,59:
246,64: 242,600 228,38
5,65¢ 5,71¢ 5,721
22,20: 22,38¢ 20,38¢
57,56¢ 55,41( 57,148
47,83: 46,87¢ 45,29:
31,87: 28,92¢ 29,54
28,87t 28,16¢ 23,76¢
9,54¢ 9,431 8,53¢
5,56¢ 5,20( 4,47:
19,19¢ 14,57: 11,717
10,89t 8,951 7,36¢
1,051 3,12: 4,601
240,25¢ 228,76!  218,55:
6,38¢ 13,84: 9,83t
2,53( 122 —
— 1,737 —
12,261 — —
155 — —

— — 92
21,59t — 4,01(
— — 452
21,07 20,50: 19,19¢
(21,336 (4,809 (13,739
(2,309 (1,790 (4,019
$(19,03) $ (3,019 $ (9,71
$ (30 $ (60) $ (199
$(18,68) $ (2,959 $ (9,520
$ (089 $ (015 $ (0.50
20,95¢ 19,44¢ 18,94°
$ 238 $ 235 $ 2.34(

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated FinhBts#ements.
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Balance, December 31, 2010

Issuance of common uni

Proceeds from public offerir
General partner contributic
Compensation related to units awa
Net loss

Cash distribution

Balance, December 31, 20
Issuance of common uni

General partner contributic
Compensation related to units awa
Net loss

Cash distribution

Balance, December 31, 20
Proceeds from public offerir
Issuance of common uni
Compensation related to units awa
Net loss

Cash distribution

Balance, December 31, 20

StoneMor Partners L.P.
Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital
(in thousands)

Partners’ Capital

Common General

Unit Holders Partner Total
$ 126,38. $ 1,80¢ $128,19:
264 — 264
103,20 — 103,20°
— 2,262 2,26:
67% — 67%
(9,527) (194) (9,715
(42,9200 (1,685 (44,60
178,08 2,192 180,27
4,75¢ — 4,75¢
— 89 89
527 — 527
(2,959 (60) (3,019
(45,619 (1,835 (47,45
134,79t 38¢€ 135,18:
38,37 — 38,37
3,71¢ — 3,71¢
1,32¢ — 1,32¢
(18,68 (350) (19,03
(49,880 (2,179 (52,059
$ 109,65  $(2,137) $107,52(

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated FinaStsements.
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StoneMor Partners L.P.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activitie
Cost of lots solt
Depreciation and amortizatic
Unit-based compensatic
Accretion of debt discoun
Gain on termination of operating agreem
Gain on acquisition
Gain on sale of other ass:
Gain on sale of funeral hon
Loss on early extinguishment of d¢
Write-off of deferred financing fee
Changes in assets and liabilities that provideddusash
Accounts receivabl
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Merchandise trust fun
Prepaid expenst
Other current asse
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued and other liabil
Deferred selling and obtaining co:
Deferred cemetery reven
Deferred taxes (ne
Merchandise liability
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities:
Cash paid for cemetery prope
Purchase of subsidiari
Proceeds from divestiture of funeral ho
Cash paid for property and equipm
Proceeds from sales of other as:
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities:
Cash distribution:
Additional borrowings on lor-term debt
Repayments of lor-term debi
Proceeds from public offerir
Proceeds from general partner contributi
Fees paid related to early extinguishment of |
Cost of financing activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivake
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalent- End of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for inter
Cash paid during the period for income ta

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Acquisition of assets by financir
Issuance of limited partner units for cemetery &sitian
Acquisition of assets by assumption of directhatedl liability

2013 2012 2011
$ (19,03) $ (3,019 $ (9,719
8,01¢ 7,81¢ 6,66¢
9,54¢ 9,431 8,53¢
1,37( 91€ 777
2,30: 1,73¢ 1,35¢
— (1,737) —
(2,530) (122) —
(155) — —
— — (92)
21,50 — 4,01(
— — 457
(8,926) (5,475) (9,247)
92 1,21( 2,217
(36,919 (11,806 (23,88
21C 527 1,27¢
(5,24%) (2,165 (7,355)
2,861 12¢ 291
7,58¢ 4,33 86¢
(11,682 (7,775 (9,120)
72,70¢ 47 54 47 59¢
(2,865) (2,396) (3,485
(3,86)) (7,260) (5,66¢)
35,07 31,89¢ 5,46¢
(5,766) (7,096) (7,126)
(14,100 (27,976 (16,14:)
— — 122
(6,986) (4,874) (6,040)
15¢ — _
(26,69) (39,949 (29,18¢)
(52,05) (47,45 (44,60%)
269,50: 84,00 48,05(
(239,93) (30,279 (75,189
38,37 — 103,20°
— 89 2,26:
(14,920 — (4,010)
(5,125) (2,424) (1,477)
(4,151) 3,94( 28,24
4,22¢ (4,112) 4,52:
7,94¢ 12,05¢ 7,53t
$ 12178 $ 7,94€  $ 12,05¢
$ 18,907 $1848.  $ 18,13
$ 389 $ 4101 $ 245:
$ 19C $ 287 $ 294
$ 3716 $ 475: $ 264
$ 392« $ 246¢ $ —

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated FinhBts#ements.
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

StoneMor Partners L.P. (“StoneMor”, the “Company’tlee “Partnership”) is a provider of funeral aredreetery products and services in
the death care industry in the United States. Tginats subsidiaries, StoneMor offers a completgeant funeral merchandise and services,
along with cemetery property, merchandise and sesyiboth at the time of need and on a pre-neasl. lfesof December 31, 2013, the
Partnership operated 277 cemeteries in 27 stateBa@rto Rico, of which 259 are owned and 18 aegaipd under management or operating
agreements. The Partnership also owned and op&atkoheral homes in 18 states and Puerto Rico.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements includedii; Form 10-K have been prepared in accordanceagitbunting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

The Companys presentation of income tax expense (benefit)iwita consolidated statement of operations hasgbé@ The componer
of the income tax expense (benefit), “State” anedéral,” previously presented as two subcaptioange fbeen collapsed into one caption
“Income tax expense (benefit).” This change initttmme tax expense (benefit) presentation hasfecotedn previously reported net income
(loss).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of each of the Company’s subsidiaries. &lsestements also include the
accounts of the merchandise and perpetual cars irugzhich the Company has a variable interestisutioe primary beneficiary. The Comps
operates 18 cemeteries under long-term operatingaoagement contracts. The operations of 16 oéthemaged cemeteries have been
consolidated in accordance with the provisions oédunting Standards Codification (ASC) 810. Tharficial statements also include the
effects of retrospective adjustments, resultingifeme of the Company’s 2013 acquisitions (see NB8je

The Company operates 2 cemeteries under long-tparating agreements that do not qualify as acéuisitfor accounting purposes. As
a result, the Company did not consolidate all efaRisting assets and liabilities related to treeseeteries. The Company has consolidated th
existing assets and liabilities of each of thesaateries’ merchandise and perpetual care trustarable interest entities since the Company
controls and receives the benefits and absorb$oasgs from operating these trusts. Under thegptienm operating agreements, which are
subject to certain termination provisions, the Campis the exclusive operator of these cemetefies.Company earns revenues related to
sales of merchandise, services, and intermentsrigid incurs expenses related to such sales amadgihéenance and upkeep of these
cemeteries. Upon termination of these contracesCibmpany will retain all of the benefits and rethtontractual obligations incurred from
sales generated during the contract period. Thepgaagnhas also recognized the existing merchanidikiities that it assumed as part of these
agreements.

Total revenues derived from the cemeteries undggderm management or operating contracts totaledoappately $33.2 million, $39.
million and $39.5 million for the years ended Debem31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies followed by tiempany are summarized below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmegmischased with an original maturity of three mandh less from the time they are
acquired to be cash equivalents.

Cemetery Property

Cemetery property consists of developed and undpedl cemetery property, constructed mausoleumsemqd lawn crypts and other
cemetery property. Cemetery property is valuedat,avhich is not in excess of market value.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment is recorded at @odtdepreciated on a straight-line basis. Maintemamd repairs are charged to expense as
incurred, whereas additions and major replacenaetsapitalized and depreciation is recorded dwar estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 10 to 40 year
Furniture and equipme 3 to 10 year:

Leasehold improvements
over the shorter of the term of the le.



or the life of the asst

76



Table of Contents

Merchandise Trusts

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceents fore-need sales of merchandise and services istpurust (the “merchandise trust”)
until such time that the Company meets the requérémfor releasing trust principal, which is geligrdelivery of merchandise or performar
of services. All investment earnings generatedheyassets in the merchandise trusts (includingzeshfjains and losses) are deferred until the
associated merchandise is delivered or the sergigeperformed (see Note 5).

Perpetual Care Trust

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeantn the sale of cemetery property is required tpdid into perpetual care trusts. The
perpetual care trust principal does not belongn¢oGompany and must remain in this trust into perpewhile interest and dividends may be
released and used to defray cemetery maintenaist® ehich are expensed as incurred. The Comparsotidates the trust into the
Company'’s financial statements in accordance wBCA10-10-15-(13 through 22) because the trugirisidered a variable interest entity for
which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Eagsifrom the perpetual care trusts are recognizediirent cemetery revenues (see Nott

Inventories

Inventories are classified within other currentedas®n the Company’s consolidated balance shedhahale cemetery and funeral home
merchandise valued at the lower of cost or netaalalle value. Cost is determined primarily on acéfpeidentification basis on a first-in, first-
out basis. Inventories were approximately $5.4iarland $4.7 million at December 31, 2013 and 2@d&pectively.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The Company monitors the recoverability of longetivassets, including cemetery property, propertyegiuipment and other assets,
based on estimates using factors such as currekemaalue, future asset utilization, business i@gililatory climate and future undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use of ¢deted assets. The Company’s policy is to evalaatasset for impairment when events or
circumstances indicate that a long-lived assets/og& value may not be recovered. An impairmergrge is recorded to write-down the asset
to its fair value if the sum of future undiscountash flows is less than the carrying value ofabset. No impairment charges were recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@ht, respectively.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets

The Company determines whether or not the impaitroka fixed maturity debt security is other-th@mporary by evaluating each of
the following:

. Whether it is the Company’s intent to sell seeurity. If there is intent to sell, the impairmh@&nconsidered to be other-than-
temporary.

. If there is no intent to sell, the Company ewadés if it is not more likely than not that then@many will be required to sell
the debt security before its anticipated recovéhe Company determines that it is more likelgrimot that it will be
required to sell an impaired investment beforauitScipated recovery, the impairment is consideocoe other-than-
temporary.

The Company has further evaluated whether or hasakts in the merchandise trusts have othertraperary impairments based upon
a number of criteria including the severity of thgpairment, length of time a security has beenlwsa position, changes in market conditions
and concerns related to the specific issuer.

If an impairment is considered to be other-thangerary, the cost basis of the security is adjudtadnward to its fair value.

For assets held in the perpetual care trusts,edyction in the cost basis due to an other-thampoeary impairment is offset with an
equal and opposite reduction in the perpetual wast corpus and has no impact on earnings.

For assets held in the merchandise trusts, anytiedun the cost basis due to an other-than-teamgampairment is recorded in deferred
revenue.

The trust footnotes (Notes 5 and 6) disclose tlessed cost basis of the assets in both the medi$mand perpetual care trust. This
adjusted cost basis includes any adjustments tortgmal cost basis due to other-than-temporaryaimments.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable net assetgugred. The Company tests goodwill-
impairment using a two-step test. In the first siéthe test, the Company compares the fair valukeoreporting unit to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. The Company determines the failue of each reporting unit using the income apph. The Company does not record ar
impairment of goodwill in instances where the faitue of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying antoli the aggregate fair value of a repor
unit is less than the related carrying amountGbepany proceeds to the second step of the tegtith it records an impairment loss in an
amount equal to the excess of the carrying amdugdadwill over the implied fair value. The goodinihpairment test is performed annually
or more frequently if events or circumstances iatidhat impairment may exist.

Deferred Cemetery Revenues, I

Revenues from the sale of services and mercharatiseell as any investment income from the mercisertdust is deferred until such
time that the services are performed or the mextiBarns delivered.

In addition to amounts deferred on new contractd,investment income and unrealized gains on ouclma@dise trust, deferred cemet
revenues, net, includes deferred revenues fronmgee-sales that were entered into by entities pritlie acquisition of those entities by the
Company, including entities that were acquired loyr@rstone Family Services, Inc. upon its formatio®999. The Company provides for a
reasonable profit margin for these deferred revertdeferred margin) to account for the future co$tielivering products and providing
services on pre-need contracts that the Companyiradgthrough acquisition. Deferred margin amowamesdeferred until the merchandise is
delivered or services are performed.

Sales of Cemetery Merchandise and Servi

The Company sells its merchandise and service®tmebpre-need and at-need basis. Sales of atemeeetery services and merchandise
are recognized as revenue when the service isrpggtbor merchandise is delivered.

Preneed sales are usually made on an installmentaxiriasis. Contracts are usually for a period meixteed 60 months with payme
of principal and interest required. For those cacts that do not bear a market rate of interestCibmpany imputes such interest based upon
the prime rate plus 150 basis points, which reduhiea rate of 4.75% for contracts entered intarduthe years ended December 31, 2013,
and 2011, in order to segregate the principal atetést component of the total contract value.

At the time of a pre-need sale, the Company recandsccount receivable in an amount equal to tia¢ ¢contract value less any cash
deposit paid, net of an estimated allowance fotoener cancellations. The revenue from both thessahel interest component is deferred.
Interest revenue is recognized utilizing the effecinterest method. Sales revenue is recognizedéordance with the rules discussed below.

The allowance for customer cancellations is esthbll based on management’s estimates of expecteelledions and historical
experiences and is currently averaging approximdt@¥o of total contract values. Future cancellatates may differ from this current
estimate. Management will continue to evaluate elation rates and will make changes to the estérshbuld the need arise. Actual
cancellations did not vary significantly from th&timates of expected cancellations at Decembe2@l3 and December 31, 2012, respectiy

Revenue recognition related to sales of cemetergimeadise and services is governed by Securitiés€Eanhange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue RecognitiorFrinancial Statements (“SAB No. 104”), and theitdéad sales provisions of ASC 976.
Per this guidance, revenue from the sale of blotaland constructed mausoleum crypts is defemgitisuch time that 10% of the sales price
has been collected, at which time it is fully eainevenues from the sale of unconstructed mauswmeure recognized using the percentage-o
completion method of accounting while revenues froerchandise and services are recognized oncenseicthandise is delivered (title has
transferred to the customer and the merchandisi¢ghisr installed or stored, at the direction of ¢thstomer, at the vendor’s warehouse or a
third-party warehouse at no additional cost toarsgervices are performed.

In order to appropriately match revenue and experibe Company defers certain pre-need cemeterpr@aidranged funeral direct
obtaining costs that vary with and are primarillated to the acquisition of new pre-need cemetadymearranged funeral business. Such cos
are accounted for under the provisions of ASC 94l are expensed as revenues are recognized.

The Company records a merchandise liability equéhé estimated cost to provide services and paecheerchandise for all outstanding
and unfulfilled pre-need contracts. The merchanliidglity is established and recorded at the tishéhe sale but is not recognized as an
expense until such time that the associated reviemube underlying contract is also recognizede Titerchandise liability is established basec
on actual costs incurred or an estimate of futosts; which may include a provision for inflatidrhe merchandise liability is reduced when
services are performed or when payment for merabansl made by the Company and title is transfetwetie customer.

Sales of Funeral Home Service

Revenue from funeral home services is recognizestasces are performed and merchandise is detivere
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Pursuant to state law, a portion of proceeds reckirom pre-need funeral service contracts is ot rust while amounts used to defray
the initial administrative costs are not. All intreent earnings generated by the assets in the(tnegiding realized gains and losses) are
deferred until the associated merchandise is deliver the services are performed. The balancees@tounts in these trusts is included wi
the merchandise trusts above.

Income Taxes

The Company’s subsidiaries are subject to bothréddmd state income taxes. The Company recordsréeftax assets and deferred tax
liabilities to recognize temporary differences betn the bases of assets and liabilities in itatEkGAAP balance sheets and for federal and
state net operating loss carryforwards and altematinimum tax credits. The Company records aatidn allowance against its deferred tax
assets if it deems that it is more likely than thett some portion or all of the recorded defereedassets will not be realizable in future periods

Net Income per Unil

Basic net income per unit is determined by dividireg income, after deducting the amount of netnmeallocated to the general partner
interest from its issuance date of September 204 20y the weighted average number of units outltgnduring the period. Diluted net
income per unit is calculated in the same mannbaakik net income per unit, except that the wejhieerage number of outstanding units is
increased to include the dilutive effect of outsliag unit options and phantom unit awards. All tansling unit appreciation rights (See Note
11) that would have a dilutive effect were assumoelle exercised and converted to common units ubm@verage fair market value of a
common unit for the period presented. Also, theaye phantom units outstanding during the periogvassumed to be converted to commor
units for the period presented. The diluted weidlateerage number of limited partners’ units outditag presented on the consolidated
statement of operations does not include 297,018,53,384 units and 322,866 units for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201
respectively, as their effects would be anti-dieti

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In the third quarter of 2013, the Financial AccongtStandards Board issued Update No. 2013-11nhecbaxes (Topic 740) (“ASU
2013-11"). ASU 2013-11 provides guidance on tharicial statement presentation of an unrecognizetdaefit when a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward exists. This amendment requires artyetgipresent in the financial statements an
unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an ungeired tax benefit, as a reduction to a deferre@sset for a net operating loss carryforward,
a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforwamicept as follows. To the extent that (i) a net afiag loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a
tax credit carryforward is not available at thearting date under the tax law of the applicablésyliction to settle any additional income taxes
that would result from the disallowance of a tasipon; or (ii) the tax law of the applicable judistion does not require, and the entity does
intend to use, the deferred tax asset for suchgserthe unrecognized tax benefit should be predentthe financial statements as a liability
and should not be combined with deferred tax as$ats Company applied the provisions of ASU 2013dlall unrecognized tax benefits that
existed at the effective date of December 15, 20bh& adoption did not have a significant impactooin financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Use of Estimates

Preparation of these consolidated financial stateésnequires management to make estimates and pSsomthat affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosureoatingent assets and liabilities as of the datheconsolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense duringgffeting periods. As a result, actual results @dliffer from those estimates. The most
significant estimates in the consolidated finanstatements are the valuation of assets in thehrardise trusts and perpetual care trusts,
allowance for cancellations, unit-based compensatieerchandise liability, deferred sales reveneéeed margin, deferred merchandise trus
investment earnings, deferred obtaining costs acohne taxes. Deferred sales revenue, deferred mangi deferred merchandise trust
investment earnings are included in deferred cenpedenues, net, on the consolidated balance .sheet
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2. LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCE

Long-term accounts receivable, net, consisted esfdhowing:

As of December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Customer receivable $173,75: $159,72¢
Unearned finance incon (20,009 (18,377
Allowance for contract cancellatiol (20,27%) (17,939
133,47: 123,41t
Less: current portio- net of allowanct 55,11¢ 51,89t
Long-term portion- net of allowanct $ 78,35¢ $ 71,52]

Activity in the allowance for contract cancellat®is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Balance- Beginning of perioc $17,93: $ 17,58: $ 15,83:
Provision for cancellatior 20,06¢ 16,76¢ 18,64¢
Chargeoffs - net (17,727 (16,417 (16,899

Balance- End of perioc $ 20,27t $17,93: $17,58:

The Company’s customer receivables are considé@radding receivables as they primarily relate te-peed sales which are usually
made on an installment contract basis. Contraetsismally for a period not to exceed 60 months wityments of principal and interest
required. The Company has a standard contractuaéagent that it executes related to these receisabid therefore the Company only has
one portfolio segment of receivables with no segackasses of receivables within that segment.

Management evaluates customer receivables for impat on an individual contract basis based uperatfe of the receivable and the
customer’s payment history. The Company’s receemptimarily relate to pre-need sales and thergf@éCompany has not performed the
service or fulfilled all of its obligations for thmerchandise to which the receivable relates. Assalt, the Company has some leverage with it
customers in terms of collecting its receivablastirer, the Company is flexible with customers vilawe difficulty making payments and will
try to create revised or alternative payment areamgnts with such customers. As a result, the Cogngaes not write-off a receivable until all
possible collection efforts have been exhaustedfA3ecember 31, 2013 and 2012, approximately 106696, respectively, of the
Company’s gross accounts receivable balance was@dpast due.
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3. CEMETERY PROPERTY

Cemetery property consists of the following:

As of December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Developed lant $ 72,45¢ $ 71,31¢
Undeveloped lan 163,99° 162,27"
Mausoleum crypts and lawn cryy 70,21¢ 69,52t
Other lanc 9,79¢ 6,862
Total $316,46¢ $309,98!(

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Major classes of property and equipment follow:

As of December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Building and improvement $ 91,57¢ $ 82,05¢

Furniture and equipme 44,82¢ 42,35:

136,40: 124,40¢

Less: accumulated depreciati (51,399 (44,669

Property and equipme- net $ 85,00: $ 79,74(

Depreciation expense was $7.5 million, $7.2 milloord $5.9 million for the years ended Decembe2813, 2012 and 2011, respectiv

5.  MERCHANDISE TRUSTS
At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, thep@opis merchandise trusts consisted of the follgviypes of assets:
* Money Market Funds that invest in low risk shortiiesecurities
* Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undieidydebt securities
* Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undedyequity securities

« Equity investments that are currently payingdinds or distributions. These investments incledal Estate Investment Trusts
(“REIT¢"), Master Limited Partnerships and global equity siiest

» Fixed maturity debt securities issued by variouporate entities
» Fixed maturity debt securities issued by the U.8végBnment and U.S. Government agencies;
» Fixed maturity debt securities issued by U.S. stated local government agenci
All of these investments are classified as Avaddbk Sale as defined by the Investments in DebtEquity topic of the ASC.

Accordingly, all of the assets are carried at Yaiue. All of these investments are considereceteither Level 1 or Level 2 assets as define
the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures tdpiteoASC. See Note 15 for further details. Theezemno Level 3 assets.

The merchandise trusts are variable interest estfi/IE) for which the Company is the primary béciafy. The assets held in the
merchandise trusts are required to be used to psedine merchandise to which they relate. If theevaf these assets falls below the cost of
purchasing such merchandise, the Company may bireddo fund this shortfall.

The Company has included $8.3 million and $7.6iamilbf investments held in trust by the West ViigiRuneral Directors Association
at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, résggcin its merchandise trust assets. As requingthw, the Company deposits a portion
of certain funeral merchandise sales in West Vigginto a trust that is held by the West VirginianEral Directors Association. These trusts
recorded at their account value, which approxim#tes fair value.
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The cost and market value associated with thesahse#d in the merchandise trusts at December 313 2aAd December 31, 2012 is
presented below:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
As of December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 46,51¢ $ — $ — $ 46,51¢
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel — — — —
U.S. State and local government age — — — —
Corporate debt securitit 9,10¢ 162 (96) 9,171
Other debt securitie 7,33¢ — (12 7,32¢
Total fixed maturities 16,44: 162 (10¢) 16,49¢
Mutual funds- debt securitie 117,76: 72¢ (7,157 111,33
Mutual funds- equity securitie: 144,24¢ 16,61( (3,329 157,53(
Equity securitie: 81,52( 5,261 (1,099 85,69t
Other invested asse 5,80¢ — (8€) 5,728
Total managed investmer $412,29¢ $ 22,76¢ $(11,772)  $423,29:
West Virginia Trust Receivab 8,26: — — 8,26
Total $420,56( $ 22,76¢ $(11,772)  $431,55¢
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
As of December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 27,89( $ — $ — $ 27,89(
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel — — — —
U.S. State and local government age — — — —
Corporate debt securitit 8,59( 16E (42) 8,71«
Other debt securitie 4,32( — (3 4,317
Total fixed maturities 12,91( 165 (44) 13,03:
Mutual funds- debt securitie 105,38t 3,42¢ (892) 107,92:
Mutual funds- equity securitie: 145,53t 6,22¢ (6,697) 145,07(
Equity securitie: 68,71« 3,44¢ (4,755 67,407
Other invested asse 7,37¢ 165 (444) 7,097
Total managed investmer $367,81¢ $ 13,43: $(12,837)  $368,41¢
West Virginia Trust Receivab 7,551 — — 7,551
Total $375,37. $ 13,43: $(12,83)  $375,97¢
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The contractual maturities of debt securities aB@tember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 are peeskelow:

Less thar 1 year through 6 years througt
As of December 31, 201 1 year 5 years 10 years
(in thousands)
U.S. Government and federal agel $ — $ = $ =
U.S. State and local government age — — —
Corporate debt securitis — 4,33 4,83¢
Other debt securitie 2,15( 5,17¢ —
Total fixed maturitie: $ 2,15( $ 9,50¢ $ 4,83¢
Less thar 1 year through 6 years througt
As of December 31, 201 1 year 5 years 10 years
(in thousands)
U.S. Government and federal agel $ — $ — $ —
U.S. State and local government age — — —
Corporate debt securitis 3,861 4,85:

$ 3,861 $ 4,85:

Other debt securitie 4,31
Total fixed maturities 4,31

»
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An aging of unrealized losses on the Company’sstiwents in fixed maturities and equity securitieBecember 31, 2013 and

December 31, 2012 is presented below:

As of December 31, 201

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitit
Other debt securitie
Total fixed maturities
Mutual funds- debt securitie
Mutual funds- equity securitie:
Equity securitie:
Other invested asse
Total

As of December 31, 201

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitit
Other debt securitie
Total fixed maturities
Mutual funds- debt securitie
Mutual funds- equity securitie!
Equity securitie:
Other invested asse
Total

Less than 12 months 12 Months or more Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)

$ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
2,81z 43 1,24¢ 53 4,061 96
5,32¢ 8 99t 4 6,324 12
8,141 51 2,244 57 10,38¢ 10¢€
87,11 6,72¢ 6,48t 433 93,59¢ 7,157
29,99: 2,444 4,217 88t 34,21( 3,32¢
25,37¢ 1,031 1,492 61 26,871 1,092
2,26¢ 86 — — 2,26¢ 86
$152,89. $ 10,33¢ $14,43¢ $ 1,43¢ $167,33( $ 11,77:

Less than 12 month: 12 Months or more Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)

$ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
2,14(C 20 297 21 2,437 41
4,315 3 — — 4,315 3
6,457 23 297 21 6,75/ 44
6,38¢ 462 4,19¢ 42¢ 10,58¢ 892
48,25¢ 5,50( 19,65t 1,197 67,91( 6,697
17,93: 1,52i 15,53¢ 3,22¢ 33,47( 4,75¢
2,55¢ 444 — — 2,55¢ 444
$81,59C $ 7,957 $39,68¢ $ 4,878 $121,27¢ $ 12,83:

A reconciliation of the Company’s merchandise taivities for the years ended December 31, 2@tBRecember 31, 2012 is

presented below:

Year ended December 31, 20.

Fair Capital Realized Unrealized Fair
Value at Interest/ Gain Gain/ Change in Value at
12/31/201. Contributions  Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss Taxes Fees Fair Value 12/31/201%
(in thousands)
$375,97. 68,30¢ (55,891 96¢ 19,50: (2,986 (2,887 10,39¢ $431,55!
Year ended December 31, 20
Fair Capital Realized Unrealized Fair
Value at Interest/ Gain Gain/ Change in Value at
12/31/201. Contributions  Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss Taxes Fees Fair Value 12/31/2012
(in thousands)
$344,51! 55,75 (52,618 78¢ 8,86: (3,486 (2,424 8,531  $375,97.
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The Company made net contributions into the trabtgpproximately $12.4 million and $3.1 million ¢hy the years ended December 31
2013 and 2012, respectively. During the year eridiscember 31, 2013, purchases and sales of seswitéglable for sale included in trust
investments were approximately $536.2 million aBd®9 million, respectively. During the year endtember 31, 2012, purchases and
of securities available for sale included in tinstestments were approximately $464.7 million ad@30 million, respectively. Contributions
include $10.3 million and $12.0 million of assétattwere acquired through acquisitions during &y ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Distributions include $5.8 million a$sets that were divested as a result of thenation of an operating agreement during the
year ended December 31, 20

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets

In accordance with ASC 320-10-65-1, the Compangsssess whether an impairment is other-than-tempdmaperforming each of the
following:

Fixed Maturity Debt Securities
» The Company assesses whether it has the inteall tany impaired debt security;

* The Company assesses whether it is more likaly not it will be required to sell any impaireebd security before its anticipated
recovery;

» If either of these conditions exists, the impairtisrconsidered to be other than tempor

e The Company assesses whether or not thereregdlé loss on an impaired security. A credit lssthe excess of the amortized cost of the
security over the present value of future expectesth flows. If there is a credit loss, the Compaanpgnizes an other-than-temporary
impairment in earnings in an amount equal to tleelittoss. This amount becomes the new cost basie@asset and will not be adjusted
for subsequent changes in the fair value of thetg

» The Company assesses the overall credit quaflidach issue by evaluating its credit ratingegmrted by any credit rating agency. The
Company also determines if there has been any dagadn its creditworthiness as reported by suelditrating agency

» The Company determines if there has been any ssigpeof interest payments or any announcementayfraention to do sc

e The Company evaluates the length of time tiélprincipal becomes due and whether the abdisatisfy this payment has been
impaired.

Equity Securities
» The Company compares the proportional decline inevtd the overall sector decline as measurederi@in specific indices

* The Company determines whether there has beerefysériodic decline from prior periods or whethere has been a recovery in va

For all securities
* The Company evaluates the severity of the impaitrard length of time that a security has beenlosa position

» The Company determines if there is any publialgilable information that would cause the Comparlyelieve that impairment is other
than temporary in natur

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynghatermined that there were 7 securities withgaregate cost basis of
approximately $2.6 million and an aggregate falugaf approximately $1.6 million, resulting in anpairment of $1.0 million, wherein such
impairment was considered to be other-than-tempoBauring the year ended December 31, 2012, thegaomdetermined that there were 8
securities with an aggregate cost basis of apprataly $2.0 million and an aggregate fair valuepgraximately $1.0 million, resulting in an
impairment of $1.0 million, wherein such impairmerds considered to be other-than-temporary. Acogtyj the Company adjusted the cost
basis of these assets to their current value dsdtdhis change against deferred revenue. ThisctiEh in deferred revenue will be reflected in
earnings in future periods as the underlying mardis® is delivered or the underlying service ifqgrened.
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6. PERPETUAL CARE TRUSTS
At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, thep@nwis perpetual care trusts consisted of theviolig types of assets:

Money Market Funds that invest in low risk shortiesecurities
Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undedydebt securities
Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undiedyequity securities

Equity investments that are currently payingdénds or distributions. These investments incle@T’s, Master Limited
Partnerships and global equity securit

Fixed maturity debt securities issued by varioupomte entities
Fixed maturity debt securities issued by the U.@/éenment and U.S. Government agencies;

Fixed maturity debt securities issued by U.S. statel local government agenci

All of these investments are classified as Avaddbl Sale as defined by the Investments in DebtEguity topic of the ASC.
Accordingly, all of the assets are carried at Vailue. All of these investments are consideredeteither Level 1 or Level 2 assets as define
the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures tdptiteoASC. See Note 15 for further details. Theezewno Level 3 assets.
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The cost and market value associated with thesakedd in perpetual care trusts at December 313 268l December 31, 2012 were as
follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
As of December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 16,68¢ $ — $ — $ 16,68¢
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel 302 70 — 372
U.S. State and local government age — — — —
Corporate debt securitit 24,37¢ 34C (20€) 24,51(
Other debt securitie 371 — — 371
Total fixed maturities 25,05! 41( (20¢) 25,25
Mutual funds- debt securitie 121,49: 46€ (5,946 116,01:
Mutual funds- equity securitie: 93,24 22,52 (177) 115,59
Equity securitie: 25,58( 12,28: (19 37,84
Other invested asse 172 21C — 382
Total $282,22! $ 35,89( $ (6,349 $311,77.
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
As of December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 21,41¢ $ — $ — $ 21,41¢
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel 40¢ 104 — 512
U.S. State and local government age — — — —
Corporate debt securitit 22,69( 702 (2073) 23,29
Other debt securitie 371 — — 371
Total fixed maturities 23,46¢ 80¢ (107) 24,17+
Mutual funds- debt securitie 103,90¢ 3,42¢ (150 107,18t
Mutual funds- equity securitie: 94,23¢ 5,22 (249 99,21
Equity securitie: 23,79: 6,56: (45%) 29,90¢
Other invested asse 113 30z — 41E
Total $266,94¢ $ 16,32: $ (959 $282,31:
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The contractual maturities of debt securities aBefember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 arelaw$ol

As of December 31, 201

U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitis

Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturities

As of December 31, 201

U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitis

Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturities

Less thar 1 year through 6 years througt More than
1 year 5 years 10 years 10 years
(in thousands)
$ 25% $ 11¢ $ = $ —
115 11,94 12,45 1
371 = = =
$ 73¢ $ 12,06: $ 12,45 $ 1
Less thar 1 year through 6 years througt More than
1 year 5 years 10 years 10 years
(in thousands)
$ 12¢ $ 384 — $ —
78 10,841 12,36¢ —
371 = = =
$ 577 $ 11,23 $ 12,36¢ $ —

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company’sstments in fixed maturities and equity securitieBecember 31, 2013 and

December 31, 2012 held in perpetual care trugiseisented below:

As of December 31, 201

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitit
Other debt securitie
Total fixed maturities
Mutual funds- debt securitie
Mutual funds- equity securitie!
Equity securitie:
Other invested asse
Total

Less than 12 months 12 Months or more Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)

$ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
5,66¢ 93 3,122 11¢E 8,78¢ 20¢
5,66 93 3,122 11F 8,78¢ 20¢
93,47: 4,781 16,36 1,16& 109,84( 5,94¢
1,18t 171 — — 1,18t 171
513 19 — — 513 19
$100,83 $ 5,06¢ $19.48¢ $ 1,28( $120,32: $ 6,34¢
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Less than 12 months 12 Months or more Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
As of December 31, 201 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)
Fixed maturities

U.S. Government and federal age! $ — % — $— $ — $ — $ —
U.S. State and local government age — — — — — —
Corporate debt securitit 4,63( 48 711 53 5,341 101
Other debt securitie — — — — — —
Total fixed maturitie: 4,63( 48 711 53 5,341 101
Mutual funds- debt securitie 85¢ 35 87C 11t 1,72¢ 15C
Mutual funds- equity securitie! 34,80¢ 24¢ — — 34,80¢ 24¢
Equity securitie: 4,26¢ 23¢ 54E 217 4,81¢ 45E
Other invested asse — — — — — —
Total $4456: $ 57C $2,12¢ $ 38E $46,68¢ $ 95t

A reconciliation of the Company'’s perpetual catestractivities for the years ended December 31320 2012 is presented below:

Year ended December 31, 20.

Fair Capital Realized Unrealized Fair
Value at Interest/ Gain Gain/ Change in Value at
12/31/201. Contributions  Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss Taxes Fees Fair Value 12/31/201%
(in thousands)
$282,31: 11,00( (13,176 15,69¢ — 4,72t (739 (2,230 14,17¢  $311,77;
Year ended December 31, 20.
Fair Capital Realized Unrealized Fair
Value at Interest/ Gain Gain/ Change in Value at
12/31/201; Contributions  Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss Taxes Fees Fair Value 12/31/201z
(in thousands)
$254,67! 12,53¢ (15,025 16,74( 12¢ 2,20¢ (659 (1,837 13,54¢ $282,31.

The Company made net withdrawals out of the trlispproximately $2.2 million and $2.5 million dugrthe years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. During the year eridiscember 31, 2013, purchases and sales of seswitéglable for sale included in trust
investments were approximately $114.6 million atd(8 million, respectively. During the year end®tember 31, 2012, purchases and
of securities available for sale included in tinstestments were approximately $299.9 million aB8%8 million, respectively. Contributions
include $5.9 million and $5.0 million of assetstthere acquired through acquisitions during theyeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets

Refer to Note 5 for a detailed discussion of thepaating rules related to other-than-temporarilp&ined assets and the Company’s
procedures for evaluating whether impairment tetsis other than temporary.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngratrermined that there were no other than tempamgpairments to the
investment portfolio in the perpetual care trusts.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynghetermined that there were 2 securities withggregate cost basis of
approximately $10.6 million and an aggregate falue of approximately $7.8 million, resulting in mmpairment of $2.8 million, wherein such
impairment was considered to be other-than-temposacordingly, the Company adjusted the cost bakthese assets to their current value
and offset this change against the liability forgetual care trusts corpus.
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7. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

The Company has recorded goodwill of approximasdl®.0 million and $42.4 million as of December 2213 and 2012, respectively.
This amount represents the excess of the purchicseqver the fair value of identifiable net assatquired in acquisitions. See Note 13 for
further details.

A rollforward of goodwill by reportable segmentais follows:

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeas Northeasl West Homes Total
(in thousands)
Balance as of January 1, 2C $573« $ — $11,94¢  $14,46: $32,14¢
Goodwill acquired from acquisitions during 2C 44( — — 9,807 10,247
Balance as of December 31, 2( 6,17¢ — 11,94¢ 24.,27( 42,39:
Goodwill acquired from acquisitions during 2C — — — 5,642 5,642
Balance as of December 31, 2( $6172 $ — $11,94¢ $29,91. $48,03¢

The Company evaluates the carrying value of goddiuiing the fourth quarter of each year or moegrently if events and
circumstances indicate that the asset may haveitmgeired. No impairment of the Company’s goodWvids been identified during the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Other Acquired Intangible Assets

The Company has other acquired intangible asseist ofi which have been recognized as a resultafiaitions and long-term operating
agreements. These amounts are included within egsats on the consolidated balance sheet. Alleoiitangible assets are subject to
amortization. The major classes of intangible asagt as follows:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201.
Net Net
Gross Carrying Accumulated Intangible Gross Carrying Accumulated Intangible
Amount Amortization Asset Amount Amortization Asset

(in thousands)
Amortized intangible asset

Underlying contract valu $ 6,23¢ $ (702) $ 5537 % 6,23¢ 3 (555) $ 5,68¢
Non-compete agreemer 7,95( (4,009 3,941 6,02: (2,557 3,47(
Other intangible asse 26¢ (98) 171 26¢ (82) 18¢
Total intangible asse $ 1445¢ $ (4,80) $ 9,658 $ 12,53 $ (3,189 $ 9,34

Underlying Contract Value of Long-Term Operating Agements

The Company entered into two long-term operatimgagents during 2009, wherein it became the exaugperator of cemetery
properties. These long-term operating agreemedtaati qualify for acquisition accounting. The fa@ue of the consideration paid and
liabilities assumed to enter into the operatingeagrents exceeded the fair value of assets acduwragproximately $6.2 million. This amount,
which represents the underlying contract values den recorded as an intangible asset and is hgingized on the straight-line basis over
the expected life of the contracts, which is 40rge@he amortization expense is included as a coeptoof depreciation and amortization in
consolidated statement of operations.

Non-Compete Agreements

In connection with certain acquisitions entered imt2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company entatechon-compete agreements
with the former owners of the acquired entitiese(Skote 13 for further details). The non-competeagrents were valued in purchase
accounting at a fair value of approximately $8.0iori. The fair value was determined by comparing tliscounted cash flows of the acquired
business with and without competition as of thedditacquisition. The non-compete agreements ang laenortized on the straight-line basis
over the life of the agreements, which is 4 to &rgeThe amortization expense is included as a ooerg of depreciation and amortization in
the consolidated statement of operations.
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At December 31, 2013, amortization expense relatétangible assets with definite lives is estietato be the following for each of the
next five years:

For the Year Ending Amortization
December 31 Expense
(in thousands’
2014 $ 1,51¢
2015 1,03¢
2016 967
2017 745
2018 $ 494

8. LONG-TERM DEBT
The Company had the following outstanding debt:

As of December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)
7.875% Senior Notes, due 20 $175,00( $ —
10.25% Senior Notes, due 20 — 150,00(
Revolving Credit Facility, due January 2C 114,00: 101,70(
Notes payabl- acquisition deb 1,571 1,46t
Notes payabl- acquisition no-compete: 3,94¢ 3,83(
Insurance and vehicle financii 1,52¢ 1,29¢
Total 296,04 258,29:
Less current portio 2,91¢ 2,17t
Less unamortized bond and note payable discc 4,11¢ 3,34¢
Long-term portion $289,01¢ $252,77-

7.875% Senior Notes due 2021
Purchase Agreemer

On May 16, 2013, the Company, Cornerstone Famityi€es of West Virginia Subsidiary, Inc., a whollywned subsidiary of the
Company (“Cornerstone Co.” and together with then@any, the “Issuers”), and certain subsidiary g (the “Guarantors”) entered into a
Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) Métrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporatedting on behalf of itself and as the
representative for the other initial purchasers egin the Purchase Agreement (collectively, th@&idhPurchasers”). Pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, the Issuers, as joint and several otsljgmreed to sell to the Initial Purchasers $1#dlllon aggregate principal amount of
7.875% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “Senior Notegith an original issue discount of approximately&8illion, in a private placement
exempt from the registration requirements undeSbeurities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Secsritiet”), for resale by the Initial
Purchasers (i) to qualified institutional buyersguant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act Qrdfiitside the United States to non-U.S.
persons in compliance with Regulation S under #euties Act (the “Notes Offering”). The Notes éxfing closed on May 28, 2013.

The Purchase Agreement contains customary repetgrTd and warranties of the parties and indenatifio and contribution provisions
under which the Issuers and the Guarantors, orhand, and the Initial Purchasers, on the othere lagveed to indemnify each other against
certain liabilities, including liabilities underetSecurities Act.

The net proceeds from the Notes Offering were tisedtire a $150.0 million aggregate principal amioaf 10.25% Senior Notes due
2017 (the “Prior Senior Notes”), as described belamd the remaining proceeds were used for generpbrate purposes. The Senior Notes
were issued at 97.832% of par resulting in grossgeds of $171.2 million with an original issuecdisnt of
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approximately $3.8 million. The Company incurreddissuance costs and fees of approximately $4l®miThese costs and fees are defe
and will be amortized over the life of these no@se Senior Notes are valued using Level 2 inpsitdedined by the Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures topic of the ASC in Note 15. Basetrades made on December 31, 2013, the Compangshianated the fair value of its
Senior Notes to be in excess of par and tradirgpaemium of 4.19%, which would imply a fair valoe$182.3 million, at December 31, 20:

Indenture
On May 28, 2013, the Issuers, the Guarantors, aifrdigton Trust, National Association, as succesamstee by merger to Wilmington
Trust FSB (the “Trustee”), entered into an indeaffthe “Indenture”) governing the Senior Notes.

The Issuers pay 7.875% interest per annum on theipal amount of the Senior Notes, payable in cashiannually in arrears on Juni
and December 1 of each year, commencing on Decemi2ér13. The Senior Notes mature on June 1, 2021.
The Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligatibtieedssuers that:
» rank equally in right of payment with all existiagd future senior debt of the Issue
e rank senior in right of payment to all existing datlire senior subordinated and subordinated detbteolssuers

» are effectively subordinated in right of payrmtnexisting and future secured debt of the Issuerthe extent of the value of the
assets securing such debt;

» are structurally subordinated to all of theséirig and future liabilities of each subsidiantiod Issuers that does not guarantee the
Senior Notes

The Issuers’ obligations under the Senior Notesthadndenture are jointly and severally guaranigieel “Note Guarantees”) by each
subsidiary of the Company other than Cornerstonet@at the Company has caused or will cause torhe@ Guarantor pursuant to the terms
of the Indenture (each, a “Restricted Subsidiary”).

At any time on or after June 1, 2016, the Issusrtheir option, may redeem the Senior Notes, inlevlor in part, at the redemption prit
(expressed as percentages of the principal ameentprth below, together with accrued and unpaterest, if any, to the redemption date, if
redeemed during the 12-month period beginning Jusiethe years indicated:

Year Percentage
2016 105.906%
2017 103.938%
2018 101.969%
2019 and thereaft 100.000%

At any time prior to June 1, 2016, the Issuers naypne or more occasions, redeem all or any podidhe Senior Notes, upon not less
than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, at a redempirice equal to 100% of the principal amounthaf Senior Notes redeemed, plus the
Applicable Premium (as defined in the Indenturedpfathe redemption date, including accrued and ighiséerest to the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to June 1, 2016, Idsiers, at their option, may redeem up to 35%h@fggregate principal amount of the
Senior Notes issued under the Indenture with theash proceeds of certain equity offerings ofGloenpany described in the Indenture at a
redemption price equal to 107.875% of the princgrabunt of the Senior Notes to be redeemed, plirsiad and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date provided, however, that (i) attlé&86 of the aggregate principal amount of the &eNbtes issued under the Indenture rer
outstanding immediately after the occurrence ohsedemption and (ii) the redemption occurs with®® days of the closing date of such
offering.

Subject to certain exceptions, upon the occurrefeeChange of Control (as defined in the Indentwgach holder of the Senior Notes
will have the right to require the Issuers to passthat holder's Senior Notes for a cash pricalequl01% of the principal amounts to be
purchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest tdatesof purchase.

The Indenture requires the Issuers and/or the Gtarsa as applicable, to comply with various covesancluding, but not limited to,
covenants that, subject to certain exceptionst linei Company’s and its Restricted Subsidiariegitgto (i) incur
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additional indebtedness; (ii) make certain dividgrdistributions, redemptions or investments; @iier into certain transactions with affiliates;
(iv) create, incur, assume or permit to exist éerians against their assets; (v) make certaiessaf their assets; and (vi) engage in certain
mergers, consolidations or sales of all or subistyall of their assets. The Indenture also corgaarious affirmative covenants regarding,
among other things, delivery of certain reportsdilvith the SEC and materials required pursuaRtie 144A under the Securities Act to
holders of the Senior Notes and joinder of futuresidiaries as Guarantors under the Indenture f Bsoember 31, 2013, the Company was ir
compliance with all applicable covenants underititkenture.

Events of default under the Indenture that coulBjexct to certain conditions, cause all amountsigwinder the Senior Notes to become
immediately due and payable include, but are maitéid to, the following:

failure by the Issuers to pay interest on afthe Senior Notes when it becomes due and therzanrice of any such failure for 30
days;

failure by the Issuers to pay the principalamy of the Senior Notes when it becomes due andigp@aywhether at stated maturity,
upon redemption, upon purchase, upon acceleratiotherwise

the Issuers’ failure to comply with the agre@seand covenants relating to limitations on entemto certain mergers,
consolidations or sales of all or substantiallyohftheir assets or in respect of their obligatitmpurchase the Senior Notes in
connection with a Change of Contr

failure by the Issuers to comply with any othgreement or covenant in the Indenture and theéne@mce of this failure for 60 days
after notice of the failure has been given to thenfany by the Trustee or holders of at least 25%hefaggregate principal amount
of the Senior Notes then outstandi

failure by the Company to comply with its coaanto deliver certain reports and the continuafcich failure to comply for a
period of 120 days after written notice thereof hasn given to the Company by the Trustee or byhtheers of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes thestanding

certain defaults under mortgages, indenturesttoar instruments or agreements under which timengbe issued or by which there
may be secured or evidenced indebtedness of theo&wonor any Restricted Subsidiary, whether sucbbtetiness now exists or is
incurred after the date of the Indentt

certain judgments or orders that exceed $1@l®min the aggregate for the payment of moneyehbeen entered by a court of
competent jurisdiction against the Company or aagtiRcted Subsidiary and such judgments have rast batisfied, stayed,
annulled or rescinded within 60 days of being ead¢

certain events of bankruptcy of the Compangn&Mor GP LLC, the general partner of the Compding (General Partner"pr any
Significant Subsidiary (as defined in the Indenfuoe

other than in accordance with the terms ofMb&e Guarantee and the Indenture, the Note Guarafteny Significant Subsidiary
ceasing to be in full force and effect, being desdenull and void and unenforceable, found to lvalid or any Guarantor denying
its liability under its Note Guarante

10.25% Senior Notes due 2017

Prior to their retirement in the second quarte2@f3, the Company had outstanding a $150.0 miliiggregate principal amount of Prior
Senior Notes, with an original issue discount giragimately $4.0 million. The Company paid 10.25%terest per annum on the principal
amount of the Prior Senior Notes, payable in cashiannually in arrears on June 1 and Decemberehdf year. The Prior Senior Notes were
due to mature on December 1, 2017. In the secoadeaqwf 2013, the Company retired the notes usiagroceeds from the Senior Notes
offering described above.

On May 13, 2013, StoneMor Operating LLC (the “Op@g@Company”), Cornerstone Co. and Osiris Holdifidg/laryland Subsidiary,
Inc. (“Osiris Co.”, and together with the Operati@gmpany and Cornerstone Co., the “Prior Senioebltgsuers”), each of which is a
subsidiary of the Company, commenced (i) cash teoffler to purchase any and all of their outstagdi50.0 million aggregate principal
amount of the Prior Senior Notes and (ii) consefititation to obtain consents to amendments tdrtidenture dated as of November 24, 2009
as amended (the “2009 Indenture”), governing therBenior Notes. Upon the expiration of the conseticitation on May 24, 2013, the Prior
Senior Notes Issuers received tenders and confsentghe holders of approximately $132.2 millionaiggregate principal amount, or
approximately 88.1%, of the outstanding Prior SeNiotes.
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In connection with the expiration of the conseric#iation, on May 24, 2013, Prior Senior Notesukss, the Company, the Guarantors
named in the 2009 Indenture and the Trustee, ehiete the Seventh Supplemental Indenture to ti¥®20denture. The Seventh Suppleme
Indenture amended the 2009 Indenture to shortémée business days the minimum notice period itional redemptions and eliminated
substantially all of the restrictive covenants aedain events of default contained in the 200®ihtdre.

On June 14, 2013, the remaining Prior Senior Net® redeemed, pursuant to redemption provision®gh in the 2009 Indenture, at a
price of 100% of the principal amount of the Pi&&mior Notes, plus the Applicable Premium (as @efim the 2009 Indenture) equal to
9.554%, together with accrued and unpaid intemediut not including, June 14, 2013. The 2009 Ihgienwas satisfied and discharged in
accordance with its terms, effective June 14, 2013.

The Company paid $14.9 million to retire the PSanior Notes inclusive of the tender premium armtwed interest from the date of
repurchase through December 1, 2013, the firstmgtien date for the Prior Senior Notes. In addititre Company incurred expenses of $6.7
million related to the refinancing event inclusife$2.6 million of unamortized original issue disod and $4.1 million of unamortized
capitalized debt issue costs related to the Peoid3 Notes.

Credit Facility

On August 15, 2007, the Company, the General Pattme Operating Company and various subsidiaffi¢lseoOperating Company
(collectively, the “Borrowers”) entered into an Amded and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Originat® Agreement”) with Bank of
America, N.A. (“Bank of America”), other lenders)daBAS (collectively, the “Lenders”). The Origin@redit Agreement provided for both an
acquisition credit facility (the “Acquisition Credracility”) and a revolving credit facility (theR'evolving Credit Facility”). Capitalized terms
which are not defined in the following descriptigimall have the same meaning assigned to such terms Original Credit Agreement, as
amended.

The Original Credit Agreement initially providedath (1) the Acquisition Credit Facility would hasemaximum principal amount of
$40.0 million (with an option to increase such liacby an additional $15.0 million on an uncomnadtbasis) and the term of 5 years, and
(2) the Revolving Credit Facility would have a maxim principal amount of $25.0 million (with an aptito increase such facility by up to
$10.0 million on an uncommitted basis) and a teffd years. Amounts borrowed under the Acquisitioedt Facility and repaid or prepaid
could not be reborrowed and amounts borrowed utgeRevolving Credit Facility and repaid or prepdiding the term could be reborrowed.
In addition, Bank of America agreed to providette Borrowers swing line loans (“Swing Line Loang/ith a maximum limit of $5.0 million,
which was a part of the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Original Credit Agreement was amended eighesiprior to April 29, 2011, to, among other thin@siend borrowing levels, interest
rates and covenants.

On April 29, 2011, the Company entered into theoBdcAmended and Restated Credit Agreement (theis$@d\Credit Agreement”)
among the Operating Company as the Borrower, ebttesubsidiaries of the Operating Company astiaxdil Borrowers, the General Part
and the Company as Guarantors, the Lenders idmhtifierein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Admirastre Agent, Swing Line Lender and
L/C Issuer. The terms of the Revised Credit Agregmeere substantially the same as the terms obtiginal Credit Agreement. The primary
purpose of entering into the Revised Credit Agragnaas to consolidate the amendments to the Oti@iredit Agreement and to update
outdated references. The Revised Credit Agreenrentded for an Acquisition Credit Facility of $65ndillion and a Revolving Credit Facility
of $55.0 million. The Revised Credit Agreement iiasher amended two times prior to January 19, 2012

On January 19, 2012, the Company entered into tirel Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (thedi€Agreement”). The terms
of the Credit Agreement and the Revised Credit Agrent are substantially similar. The current teofrthe Credit Agreement are set forth
below. Capitalized terms which are not definechim following description shall have the meaninggrssd to such terms in the Credit
Agreement. The Credit Agreement consolidated thguisition Credit Facility and the Revolving CreB#cility into a single Revolving Credit
Facility (the “Credit Facility”) with a borrowingrit of $130.0 million. The maturity date of theegiit Facility is January 19, 2017.

On February 19, 2013, the Company entered int&-its®¢ Amendment to the Credit Agreement, which éased the total availability
under the Credit Facility by $10.0 million to $1@0nillion.

On May 8, 2013, the Company entered into the Seéonedndment to the Credit Agreement, which allowesl Company to incur
additional indebtedness to be evidenced by theoBétites, to enter into the Indenture governing3baior Notes and to use the proceeds of
the Notes offering, in part, to fund the tendeeofind consent solicitation with respect to theP8ienior Notes.
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On June 18, 2013, the Company entered into thel Arimendment to the Credit Agreement. The Third Adreant amended certain
financial covenants under the Credit Agreemenbls\fs:

0] for any most recently completed four fiscal gees, Consolidated EBITDA shall not be less tHangum of $57,822,000
plus 80% of the aggregate of all Consolidated EBATIDr each Permitted Acquisition completed afterrtda31, 2013; an

(i)  for the periods set forth below, Maximum Colidated Leverage Ratio shall not be greater thaseagorth below, subject to
the Borrowers’ option to temporarily increase tten€olidated Leverage Ratio in connection with anBicant Permitted
Acquisition Transaction as described bels

Measurement Period Endin¢ Maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratir
June 30, 2013 through December 31, 2 4.000to 1.
March 31, 201« 3.8751t0 1.(
June 30, 2014 and thereat 3.750t0 1.(

The Third Amendment also increased the rangeseoffiplicable Rates to 3.00%, 4.00%, and .800% fseBRate loans, Eurodollar R
Loans and Letter of Credit Fees, and Commitmens Fespectively, when the Consolidated LeverageoRagreater than or equal to 3.75 to
1.0.

The Third Amendment also increased the amount gfeaiite consideration that the Company may pag feermitted Acquisition after
March 31, 2014, without Required Lender approva$10.0 million on an individual basis and $50.0lion when aggregated with the total
Aggregate Consideration paid by or on behalf ofGleenpany for all other Permitted Acquisitions whadbsed within the immediately
preceding 365 days.

In addition, the Third Amendment added a definethteor Significant Permitted Acquisition Transactito describe a Permitted
Acquisition in which the Aggregate Consideratiomeads $35.0 million when aggregated with the tatgregate Consideration for all other
Permitted Acquisitions which closed within the indraely preceding 180 days. In the case of a Sanf Permitted Acquisition Transaction,
the Third Amendment permits the Borrowers, subjeatertain limitations, to temporarily increase hensolidated Leverage Ratio to 4.00 to
1.0 for one or more the four immediately succeedimgenant measurement periods. Also, the Third Atrremt included certain conforming
changes to reflect the issuance of the Senior Notes

At December 31, 2013, amounts outstanding undeCtbdit Facility bore interest at rates betweefd#ahd 4.3%. Amounts borrowed
may be either Base Rate Loans or Eurodollar Ragm&@and amounts repaid or prepaid during the teambe reborrowed. Depending on the
type of loan, borrowings bear interest at the BRate or Eurodollar Rate, plus applicable margingjireg from 1.25% to 3.00% and 2.25% to
4.00%, respectively, depending on the Company’ssGlitteted Leverage Ratio. The Base Rate is theekigtf the Prime Rate, the Federal
Funds Rate plus 0.50%, or the Eurodollar Rate plo%. The Eurodollar rate is the British Bankersd@ation LIBOR Rate. Amounts
outstanding under the Credit Facility approximategirt fair value.

The Credit Agreement contains restrictive coventtra among other things, prohibit distributioqen defined events of default, rest
investments and sales of assets and require th@&ugnio maintain certain financial covenants, idelg specified financial ratios. Financial
covenants include a certain measure of ConsolidaBi@DA, and a Consolidated Leverage Ratio, asnilesd above. In addition, the
Consolidated Debt Service Coverage Ratio, whickaoeul the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratiovhose calculation does not
include distributions made by the Company, mustgoless than 2.5 to 1.0 for any Measurement Pefiadher, the Company will not be
permitted to have Maintenance Capital Expendituaesiefined in the Credit Agreement, for any Measient Period ending in 2012, 2013,
and 2014 and thereafter exceeding $6.7 million3 $7llion and $8.0 million, respectively. A matdr@ecrease in revenues could cause the
Company to breach certain of its financial covesaAny such breach could allow the Lenders to &catt the Company’s debt (and cause
cross-default) which would have a material adveffect on the Company’s business, financial coaditir results of operations.

As of December 31, 2013, there were $114.0 miliiboutstanding borrowings under the Credit Facilithe carrying amount of the debt
approximates its fair value. At December 31, 2Qt8,Consolidated Leverage Ratio and the Consotidaeht Service Coverage Ratio was
3.88 and 3.33, respectively. As of December 3132€@f Company was in compliance with all appliediancial covenants.

The Borrowers under the Credit Agreement paid fed3ank of America, as Administrative Agent, and®Aas Arranger. In addition, t
Credit Agreement requires the Company to pay aseshCommitment Fee, which is calculated based @aitiount by which the
commitments under the Credit Agreement exceedshgeaiof such commitments. The Commitment Fee Ratges from 0.375% to 0.800%
depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leveradie Ra
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The proceeds of the Credit Facility may be usethbyBorrowers to finance working capital requiretse®ermitted Acquisitions, and t
purchase and construction of mausoleums. The Benswbligations under the Credit Agreement aregnized by both the Company and the
General Partner.

The Borrowers’ obligations under the Credit Fagiite secured by a first priority lien and securitigrest in substantially all of the
Borrowers’ assets, whether then owned or thereaftguired, excluding: (i) trust accounts, certaincpeds required by law to be placed into
such trust accounts and funds held in trust acsod(iitthe General Partner’s interest in the Conypahe incentive distribution rights under the
Company’s partnership agreement and the deposiuats of the General Partner into which distribogiare received; (iii) Equipment subject
to a purchase money security interest or equipte@se permitted under the Credit Agreement anicesther contract rights under which
contractual, legal or other restrictions on assigninwould prohibit the creation of a security ietgror such creation of a security interest
would result in a default thereunder.

Events of Default under the Credit Agreement ineluaut are not limited to, the following:
* nor-payment of any principal, interest or other amoutus under the Credit Agreement or any other Ci2dd@ument

» failure to observe or perform any covenantatesl to: (i) the delivery of financial statememtsmpliance certificates, reports and
other information; (ii) providing prompt notice Biefaults and other events; (iii) the preservatibthe legal existence and good
standing of each Borrower and Guarantor; (iv) thiéitg of the Administrative Agent and each Lendewisit and inspect propertit
examine books and records, and discuss financibbasiness affairs with directors, officers andeipeindent public accountants of
each Borrower and Guarantor; (V) restrictions anube of proceeds; (vi) guarantees by new Subwdjgwii) the maintenance of
corporate formalities for each Borrower and Guagr(viii) the maintenance of Trust Accounts andisirFunds; and (ix) any of tl
negative covenants contained in the Credit Agre¢n

» failure to observe or perform any other covenimncured 30 days after notice thereof is pded by the Administrative Agent or
Lenders;

» any default under any other Indebtedness of thedBars or Guarantor.
* any insolvency proceedings by a Borrower or Guara

» the insolvency of any Borrower or Guarantoraavrit of attachment or execution or similar pregéssuing or being levied against
any material part of the property of a BorroweGararantor; an

e any Change in Contrc

The Company routinely incurs debt financing cosis fees when borrowing under, or making amendmterttse Credit Facility. These
costs and fees are deferred and are amortizediwwéife of the Credit Facility.

Notes Payable Acquisitions

In July of 2009, certain of the Compasysubsidiaries entered into a $1.4 million notechase agreement in connection with an oper:
agreement in which the Company became the exclagigeator of Green Lawn Cemetery (the “Green LawieN. The Green Lawn Note
bears interest at a rate of 6.5% per year on unpaidipal and is payable monthly, beginning on Astgl, 2009. Principal on the note is due ir
96 equal installments beginning on July 1, 2011DAtember 31, 2013 and 2012, the liability reldtethe installment note was stated on the
Company'’s consolidated balance sheet at approxiyn®te0 million and $1.2 million, respectively.

In June of 2010, certain of the Company'’s subsieaissued two installment notes in connection Withsecond quarter acquisition (the
“Nelms Notes”). The Nelms Notes are being paid @vdryear period and mature April 1, 2014. Thedilhstent notes do not have a stated rate
of interest. The Company has recorded the instalimetes at their fair market value of approximat2.6 million. The face amounts of the
Nelms Notes were discounted approximately $0.7ionilland the discount is being amortized to inteegpense over the life of the installm:
notes. The notes bear 10.25% interest per annuttmegportion of the outstanding balance after theunits date or while there exists any
uncured event of default or the exercise by leld@ny remedies following the occurrence and dutigcontinuance of any event of default.
In addition, if the Company voluntarily files foabkruptcy or is involved in an involuntary bankmypproceeding, the entire principal balance
of the installment notes automatically becomesahgpayable. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, théityarelated to the Nelms Notes was
stated on the Company’s consolidated balance shhegproximately $0.1 million and $0.3 million, pestively.
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In February 2013, certain of the Company’s subsisassued an unsecured promissory note in tineipal amount of $3.0 million in
connection with the first quarter acquisition dissed in Note 13. The promissory note bears intatestate of 5% and any unpaid balance is
due 12 months from closing. At December 31, 208 itbility related to this promissory note waatetl on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet at approximately $0.5 million.

The carrying amounts of the notes payable appraeiteir fair value.

Acquisition Non-Compete Notes

In connection with several of the Company’s 20XB,2 2011 and 2010 acquisitions, certain of the @amg’s subsidiaries issued
installment notes in consideration for non-com@afreements executed with the former owners of theiged entities. The installment notes
have varying payment terms and mature between Ap#D14 and February 19, 2019. The installmergsidb not have a stated rate of inte
At inception, the Company recorded the installnresies at their fair market value of approximatey7smillion. The face amounts of the
installment notes were discounted approximatel $illion, and the discount is being amortizedrterest expense over the life of the
installment notes. At December 31, 2013 and 201e2jiability related to the installment notes, oktliscounts, was stated on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet at approximately $3lfomand $3.3 million, respectively. The carryiagounts of the installment notes
approximate their fair value.

9. INCOME TAXES

Effective with the closing of the Partnership’stiali public offering on September 20, 2004 (seeeNDt the Company was no longer a
taxable entity for federal and state income tayppses; rather, the Partnership’s tax attributesggtxthose of its corporate subsidiaries, are to
be included in the individual tax returns of itstpars.

The tax on the Company’s net income is borne bgetgeral and limited partners. Net income for feiahstatement purposes may differ
significantly from the taxable income of such partas a result of differences between the taxslzaml financial reporting basis of assets and
liabilities and the taxable income allocation regments under the partnership agreement. The aagrdiference in the basis of the
Company’s net assets for financial and tax repgnarposes cannot be readily determined becauseriafion regarding each partner’s tax
attributes is not available to the Company.

The Partnership’s corporate subsidiaries accourth&ir income taxes under the asset and liabitigthod. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax cansences attributable to differences between ttantiial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebasd operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurid) @hacted tax rates expected to apply to taxiabteme in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recowaredttled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdilies of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includesdghactment date.

The tax returns of the Partnership are subjeckaonénation by state and federal tax authoritiesulfh examinations result in changes to
taxable income, the tax liability of the partneosilcl be changed accordingly.
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Components of the income tax expense (benefitiegigée to continuing operations for federal, stid foreign taxes are as follows:

Current provision
State
Federa
Foreign
Total
Deferred provision
State
Federa
Total
Total income tax expense (bene

Years ended December 3.
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

$ 685 $ 6l $ (539

— (8) 6
(125) — —

56( 60¢€ (532)
292 (196) (169)

(3,156) (2,207) (3,324
(2,86¢) (2,399) (3,48Y)
$(2,30)  $(1,790  $(4,019

The difference between the statutory federal inctareand the Company’s effective income tax is samiwed as follows:

Computed tax provision (benefit) at the applicatbtutory tax rat
State and local taxes net of federal income taetite
Tax exempt (income) los
Change in valuation allowan:
Partnership earnings not subject to
Permanent difference
Other

Income tax expense (bene!

Deferred tax assets and liabilities result fromftiiwing:

Deferred tax asset

Prepaid expenst

State net operating lo
Federal net operating lo
Alternative minimum tax cred
Unrealized losses (gain
Valuation allowanct

Total deferred tax asse

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipme

Deferred revenue related to future revenues anouacs receivabl

Deferred revenue related to cemetery prop
Total deferred tax liabilitie
Net deferred tax liabilitie
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Years ended December 3!
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

$(7,46¢) $(1,68)) $(4,806)

464 40¢ (350)
1,547 697 30C
9,20z 3,857 3,93(

(2,540) (5,08¢) (3,19
(3,337) 25 99
(16¢) — —
$(2,30)  $(1,790  $(4,019

As of December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands)

$ 4,45; $ 3,62¢
11,48: 9,97¢
68,00¢ 57,26¢
77 73
(4,39¢) (240)
(43,02) (36,489
36,59 34,21¢
5,56¢ 5,90¢
34,10( 33,52t
9,29t 9,31¢
48,96( 48,74
$ 12,36 $ 14,52
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At December 31, 2013, the Company had availablecapately less than $0.2 million of alternativenimium tax credit carryforwards,
which are available indefinitely, and $194.3 mifliof federal net operating loss carryforwards, \Wwhigll begin to expire in 2019 and $238.2
million in state net operating losses, a portiomvbfch expires annually.

Management periodically evaluates all evidenceh Ipositive and negative, in determining whethealaation allowance to reduce the
carrying value of deferred tax assets is requie@013, the Company concluded, based on the pegjetdlocations of taxable income, that a
deferred tax asset of less than $0.1 million wilirenlikely than not be realized on several subsihaIn addition, several separate taxable
subsidiaries were in a deferred tax liability positat December 31, 2013 and recognized thosditiabi The vast majority of the taxable
subsidiaries continue to accumulate deferred tagtaghat will not more likely than not be realizé&dull valuation allowance continues to be
maintained on these taxable subsidiaries. Ultimeadization of the deferred tax assets is depengsomn, among other factors, the Partnership
corporate subsidiaries’ ability to generate suéiintitaxable income within the carryforward periadsl is subject to change depending on the
tax laws in effect in the years in which the caoryfards are used.

The Company follows the provisions of ASC Topic {48SC 740") which requires that the Company redaga the financial statement
benefit of a tax position only after determiningttthe relevant tax authority would more likelyrihzot sustain the position following an audit.
For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-thoeshold, the amount recognized in the finandatkesents is the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realiapon ultimate settlement with the relevant tatharity. During the year ended December
2011, the Company recorded an income tax benefi0o million reversing an unrecognized tax berrefiited to uncertain tax positions as the
statute of limitations for this item expired. As@&écember 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company doesanetdny unrecognized tax benefits rel
to uncertain tax positions.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject téed&ral income tax as well as income taxes of lelttate jurisdictions. The
Company’s effective tax rate fluctuates over tiasdd on income tax rates in the various tax juisis in which the Company operates and
based on the level of earnings in those jurisdistio

The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) audited thenpany’s federal income tax return for the year endecember 31, 2010. The scope
of this audit included an audit of the Company’slifying income. In order to be treated as a pasdthig for federal income tax purposes, at
least 90% of the Company’s gross income must béfgng income. The IRS concluded its audit andified the Company on April 11,

2013 that it was not proposing any adjustmentlea¢turn as filed.

If the Company were treated as a corporation fderfal income tax purposes for any taxable yeawfdch the statute of limitations
remains open or for any future taxable year, then@any would pay federal income tax on its taxabt®me for such year(s) at the corporate
tax rate, which is currently a maximum of 35%, aralld likely pay state income tax at varying ra@wstributions would generally be taxed
again as corporate distributions, and no incommsg#osses or deductions would flow through tc¢hwiders. Because a tax would be imposec
upon the Company as a corporation, including tax#srespect to prior periods, the Company'’s castilable for distribution would be
substantially reduced.

In connection with each public offering of the Caang’s common units, including its initial publicfefing of common units, outside
counsel reviewed the various categories of the Gmyig gross income and opined that it would besifigsl as a partnership for federal
income tax purposes. Although no assurance caivba,ghe Company does not anticipate any changs status as a partnership for federal
income tax purposes or any change in prior peaadtile income.

The Company is not currently under examination toy f@deral or state jurisdictions. The federaluggabf limitations and certain state
statutes of limitations are opened from 2010 fodvdtanagement believes that the accrual for tdbiliiges is adequate for all open years. This
assessment relies on estimates and assumptiomsagnishvolve a series of complex judgments aboutrfuevents. On the basis of present
information, it is the opinion of the Company’s nagement that there are no pending assessmentgillhasult in a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements ovemntxt twelve months.

The Company recognizes any interest accrued relatedrecognized tax benefits in interest expemsiepeenalties in operating expenses
for all periods presented. The Company has notdecbany material interest or penalties during @frtyhe years presented.

The net change in the valuation allowance for 2048 an increase of $6.5 million. This change invidleation allowance is the result of
the change in unrealized gains and losses of timep@oy’s investment portfolio, which is recordedhintdeferred revenues, net; the results of
acquisition accounting; net operating losses thahaore likely than not to be realized and net afieg losses that do not meet the more likely
than not standard.
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10. DEFERRED CEMETERY REVENUES—NET / DEFERRED SELLING AND OBTAINING COSTS

In accordance with SAB No. 104, the Company ddfeegevenues and all direct costs associated wlsale of pre-need cemetery
merchandise and services until the merchandiseligeded or the services are performed. The Compést defers the costs to obtain new pre
need cemetery and new prearranged funeral busasessll as the investment earnings on the preagrhagrvices and merchandise trusts (se
Note 1).

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, deferred cemetepnies, net, consisted of the following:

As of December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Deferred cemetery reven $403,25( $346,62:
Deferred merchandise trust rever 88,73( 65,72¢
Deferred merchandise trust unrealized gains (19: 10,99¢ 60C
Deferred pr-acquisition margit 132,86t 132,22:
Deferred cost of goods sc (54,257 (47,309
Deferred cemetery revenues, $581,58! $497,86.
Deferred selling and obtaining co: $ 87,99¢ $ 76,315

Deferred selling and obtaining costs are carriednagsset on the consolidated balance sheet indac® with the Financial Services —
Insurance topic of the ASC.

11. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE AND RETIREMENT PLANS
Long Term Incentive Plan
Overview

On November 8, 2006, the General Partner’s boadire€tors adopted the StoneMor Partners L.P. Lbeign Incentive Plan, as
amended, (“LTIP") for its employees, consultantd directors, who perform services for the Compdre LTIP permits the grant of awards
covering an aggregate of 1,124,000 common unitiserform of unit options, unit appreciation rigktsd ARs”), restricted units and phantom
units. The compensation committee of the Compa@gseral Partner’'s board of directors administeesplan. The plan will continue in effect
until the earliest of (i) the date determined by @eneral Partner’'s board of directors; (ii) theedhat common units are no longer available fo
payment of awards under the plan; or (iii) the hegminiversary of the plan.

The General Partnerboard of directors or compensation committee nmatheir discretion, terminate, suspend or disicwg the LTIP &
any time with respect to any units for which a gtaas not yet been made. The General Partner'sllodalirectors also has the right to alter or
amend the LTIP or any part of the plan from timéime, including increasing the number of units tmay be delivered in accordance with
awards under the plan, subject to any approvaegjifiired by the exchange upon which the commors amé listed at that time. No change in
any outstanding grant may be made, however, thatdvoaterially impair the rights of the participamthout the consent of the participant.

Awards Made Under the LTIF
Phantom Unit Awards

On November 8, 2006, the General Partner, actingetsalf of the Company, entered into a DirectortiReted Phantom Unit Agreement
(the “Director Agreement”) with certain of its oide directors (the “Directors”). Under the termsloé Director Agreement, each of five
directors was awarded 3,000 Restricted Phantorrs{iidirector Phantom Units”). Director Phantom Unlitecome payable, in cash or
common units, at the Company’s election, upon gpagation of the Director from service as a direotaupon the occurrence of certain other
events specified in the Director Agreement. Eaate®or Phantom Unit contains a distribution equéwnékright which entitles each Director to
additional Director Phantom Units upon each distiitn made to common unit holders. The calculatibadditional Director Phantom Units
granted upon each distribution to common unit hade equal to a
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Directors total cumulative Director Phantom Unit$hee time of a distribution multiplied by the parit monetary distribution divided by the
fair value of a common unit at the time of the dlisttion. Each Director also receives a portiotthafir annual retainer in deferred restricted
phantom units.

On December 16, 2009, the General Partner, actifzggbalf of the Company, entered into an ExecuRigstricted Phantom Unit
Agreement (the “Executive Agreement”) with certafrthe Company’s executives (the “Executives”). Enthe terms of the Executive
Agreement, 20,000 Restricted Phantom Units (“ExgeuPhantom Units”) were issued. These units wested upon issuance.

On November 7, 2012, the General Partner, actingetialf of the Company, entered into an Executigsticted Phantom Unit
Agreement (the “2012 Executive Agreement”) withexecutive of the Company (the “Executive”). Under terms of the 2012 Executive
Agreement, the Executive was awarded 45,000 Re=drehantom Units (“Executive Phantom Units”) thast over 3 years as follows: 15,000
Phantom Units vest one year after the Grant D&®0D Phantom Units vest two years after the Gbaté, and 15,000 Phantom Units vest
three years after the Grant Date.

Executive Phantom Units become payable, in casiommon units, at the Company’s election, upon épagation of the Executive from
service as an executive or upon the occurrencertdio other events specified in the Executive Agrent. The exercise of Executive Phanton
Units may be subject to approval by the Comparnigigdd partners as required by the NYSE listingsulEach Executive Phantom Unit
contains a distribution equivalent right which das each Executive to additional Executive Phantbrits upon each distribution made to
common unit holders. The calculation of additioBakcutive Phantom Units granted upon each distdhub common unit holders is equal to
an Executives total cumulative Executive Phantoritd it the time of a distribution multiplied by tper unit monetary distribution divided by
the fair value of a common unit at the time of digribution.

The table below reflects the LTIP Phantom Unit Advactivity for the years ended December 31, 200322and 2011, respectively:

Years ended December 3!

2013 2012 2011
Outstanding, beginning of period 143,21: 84,377  73,73¢
Granted (1, 18,89( 58,83t  10,64:
Matured — — —
Forfeited — — —
Outstanding, end of peric 162,10: 143,21 84,37
Director Phantom Units (- 98,19: 71,767  60,39¢
Executive Phantom Units (: 63,90¢ 71,44¢ 23,98

(1) The weighted-average price for unit awardshendate of grant was $25.29, $23.84 and $27.7&éyears ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respective

(2) The phantom units of one of the Executives thtted from the Company and simultaneously edtér a two year consulting
agreement where the Executive also agreed to bettardice Chairman of the Company’s Board of Dioestare presented as Director
Phanthom Units in 2013, whereas they were prewgussented as Executive Phanthom Units. This iddal owned approximately
14,514 and 13,223 of the Phantom Units outstanaigecember 31, 2013 and 2012, respecti

There was approximately $0.7 million and $1.0 miilof unrecognized compensation cost related taitits issued in the 2012
Executive Agreement as of December 31, 2013 an@,2@%pectively. Total compensation expense fonfgm unit awards was approximat
$0.8 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million for theears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201 Eatasgy.

There were no modifications made to any existing awards in 2013. No unit awards were capitalidadng the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Unit Appreciation Rights Awards

On November 27, 2006, the General Partner, actingebalf of the Company, entered into a Key Empddyait Appreciation Rights
Agreement (the “2006 UAR Agreement”) with certafrtlte Company’s key employees (the “2006 Key Emeés). Under the terms of the
2006 UAR Agreement, 2006 Key Employees received Bppreciation Rights (“UARs”) wherein 2006 Key Elopees became entitled to
compensation in the form of units in an amount étuthe fair value of the Company’s common unjim exercise less $24.14 per unit
multiplied by the total number of UARs exercisedhitd to be issued should be equal to this amowndeli by the fair value of common units
upon exercise. A total of 120,000 UARs were granteder the 2006 UAR Agreement, all of which hadegst December 31, 2009 and were
exercised by December 31, 2011.
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On December 16, 2009, the General Partner, actirigebalf of the Company, entered into a Key Emptayait Appreciation Rights
Agreement (the “2009 UAR Agreement”) with certafrttte Company’s key employees (the “2009 Key Empé&s) and non-employee
directors. Under the terms of the 2009 UAR Agreem2009 Key Employees and non-employee directarsived UARs and became entitled
to compensation in the form of units, in an amaqual to the fair value of the Company’s commornsunpon exercise less $18.80 per unit
multiplied by the total number of UARs exerciseahitd to be issued should be equal to this amowidelil by the fair value of common units
upon exercise.

UARs granted under the 2009 UAR Agreement vestpreentage rate which is equal to a fraction timerator of which is the number
of calendar months which have elapsed since Deceh)@009 and the denominator of which is 48, ecthio forfeiture upon certain
conditions set forth in the UAR Agreement. The eig& of such UARs may be subject to approval byGbmpany’s limited partners as
required by the NYSE listing rules. A total of 8040 UARs were granted under the 2009 UAR Agreerardt565,716 of these units remait
outstanding at December 31, 2013.

In the second quarter of 2012, the General Paraeting on behalf of the Company, entered into g Keployee Unit Appreciation
Rights Agreements (the “2012 UAR Agreements”) vaiéiitain of the Company’s key employees (the “20&% Employees). Under the terms
of the 2012 UAR Agreements, 2012 Key EmployeesivedeUARs wherein 2012 Key Employees became edttdecompensation in the form
of units in an amount equal to the fair value & @ompany’s common units upon exercise less $3%e8anit multiplied by the total number
of UARs exercised. Units to be issued should bakiguthis amount divided by the fair value of coomunits upon exercise.

UARs granted under the 2012 UAR Agreements vestpercentage rate which is equal to a fractiomtimaerator of which is the numt
of calendar months which have elapsed since theafassuance and the denominator of which is éBjegt to forfeiture upon certain
conditions set forth in the UAR Agreements. Thereise of such UARs may be subject to approval leyGbmpany'’s limited partners as
required by the NYSE listing rules. A total of 80(BUARs were granted under the 2012 UAR Agreemamis55,500 of these units remained
outstanding at December 31, 2013.

On May 9, 2013 and October 22, 2013, the Generah®a acting on behalf of the Company, entered ikdy Employee Unit
Appreciation Rights Agreements (the “2013 UAR Agnemts”) with certain of the Company’s key employébs “2013 Key Employees).
Under the terms of the 2013 UAR Agreements, 2013 Kmployees received UARs wherein 2013 Key Empleymsxame entitled to
compensation in the form of units in an amount étuthe fair value of the Company’s common unjt®m exercise, less $26.68 and $25.61
for the May and October awards, respectively, mérmultiplied by the total number of UARs exerasé&nits to be issued should be equal to
this amount divided by the fair value of commontsinipon exercise.

UARs granted under the 2013 UAR Agreements vestmrcentage rate which is equal to a fractiomthmerator of which is the numt
of calendar months which have elapsed since treeafassuance and the denominator of which is dBjest to forfeiture upon certain
conditions set forth in the UAR Agreements. Thereise of such UARs may be subject to approval leyGompany’s limited partners as
required by the NYSE listing rules. A total of 52(BUARs were granted under the 2013 UAR Agreemamis52,500 of these units remained
outstanding at December 31, 2013.

All UARs granted under the LTIP have a five yeantcactual term beginning on the grant date.

The fair value of UARs granted under the 2013 UAfreements, 2012 UAR Agreements and 2009 UAR Agreemas estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Mertaiooppricing model with the following weighted-aagre assumptions:

2013 UAR 2012 UAR 2009 UAR

Agreementf Agreementf Agreemem
Expected dividend yield 9.14% 9.6(% 10.7(%
Risk-free interest rat 0.6%% 0.6%% 2.7%%
Expected volatility 28.51% 42.6(% 38.7(%
Expected life (in years 3.52 3.52 6.0Z
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The fair value of UARs granted under the 2009 UAgteéement was $2.39 per UAR and approximately $1l®min aggregate.

The fair value of UARs granted under the 2012 UAéements was approximately $3.70 per UAR and appaiely $0.3 million in
aggregate.

The fair value of UARs granted under the 2013 UAfeements was approximately $2.09 per UAR and appedely $0.1 million in
aggregate.

A summary of UAR activity for the years ended Debem31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 follows:

Years ended December 3.

2013 2012 2011
Outstanding, beginning of period 774,59¢ 759,85’ 874,83!
Grantec 52,50( 80,50( —

Exercisec (133,110 (65,759 (112,37
Forfeited (20,277) — (2,605
Outstanding, end of peric 673,71¢ 774,59¢ 759,85
Exercisable, end of peric 594,24¢ 514,99: 358,63¢

As of December 31, 2013, there was approximatelg 8dllion of unrecognized compensation cost reldatenon-vested UARs. $0.1
million of this cost is expected to be recognizethim 1 year, with the remainder being recognizawagh 2017. Total compensation expense
for UARs was approximately $0.5 million for the ye@nded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The &ogmgsued 34,096, 19,452 and
24,682 common units as a result of exercised UARXIL3, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@bd, the Company:

* Made no modifications to any existing UAR awar
» Did not capitalize any UAR award
» Did not receive any cash due to the exercise of &}

» Did not recognize any tax benefits due to exercidA&s.

Retirement Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement savings plaarfqployees who may defer up to 15% of their corspan. The Company does
currently match any of the employee contributions.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal

The Company is party to legal proceedings in thignairy course of its business but does not expecbtitcome of any proceedings,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a matezitect on the Company’s financial position, resulf operations or liquidity.

Leases

At December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, the Compasyasmmitted to operating lease payments for pesnautomobiles and office
equipment under various operating leases withainiérms ranging from one to twenty five years aptions to renew at varying terms.
Expenses under operating leases were $2.7 mi$@, million and $2.3 million for the years endeddember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively.
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At December 31, 2013, operating leases will résuititure payments in the following approximate amis from January 1, 2014 and
beyond:

(in thousands

2014 $ 1,712
2015 1,14(
2016 1,01¢
2017 94¢
2018 882
Thereaftel 1,927
Total $ 7,62F

Employment Agreements

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has an emp@oyagreement with one of its senior executivesfarm of three years
beginning July 22, 2013. The Company also has giegment agreement with the Vice Chairman of tha@af Directors which is effective
for two years beginning April 1, 2012.

13. ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition related costs include legal fees arigepthird party costs incurred in acquisition rethactivities. For the year ended
December 31, 2013 acquisition related costs inctui#.3 million recovery related to misappropriatadaims related to certain acquisitions.
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201dis#an related costs included legal fees, neecbveries, of $0.3 million and $1.2
million, respectively, related to amounts paid twque the recovery of those claims.

First Quarter 2013 Acquisition

On February 19, 2013, StoneMor Florida Subsididr€ | a subsidiary of the Company, (the “Buyer) esteinto an Asset Purchase and
Sale Agreement (the “Seawinds Agreement”) with sgvélorida limited liability companies and one ividual (collectively the “Seller”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, the Buyer acquiredwsieral homes in Florida, including certain reladsdets, and assumed certain related
liabilities.

In consideration for the net assets acquired, tngeBpaid the Seller $9.1 million in cash and iskLi89,635 common units, which equi
to approximately $3.6 million worth of common unitsder the terms of the Seawinds Agreement. TheBalgo issued an unsecured
promissory note in the amount of $3.0 million tisgpayable on February 19, 2014 and bears intaté&s0%. In addition, the Buyer will also
pay an aggregate amount of $1.2 million in six égnaual installments commencing on February 13428 exchange for a non-compete
agreement with the Seller. The non-compete agreewiibe amortized over the 6 year term of theegggnent.

The table below reflects the Company’s revisedsssaent of the fair value of net assets acquired. Gdmpany obtained additional
information and has retrospectively adjusted thvedges as noted below. These amounts may be adljastadditional information is received.
The resulting goodwill is recorded in the Comparftsmeral Homes operating segment.
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Preliminary Revised
Assessmer Adjustments Assessmer
(in thousands)

Assets:
Accounts receivabl $ 99t $ (300 $ 69t
Property and equipme 8,31t — 8,31¢
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 4,85 — 4,85
Non-compete agreemer 1,92i — 1,92
Total asset 16,09( (300) 15,79(
Liabilities:
Deferred margir 2,41¢ — 2,41¢
Merchandise liabilitie: 2,23: — 2,23:
Other liabilities — 164 164
Total liabilities 4,652 164 4,81¢
Fair value of net assets acquil 11,43¢ (464) 10,97
Consideration pai- cash 9,10( — 9,10(
Consideration pai- units 3,59: — 3,592
Fair value of note payab 3,00( — 3,00(
Fair value of debt assumed for I-compete agreeme 924 — 924
Total consideration pai 16,61¢ — 16,61¢
Goodwill from purchas $ 517¢ $ 464 $ 5,64:

Third Quarter 2013 Acquisition

On August 1, 2013, certain subsidiaries of the Camyg(collectively the “Buyer”) entered into an AsBairchase and Sale Agreement
with Carriage Cemetery Services, Inc. (the “SejlePursuant to the agreement, the Buyer acqui@hietery in Virginia, including certain
related assets, and assumed certain relatedtiedilin consideration for the net assets acquttedBuyer paid the Seller $5.0 million in cash.

The table below reflects the Company’s preliminasgessment of the fair value of net assets acqair@dhe resulting gain on bargain
purchase. These amounts may be retrospectivelgtadjas additional information is received.

Preliminary
Assessmen
(in thousands’
Assets:
Accounts receivabl $ 52t
Cemetery propert 3,90(
Property and equipme 1,045
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 5,461
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 5,88¢
Total asset 16,82:
Liabilities:
Merchandise liabilitie! 1,252
Deferred margir 1,35¢
Perpetual care trust corp 5,88¢
Other liabilities 94
Deferred tax liability 701
Total liabilities 9,291
Fair value of net assets acquil 7,53(
Consideration pai 5,00(
Gain on bargain purcha $ 2,53(
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First Quarter 2012 Acquisition

In the second quarter of 2009, the Company eniatedx long-term operating agreement (the “Opegafigreement”) with Kingwood
Memorial Park Association (“Kingwood”) wherein t®mpany became the exclusive operator of the cemetethat time, the Operating
Agreement did not qualify as an acquisition foraatting purposes. However, the existing mercharatigeperpetual care trusts were
consolidated as variable interest entities. In @alti merchandise and other liabilities assumethieyCompany were also recorded as of the
initial contract date. The consideration paid fasttransaction, including cash and an assumeilitjalexceeded the net assets recorded as of
the initial contract date and an intangible asset vecorded for this amount.

In January of 2012, the Company entered into amdetand restated operating agreement (the “Ame@gedating Agreement”), that
supersedes the Operating Agreement. The Amendech@EpAgreement has a term of 40 years and thepaosnremains the exclusive
operator of the cemetery. As consideration for @mjeinto the Amended Operating Agreement, the Camypaid $1.7 million in cash and was
relieved of a note payable to Kingwood. In additithre prior trustees of Kingwood have resignedavof of new trustees appointed by the
Company. As a result of the changes in the Ame@jgetating Agreement, for accounting purposes, th@any has gained control of
Kingwood, and acquisition accounting is now apgilea

The table below reflects the Company’s final agsesd of the fair value of net assets acquiredetimination of debt and other assets,
and the purchase price, which results in the reitiogmof goodwill recorded in the Company’s Cemgt@perations — Southeast segment.

Final
Assessmen
(in thousands’
Net assets acquire

Accounts receivabl $ 66
Cemetery propert 3,001
Property and equipme 10z
Total net assets acquir 3,16¢
Assets and liabilities diveste

Note payable to Kingwoo 51¢
Intangible asset representing underlying contrabie (2,23¢)
Fair value of net assets acquired and dive 1,452
Consideration pai 1,652
Goodwill from purchas $ 20C

Second, Third and Fourth Quarter 2012 Acquisitions

The table below reflects the Company’s final agsesd of the fair value of net assets acquiredptirehase price and the resulting gain
(goodwill) from these acquisitions.
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2012
2nd Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Bronswood Lodi Farnstrom Lohman Harden

Final Assessmen
(in thousands)

Assets:

Accounts receivabl $ 72 $ — $ — $ 1,00¢ $ —
Cemetery propert 84z — — 6,10( —
Property and equipme 51¢ 48 1,29¢ 5,86¢ 952
Merchandise trusts, restricted , at fair ve — 10t — 11,88¢ —
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 2,78( — — 2,232 —
Other asset — — — 122 —
Underlying lease valu — 64 — — —
Non-compete agreemer 12 40 17C 1,77 204
Total asset 4,224 257 1,46¢ 28,98 1,15¢
Liabilities:

Deferred margir — — — 3,74¢ —
Merchandise liabilitie! — 10t — 3,45¢ —
Deferred tax liability 374 — — — —
Perpetual care trust corp 2,78( — — 2,23: —
Other liabilities 24 — — — —
Total liabilities 3,17¢ 10t — 9,43¢ —
Fair value of net assets acquil 1,04¢ 152 1,46¢ 19,54¢ 1,15¢
Consideration pai- cash 924 85( 2,30( 20,00( 2,25(
Consideration pai- units — 35( — 3,50( 65C
Fair value of debt assumed for -compete agreemer — 544 274 1,23( 421
Total consideration pai 924 1,74¢ 2,57¢ 24,73( 3,321
Gain on bargain purcha 122 — — — —
Goodwill from purchas $ — $ 1,59 $ 1,10¢ $ 5,18: $ 2,16f

On April 10, 2012, certain subsidiaries of the Camyp (collectively the “Buyer”) entered into a Stdeélrchase Agreement with several
individuals (collectively the “Seller”) to purchasé of the stock of Bronswood Cemetery, Inc., #indis Corporation. Through the purchase,
the Buyer acquired one cemetery in lllinois, indhgdcertain related assets, and assumed certaiteddiabilities. In consideration for the net
assets acquired, the Buyer paid the Seller $0.@omih cash. This acquisition resulted in a gaintiee bargain purchase.

On June 6, 2012, certain subsidiaries of the Comfanilectively the “Buyer”) entered into a Purckasgreement with several
individuals and Lodi Funeral Home, Inc. (collectivéhe “Seller”) to purchase certain assets andrasscertain liabilities of Lodi Funeral
Home, Inc., a California corporation and all of #teck of Lodi All Faiths Cremation, a Californiarporation. Through the purchase, the Bi
acquired two funeral homes in California includoggtain related assets, and assumed certain rdi@bddies. As part of the agreement, the
building and underlying real estate of Lodi Funétame, Inc. is being leased from the Seller. Tlasdeagreement is a ten year agreement the
contains one five year renewal term at the Buyeléstion. In addition, at the end of the origiredde or renewal term, the Buyer can elect to
purchase the property for fair value less 10% gfr@mtal amounts previously paid under the leaseeagent. The Buyer also has a right of 1
refusal related to any potential sale of the prigpeccurring during the lease term. In considerafar the net assets acquired, the Buyer paid
the Seller $0.85 million in cash and issued 134125, which equates to $0.35 million worth of snithe Buyer will also pay an aggregate
amount of $0.6 million in 16 equal quarterly inBteénts commencing on January 2, 2013 in exchangaoie-compete agreements with the
Seller. The acquired goodwill is recorded in thepany’s Funeral Homes operating segment.

On July 2, 2012, certain subsidiaries of the Comganllectively the “Buyer) entered into an Assetréhase and Sale Agreement (the
“Farnstrom Agreement”) with Farnstrom Mortuary, Lla@d Farnstrom Properties, LLC, both Oregon limiialility companies, Farnstrom
Family, Inc. and Care Cremation Society, Inc., B@tkegon corporations and two individuals (colleelthe “Seller”). Pursuant to the
Agreement, the Buyer acquired five funeral home®iiegon, including certain related assets, andnasdicertain related liabilities. In
consideration for the net assets acquired, the Bpgiel the Seller $2.3 million in cash. The Buyelt also pay an aggregate amount of $0.3
million in 12 equal quarterly installments commergcon July 2, 2012 in exchange for non-competeeagents with the Seller. The acquired
goodwill is recorded in the Company’s Funeral Horopsrating segment.

On July 31, 2012, certain subsidiaries of the Camggaollectively the “Buyer) entered into an AsBeirchase and Sale Agreement (the
“Lohman Agreement”) with certain Florida corporat# limited liability companies and four individsgcollectively the “Seller”). Pursuant to
the Agreement, the Buyer acquired nine funeral looamel four cemeteries in Florida, including certaiiated assets, and assumed certain
related liabilities. In consideration for the nesats acquired, the Buyer paid the Seller $20.0
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million in cash and issued 128,299 units, whichaggs to $3.5 million worth of units. The Buyer védlso pay an aggregate amount of $1.5
million in five equal annual installments commemron August 1, 2013 in exchange for a consultindjrean-compete agreement with the
Seller. The acquired goodwill is recorded in bdth Company’s Cemetery Operations — Southeast segméri-uneral Homes operating
segment.

On December 13, 2012, StoneMor Florida Subsididr§¢,la subsidiary of the Company, (the “Buyer) eeteinto an Asset Purchase and
Sale Agreement (the “Harden Agreement”) with a ilElicorporation and two individuals (collectivehet“Seller”).Pursuant to the Agreeme
the Buyer acquired one funeral home in Floridaluding certain related assets, and assumed cediaited liabilities. In consideration for the
net assets acquired, the Buyer paid the Selle5$8ilion in cash and issued 28,863 units, whichatgs to $0.7 million worth of units. The
Buyer will also pay an aggregate amount of $0.%ionilin twenty equal quarterly installments commegon March 13, 2013 in exchange for
a non-compete agreement with the Seller. The a@dgjoodwill is recorded in the Company’s Funerairide operating segment.

If the acquisitions from 2013 and 2012 had beersgommated on January 1, 2012 and January 1, 20ddeatévely, on a pro forma basis,
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl, 20hsolidated revenues, consolidated net incémss)(and net income (loss) per limited
partner unit (basic and diluted) would have beefok@ws:

As of December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Revenue $247,84: $252,27( $237,22¢
Net loss (21,719 (994) (9,708)
Net loss per limited partner unit (basic and didi) $ (1.09 $ (.05 $ (.50

These pro forma results are unaudited and haveprepared for comparative purposes only and inctgatain adjustments such as
increased interest from debt related to the adipisi and recognition of gains on acquisitions odng during 2013 in 2012 rather than in the
current period. They do not purport to be indicatdf the results of operations which actually wadwdde resulted had the 2013 acquisitions
been in effect on January 1, 2012 and the 2012isitiquns had been in effect on January 1, 2011f dutare results of operations of the
locations. The Company’s first quarter 2012 acdjoisirelates to the Amended Operating Agreemenibéesd above. Therefore, the results of
operations for this property have been includetthénCompany'’s results since 2009.

Since their respective dates of acquisition, tlaperties acquired in 2013 have contributed $3.8anibf revenue and $0.1 million of
operating profit for the year ended December 31320 he properties acquired in 2012 have contrib®tE0.4 million of revenue and $0.5
million of operating profit for the year ended Dedzer 31, 2013 and $4.2 million of revenue and $@illion of operating profit for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

First, Second, Third and Fourth Quarter 2011 Acquigtions

The table below reflects the Company’s final assesd of the fair value of net assets (liabilitiasjjuired, the purchase price and the
resulting goodwill from these acquisitions.
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2011
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 4th Quarter
North Carolina Missouri Virginia Puerto Rico Tennesset Mississippi
Final Assessmen
(in thousands)

Assets:
Accounts receivabl $ 97 $ 94 $ 20 $ 4,60( $ 12¢ $ 66
Cemetery propert 1,71( 88C 2,24% 4,66¢ 1,09¢ 1,331
Property and equipme 332 1,81z 15¢ 4,12¢ 2,257 48¢
Merchandise trusts, restricted , at fair ve 88C 2,62 562 — 10,12: 1,264
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 344 1,19C 904 981 4,37: 524
Other asset 10C — 16C — 3,86% —
Total asset 3,46: 6,60: 4,04¢ 14,37 21,83¢ 3,67:
Liabilities:
Deferred margir 79t 1,30z 36( 5,017 12,63¢ 832
Merchandise liabilitie! 734 1,64¢ 337 4,63: 11,66¢ 96¢
Deferred tax liability 64 461 762 76€ — 26¢
Perpetual care trust corp 344 1,19( 904 981 4,37: 524
Total liabilities 1,93i 4,601 2,36: 11,39¢ 28,67 2,58¢
Fair value of net assets (liabilities) acqui 1,52¢ 2,002 1,68¢ 2,97¢ (6,841) 1,08¢
Consideration pai- cash 1,70C 2,15(C 1,85( 4,60( 4,50( 1,34:
Fair value of debt assumed for non-comp

agreement — — 28C — — —
Total consideration pai 1,70C 2,15( 2,13( 4,60( 4,50( 1,34:
Goodwill from purchas $ 174 $ 14¢ $ 44F $ 1,62¢ $ 11,34: $ 25€

On January 5, 2011, the Operating Company, Ston@&ah Carolina LLC, a North Carolina limited lidiby company and StoneMor
North Carolina Subsidiary LLC, a North Carolinaiied liability company, each a who-owned subsidiary of the Company (collectively the
“Buyer”), entered into an Asset Purchase and Sgleément (the “1st Quarter Purchase Agreement!) Wéritage Family Services, Inc., a
North Carolina corporation and an individual (cotleely the“Seller”). Pursuant to the 1st Quarter Purchases8grent, the Buyer acquired
three cemeteries in North Carolina, including dartalated assets, and assumed certain relatdtitiésh In consideration for the net assets
acquired, the Buyer paid the Seller $1.7 milliorc#@sh. The acquired goodwill is recorded in the Gany’s Cemetery Operations — Southeast
segment.

On June 22, 2011, the Operating Company, StoneMssddri LLC, a Missouri limited liability companyd StoneMor Missouri
Subsidiary LLC, a Missouri limited liability compgneach a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compamjiéctively the “Buyer”), entered into
an Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “2nd&W®Rurchase Agreement”) with SCI International{,la Delaware limited liability
company and Keystone America, Inc., a Delawarearatpn (collectively the “Seller” or “SCI MissoUyi Pursuant to the 2nd Quarter
Purchase Agreement, the Buyer acquired three ceiesetnd four funeral homes in Missouri, includoggtain related assets, and assumed
certain related liabilities. In consideration fbetnet assets acquired, the Buyer paid the Sélé63nillion in cash. The acquired goodwill is
recorded in both the Company’s Cemetery Operationgest segment and Funeral Homes operating segment.

On August 1, 2011, the Operating Company and CFSt Wieginia, an affiliate of the Operating Compafgpllectively the “Buyer”)
entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with timdigiduals (collectively the “Seller”) to purchas# of the stock of Prince George
Cemetery Corporation, a Virginia corporation. Thgbuhe purchase of Prince George Cemetery Corparatie Buyer acquired one cemetery
in Virginia. In consideration for the stock acquir¢he Buyer paid the Seller approximately $1.9iamlin cash. The Buyer will also pay $0.3
million in cash in even quarterly installments oadive year period in exchange for non-competeaagents with the Seller. The acquired
goodwill is recorded in the Company’s Cemetery @fiens — Southeast segment.

On August 17, 2011, the Operating Comp&tgneMor Puerto Rico LLC, a Puerto Rico limitedlidy company and StoneMor Puerto
Rico Subsidiary LLC, a Puerto Rico limited liabjilitcompany, each a wholly-owned subsidiary of then@any (collectively the “Buyer”),
entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Aldeds Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability cormya(the “Seller” or “SCI Puerto
Rico”) to purchase all of the stock of SCI Puertod¥~uneral and Cemetery Services, Inc., a Puado ébrporation. Through the purchase of
SCI Puerto Rico Funeral and Cemetery Services, tine.Buyer acquired five cemeteries and four faheomes in Puerto Rico. In
consideration for the stock acquired, the Buyed pla¢ Seller $4.6 million in cash. The acquireddyeid is recorded in both the Company’s
Cemetery Operations — Southeast segment and Flih@nads operating segment.

On October 4, 2011, the Operating Company and $ton&ennessee Subsidiary LLC, a Tennessee limiddiity company, each a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (collectivie “Buyer”), entered into an Asset Purchase Salgé Agreement (the “4th Quarter
Tennessee Purchase Agreement”) with Forest HileFalrHome and Memorial Park-East, LLC, a Tennebseted liability company
(“Seller”) and a state court-appointed receiverg¢Biver”). Pursuant to the 4th Quarter TennesseghBse Agreement, the Buyer acquired
three cemeteries and three funeral homes in Teaaeag of a state court appointed receivershipydieg certain related assets, and assumec
certain related liabilities. In consideration foetnet assets acquired, the Buyer paid $4.5 mijltteencomponents of which were $1.6 millior



cash and $2.9 million in cash to lend monies tonleechandise trusts of these
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properties to fund their current underfunded stdtuaddition, the Buyer assumed a commitment &md$0.5 million for capital improvemel
or deferred maintenance on the properties withimd8ths of the closing date. The acquired goodwilecorded in both the Company’s
Cemetery Operations — Southeast segment and Flihe@nads operating segment.

On November 3, 2011, the Operating Company, Stoméississippi LLC, a Mississippi limited liabilitgompany, and StoneMor
Mississippi Subsidiary LLC, a Mississippi limiteidbility company, each a wholly-owned subsidiartted Company (collectively the
“Buyer”), entered into an Asset Purchase and Sgleément (the “4th Quarter Mississippi Purchases@grent”) with Serenity Cemeteries I,
LLC, an Arizona limited liability company (“Seller'and two individuals. Pursuant to the 4th Quadessissippi Purchase Agreement, the
Buyer acquired two cemeteries and one funeral harvississippi, including certain related assets] assumed certain related liabilities. In
consideration for the net assets acquired, the Bpgiel the Seller $1.3 million in cash and madepodit into trust of less than $0.1 million.
The acquired goodwill is recorded in both the ConymCemetery Operations — Southeast segment aner&uHomes operating segment.

The results of operations and pro forma resulttedlto the acquisitions made in 2011 are not riaghterthe consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole.

In the aggregate, for the acquisitions consummaiehg 2011, revenues and operating profit (lossluided in operations since the dates
of acquisition are $15.6 million and $0.7 millioespectively, for the year ended December 31, 2813,7 million and $1.0 million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 20@R$4.3 million and $(0.3) million, respectivelgr the year ended December 31, 2011.

First Quarter 2012 Contract Termination

During the third quarter of 2010, certain subsiisiof the Company entered into a long-term opegadagreement (the “Operating
Agreement”) with the Archdiocese of Detroit (therthdiocese”) wherein the Company became the exeugperator of certain cemeteries in
Michigan owned by the Archdiocese. The Operatingefggent did not qualify as an acquisition for acting purposes. However, the existing
merchandise trust had been consolidated as a laimdbrest entity as the Company controlled amelatiy benefited from the operations of the
merchandise trust. In addition, liabilities assumeste also recorded as of the contract date. Asonsideration was paid in this transaction,
Company had recorded a deferred gain of approxiyn@81 million within deferred cemetery revenuest, which represented the excess of
the value of the merchandise trust over the litdiassumed.

Effective March 31, 2012, the Company and the Alotese agreed to terminate the Operating Agreemsnif the termination date, the
Company no longer operated these properties. Ailligcoccurring after March 31, 2012 is the respitility of the Archdiocese and the
Company has no remaining obligation to fulfill amgrchandise liabilities or responsibility to perfoany obligations of the properties.

The Company received payments of approximately 82lbn from the Archdiocese as a result of thertmation. Consequently, the
Company recognized a gain of $1.7 million during ylear ended December 31, 2012, which is the antmyuwhich the payments from the
Archdiocese exceeded the value of the net asseisférred to the Archdiocese.

First and Second Quarter 2013 Settlement

During the year ended December 31, 2013 the Compenowered $18.4 million, net of legal fees, coatg] contractual obligations
related to the settlement of claims from locatitivet the Company acquired in 2010 and 2011. Ofahisunt $6.5 million was contributed
directly to the related perpetual care and mercisartdusts on the Company’s behalf. $3.4 milliorirefse direct payments represent a gain or
settlement agreement on the consolidated statesheperations due to an increase in the mercharidists not previously accrued for in
purchase accounting.

The Company received $11.9 million in cash procdemin the settlement. Of this amount, $1.7 millaord $1.3 million are for the
reimbursement of legal fees and are recorded aseees to corporate overhead and acquisitionaédlabsts, respectively. The remaining
proceeds were recorded as a gain on settlemerdragre on the consolidated statement of operatidmestotal gain on settlement for the year
ended December 31, 2013 was $12.3 million.

Third Quarter 2013 Agreements with the Archdiocesef Philadelphia

On September 26, 2013, StoneMor Operating, LLC é@png Company”), StoneMor Pennsylvania LLC (“Stbtor Pennsylvania”)
and StoneMor Pennsylvania Subsidiary LLC (“Subsidiand together with the Operating Company andch&kdor Pennsylvania, “Tenant”),
each of which is a direct or indirect subsidianysddneMor Partners L.P. (“StoneMor”), and the Aiickcdse of Philadelphia, an archdiocese
governed by Canon Law of the Roman Catholic Chyfichndlord”) entered into a Lease Agreement (thedke”) and a Management
Agreement (the “Management Agreement”), pursuamthich Tenant will operate 13 cemeteries in Penagyib. StoneMor joined the Lease
and the Management Agreement as a guarantor éa#nt’s obligations under this operating arranggme
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Subject to certain closing conditions describedwelandlord agreed to lease to Tenant eight camystees in the Philadelphia area. 1
Lease granted Tenant a sole and exclusive licehsél(icense”)to maintain and construct improvements in the dpmraf the cemeteries al
to sell burial rights and all related merchandiseé services, subject to the terms and conditionthet.ease. The Management Agreement
enabled Tenant, subject to certain closing condlitiet forth in the Lease, to serve as the exdugperator of the remaining five cemeteries.

The term of the Lease and the Management Agreeshatitcommence (the “Commencement Dasdt@r the satisfaction or waiver of 1
Tenant’s and Landlord’s Pre-Commencement Conditiaasuch term is defined below, and shall expiréhe last day of the month on which
the 60th anniversary of the Commencement Date ecsubject to earlier termination as provided mltkase (such date, the “Termination
Date”). The Lease may be terminated pursuant téettmes of the Lease, including, but not limitedlg,notice of termination given by
Landlord to Tenant at any time during Lease yeafall ease Year 11 Termination”) or by either pattie to the default or bankruptcy of the
other party in accordance with the termination mions of the Lease. If the Lease is terminatedldnydlord or Tenant pursuant to the terms of
the Lease, the Management Agreement will also foeitated. The term of the License shall commenctherCommencement Date and shall
expire upon the Termination Date, at which timedrdts rights under the License shall revert to Lard

Tenant shall pay to Landlord an up-front rentalrpapt of $53.0 million (the “Up-Front Rent”) on t@®mmencement Date. Tenant shall
also pay to Landlord aggregate fixed rent of $36illlon (the “Fixed Rent”) for the Cemeteries iretfollowing amounts:

Lease Years-5 None
Lease Years-20 $1,000,000 per Lease Ye
Lease Years 25 $1,200,000 per Lease Ye
Lease Years 35 $1,500,000 per Lease Ye
Lease Years =60 None

The Fixed Rent for Lease Years 6 through 11 (theféred Fixed Rent”) shall be deferred. If Landltgdninates the Lease pursuant to
Lease Year 11 Termination or Tenant terminated #ase as a result of a Landlord’s default pricheend of Lease Year 11 (collectively, a
“Covered Termination”), the Deferred Fixed Rentlsha forfeited by Landlord and shall be retaingdTienant. If the Lease is not terminated
by a Covered Termination, the Deferred Fixed Raatl$ecome due and payable 30 days after the Ebelase Year 11.

If Landlord terminates the Lease pursuant to a éé&asar 11 Termination, Landlord must repay to Temdlr$$53.0 million of the Up-
Front Rent. If the Lease is terminated for caussgttime, Landlord must repay to Tenant the unsmest portion of the Up-Front Rent:
(i) based on a 60 year amortization schedule mhiesited by Tenant due to Landlord’s default andb@sed on a 30 year amortization schedule
if terminated by Landlord due to Tenant’s default.

Each of Tenant and Landlord shall have the righétminate the Lease after December 31, 2013 @he-Commencement Expiration
Date”) and prior to the Commencement Date if cartainditions are not satisfied. These conditioifuite, but are not limited to, the Tenant’s
obtaining of financing for the Up-Front Rent.

Generally, 51% of gross revenues from any sourceived by Tenant on account of the Cemeteries imglated to customary operations
of the Cemeteries less Tenant’'s and Landlord’soregtsie costs and expenses applicable to such tedeativity shall be paid to Landlord as
additional rent. In addition, Tenant shall haveilgat to request from time to time that Landlo&dl ¢to a party that is independent and not an
affiliate of StoneMor or any party that is a Tenaait or portions of undeveloped land at the leaSetheteries. If Landlord approves the sale o
such undeveloped land, Tenant shall pay to Landlsadditional rent, 51% of the net proceeds pfsaich sale.

Fourth Quarter 2011 Disposition
On December 30, 2011, the Company sold one fuherak in West Virginia for $0.1 million, resulting a gain of $0.1 million.

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is organized into five distinct repbigasegments which are classified as Cemetery @pesa—Southeast, Cemetery
Operations—Northeast, Cemetery Operations—Westfaliiomes, and Corporate.

The Company has chosen this level of organizatfoemortable segments due to the fact that a) egmbrtable segment has unique
characteristics that set it apart from other sedmédr) the Company has organized its managemesopeel at these operational levels; and c)
it is the level at which the Company’s chief demismakers and other senior management evaluaterpenice.
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The cemetery operations segments sell intermehtssigaskets, burial vaults, cremation niches, erarknd other cemetery related
merchandise. The nature of the Company’s custodiffess in each of its regionally based cemetergrating segments. Cremation rates in th
West region are substantially higher than theyirathe Southeast region. Rates in the Northeagmegnd to be somewhere between the two.
Statistics indicate that customers who select ctiemaervices have certain attributes that diffenf customers who select other methods of
interment. The disaggregation of cemetery operatinto the three distinct regional segments is arily due to these differences in customer
attributes along with the previously mentioned nggmaent structure and senior management analyskod@bgies.

The Company’s Funeral Homes segment offers a rahfymeral-related services such as family consioliathe removal of and
preparation of remains and the use of funeral hiawisities for visitation. These services are distly different than the cemetery merchandise
and services sold and provided by the cemeteryatipas segments.

The Company’s Corporate segment includes variougehaffice selling and administrative expenses @énatnot allocable to the other
operating segments.

Segment information is as follows:

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeast Northeast West Homes Corporate Adjustment Total
(in thousands)
Revenues
Sales $ 93,088 $ 36,537 $4342¢ $ — $ — $ (47,99¢) $ 125,05.
Service and othe 40,96 26,57 35,21( — — (26,110 76,63¢
Funeral homq — 50,80¢ — (5,859 44,95¢
Total revenue 134,04t 63,11( 78,63¢ 50,80¢ — (79,959 246,64
Costs and expenses
Cost of sale: 19,42: 8,14« 7,81¢€ — — (7,527 27,85¢
Cemeterny 26,49¢ 14,61t 16,45¢ — — — 57,56¢
Selling 30,76( 13,14( 13,91( — 972 (20,950 47,83:
General and administratiy 16,717 6,48¢ 8,67 — — — 31,87:
Corporate overhez — — — — 28,87: — 28,87
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,33 90C 2,10¢ 3,03¢ 1,17¢ — 9,54¢
Funeral hom — — — 36,31¢ — (665) 35,65
Acquisition related costs, net of
recoveries — — — — 1,051 — 1,051
Total costs and expens 95,72¢ 43,28: 48,95¢ 39,35¢ 32,07 (19,139 240,25¢
Operating profit $38,32( $ 19,827 $ 29,67¢ $1145: $(32,07) $(60,82) $ 6,38¢
Total asset $567,99¢ $312,49: $429,79¢ $134,21¢ $28,82. $ — $1,473,32!
Amortization of cemetery proper $ 423 $ 248: $ 1202 $ — $ — $ (79 $ 7,347
Long lived asset additior $ 941t $ 2,121 $ 3,765 $ 9637 $ 1471 $ — $ 26,41
Goodwill $ 6,174 $ — $ 11,946 $ 2991 $ — $ — $ 48,03
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As of and for the year ended December 31, 2012:

Revenues
Sales
Service and othe
Funeral hom
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Cost of sale:
Cemetery
Selling
General and administratiy
Corporate overheg
Depreciation and amortizatic
Funeral homt
Acquisition related costs, net of
recoveries
Total costs and expens
Operating profit

Total asset

Amortization of cemetery proper
Long lived asset additior
Goodwill

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeast Northeast West Homes Corporate Adjustment Total
(in thousands)

$91,68. $34807 $3959 $ — $ — $ (36,0900 $ 129,98
37,53( 25,55( 29,17¢ — — (15,317 76,94
— — — 37,98¢ — (2,309 35,67¢
129,21. 60,35: 68,76¢ 37,98¢ — (53,71) 242,60t
19,35¢ 7,70¢ 6,74¢ — — (5,706 28,10:
25,47¢ 13,69: 16,23¢ — — — 55,41(
29,03: 12,25! 12,49( — 86¢ (7,767%) 46,87¢
15,20¢ 6,072 7,64¢ — 2 — 28,92¢
— — — — 28,16¢ — 28,16¢
2,16¢ 90C 2,31¢ 2,50¢ 1,54 — 9,431
— — — 28,971 — (252 28,72t
— — — — 3,12¢ — 3,12:
91,23 40,62( 45,43: 31,48¢ 33,70 (13,72)) 228,76"
$ 37,97 $19,737 $23,32¢ $ 6,50: $(33,70 $ (39,990 $ 13,84
$519,91¢ $299,16¢ $394,68! $107,05¢ $22,89°7 $ — $1,343,72!
$ 434¢ $ 2394 $ 104 $ — $ — $ 92 3 7,88(
$1283. $ 3594 $ 4757 $ 9,41t $ 84¢ $ — $ 31,44
$ 617« $ — $ 11,948 $ 2427 $ — $ — $ 42,39
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As of and for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeast Northeast West Homes Corporate Adjustment Total
(in thousands)
Revenues
Sales $ 80,48° $32,89: $4696. $ — $ — $ (36,550 $ 123,79(
Service and othe 33,27: 24,36¢ 31,49; — — (14,949 74,19¢
Funeral homq — — — 31,16: — (759 30,40¢
Total revenue 113,75¢ 57,26: 78,45¢ 31,16: — (52,257) 228,38t
Costs and expense
Cost of sale: 16,65 7,14C 7,361 — — (5,039 26,11¢
Cemetery 23,09( 14,03: 20,02: — — — 57,14t
Selling 27,45 11,46¢ 14,02¢ — 83C (8,499 45,29:
General and administrati\ 13,82( 6,411 9,31« — 2 3) 29,54
Corporate overheg — — — — 23,76¢ — 23,76¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,65: 891 2,26¢ 1,597 2,127 — 8,53¢
Funeral homq — — — 23,55¢ — — 23,55¢
Acquisition related costs, net of recovet — — — 4,60¢< — 4,60¢
Total costs and expens 82,67: 39,94: 52,99: 25,15 31,32¢ (13,539 218,55:
Operating profit $ 31,08 $17,32( $ 25/46¢ $ 6,012 $(31,329 $(38,71) $ 9,83t
Total asset $472,10¢ $284,76! $383,69¢ $78,76! $29,42¢ $ — $1,248,75
Amortization of cemetery proper $ 348 $ 2,18 $ 1008 $ — & — $ 81) $ 6,59
Long lived asset additior $1388: $ 1,827 $ 7,81¢ $10,21« $ 58 $ «— $ 34,32
Goodwill $ 573 $ — $ 11,946 $14,460 $ — $ — $ 32,14¢

Results of individual business units are presehtestd on our management accounting practices anag®aent structure. There is no
comprehensive, authoritative body of guidance fanagement accounting equivalent to GAAP; theretbiefinancial results of individual
business units are not necessarily comparablesiiiitar information for any other company. The ngement accounting process uses
assumptions and allocations to measure performairtte business units. Methodologies are refinethftime to time as management
accounting practices are enhanced and businesaegeRevenues and associated expenses are rmoeddfieaccordance with SAB No. 104;
therefore, the deferral of these revenues and egsan provided in the adjustment column to redertbe Company’s managerial financial
statements to those prepared in accordance withSARAe-need sales revenues included within the sakegory consist primarily of the sale
of burial lots, burial vaults, mausoleum cryptsawgg markers and memorials, and caskets. Manageroemtinting practices included in the
Southeast, Northeast, and Western Regions refiesetpraieed sales when contracts are signed by the custordeaccepted by the Compe
Pre-need sales reflected in the consolidated fiahgstatements, prepared in accordance with GAABQgnize revenues for the sale of burial
lots and mausoleum crypts when the product is coctstd and at least 10% of the sales price is aelie With respect to the other products,
consolidated financial statements prepared undekiSfecognize sales revenues when the criteriadtivety under SAB No. 104 are met.
These criteria include, among other things, puretwthe product, delivery and installation of greduct in the ground, and transfer of title to
the customer. In each case, costs are accruechirection with the recognition of revenues; therefoihe consolidated financial statements
reflect Deferred Cemetery Revenue, Net, and Dalesedling and Obtaining Costs on the consolidatddrize sheet, whereas the Company’s
management accounting practices exclude these.items

15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures tdpiceoASC defines fair value as the price that wiche received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trandantbetween market participants. This topic aldatdshes a fair value hierarchy that gives the
highest priority to observable inputs and the lavpemrity to unobservable inputs. The three levalthe fair value hierarchy defined by this
topic are described below.

Level 1: Quoted market prices available in activarkeats for identical assets or liabilities. The @amy includes short-term investments,
consisting primarily of money market funds, U.Sv@mment debt securities and publicly traded eggstyurities and mutual funds in its
level 1 investments.

Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for simélasets; quoted prices in non-active marketsdfemtical or similar assets; inputs other
than quoted prices that are observable. The Comipahydes U.S. state and municipal, corporate ahdrdixed income debt securities
its level 2 investments.
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Level 3: Any and all pricing inputs that are getigranobservable and not corroborated by marked.dat

On the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, duassets, long-term accounts receivable and cuiadiilities are recorded at amounts
that approximate fair value.

The following table displays the Company’s assedssared at fair value as of December 31, 2013 awémber 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2013
Merchandise Trust

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Shor-term investment $ 46,518 $ — $ 46,51¢

Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal age! — — _
U.S. state and local government age — — —
Corporate debt securitit — 9,171 9,171

Other debt securitie — 7,324 7,324
Total fixed maturity investmen — 16,49¢ 16,49¢
Mutual funds- debt securitie 111,33: — 111,33:
Mutual funds- equity securitie- real estate secti 49,10: — 49,10:¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie- energy secta — — —
Mutual funds- equity securitie- MLP’s 36,19: — 36,19¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie:- other 72,23¢ — 72,23¢

Equity securities
Preferred REI’s — —
Master limited partnershig 57,25¢ — 57,25¢

Global equity securitie 28,43’ — 28,43:
Other invested asse — 5,72¢ 5,72¢
Total $401,07¢ $22,21¢ $423,29:

Perpetual Care Trust

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Shor-term investment $ 16,68 $ — $ 16,68¢
Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal agel 372 — 372
U.S. state and local government age — — —
Corporate debt securitit — 24,51( 24,51(
Other debt securitie — 371 371
Total fixed maturity investmen 372 24,88 25,25
Mutual funds- debt securitie 116,01: — 116,01:
Mutual funds- equity securitie- real estate sect 40,76: — 40,768
Mutual funds- equity securitie- energy secta 14,76 — 14,76
Mutual funds- equity securitie- MLP’s 46,81" — 46,81%
Mutual funds- equity securitie:- other 13,25: — 13,25:

Equity securities
Preferred REI’s — —
Master limited partnershir 36,92¢ — 36,92¢

Global equity securitie 91¢ — 91¢
Other invested asse — 382 382
Total $286,50( $25,26¢ $311,77:

115



Table of Contents

As of December 31, 2012

Merchandise Trust

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Shor-term investment $ 27,89( $ — $ 27,89(

Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal age! — — —
U.S. state and local government age — — —

Corporate debt securitit — 8,71¢ 8,71«

Other debt securitie — 4,317 4,317
Total fixed maturity investmen — 13,03: 13,03
Mutual funds- debt securitie 107,92: — 107,92:
Mutual funds- equity securitie- real estate sect 51,98¢ — 51,98¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie- energy sectc 5,66¢ — 5,66¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie- MLP’s 29,33¢ — 29,33¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie:- other 58,08: — 58,08:
Equity securities

Preferred REI’s 562 — 562

Master limited partnershir 42,41( — 42,41(

Global equity securitie 24,43¢ — 24,434
Other invested asse — 7,097 7,097
Total $348,28t $20,12¢ $368,41¢

Perpetual Care Trust

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)

Assets
Shor-term investment $ 21,41¢ $ — $ 21,41¢
Fixed maturities

U.S. government and federal agel 51z — 51z

U.S. state and local government age — — —

Corporate debt securitit — 23,29: 23,29

Other debt securitie — 371 371
Total fixed maturity investmen 51z 23,66 24,17¢
Mutual funds- debt securitie 107,18t — 107,18t
Mutual funds- equity securitie- real estate secti 42,36¢ — 42,36¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie- energy sectc 13,061 — 13,06:
Mutual funds- equity securitie- MLP’s 34,80¢ — 34,80¢
Mutual funds- equity securitie:- other 8,981 — 8,981
Equity securities

Preferred REI’s 48€ — 48€

Master limited partnershig 28,69: — 28,69

Global equity securitie 72€ — 72€
Other invested asse — 41F 41F
Total $258,23¢ $24,07" $282,31.

116



Table of Contents

Level 2 securities primarily consist of corporabel ather fixed income debt securities. The Compabtgins pricing information for the
securities from an independent pricing vendor. piiging vendor uses various pricing models for eas$et class that are consistent with wha
other market participants would use. The inputsasslimptions to the pricing vendor's model areveéerfrom market observable sources
including benchmark yields, reported trades, briealer quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark sesulitas, offers, and other market-related
data. Since many fixed income securities do naletien a daily basis, the pricing vendor uses availmformation as applicable such as
benchmark curves, benchmarking of like securisesfor groupings, and matrix pricing. Thus, certaaurities may not be priced using quc
prices, but rather determined from market obseevatibrmation. These investments are included el 2. The Company reviews the
information provided by the pricing vendor on autag basis. In addition, the pricing vendor hagsatablished process in place for the
identification and resolution of potentially erraus prices.

There were no level 3 assets.
16. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
The following summarizes certain quarterly resafteperations:

Three months endec

2013 March 31 June 30 September 3 December 3.
(in thousands, except unit data
Revenue: $59,61: $ 62,42: $ 61,53¢ $ 63,06¢
Net loss (2,200 (11,809 (1,489 (3,539
General partn(s interest in net loss for the peri (40 (21¢) (26) (66)
Limited partner’ interest in net loss for the peri (2,160 (11,59) (1,459 (3,479
Net loss per limited partner un
Basic and dilutes $ (0.1) $ (0.59 $ (0.09) $ (0.1¢)
Three months endec
2012 March 31 June 30 September 3! December 3.
(in thousands, except unit data
Revenue: $59,581 $ 61,50¢ $ 62,19 $ 59,31
Net income (loss 2,03( (2,169 1,061 (3,935
General partn(s interest in net income (loss) for the pel 41 (43 21 (79
Limited partner’ interest in net income (loss) for the per 1,98¢ (2,126 1,04( (3,856
Net income (loss) per limited partner u
Basic $ 0.1C $ (0.1) $ 0.0t $ (0.20
Diluted $ 0.1C $ (0.1) $ 0.0t $ (0.20

Net income (loss) per limited partner unit is cotgglindependently for each quarter and the fult yy@@ed upon respective average L
outstanding. Therefore, the sum of the quartertyspare amounts may not equal to the annual pee simaounts

17. PARTNERS’' CAPITAL

Partners’ capital consists of common units repriésgiimited partner interests and the generalrais interest. Holders of our common
units have limited voting rights and are not eatltto elect our general partner or its directotsofour partnership agreement restricts the
voting rights of unitholders owning 20% or moreooir common units. Excluding the impact of the irtdendistribution rights held by the
general partner, holders of our common units shesportionately in the distributions of the Company

Our general partner has rights separate from theram unitholders including the ability to direcetbperations of the Company and to
transfer its ownership interest without unitholdensent under certain circumstances. The genemalgralso holds incentive distribution rig
that entitle it to receive increasing percentageb@cash we distribute from operating surplusxness of specific per unit distribution
amounts. Our general partner also has the rightadiuthe obligation, to contribute a proportionateount of capital to us to maintain its
current general partner interest.

On March 26, 2013, the Company completed a followpoblic offering of 1,610,000 common units at e@of $25.35 per unit. Net
proceeds of the offering, after deducting undemgitiscounts and offering expenses, were appraein&38.4 million. The proceeds from
the offering were used to pay off debt on the Gredility.

On February 9, 2011, the Company completed a febavpublic offering of 3,756,155 common units, imdihg an option to purchase up
to 731,155 common units to cover over-allotmentgciviivas exercised in full by the underwriters, atrige of $29.25
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per unit, representing a 19.4% interest in the GampTotal gross proceeds from these transacti@ns approximately $109.9 million, before
offering costs and underwriting discounts. Net pexts of the offering, including the related capitattribution of the General Partner, after
deducting underwriting discounts and offering exqe= were approximately $105.6 million. As parthi$ transaction, selling unitholders also
sold 1,849,366 common units. The Company did mive any of the proceeds generated by the saayofinits held by the selling
unitholders.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 27, 2014, we completed a follow-on jpubffering of 2,300,000 common units at a price&s@#.45 per unit. Net proceeds of
the offering, after deducting underwriting discaiahd offering expenses, were approximately $53libm The proceeds were used to pay
down borrowings outstanding under our Credit Fgcili

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindaetdisclosed in the reports that we
file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act@34, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recargeatessed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s sutand forms, and that such information is accuredland communicated to our managemen
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Bircial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely témns regarding required disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this repoe carried out an evaluation, under the supenviaiad with the participation of our
Disclosure Committee and management, includingGhief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial iOffr, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based upon, and as aldkeof this evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeameluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere effective to provide reasonable
assurance that information we are required to a&cin our reports under the Exchange Act is remhrdrocessed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s sutand forms, and that such information is accuredland communicated to our managemen
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Bircial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely d&ens regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiga’ing as defined in Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our inéicontrol over financial reporting is a processigned under the supervision of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer taopide reasonable assurance regarding the relyabiliinancial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes oatance with U.S. generally accepted accountimgiples.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with policies andtpdures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ourahiawntrol over financial reporting as of DecemB&y 2013. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria desaribedrnal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO%¥eBaon this assessment, management concludeddhatimtained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December &11.3.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fical reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby Deloitte & Touche LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in its report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in our internal coowe financial reporting that occurred during aastlfiscal quarter ended December 31
2013 that have materially affected, or are readgriddely to materially affect, our internal controver financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors of StoneMor Partners @& land Unitholders of StoneMor Partners L.P.
Levittown, Pennsylvania

We have audited the internal control over finanmglorting of StoneMor Partners L.P. and subsiésatihe “Company”) as of December 31,
2013, based on criteria establishedniternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998%ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission. The Compangianagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and

its assessment of the effectiveness of internaraebaver financial reporting, included in the aogeanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilet to express an opinion on the Company’s infezaatrol over financial reporting based

on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staigdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corax@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemforg similar functions, and effected by the compapard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anltket preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internatteol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertainéartaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngen@aent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédisonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asijon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the posiii of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected tmely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltaarover financial reporting to future periods ateéject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998%ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year endszeBber 31, 2013 of the Company and our reportdddsech 17, 2013 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 17, 2014
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Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Partnership Structure and Management

StoneMor GP LLC, as our general partner, managesperations and activities. Unitholders are nditlea to participate, directly or
indirectly, in our management or operations.

Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporatiomitholders have only limited voting rights ontteas affecting our business.
Unitholders do not have the right to elect our gahpartner or its directors on an annual or otlmertinuing basis. Our general partner may no
be removed except by the vote of the holders tdemt 66 2/3% of the outstanding common unitsuiticly units owned by our general partner
and its affiliates. Because of their controllingresship interest in our general partner, the MDQ.ijuidating Trusts, are able to control the
election of a majority of the directors of our geaigartner.

Directors and Executive Officers of StoneMor GP LLC

The following table shows information regarding thieectors and executive officers of our generatra. Each director is elected for
one-year terms until his successor is duly eleatetiqualified or until his earlier resignation enroval. Mr. Miller serves as an executive
officer of our general partner pursuant to his emplent agreement. Mr. Shane has served as Vicertdmaiof the Board of Directors of our
general partner and as an advisor available to geamant pursuant to his employment agreement sipcié 1A 2012.

Name Age Positions with StoneMor GP LLC

Lawrence Miller (1) 65 Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairmathef Board of Director
Timothy K. Yost 47 Chief Financial Officer and Secrete
David L. Meyers (2 46 Chief Operating Office

William R. Shane 66 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directc
Allen R. Freedmal 73 Director

Peter K. Grunebaum (. 80 Director

Robert B. Hellman, J 54 Director

Martin R. Lautman, Ph.L 67 Director

Fenton R. Talbotl 72 Director

Howard L. Carve 69 Director

Howard T. Slayen (3 66 Director

(1) The Amended and Restated Limited Liability Camyp Agreement of our general partner, as amenaetdedsP LLC Agreement,
specifies that, so long as Mr. Miller serves ase€Eixecutive Officer of our general partner, hellshiao serve as a director of our gent
partner.

(2) Effective October 22, 2013, as part of the plshmanagement succession program, David L. Meyassappointed Interim Chief
Operating Officer of our general partner. Mr. Meyegplaced Michael L. Stache as Chief Operatingc@ffeffective December 31, 2013
when Mr. Stache retired from the position of SeMae President and Chief Operating Officer of ganeral partne

(3) On November 27, 2013, Peter K. Grunebaum notifiedBoard that, effective March 31, 2014, he woelite as a director of our gene
partner and a member of the Audit Committee, CotsflCommittee and Trusts and Compliance Commitekettively, the
“Committees”). Howard T. Slayen was elected to sexy a director of our general partner effectiveddeber 1, 2013. Mr. Slayen was
also elected to be a member of the Committeesviolip Mr. Grunebaur’'s retirement on March 31, 201

Mr. Paul Waimberg resigned from his position of &resident — Finance and Corporate DevelopmenT eeaburer of our general
partner effective February 28, 2013. Duties angdaasibilities of Mr. Waimberg are performed by seremployees of our general partner.

Executive Officer and Board Membe

Lawrence Miller serves as both an executive offaredt a member of the Board of Directors of our galrgartner.

Lawrence Millerhas served as our Chief Executive Officer, Presidad Chairman of the Board of Directors of ourgyahpartner since
our formation in April 2004 and had served as thée€CExecutive Officer and President of Cornerstaiece March 1999 through April 2004.
Prior to joining Cornerstone, Mr. Miller was empém/by The Loewen Group, Inc. (now known as the AMd®ds Group, Inc.), where he
served in various management positions, includixgchtive Vice President of Operations from Janu&97 until June 1998, and President of
the Cemetery Division from March of 1995 until Dedger 1996. Prior to joining The
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Loewen Group, Mr. Miller served as President anteCExecutive Officer of Osiris Holding Corporatioa private consolidator of cemeteries
and funeral homes of which Mr. Miller was a onedhdwner, from November 1987 until March 1995, wi@siris was sold to The Loewen
Group. Mr. Miller served as President and Chief @peg Officer of Morlan International, Inc., onéthe first publicly traded cemetery and
funeral home consolidators from 1982 until 1987ewlMorlan was sold to Service Corporation Inteovel. Mr. Miller has been retained in
this position due to his extensive experience éndbath care industry, his expansive operationsreeqce and acumen, his contacts within the
death care community and his long tenure of semvitte us and our affiliates.

Additional Directors
A brief biography of all non-executive directorsafr general partner is included below:

William R. Shanéas served on the Board of Directors of our gergaether since our formation in April 2004. Mr. Skaserved as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offioeour general partner since our formation iniAp®04 until April 1, 2012, and served as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OffioeCornerstone since March 1999 through April 20Bffective April 1, 2012, Mr. Shane
retired from his position as our Executive Vicegtdent and Chief Financial Officer and became thee\Chairman of the Board of Directors.
Prior to joining Cornerstone, Mr. Shane was empdidyg The Loewen Group, Inc., where he served amB¥ite President of Finance for the
Cemetery Division from March 1995 until January 89Brior to joining The Loewen Group, Mr. Shanevedras Senior Vice President of
Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Osiris HaolgiCorporation, which he founded with Mr. Millendiof which he was a one-third owner.
Prior to founding Osiris, Mr. Shane served as thefdFinancial Officer of Morlan International, Inklr. Shane has been retained in this
position due to his extensive experience in final®érvices and capital raising activities, histaots within the death care and financial
communities and his long tenure of service witland our affiliates.

Allen R. Freedmahas served on the Board of Directors of our genmagher since our formation in April 2004, and Isadved as a
director of Cornerstone since October 2000 throtyghl 2004. Mr. Freedman is a graduate of Tufts\uénsity and the University of Virginia
School of Law. Mr. Freedman retired in July 200énfrhis position as Chairman and Chief Executived@ffof Fortis, Inc., a specialty
insurance company that he started in 1979. He moedi to serve on the board of Assurant, Inc. (8smeo Fortis, Inc.) until May of 2011. He
was previously Chairman of the Board of Systemsan@uter Technology Corporation until 2004 and Indas. until 2007. He currently
serves as trustee of the Eaton Vance Mutual Fundsg3nhere he serves on the Governance and Porlzinagement Committees.

Mr. Freedman has served on the board of a numbshasftable organizations including the PhiladedpBrchestra and the United Way of New
York. He currently serves on the board of Opera Atagthe service organization for over 100 openaganies in the United States, Canada
and Europe. He is also a founding director of tissatiation of Audit Committee Members, Inc. Mr. &@dman has been retained as a membel
of the Board of Directors of our general partnee tluhis extensive financial experience, his innestt and general management experience i
the field or related fields in which the companemies and his experience on other boards of pobfiganies.

Peter Grunebaurhas served on the Board of Directors of our germmaether since December 2004. Mr. Grunebaum, ctiyran
independent investment banker and corporate camguitas the Managing Director of Fortrend Inteioral, an investment firm headquarte
in New York, New York, a position he held from 1988til the end of 2003. Mr. Grunebaum served orbiberd of directors and as a member
of the Audit Committee of Lucas Energy, Inc., ad=wil and gas company, until February 28, 2013.@Gfunebaum has been retained as a
member of the Board of Directors of our generatrgardue to his extensive audit background, higggpce with raising capital and his
service with other public companies.

Robert B. Hellman, Jrhas served on the Board of Directors of our garmgartner since our formation in April 2004 andilsgrved as a
director of Cornerstone since March 1999 throughil®904. Mr. Hellman is the Chief Executive Offircend a Managing Director of McCov
De Leeuw & Co., LLC, which he joined in 1987. McQoWe Leeuw & Co., LLC is the sponsor of numerousgie equity investment funds.
Mr. Hellman was named Managing Director in 1991 @hief Executive Officer in 2001. Mr. Hellman alsofounded American Infrastructu
MLP Funds in 2006. He has been a private equitgstor for 25 years and responsible for inventimgpioneering idea of applying the MLP
structure to the deathcare industry, which leduolBO as a MLP. Mr. Hellman received an MBA frane tHarvard Business School with
Baker Scholar Honors, an MS in economics from thedon School of Economics, and a BA in economiosf6tanford University. He is a
member of the board of the Stanford Institute fool®omic Policy Research. Mr. Hellman has beenmethas a member of the Board of
Directors of our general partner due to his involeat in our initial public offering, his extensiirevestment experience and his prior
experience with raising capital

Martin R. Lautman, Ph.D, has served on the Board of Directors of our ganmartner since our formation in April 2004 arsdaadirector
of Cornerstone since its formation in March 199@tigh April 2004. Dr. Lautman is currently the Mgirey Director of Marketing Channels,
Inc., a company that provides marketing and mamgeatesearch consulting services to the informaitidastry and a partner in Musketeer
Capital, an investor in early stage and small corigza Most recently, he served as the PresidenC&t of GfK Custom Research North
America, a division of a public worldwide marketisgrvices company headquartered in Nuremburg,
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Germany. Prior to that he was the Senior Managiingdibr of ARBOR a U.S.-based marketing resear@nag, where he held several
positions including Senior Managing Director sid@¥4. He has also served with Numex Corporatigruldic machine-tool manufacturing
company, as President from 1987 to 1990 and aatdi from 1991 to 1997. From 1986 to 2000, Duthzan served on the Board of
Advisors of Bachow Inc., a private equity firm sg@izing in hightech companies and software and is now activerituve capital serving as
venture partner in three early stage funds. Drtinam is currently a board member for E.P. Hentya@scaping company, Phoenix
International, a marketing research company anth&eaiPreparation Technologies, a road grooving emmpie is also the former Chairmar
the Board of Penn Hillel. Dr. Lautman has lectupadmarketing in The Cornell Hotel School and ThéuBtbia University School of Business
and currently lectures on marketing strategy, nevdipcts and advertising in the MBA program in Theafion School of Business of the
University of Pennsylvania. He is currently alsadieing marketing strategy in The Smeal School dfilBess of The Pennsylvania School of
Business. Dr. Lautman has been retained as a mayhtier Board of Directors of our general partnee ¢b his involvement in numerous
boards, his strategic planning experience anddpgal raising background.

Fenton R. “Pete” Talbothas served on the Board of Directors of our gergagher since our formation in April 2004 and lsadved as
Chairman of the Board of Cornerstone since Aprd@¢€hrough April 2004. Mr. Talbott served as thedfdent of Talbott Advisors, Inc., a
consulting firm, from January 2006 through Janu0¢0. Mr. Talbott previously served as an operatifiifjate of McCown De Leeuw & Co.,
LLC from November 1999 to December 2004. Additibnaie served as the Chairman of the Board of peletsum International, an
international telemarketing and market-researchpzomg, from August 2000 to January 2001. Prior 891 Mr. Talbott held various executive
positions with Comerica Bank, American Express ©cafion, Bank of America, The First Boston Corptj@rp., and other entities. He
currently serves as a board member of the Preveatdiedicine Research Institute, Kansas UniveBibard of Trustees, Christus/St. Vincent
Hospital Foundation, and Landmark Dividend, LLC..Nalbott has been retained as a member of thedBfdirectors of our general partner
due to his extensive operational experience, livaf@ consulting experience and his extensive ggiémal contact base.

Howard L. Carvethas served on the Board of Directors of our gergaether since August 2005. Mr. Carver retiredunel2002 from
Ernst & Young. During his 35-year career with thenf Mr. Carver held a variety of positions in &ixS. offices, culminating with the position
of managing partner responsible for the operatiche Hartford, Connecticut office. Since June 20@2. Carver has served on the boards of
directors of Assurant, Inc. (formerly Fortis, Inan)d Phoenix National Trust Company (until its $al@pril 2004) and was the chair of the
Audit Committee for both boards. He currently seras the Chair of Assurant’s Nominating and Corjgo@overnance Committee and is a
member of its Audit Committee. Effective Januaryt20Mr. Carver was appointed to the Audit Commité®innacol Assurance, the workers
compensation facility for the State of Coloradad @mJanuary 2013 he was appointed to Pinnacoksdby the Governor of Colorado and
currently serves as the Vice Chair of the Board@hdir of Pinnacol’'s Governance & Executive ComedttMr. Carver has been retained as a
member of the Board of Directors of our generatmmrdue to his extensive financial and audit elgpere, and his risk management
background.

Howard T. Slayemhas served on the Board of Directors of our genmgher since December 2013. Mr. Slayen has beamdapendent
financial consultant since June 2001. From Octd880 to June 2001, Mr. Slayen served as Executive Rresident and Chief Financial
Officer of Quaartz Inc., a web-hosted communicatioampany. From 1971 to September 1999, Mr. Slagéhvarious positions with
PricewaterhouseCoopers as a tax and financial agvpartner. Mr. Slayen currently serves as a threand member of the Audit Committee
Aehr Test Systems, a NASDAQ listed company thaharily designs, engineers and manufactures tesbamdin equipment used in the
semiconductor industry. Mr. Slayen received a BafEconomics and Accounting from Claremont McKe@adlege and a J.D. from the
University of California, Berkeley School of Law.rivSlayen has been elected as a member of the Bb&ndectors of our general partner due
to his extensive financial and accounting expegehés general management experience and his exgeron other boards of public
companies.

Executive Officers (No-Board Members)

A brief biography of additional executive officassincluded below:

Timothy K. Yoshas served as our Chief Financial Officer and Sagresince April 1, 2012 and has served as our Piasident of
Financial Reporting and Investor Relations from Blmber 2004 until March 31, 2012 . Prior to joinugy Mr. Yost was the Chief Financial
Officer of SpinCycle, Inc. a national chain of caiperated laundromats. He began with that compa@@®7. From October 1995 through N
1997, he was a controller for the Magellan Corpores, a real estate limited partnership syndicpéeislizing in the development and
acquisition of multi-unit residential housing profes. From October 1991 through October 1995, Yist was the Head of Premium
Accounting for Republic Western Insurance Compangivision of L-Haul International



David L. Meyerserved as our Interim Chief Operating Officer fr@utober 2013 through December 2013 and has simeedsas Chief
Operating Officer. Mr. Meyers held a variety of fims with increasing responsibilities at Termititernational for more than 22 years,
where he was most recently Division Vice Presidiarh July 2005 until November 2012. In his capaecityDivision Vice President at
Terminix International, Mr. Meyers managed the agiens of multiple branch locations and regionahagement teams in the southeastern
part of the United States. His responsibilitieduded developing the division’s organizational stane, designing process improvements and
leveraging technology to monitor operational resuticrease productivity and drive competitive mfiths. Terminix International is a
subsidiary of The ServiceMaster Company, a globatgany, with services including, among others, ter@nd pest control.
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General Information

The GP LLC Agreement specifies that the directérsun general partner shall be elected by a pliyratite of the Class A units of our
general partner, subject to the requirements desttiin footnote (1) to the table above. CFSI LL@kall of the outstanding Class A units.
CFSI LLC is controlled by the MDC IV Liquidating Uists.

Mr. Hellman serves as the sole member of Gen4 Adetsor LLC, a Delaware limited liability companyhich is a trust advisor to the
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts, which together benefityaown 87.2% of CFSI LLC through their direct owship of approximately 10.1% of tl
Class B units of CFSI LLC and indirectly througleithownership of approximately 90.8% of the membigrinterests in Cornerstone Family
Services LLC, which owns 85% of the Class B unit€BSI LLC. CFSI LLC indirectly holds our generanmner interest, which was 1.83% at
December 31, 2013.

Board Meetings and Executive Sessions, Communicatis with Directors and Board Committees

From January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013, thedBafabirectors of our general partner held four timegs. All directors then in office
attended all of these meetings, either in persdiydeleconference.

Our Board of Directors holds regular executive Be&s in which non-management board members mebowutiany members of
management present. Mr. Hellman, our Lead Diregi@sides at regular sessions of the non-managemambers of our Board of Directors.

Interested parties, including unitholders, may aohbne or more members of our Board of Directoduding non-management
directors individually or as a group, by writingttee director or directors in care of the Secretdrgur general partner at our principal
executive offices. A communication received fromiraerested party or unitholder will be promptlyvi@rded to the director or directors to
whom the communication is addressed. We will notyéver, forward sales or marketing materials orespondence primarily commercial in
nature, materials that are abusive, threatenirajt@rwise inappropriate, or correspondence notlglétentified as interested party or
unitholder correspondence.

We have standing Audit, Conflicts, Trust and Comaptie, and Nominating, Compensation and Corporate@ance Committees of the
Board of Directors of our general partner. The BlaafrDirectors of our general partner appointsrtteambers of such committees. The Audit
Committee has a written charter approved by thedyaehich is posted on our website at www.stoneawon. under the “Investors” section.
Information on our website does not constitute ra pithis Annual Report on Form 10-K. The currerembers of the committees, the number
of meetings held by each committee from Janua013 to December 31, 2013, and a brief descripfdhe functions performed by each
committee are set forth below.

Audit Committee (7 meeting

The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs.dfmea@ (Chairman), Grunebaum and Carver. Messrsdfrae and Carver attended
all seven meetings of the Audit Committee for tieeiqd noted. Mr. Grunebaum patrticipated in sixhaf seven meetings. The primary
responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to as8ie Board of Directors of our general partnatsrgeneral oversight of our financial
reporting, internal controls and audit functionsd & is directly responsible for the appointmeaatention, compensation and oversight of the
work of our independent auditors. Messrs. Freedi@anver and Grunebaum each qualify as “independerdér applicable standards
established by the SEC and NYSE for members oft @odimittees.

In addition, the Audit Committee includes two memsbeho are determined by the Board of Directorswfgeneral partner to have
accounting or related financial management expgedigl to meet the qualifications of an “audit cottemi financial expert” in accordance with
NYSE listing standards and SEC rules, as appliciéssrs. Freedman and Carver are the indepeniteatals who have been determinec
have accounting or related financial managementréise and to be audit committee financial expéstdtholders should understand that this
designation is a disclosure requirement of the &H#éted to Messrs. Freedman and Carver’s experi@m¢e@nderstanding with respect to
certain accounting and auditing matters. The design does not impose on Messrs. Freedman and Camyeduties, obligations or liability
that are greater than are generally imposed on st'emembers of the Audit Committee and the Boafdiiactors of our general partner, and
their designation as an audit committee financiaket pursuant to this SEC requirement does netcafhe duties, obligations or liability of &
other member of the Audit Committee or Board ofdbtors.
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Conflicts Committee (no meetings)

The members of the Conflicts Committee are Me$seedman (Chairman), Carver and Grunebaum. Theapyinesponsibility of the
Conflicts Committee is to review matters that tivectors believe may involve conflicts of intereBhe Conflicts Committee determines if the
resolution of the conflict of interest is fair arehsonable to us. The members of the Conflicts Citteermay not be officers or employees of
our general partner or directors, officers, or eagpes of its affiliates and must meet the indeproestandards to serve on an audit committe
of a board of directors established by the NYSE @atthin other requirements. Any matters approvyethé Conflicts Committee will be
conclusively deemed to be fair and reasonable tapfoved by all of our partners, and not a brdgcbur general partner of any duties it may
owe us or our unitholders.

Conflicts of interest may arise between us andumitholders, on the one hand, and our general @aand its affiliates, including the
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts, on the other hand. Thesaflicts include decisions made by our generainga (such as the amount and timing of
borrowings or whether to acquire additional cenieg3rthat may result in our general partner reogivincentive distributions.

Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governancen@nittee (4 meetings

The members of the Nominating, Compensation angg@ate Governance Committee are Messrs. Talboti(@an), Hellman, and
Lautman. All the members attended all meetinghiefdommittee for the period noted above. The pymasponsibility of the Nominating,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committeeoigersee compensation decisions for the outsigetdrs of our general partner and
executive officers of our general partner (in thierd they are to be paid by our general partnewedsas our long-term incentive plan, and to
select and recommend nominees for election to tadBof Directors of our general partner.

Trust and Compliance Committee (4 meetings)

The members of the Trust and Compliance Committedtessrs. Talbott (Chairman), Freedman, Gruneb&imane and Carver.
Mr. Shane was appointed to the Trust and Compli@uemittee in November 2013. Funds that are hetdenchandise trusts and perpetual
care trusts are managed by third-party investmemagers within specified investment guidelines éelbpy the Trust and Compliance
Committee of our board of directors and standargsosed by state law.

These investment managers are monitored by thart investment advisors selected by our Trust@mahpliance Committee who adv
the Trust and Compliance Committee on the detetinim®f asset allocations, evaluate the investmaaragers and provide detailed monthly
reports on the performance of each merchandis@ammetual care trust. All members, who were thdéivaenembers of the committee,
attended all of the meetings noted above, eithpemon or by teleconference.

Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managers, Cedf Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors, tB®de of Ethics Policy, and the
Corporate Governance Guidelines

We adopted a Code of Ethical Conduct applicablltof our financial managers, including our prim&i executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer oontroller or persons performing similar functiomte Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial
Managers incorporates guidelines designed to eatmrgdoing and to promote honest and ethical canalod compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. If any amendments are made t@tlke of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managersfave or our general partner grants any
waiver, including any implicit waiver, from a pr@ion of the code to any of its financial manageses will disclose the nature of such
amendment or waiver on our website (www.stoneman)aar in a report on Form 8-K. We also adoptedGbee of Business Conduct and
Ethics for Directors, the Code of Ethics Policy igable to our officers and other employees, amdGbrporate Governance Guidelines, which
constitute the framework for our corporate goveoean

The Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managtrs,Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Dams¢the Code of Ethics Policy,
and the Corporate Governance Guidelines are pylaidilable on our website under the “Investorstiem at www.stonemor.com.
Information on our website does not constitute r plthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Our general partner’s directors, officers and bierafowners of more than 10 percent of commonsuait required to file reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership thighSEC. Directors, officers and beneficial owr@rmore than 10% of our common units
are also required to furnish us with copies ofatth reports that are filed. Based on our reviesopies of such forms and amendments, we
believe that all of our directors, executive offe@and greater than 10% beneficial owners compli¢iul all filing requirements under
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during the yealeed December 31, 2013.
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Item 11. Executive Compensatior
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Our Compensation Process

Our business is managed by the directors, offiardsemployees of StoneMor GP LLC, our general partive have no employees of
own. Accordingly, all decisions relating to compatien of the executive officers and directors of general partner are made by the board of
directors of our general partner, which we refeagdhe board. The Nominating, Compensation angd&ate Governance Committee of the
board, which we refer to as the compensation coteaits responsible for determining, or making necendations to the board regarding the
compensation of executive officers and outsidectiirs and for overseeing all executive officer cemgation programs, plans and policies,
including those involving the issuance of equitgisdies.

Our general partner does not receive any managde®or other compensation for managing our busiras is reimbursed by us for
expenses incurred on our behalf. These expensesi@all expenses necessary or appropriate toathéuct of our business and allocable tc
The partnership agreement provides that our geparaier will determine in good faith the expenthed are allocable to us. All items of cash
compensation reflected in the tables below werariecl on our behalf by our general partner andbaised by us.

Objectives and Overview of Our Compensation Progeam

Our compensation programs are designed by the laoatdompensation committee to attract, motivateratain high quality executive
officers who will advance our overall businesstsiées and goals to create and return value taioitinolders. Our business goals are to
increase our revenues, profits and cash distribsititom existing operations, facilitate our growhhough acquisitions, promote a cohesive
team effort and provide a workplace environment tbsters compliance with the laws and regulatiaplicable to our business. We believe
that an effective executive compensation prograoulshmaximize the value of our unitholders’ investthby aligning the interests of our
executive officers with the interests of our unitters. We also believe that such program shouldigeccompetitive total compensation at a
reasonable cost.

Our compensation programs include short-term elésnench as annual base salaries and cash boassesl|l as longer term elements
such as equity based awards. Some of our exeafficers may also receive health, disability arid insurance benefits and automobile
allowances, and are entitled to defer a portiothefr compensation pursuant to our 401(k) retirenpéam. We do not match any contributions
under that plan. We have no formula for allocatietyveen long or short-term compensation, cash wcash compensation, or among
different forms of non-cash compensation, all ofalballocations are determined at the discretiothefcompensation committee.

Role of the Board, the Compensation Committee andridgemen

The board appointed the compensation committessistahe board in discharging its responsibilitedating to compensation matters,
including compensation of directors and executiffie@rs of our general partners. The compensat@nrittee is responsible for reviewing,
evaluating and approving agreements, plans, pslae programs utilized to compensate the offiabrectors and employees of our general
partner.

In 2013, the compensation committee engaged a amsagien consultant to perform a market-based aisaty®executive compensation
of comparable companies. However, the compensatioimmittee determined the compensation of our ekexofficers without the input of
any compensation consultants. Compensation desisiwnndividual executive officers are the resflthe subjective analysis of a number of
factors, including the executive officer's expedenskills and tenure with us as well as the irffputept in case of the CEO’s compensation) ¢
our Chief Executive Officer. In making individuabmpensation decisions, the compensation commidessron the judgment and experience
of its members as well as information that is reabdy available to committee members, including,rat limited to, comparable company
data.

The compensation committee considers the amourdalf executive officer's current compensation base against which it determines
as to whether increases are appropriate in ordamotagde continuing performance incentives. In &ddi the compensation committee
evaluates the compensation that would be apprepiaadttract and retain executive officers in lighthe competition. The compensation
committee considers the impact of accounting ardréatments to us and the recipients in deterrgiexecutive officers’ compensation.
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Elements of Our Executive Compensation Progr:

The following table sets forth the primary elemeniteur executive compensation program and thectibeeach element is designed to
achieve.

Element Characteristics Purpose

Base Salary Fixed annual cash compensation. ExecutiveHelps attract and retain executives with
officers are eligible for periodic increases skills and experience necessary to execute
based on performance and such other factoosir business strategy.
as the compensation committee may

determine

Bonuses Annual cash incentives earned based on Rewards executives for successful
performance and such other factors as the management of the business and achieving
compensation committee may determ performance objective

Long-Term Equity Incentive Awards Performance-related equity based grants Aligns executive officers’ performance with
motivating executives to consider our long- unitholders’interests and rewards executi
term objectives. for increasing unitholder value over the

long-term.
Health, Welfare and Retirement Benefits Health and disability insurance benefits are Provides benefits to our executive officers

available to our executive officers and all and other employees to meet their health,
other regular full-time employees. Executivevellness and retirement needs.

officers as well as other full-time employees

can defer a portion of their compensation

pursuant to our 401(k) retirement pl

Perquisites Represents an immaterial element of our Encourages long-term retention of
executive compensation progra executives

Agreements with Executive Offic

In 2013, our general partner entered into (i) arpByment Separation Agreement (the “Separation dgrent”) with Mr. Waimberg in
connection with his resignation as Vice Presidenfirance and Corporate Development and Treasumuirageneral partner, (i) an Amended
and Restated Employment Agreement (the “Employmgnéement”)with Mr. Miller, the Chief Executive Officer and €sident of our gener
partner, and (iii) a Letter Agreement with Mr. Meyén connection with his appointment as Interimie€®perating Officer of our general
partner.

The terms of the foregoing agreements were detedriy negotiation between the compensation comenittenanagement in case of
Messrs. Waimberg and Meyers, subject to the congpimmscommittee’s approval, and each executiverafidct the compensation committee’
belief at the time such agreements were enteredhat the amounts of payments and benefits prdvigethe agreements and the
circumstances under which they would be paid ovigdesl were reasonable. See “Agreements with NanxedEive Officers” for additional
information regarding the terms of these agreements

Base Salan

Base salary is the guaranteed element of our exeafficers’compensation. The base salaries of Mr. Miller,Giéef Executive Office
of our general partner, Mr. Yost, the Chief Finah€fficer of our general partner, and Mr. Meyéhg Chief Operating Officer of our general
partner, described below reflect the subjectivesssent of the compensation committee and the ptadidg into consideration the experie
of the executive, the competitive market for simylakilled executives, the complexity of the extee's job, our financial capabilities and
business goals.

For 2013, Mr. Miller's base salary was increase@#325,000 from $500,000. Mr. Miller's base salagsvsubsequently increased to
$528,000, pursuant to his Employment Agreement.

For 2013, Mr. Yost's base salary was increase@&$H00 from $225,000.
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Effective October 22, 2013, Mr. Meyers was appalriteerim Chief Operating Officer with an annuakbaalary of $300,000, which v
comparative to the base salary of $315,000 of MitB#ache, our former Chief Operating Officer, whtired effective December 31, 2013.

Bonuses

Bonuses are designed to motivate our executivashi@ve our shotierm earnings growth and provide awards for suéesessmnagemer
of the business. Bonuses and the identity of tbipients are determined at the discretion of themensation committee, after considering the
recommendations of our Chief Executive Officer tedbto other executive officers and employees. Chmpensation Committee considers the
following factors in determining the amount of distionary bonus payable to an executive officer.axerall performance in light of econon
conditions experienced during the fiscal year,gkecutive’s contribution to our annual and longnetrategic objectives, and the quality of the
executive’s work.

For 2013, the compensation committee awarded disoeey bonuses to certain key employees of ouegdmpartner. Messrs. Miller,
Yost, Stache, and Waimberg were awarded $462,318,$32, $125,064, and $61,514, respectively.

Long Term Equity Incentive Plan Awards

Awards under our long-term incentive plan are desijto motivate our executives to remain employedsfor a sufficient period of
time to achieve our longer term business goalsraaréase unitiolder value. Unless otherwise specified in therdvegreements or determin
by the compensation committee, unvested awards theldong-term incentive plan are forfeited uponeaecutive’s termination of
employment. Pursuant to certain key employee otsttiphantom unit agreements and unit appreciaibits agreements with our executives,
unvested awards under our long-term incentive ptarforfeited if employment terminates for any mrasther than a change of control, death,
permanent disability or retirement at age 65 oeptyge approved by the compensation committeegidre of awards under our long-term
incentive plan is made at the discretion of thertb@d directors or the compensation committee pieable, after considering
recommendations of our Chief Executive Officer tedbto other executive officers and employees.

In connection with Mr. Stache’s retirement, the pe@msation committee approved his retirement agknarforfeiture of his unit
appreciation rights granted under the UAR Agreera@plied in connection with his retirement effeetbecember 31, 2013.

In 2013, 5,685 phantom units that were creditelditoMiller's mandatory deferred compensation acdpparsuant to his distribution
equivalent rights under his executive restrictedrpbm unit agreements. Phantom units become payatdash or common units, at our
election, upon the separation of the executive fsemvice or upon the occurrence of certain othentssspecified in the applicable agreement.

In addition, on October 22, 2013, Mr. Meyers waanged 25,000 unit appreciation rights (“UARS&f)connection with his appointment
Interim Chief Operating Officer. UARSs vest at agentage rate equal to a fraction, the numeratarmhach is the number of calendar months of
employment which have elapsed since October 223 26 the denominator of which is 48. The UARs expiyears after the date of the
grant.

For additional information on 2013 awards madeuoeaxecutive officers, see Note 11 to consolidditeahcial statements included in t
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The board does not have a program, plan or praititime grants of awards in coordination with asle of material non-public
information.

Severance Payments

The employment agreement for Mr. Miller, which veagtered into in 2004 and amended and restatedyir20(3, provides for severance
payments in the amount of 2.5 times base salattyeirevent an executiveemployment is terminated by our general partrigront cause or k
the executive for good reason. In that circumstaalt®f the executive’s unvested equity award$ vakt and the executive will be entitled to
the continuation of insurance benefits for an agjeriod or a cash equivalent. We do not providd gayments to executives that are
triggered by a change of control of our companguwrgeneral partner, but upon such a change ofalait of our executives’ unvested equity
awards will vest. We believe that the foregoingaagements are necessary to provide for persoraldial security and encourage the
continued attention and dedication of the managémadéent required to achieve our business goals.
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Health and Welfare Benefits and Perquis

Our named executive officers participate in a wadmay of benefit plans that are available to albof salaried employees, including
health, life and disability insurance plans. Weeagafly do not offer our named executive officery armaterial compensation in the form of
perquisites. Perquisites provided to our namedwgkexofficers described in Footnote 3 to the Sumyn@ompensation Table below are linked
to our compensation philosophy of encouraging dngiterm retention of our executives.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Goves@ommittee of the board of directors of our gahpartner has reviewed and
discussed with management the Compensation Disguasid Analysis for the year ended December 313.2Based on such review and
discussions, the Nominating, Compensation and Catpd@overnance Committee recommended to the Bbatdhe Compensation
Discussion and Analysis be included in this Anrfra@port on Form 10-K.

This Compensation Committee Report shall not bengekincorporated by reference in any document pusly or subsequently filed
with the SEC that incorporates by reference aliror portion of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, eptto the extent that we specifically
request that the report be incorporated by referenc

By the Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Gumere Committee.
Fenton R. Talbott, Chairman
Robert B. Hellman, Jr.

Martin R. Lautman
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table sets forth the compensationralwd to, earned by, or paid to our Chief Execu@¥fcer, our Chief Financial Officer

and our three other most highly compensated exexufficers, referred to as named executive offickar all services rendered in all capac
to us and our subsidiaries. Terms “Stock” and “@tiin the Summary Compensation Table and othdesahcluded in this Item 11 refer to
common units and unit appreciation rights, respetti of StoneMor Partners L.P.

Stock Option All Other

Name and Salary Bonus Awards (1) Awards (1) Compensation (2 Total

Principal Position Year ($) (%) ($) (%) $) $)

Lawrence Miller 201: $526,61¢ (3) $462,51! $ 14375: $ — $ 13,20 $1,146,08 (4)
Chief Executive Officer, Preside 201z $500,00¢ (3) $ — $1,10238 $ — $ 16,47t $1,618,86. (4)
and Chairman of the Boa 2011 $500,00 ) $ — $ 2652 $ — $ 18,947 $ 54547 (4)

Timothy K. Yost 201: $250,00( $189,33. $ — $ — 3 — $ 439,330 (4)
Chief Financial Officer and Secrete 201z $212,50( $ — 3 — $ 92,000 $ — $ 304,500 (4)

David L. Meyers (5 201: $ 56,53¢ $ — % —  $50,000 $ 20,54¢ $ 127,08t (4)
Chief Operating Office

Michael L. Stache (& 2012 $315,00( (3) $125,06: $ - $ — 3 12,00 $ 452,06 (4)
Former Senior Vice President a 201z $315,000 3 $ — % - $ — 3 15,17¢ $ 330,17¢ (4)
Chief Operating Office 2011 $315.000 ;) $ — $ - $ — 3 17,800 $ 332,800 (4)

Paul Waimberg (6 201: $ 32,81¢ $ 6151 $ - $ — 3 102,79¢ $ 197,12¢ (4)
Former Vice-Presiden— Finance ant 201z $215,98: $ — 3 — $ 92,000 $ 6,00C $ 313,98. (4)
Corporate Development, and Treast 2011 $187,00( $ — 3 - $ — 3 6,00C $ 193,00 (4)

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

Represents the aggregate grant date fair vdlaeards made during the year in accordance wittari€ial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 refdr@ as “ASC Topic 718" based on the assumptiohfosth in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements included in onnéal Report on Form 10-K. In 2013, Mr. Miller riévad 5,685.38 Restricted Phantom
Units with an aggregate fair value of $143,754.0Als 2013, Mr. Meyers received 25,000 Unit Appaticin Rights (UARs) with an
aggregate fair value of $50,000. In 2012, Mr. Milleceived 46,231.82 Restricted Phantom Units asitlaggregate fair value of
$1,102,388 Also, in 2012, Messrs. Yost and Waimlearch received 25,000 Unit Appreciation Rights (WARith an aggregate fair
value of $92,000. In 2011, Mr. Miller received 956 Restricted Phantom Units with an aggregatevtdire of $26,52€

Other compensation for 2013 includes auto aloees of $13,200 for Mr. Miller, $12,000 for MraShe and $1,000 for Mr. Waimberg
and a $12,500 hiring bonus to Mr. Meyers. The camgso paid $8,048 in 2013 for relocation and terapy housing expenses for
Mr. Meyers. In addition, Mr. Waimberg received $I86 in severance payments in accordance withelisrance agreement. Other
compensation for 2012 includes an auto allowanc&18{200 for Mr. Miller, $12,000 for Mr. Stache,da$6,000 for Mr. Waimberg, and
$3,275 in expenses related to the travel of thespof Mr. Miller, and $3,179 for the travel of thgouse of Mr. Stache. Other
compensation for 2011 includes an auto allowanc&l8f200 for Mr. Miller, $12,000 for Mr. Stache,da$6,000 for Mr. Waimberg and
$5,747 in expenses related to the travel of thespof Mr. Miller, and $5,803 for the travel of thgouse of Mr. Stache on business tt
Base salary is payable pursuant to the terms efigsloyment agreement (S“Agreements with Named Executive Offic”).

For information regarding cash distributionattiay be received by our named executive offibgneasons of their ownership interests
in our general partner or its affiliates < Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trafmastand Director Independer”.

Effective October 22, 2013, as part of the pshmanagement succession program, David L. Meyassappointed Interim Chief
Operating Officer of StoneMor GP LLC, the generaitper of StoneMor Partners L.P. Mr. Meyers repdadéchael L. Stache as Chief
Operating Officer effective December 31, 2013 whtnStache retired from the position of Senior VResident and Chief Operating
Officer of StoneMor GP LLC

Mr. Waimberg served as our Vice President —aRae and Corporate Development and Treasurerkatiiiuary 28, 2013. He received
certain compensation in the form of severance tjincAugust 30, 201:

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS DURING THE YEAR ENDED D ECEMBER 31, 2013

The following table sets forth information regamgligrants of plan-based awards to our named execofficers during the year ended

December 31, 2013.
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All Other Stock All Other Option Exercise ol
Awards: Number of Awards: Number of Base Price Grant Date Fair
Shares of Stock ol Securities Underlying of Option Value of Stock
Units Options Awards and Option
Name Grant Date (#) (#) ($/Sh) Awards (3)
Lawrence Miller 2/14/201. 1,337.1¢ o o $ 34,35 (1)
5/15/201. 1,289.1: — — $ 35,43 (1)
8/15/201. 1,575.7: — — $ 36,50¢ (1)
11/15/201. 1,483.3 — — $ 37,455 (1)
David L. Meyers 10/22/201. — 25,00( $ 25.61 $ 50,00 (2)

(1) Under executive restricted phantom unit agregmentered into under our long-term incentive pMn Miller was credited with
5,685.38 phantom units during 2013 pursuant talisisibution equivalent right:

(2) Mr. Meyers was granted 25,000 UARs that vest rgtabkér a period of 48 months beginning on the gdaté.

(3) The fair value of awards to Mr. Miller was callated based on the publically traded price ofammmon units on the day prior to the date
the awards were granted. The fair value of awamdrtavieyers was calculated using the Black-Schafieston option pricing model. See
Note 11 to consolidated financial statements inetlish this Annual Report on Form-K.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013

The following table sets forth information with pest to outstanding equity awards at December @13 2or our named executive
officers.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of Market Value
Securities Securities of Shares or
Underlying Underlying Number of Share: Units of
Unexercised Unexercised Option or Units of Stock Stock
Options (#) Options (#) Exercise Price Option That Have That Have
Name Exercisable (1 Unexercisable (1 (%) Expiration Date Not Vested (#) (2 Not Vested
Lawrence Miller 175,00 — $ 18.8( 12/16/201. 63,90¢ $1,630,93;
Timothy K. Yost 25,00( — $ 18.8( 12/16/201. — $ —
Timothy K. Yost 10,41¢ 14,58¢ $ 24.3¢ 4/2/201" — $ —
David L. Meyers 1,041 23,95¢ $ 25.61 10/22/201: — $ —
Michael L. Stacht 3,12¢ — $  18.8C 12/16/201. — $ —

(1) Pursuantto a unit appreciation rights agre¢rantered into under our long-term incentive plarDecember 16, 2009, Messrs. Miller,
Yost, and Stache, were each granted 175,000, 250@075,000 UARSs, respectively. Pursuant to aapyteciation rights agreement
entered into under our long-term incentive plarApnil 2, 2012, Mr. Yost was granted 25,000 UARsrduant to a unit appreciation
rights agreement entered into under our long-tecentive plan on October 22, 2013, Mr. Meyers wasigd 25,000 UARs. The UARs
entitle an executive to receive, in our whole commaits or cash, at our election, the excess ofainevalue of the common unit on the
day prior to the exercise date over the applicakkcise price, which was the last trading prica obmmon unit immediately preceding
the grant. The UARSs vest ratably over a period®fmbnths beginning on the grant d:

(2) Pursuantto an executive restricted phantorhagreement entered into under our long-term ineemqian, on December 16, 2009,

Mr. Miller received 10,000 phantom units. In adaliti on November 7, 2012, Mr. Miller was grantedd®9, restricted phantom units
under our long-term incentive plan. During 2013 Miller was credited with 5,685 phantom units panstto his distribution equivalent
rights pursuant to the foregoing agreements. Tlaafoim units become payable, in cash or common,wtitsur election, upon the
separation of the executive from service as anwikexof our general partner or upon the occurrefaertain other events. The market
value has been computed by multiplying the cloginge of the common units on December 31, 201hbynumber of unvested uni
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OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED DURING YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

The following table provides information about tredue realized by the named executive officersheneixercise of unit appreciation
rights during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Option Awards
Number of Share:

Acquired on Value Realizec
Exercise on Exercise

Name ) @ $ @)
Michael L. Stache 19,21¢ $ 493,06
Paul Waimber 1,287 $  32,60(
Paul Waimber 1,30¢ $ 34,94
Paul Waimber 69¢ $ 18,67:
Paul Waimber 95 $ 2,20

(1) Mr. Stache exercised 71,875 UARs which hadedshder our Long Term Incentive Plan. The UARs draéxercise price of $18.80 per
unit and their exercise resulted in the issuancd¢15 units based upon the difference betweefathealue of our outstanding comm
units on the day prior to the exercise date of Bet®4, 2013 ($25.66) and the exercise p
Mr. Waimberg had multiple exercises of UARs durihg period. The UARs had varying exercise pricasrasulted in the issuance of
3,386 units based upon the difference betweeraih@dlue of our outstanding common units on theouss exercise dates and the
exercise prices.

Agreements with Named Executive Officers

The following is a summary of certain material gsians of agreements between our general partrteMassrs. Miller, Meyers, Stache
and Waimberg.

Lawrence Miller

On July 22, 2013, our general partner enteredtiredEmployment Agreement with Mr. Miller, Presidentd Chief Executive Officer,
amending and restating his prior employment agre¢mitective as of September 20, 2004, as amefdedemployment agreement has an
initial term that expires three years, but is awtioally extended for successive one-year termigssreither party gives written notice of non-
renewal ninety days prior to the end of the themtéhe “Employment Period”).

During the Employment Period, Mr. Miller will rea& an annual base salary of $528,000, subjecttease in the discretion of
StoneMor GP’s Board of Directors or the Compensa@ommittee. In addition, Mr. Miller is eligible t@ceive an annual bonus award based
upon satisfaction of objectives approved by therBad Directors or the Compensation Committee dfotjectives are established, Mr. Miller
may, at the discretion of StoneMor GP, receive musaf up to 50% of his base salary for meetinggeted goals. Mr. Miller is also entitled to
participate in other discretionary bonus or perfanee-based bonus programs for senior executivegldas equity incentive plans, as
determined in the discretion of the Board or thenensation Committee.

The Employment Agreement includes certain obligetiof StoneMor GP upon the termination of Mr. Mikeemployment. In the event
of Mr. Miller's death, during the Employment Perjamt “Disability,” as defined in the Employment Agament, Mr. Miller, Mr. Miller’s estate,
and/or beneficiaries, as applicable, are entitbedi} earned but unpaid base salary prior to tie df termination; (ii) payment for all accrued
but unused vacation time prior to the date of teation; (iii) in the event of death, payment foyaarned but deferred bonus for any year |
to the year of his death or, in the event of Dikghipayment of any earned but unpaid bonus ttres deferred or elected to be deferred by
Mr. Miller or StoneMor GP; (iv) a pro rata portiofithe bonus payable under any bonus program @cefor the year in which the termination
occurs; (v) immediate vesting of and lapsing ofrietsons on all unvested stock awards, if anydhes of the date of termination;

(vi) continuation of personal or family medical ledits, as applicable, for two years; (vii) in theeat of death, a payment of $4,875,000, or in
the event of Disability, an amount equal to thedpict of Mr. Miller's base salary, multiplied by actor of 2.50; and (viii) such additional
benefits provided for in the then existing plamagrams and/or arrangements of StoneMor GP. Inrdedgartially fund the foregoing benefits
in the event of Mr. Miller's death, StoneMor GP Ipaschased life insurance coverage in the face atafu$5,000,000, payable to StoneMor
GP, with premiums of approximately $44,635 per yeathe term of the policy.

In the event Mr. Miller's employment is terminatid “Cause,” as defined in the Employment Agreemdfit Miller is entitled to:
() earned but unpaid base salary prior to the datermination; (ii) payment for all accrued buiused vacation time prior to the date of
termination; (iii) payment of any earned bonus thias deferred; and (iv) such additional benefitsnag be provided by the then existing ple
programs and/or arrangements of StoneMor GP.

Mr. Miller's employment may be terminated by StoreMGP without Cause or Mr. Miller may terminate éraployment for “Good
Reason,’as defined in the Employment Agreement. In eitveng Mr. Miller is entitled to: (i) earned but wid base salary prior to the date
termination; (ii) payment for all accrued but undisecation time up to the date of termination) @yment of any earned bonus that was
deferred; (iv) any bonus payable pursuant to amub@rogram, to the extent already earned but adi
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in the year in which termination occurs; (v) an amioequal to Mr. Millers base salary, multiplied by a factor of 2.50; {mijnediate vesting ¢
and lapsing of restrictions on all unvested stogkrals; (vii) continued patrticipation in StoneMor '€Fhedical, dental, hospitalization and life
insurance plans, programs and/or arrangementsichviite was participating on the date of the tertiamauntil the earlier of two years; the
date he receives substantially equivalent coveuagler the plans, programs and/or arrangementsatbsequent employer or the date on wi
such plans are terminated, provided, however fstch coverage not be allowed under StoneMor GRiss, Mr. Miller is entitled to a lump
sum payment, less contributions, in an amount efguidle amount that StoneMor GP would have speMiomiller’'s premiums for the same
period; and (viii) such additional benefits prowddender existing plans and programs of StoneMofd@ifer than severance payments payable
under any benefit plan).

During the Employment Period and for one year thiéee, Mr. Miller is generally prohibited from ergjag in any business that compe
with StoneMor GP in areas in which StoneMor GP emtsl business during the Employment Period and tealate of termination of
Mr. Miller's employment. During the Employment Retiand for two years thereafter, Mr. Miller is geally prohibited from soliciting or
inducing any of StoneMor GP’s employees to ternginheir employment or accept employment with anyalse or interfere in a similar
manner with the business of StoneMor GP. The nonpatition period may terminate earlier if (i) Mr.ilMr is terminated other than for Cause
and (ii) such termination does not occur withirtthdays of a “Change in Control,” as defined ie Bmployment Agreement. In addition,
subject to limited exceptions, during the Employtreeriod and thereafter, Mr. Miller is obligated t@ divulge, furnish or make available to
any person confidential information with respecttte business or affairs of StoneMor GP.

David Meyers

In connection with his appointment as the InterimeE Operating Officer, Mr. Meyers entered into ettler Agreement with our general
partner, which provides for Mr. Meyers to receiveamnual base salary of $300,000 per year andreglionus of $12,500. Pursuant to the
Letter Agreement, Mr. Meyers is also eligible toae a discretionary annual bonus of up to a marimf 25% of his annual base salary. The
sum of $75,000 is guaranteed as the minimum arbuarals for the calendar year ending December 314.201. Meyers will be provided with
temporary housing for 120 days, and our generahpawill cover the customary buyers’ closing cqstscluding down payment) for the
purchase of a home by December 31, 2014. Our depetaer will also reimburse Mr. Meyers’ relocatiexpenses, subject to Mr. Meyers’
obligation to pay back the reimbursed expenses tehminates his employment within 12 months frbmrelocation date. Mr. Meyers also
entered into a Confidentiality and Non-Compete A&gnent with StoneMor GP, which contains customary-salicitation, nonsompetition an
confidentiality covenants.

Michael Stacht

The employment agreement for Michael Stache iongdr effective due to his retirement effective &aber 31, 2013.

Paul Waimber¢

On February 28, 2013, our general partner entetedthe Separation Agreement with Mr. Waimbergadnreection with Mr. Waimberg's
resignation as Vice President — Finance and Cotpd@avelopment and Treasurer of our general parkh@suant to the Separation
Agreement, Mr. Waimberg received a severance p&ckagsisting of: (i) twenty-six weeks’ base salpayd over the period of March 1, 2013
to August 30, 2013; (ii) a contribution to Mr. Wdierg’s COBRA premium for the months of March 20i®tigh August 2013 on the same
basis as StoneMor GP contributed to Mr. Waimbeegployee health insurance premium prior to thegregtion; and (iii) continued vesting of
Mr. Waimberg’s unit appreciation rights during fheriod from March 1, 2013 to August 30, 2013 asapgd by the compensation committee.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Guatrol

The following table describes the potential payraemd benefits under the employment agreementagnegments relating to awards
granted under our long-term incentive plan to whitdhnamed executive officers would be entitledrugsmination of employment if our
general partner terminated their employment withwautse or if the executive terminates for goodaeaassuming the termination took place
on December 31, 2013. A change of control of ouega partner or of us would not trigger changeasitrol payments but would accelerate
the vesting of the outstanding unvested awardstggdaimder our long-term incentive plan.
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Continuation of Acceleration
Medical/Welfare and Continuation Total
Cash Severanc Termination
Benefits of Equity
Payment (Present Value) Awards Benefits
Name ) %) 1) %) (2 (OXE)] 6]
Lawrence Miller $ 1,320,001 $ 31,33: $ 1,630,93 $2,982,26.
Timothy K. Yost $ — $ — $ 16,91: $ 16,917
David L. Meyers $ — $ — $ — $ —

(1) Mr. Miller is entitled to 2.5 times his base annsalary.

(2) Mr. Miller is entitled to continued coverage unaer medical, dental, hospitalization and life ireswe programs for two yea

(3) At December 31, 2013, Mr. Miller held 63,908ateed executive phantom units. Mr. Yost held 14,58vested UARSs for which the
strike price was $24.36. Mr. Meyers held 23,95%asted UARs for which the strike price was $25.6ie @mount calculated hereunder
is based upon the fair value of our outstandingraomunits at December 31, 2013 ($25.52). The fainer of Mr. Miller's deferred
executive phantom units is equal to the total umitstanding multiplied by the December 31, 20i8value of our common units. The
value of UARs is equal to the total unvested UARStiplied by the difference between the fair vabfeour common units at
December 31, 2013 and the strike price ($24.36MiorYost. As the fair value is less than the sinicice for Mr. Meyers, the accelerated

value is $0

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth compensation infotimafor 2013 for each member of our general pai$rmoard of directors, except for
the director who is also an executive officer of general partner and does not receive additiomapensation for serving on the board. See
“Summary Compensation Tablé&r compensation disclosures related to Lawrend&eMiour Chief Executive Officer, President anda@man

of the Board.
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(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Fees Earned o All Other
Stock Awards Compensatior

Paid in Cash
Name ($) (%) 4 (5) $) Total ($)
William R. Shane (1) $ — $ 32,64¢ $ — $ 32,64¢
Allen R. Freedman (Z $ 52,87 $ 58,37 $ — $111,24¢
Peter K. Grunebaum (2) ( $ 52,12 $  45,08( $ — $ 97,20¢
Robert B. Hellman, Jr. ( $ 38,12¢ $ 32,17t $ — $ 70,30(
Martin R. Lautman, Ph.D. (. $ 38,12¢ $ 58,37: $ — $ 96,49¢
Fenton R. Talbott (2 $ 51,12t $ 52,15¢ $ — $103,28:-
Howard L. Carver (2 $ 42,87" $ 55,24¢ $ — $ 98,12«
Howard T. Slayen (3 $ — $ — $ — $ —

In connection with his retirement from the piosi of Executive Vice President and Chief Finah€ifficer, Mr. Shane entered into an
employment agreement with our general partner,yamtsto which he serves as an advisor availabteaieagement and Vice Chairmar
the Board of Directors of our general partner uisitil 1, 2014. During 2013, Mr. Shane earned $880,in accordance with this
agreement as well as other compensation consistiag auto allowance of $13,200. The agreementiges\vfor severance payments in
the amount of the base salary and continued medichivelfare benefits for the remainder of the txgar employment period if the
agreement is terminated without cause. The potguaiaments to which he would be entitled assumiregtérmination took place on
December 31, 2013 would be $110,000 and $3,916isseverance and continued medical benefits thrédymil 1, 2014. Mr. Shane wi
not compensated as a director during 2(

Each board member, excluding Messrs. Miller Shene, receives an annual cash retainer of $304006h was increased from $22,500
during the second quarter of 2013, an annual retamdeferred restricted phantom units of $12,%0@| an additional $10,000 annual
retainer which can be received in cash, deferrstliceed phantom units or a combination of cashdefdrred restricted phantom units at
the board member’s election. All board members teweted to receive the additional $10,000 retameeferred phantom units except
for Messrs. Grunebaum and Talbott. Mr. Grunebaweives $10,000 in cash and Mr. Talbott receive®®5bin cash and $5,000 in
deferred phantom units. In addition to the retantre same board members receive a meeting & @0, which was increased from
$1,000 during the second quarter of 2013, for eaebting of the board of directors attended in peestd $750 for each committee
meeting attended in person, a fee of $500 for g@p#iion in each telephone board call that is gretlian one hour, but less than two
hours, and $1,000 for participation in each teleghlboard call that is two hours or more. In additidr. Freedman receives an annual
retainer of $10,000 as the Chairman of the Audin@uttee and Mr. Talbott receives annual retainé®&2¢500 for serving as the
Chairman for both our Nominating, Compensation @ogporate Governance Committee and our Trusts amdpiance Committee

On November 27, 2013, the Board elected HowaiSlayen to serve as a director of StoneMor Gectiffe December 1, 2013. On
November 27, 2013, Peter K. Grunebaum, a diredt8taneMor GP and a member of the Audit Commit@eanflicts Committee an
Trusts and Compliance Committee (collectively, tiemmittees”), notified the Board that he wouldirets a director of StoneMor GP
and a member of the Committees effective Marci2B814. Mr. Slayen will become a member of the Coneait following

Mr. Grunebaum'’s retirement on March 31, 2014. Inrextion with his election as a director of Stonel@®, Mr. Slayen is entitled to
receive standard director compensation availabtgher directors of StoneMor G

During 2013, each of Messrs. Freedman, Hellmaotman, and Carver were awarded 888.03 defeesidcted phantom units,

Mr. Grunebaum was awarded 493.35 deferred redrjgh@ntom units and Mr. Talbott was awarded 69@e§8rred restricted phantom
units in payment of the portion of their annuabieér. The deferred restricted phantom units adited to a mandatory deferred
compensation account established for each sucbmédfsr each deferred restricted phantom unit @h silccount, we credit the account,
solely in additional deferred restricted phantoritgjran amount of distribution equivalent rightsasoto provide the deferred restricted
phantom unit holders means of participating one-fammn-one basis in distributions made to holderswafcommon units. In 2013,

Mr. Shane was credited with an additional 1,29H&f@rred restricted phantom units, Messrs. Freedmdri_autman were each credited
with an additional 1,419.23 deferred restrictedrbm units, Mr. Grunebaum was credited with an toldil 1,288.81 deferred restricted
phantom units, Mr. Hellman was credited with anithidal 383.17 deferred restricted phantom units, Milbott was credited with an
additional 1,371.15 deferred restricted phantontsyand Mr. Carver was credited with an additidhdP5.76 deferred restricted phant
units pursuant to their distribution equivalentitig In addition to these amounts, Messrs. Shaeedman, Grunebaum, Hellman,
Lautman, Talbott, and Carver each own addition&nded restricted phantom units, in each case veddn connection with their annual
director¢ compensation for years prior to 20

Accordingly, at December 31, 2013, the aggregatebar of awards outstanding for each of our non-eyg# directors was 14,514.12
for Mr. Shane, 16,516.00 for each of Messrs. Fregdand Lautman, 14,799.88 for Mr. Grunebaum, 43%for Mr. Hellman, 15,850.5
for Mr. Talbott, and 15,128.23 for Mr. Carver, Pagmts to participants of the participant’'s mandatbgferred compensation account will
be made on the earlier of (i) separation of théigipant from service as a director, (ii) disalyii{iii) unforeseeable emergency, (iv) de:
or (v) change of control of our Company or our gahpartner Participants and will be paid at o@ctbn in our common units or cash.
Each board member, excluding Mr. Slayen, also holuis Appreciation Rights, which were granted ir020Mr. Shane holds 175,000
Unit Appreciation Rights, while the remaining boanémbers each hold 15,000.
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(5) See the table beloy

This table presents the aggregate grant datedhievof awards made during the year in accordafiteA%C Topic 718 based on the
assumptions set forth in Note 11 to the consoliifiteancial statements included in our Annual RéporForm 10-K.

The grant date fair value of each grant awardeghtt director of our general partner who was reat ah Executive Officer of our
general partner is as follows:

Fair Value of Units Granted

Fair
Value per Howard
William Allen Peter Robert Martin Fenton Howard

Grant Date Unit Shane Freedmar  Grunebaum Hellman Lautman Talbott Carver Slayen
2/14/2013 $256¢ $780: $ 838 $ 7,681 $212: $838: $813F $7631 $ —
3/19/2013 $ 2618 $ — $ 5628 $ 3,128t $5628 $5628 $437¢ $5628 $ —
5/13/2013 $272: $ — $ 5628 $ 3,12t $5628 $5628 $437F $5628 $ —
5/15/2013 $274¢ $804t $ 8,77¢ $ 7,99« $2,31¢ $8,77¢ $ 8,49 $ 8,006 $ —
8/15/2013 $ 2317 $829: $ 9,166 $ 8,30t $ 2,51: $9,16¢ $ 8,84¢ $ 837 $ —
8/27/2013 $ 235 $ — $ 5628 $ 3,12 $562f $5628 $437¢ $5628 $ —
11/12/201z $ 247/ $§ — $ 5628 $ 3,128 $562F $5628 $437F $5628 $ —
11/15/201z $ 2528 $ 8506 $ 954¢ $ 8,60( $ 2,721 $954¢ $ 9,18 $873: $ —
Total $32,64¢ $58,37. $ 45,08( $32,17F $58,37. $52,15¢ $55,24¢ $ —

The fair value per unit is based on the publicaliyled price of our units on the date immediateécpding the date of grant.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

Our general partner has adopted the StoneMor Raitne. Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended foeibployees, consultants and
directors, who perform services for us. The longaténcentive plan permits the grant of awards ciowpan aggregate of 1,124,000 common
units in the form of unit options, unit appreciatioghts, restricted units and phantom units. Tla@ s administered by the compensation
committee of our general partner’s board of direstd@he plan will continue in effect until the east of (i) the date determined by the board o
directors of our general partner; (ii) the date tteammon units are no longer available for paynoémwards under the plan; or (iii) the tenth
anniversary of the plan.

Our general partner’s board of directors or compgos committee may, in their discretion, terminatgspend or discontinue the long-
term incentive plan at any time with respect to anigs for which a grant has not yet been made.geueral partner’s board of directors also
has the right to alter or amend the long-term itigerplan or any part of the plan from time to tinmeluding increasing the number of units
that may be delivered in accordance with awardgutite plan, subject to any approvals if requingdhe exchange upon which the common
units are listed at that time. No change in angtauiding grant may be made, however, that woule@radly impair the rights of the participant
without the consent of the participant.

Restricted Units and Phantom Unii

A restricted unit is a common unit that is subjecforfeiture. Upon vesting, the grantee receivesrmmon unit that is not subject to
forfeiture. A phantom unit is a notional unit theatitles the grantee to receive a common unit upervesting of the phantom unit, or, in the
discretion of the compensation committee, cashvadgnt to the fair market value of a common unite Tompensation committee may make
grants of restricted units and phantom units utitkeiplan to employees, consultants and directarsagung such terms as the compensation
committee shall determine under the plan, includirgperiod over which restricted units and phantmits granted will vest. The committee
may, in its discretion, base its determinationtmndrantee’s period of service or upon the achieverof specified financial objectives. In
addition, the restricted and phantom units willtugson a change of control of us, or our generethea, subject to additional or contrary
provisions in the award agreement.

If a grantee’s employment, consulting arrangemem&mbership on the board of directors terminatesifiy reason, the grantee’s
restricted units and phantom units will be autoogly forfeited unless, and to the extent, the cengation committee provides otherwise or
unless otherwise provided in an award agreememan@an units to be delivered with respect to thesardsymay be common units acquirec
our general partner in the open market, commors @titjuired by our general partner directly fronouany other person or any combinatiol
the foregoing. Our general partner will be entitliedeimbursement by us for the cost incurred iuaing common units. If we issue new
common units with respect to these awards, thénotaber of common units outstanding will increase.
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Distributions on restricted units may be subjedhis same vesting requirements as the restrictiésl imthe compensation committee’s
discretion. The compensation committee, in itsreison, may also grant tandem distribution-equirafgghts with respect to phantom units.
These are rights that entitle the grantee to rece@sh equal to the cash distributions made ondimemon units. The compensation committee,
in its discretion, may also grant tandem unit disition rights with respect to restricted units,igfhentitle the grantee to distributions we make
with respect to our restricted units.

We intend for the issuance of the common units usting of the restricted units and phantom wnitder the plan to serve as a means
of incentive compensation for performance and miobarily as an opportunity to participate in theugyg appreciation of the common units.
Therefore, plan participants will not pay any caolesation for the common units they receive, anduillereceive no remuneration for the units.

Unit Options and Unit Appreciation Rights

The long-term incentive plan permits the grantgtians and unit appreciation rights (“UARS") covegicommon units. A UAR entitles
the grantee to a payment in cash or units, atigezetion of the compensation committee, equah¢oappreciation of the unit price between th
grant date and the exercise date. The compensatiomittee may make grants under the plan to empkye@nsultants and directors
containing such terms, as the committee shall netey, including the grant of tandem distributionteglent rights. It is our intention not to
issue Unit Options and UARs with an exercise pless than the fair market value of the units onddte of the grant. In general, unit options
and UARs granted will become exercisable over igatetermined by the compensation committee antheé compensation committee’s
discretion, may provide for accelerated vestingruihe achievement of specified performance objestiin addition, unless otherwise provi
in an award agreement, the unit options and UARd@tome exercisable upon a change in controbafnour general partner. Unless
otherwise provided in an award agreement, unibagtand UARs may be exercised only by the partitigaring his lifetime or by the person
to whom the participant’s right will pass by wilt the laws of descent and distribution.

If a grantee’s employment, consulting arrangemem&mbership on the board of directors terminatesifiy reason, the grantee’s
unvested options and UARs will be automaticallyffé¢ded unless, and to the extent, the compensatiommittee provides otherwise or unless
otherwise provided in an award agreement. Uponciseepf a unit option or UAR, the general partnél acquire common units in the open
market or directly from us or any other personmy eombination of the foregoing. The general partmid be entitled to reimbursement by us
for the difference between the cost incurred iy dcquiring these common units and proceeds d@ives from a grantee at the time of exer
Thus, the cost of the unit options and UARs abbeeproceeds from grantees will be borne by uselfsgsue new common units upon exercise
of the unit options, the total number of commonsioutstanding will increase, and our general gartvill pay us the proceeds it received fr
the grantee upon exercise of the unit option.

The plan has been designed to furnish additionalpemsation to our employees, consultants and dieend to align their economic
interests with those of common unit holders. Awards/ be granted under the plan in substitutionrofiar awards held by individuals who
become our employees, consultants or directorgesudt of an acquisition. These substitute awardg have exercise prices less than the fair
market value of a common unit on the date of stuigin.

Risk Assessment in Compensation Policies and Pramtis for Employees

The compensation committee reviewed the elemertsio€ompensation policies and practices for ajpleyees, including executive
officers, in order to evaluate whether risks thayrarise from such compensation policies and mestare reasonably likely to have a materia
adverse effect on our company. The compensatiomitte® concluded that the following features of compensation programs guard agains
excessive risk-taking:

* compensation programs provide a balanced mix aft-term and lon-term incentives in the form of cash and equity cengation
» base salaries are consistent with emplc’ duties and responsibilitie

« corporate performance goals are appropriatlyosavoid targets that, if not achieved, resuli large percentage loss of compensation;
and

e cash incentive awards are capped by the compensaiiomittee
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The compensation committee believes that, formapleyees, including executive officers, our compeias programs do not lead to
excessive risk-taking and instead encourage behthab supports sustainable value creation. Wesbelihat risks that may arise from our
compensation policies and practices for our em@syicluding executive officers, are not reasonéikély to have a material adverse effect
on our company.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

None of the persons who served as members of thandting, Compensation and Corporate Governancen@ttee (Fenton R. Talbott,
Robert B. Hellman, Jr. or Martin R. Lautman) in 30ias ever been an officer or other employee otomrpany, or has any relationship
requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulatield 8ther than as described in “Item 13. Certainalehships and Related Transactions, anc
Director Independence.”

Additionally, there were no compensation commitiagerlocks” during 2013, which generally meanstthane of executive officers of
our general partner served as a director or meoflitie compensation committee of another entity, oihwhose executive officers served as ¢
director or member of the Nominating, Compensagéind Corporate Governance Committee of the boaditrectors of our general partner.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The following table sets forth, the beneficial owstep of the common units of StoneMor as of MarcBU14 held by beneficial owners
of 5% or more of the units, if any, by directorslaramed executive officers of our general partnertay all directors and executive officers of
our general partner as a group. Unless otherwitiedted, the address for each unitholder is c/o&twor Partners L.P., 311 Veterans Highv
Suite B, Levittown, PA 19056. Unless otherwise @adéd, the beneficial owner named in the tableented to have sole voting and sole
dispositive power of the units set forth oppositelsbeneficial owner’'s name.
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(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

Percent
Amount of

Title of Class Name of Beneficial Ownet Beneficial Ownershi of Class
Common units Lawrence Miller (1) 184,05( *
Common units Timothy K. Yost 8,561 *
Common units David L. Meyers — *
Common units William R. Shane (2 149,70( *
Common units Allen R. Freedman (< 42,43: *
Common units Peter K. Grunebaul 3,55( *
Common units Robert B. Hellman, J 10,61% &
Common units Martin R. Lautman, Ph.C 124,83¢ *
Common units Fenton R. Talbott (4 39,53¢ *
Common units Howard L. Carve 8,06( *
Common units Howard T. Slayel — *
All directors and executive officers as a group ggtsons 542,85( 2.2%

Less than one perce

Includes 64,167 common units held by LDLM Asates, LP, and 28,500 common units held by Osmes$tments, LP. Mr. Miller is the
grantor and trustee of the Miller Revocable Trugtich is the general partner of LDLM Associates, M?. Miller is also a limited
partner of LDLM Associates, LP, holding 98% oflitsited partner interests. Mr. Miller and Mr. Shaare each 50% members of Osiris
Investments LLC, which is the general partner afi®#vestments LP. Mr. Miller therefore may beed®ed to beneficially own all of tt
units beneficially owned by LDLM Associates, LP abdiris Investments, LP. Pursuant to an agreemsmtden Mr. Miller and Bank of
America, N.A,, as lender (the “Lender”), Mr. Millptedged 151,200 common units as security for a tba Lender made to Mr. Miller
(the “Miller Pledge Agreement”). In the absenceaafefault, the Miller Pledge Agreement does nohgrathe Lender the power to
dispose or direct the disposition of the pledgenligges.

Includes 64,167 common units held by Ten Twentyahg 28,500 common units held by Osiris Investmér®s Mr. Shane is the gene
partner of Ten Twenty LP. Mr. Miller and Mr. Shaawe each 50% members of Osiris Investments LLC¢hvis the general partner of
Osiris Investments LP. Mr. Shane therefore maydmked to beneficially own all of the units benedilgi owned by Ten Twenty LP and
Osiris Investments, LP. Pursuant to an agreemdnteles Ten Twenty, LP and the Lender, Ten Twentyple@lged 32,196 common ur
as a security for a loan the Lender made to Temtwy&P (the “Ten Twenty Pledge Agreement”). In Hiesence of a default, the Ten
Twenty Pledge Agreement does not grant to the Letheéepower to dispose or direct the dispositiothefpledged securitie

Includes 21,798 common units held by Mr. Freadi®: spouse and over which Mr. Freedman may be eé¢ohave beneficial
ownership.

Mr. Talbott pledged 35,766 common units as ggcfor his margin and asset managed accounts Wighis Fargo Advisors, LLC and
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A, respective
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table details information regardingr@quity compensation plan as of December 31,2013

(©

Number of securities

(@) (b) remaining available for
Number of securities Weighted average future issuance under
to be issued upor exercise price of equity compensation
exercise of outstanding outstanding options plans (excluding securitie
options, warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by securit
holders (1) 313,59: $ 15.9¢ 360,74.
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holder: n/e n/e n/e
Total 313,59. $ 15.9¢ 360,74:

(1) Includes 162,103 in restricted phantom unit$ 861,489 units that would be issued upon exedfi¢$ARs based upon the strike price of
the UAR and the fair value of our common units at®mber 31, 2013. Column (a) does not includeitieddutive effects of 52,500
UARs that have an exercise price greater thanaine/dlue of our common units at December 31, 2

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence
Independence of Directors

Even though most companies listed on the NYSEeeired to have a majority of independent direcsersing on the board of directors
of the listed company, the NYSE does not requiisted limited partnership like us to have a majodf independent directors on the board of
directors of its general partner. The board ofdoes has determined that Allen Freedman, HowardeEaMartin Lautman, Robert Hellman,
Fenton Talbott, Howard Slayen, and Peter Grunebguetdify as “independent” directors in accordancthwhe applicable requirements of the
NYSE and rules promulgated under the Exchange

Related Party Transactions Policy and Procedures

The board of directors of our general partner distadd the Conflicts Committee, which is authorizeaxercise all of the power and
authority of the board of directors in connectioithvinvestigating, reviewing and acting on matterferred or disclosed to it where a conflic
interest exists or arises and performing such dthretions as the board may assign to the ConfG@asimittee from time to time. Pursuant to
the Conflicts Committee Charter, the Conflicts Coittee is responsible for reviewing all matters itwitag a conflict of interest submitted to it
by the board of directors or as required by anytemiagreement involving a conflict of interestathich we are a party. In approving or
ratifying any transaction or proposed transactiba,Conflicts Committee determines whether thestaation complies with our policies on
conflicts of interests.

Distributions and Payments to our General Partner ad its Affiliates

We were formed as a Delaware limited partnershipio and operate cemetery and funeral home pregeptieviously owned and
operated by Cornerstone. The following table sunmearthe distributions and payments to be madeship our general partner and its
affiliates in connection with our ongoing operatimd any liquidation. These distributions and paytsi@vere determined by and among
affiliated entities and, consequently, are notréilt of arm’s-length negotiations.

Distributions of available cash to our We have generally made cash distributions of apprately 98% to the unitholders, including our

general partner and its affiliates general partner, in respect of the common unitsitlvavns, and approximately 2% to our general
partner. As of December 31, 2013 our general pdstogvnership percentage was 1.83%. If
distributions exceed target distribution levels; general partner will be entitled to increasing
percentages of the distributions, up to approxiiyat8% plus its general partner’s ownership
percentage of the distributions above the higheas!]

Payments to our general partner an  Our general partner and its affiliates do not ree@ny management fee or other compensation for tl
affiliates management of our business and affairs, but theyeambursed for all expenses that they incur o
behalf, including general ar
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administrative expenses and corporate overheathesole purpose of the general partner is tosact :

our general partner, substantially all of the exggsmof our general partner are incurred on ourlbeha
and reimbursed by us or our subsidiaries. Our gépartner determines the expenses that are
allocable to us in good faitl

Withdrawal or removal of our general If our general partner withdraws or is removedgiseral partner interest and its incentive diatitn
Partner rights will either be sold to the new general partfor cash or converted into common units, in each
case for an amount equal to the fair market vafubase interests

Liquidation Upon our liquidation, the unitholders and our gahpartner will be entitled to receive liquidating
distributions according to their respective capitadount balance

Ownership Interests in our General Partner

Our general partner owns our general partner istened our incentive distribution rights. The faliag table shows the owners of our
general partner:

Ownership of Outstandinc Ownership of Outstandinc
Class A Units of Class B Units of
Name StoneMor GP LLC StoneMor GP LLC (1)
CFSI LLC 10C%(2)
Lawrence Miller — 30%
William R. Shane — 30%
Michael Stacht — 20%

(1) The remaining 20% of the Class B units are owned fiyrmer executive of the Compal

(2) In connection with the conversion of Cornerstamto CFSI LLC, all of the outstanding shares ofr@@rstone common stock were
converted into Class B units of CFSI LLC, and &ltree outstanding shares of Cornerstone prefemak svere converted into Class A
units of CFSI LLC (since redeemed). CFSI LLC is edgnlirectly by Cornerstone Family Services LLC (86Bthe Class B units), the
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts (approximately 10.1% ¢fet Class B units), Messrs. Miller and Shane (edethom owns, along with fami
partnerships, approximately 1.2% of the Class Bsynand other individuals, including the followidgectors and executive officers of
our general partner, each of whom owns less thaoflte Class B units: M. Stache, Waimberg, Taldatitman and Freedme
Cornerstone Family Services LLC is, in turn, own@ectly by the MDC IV Liquidating Trusts (approxately 89.8% membership
interest), institutional investors (approximatel3% aggregate membership interest) and other ithails, including the following
directors of our general partner: Messrs. MilldraBe and Lautman. Each of Messrs. Shane and Milles an approximately 1.6%
membership interest in Cornerstone Family Senidds through family partnerships and Mr. Lautman eWess than approximately a
1% membership interest in Cornerstone Family Sesvid C. As a result of their ownership interest€FSI LLC and Cornerstone
Family Services LLC, each of these directors of gemeral partner holds an indirect interest inGhaess A units of our general partner,
which are described below.

The membership interests in our general partneregmesented by two classes of units, the Classits and the Class B units. Each of
Messrs. Miller and Shane owns 24 Class B unit8086 of the 80 outstanding Class B units and Mrclgtaowns 16 Class B units or 20% of
the 80 outstanding Class B units. The compensatommittee of our general partner may issue up tadtlitional Class B units to other

executive officers of our general partner withdwg tonsent of Mr. Miller or Mr. Shane. At such tithat 100 or more Class B units are issued
and outstanding, and only one of Messrs. Miller 8hdne is both an executive officer of our gengaainer and a holder of Class B units, ther

only that one must consent to such additional isses. If at that time neither of Messrs. Miller éltane is both an executive officer of our

general partner and a holder of Class B units, Hwdders of a majority of outstanding Class B unitsst consent to such additional issuances.

Additional issuances of Class B units will diluteautstanding Class B units on a pro rata basis.
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The Class B units in the aggregate are entitlésD#b of all quarterly cash distributions that we payur general partner with respect to
its general partner interest and 25% of all qubrigash distributions that we pay to our generatrga with respect to its incentive distribution
rights.

Messrs. Miller, Shane, M. Stache, Waimberg, Taldatitman and Freedman also indirectly own Clasmifs of our general partner a
result of their direct and indirect ownership ofmieership interests in Cornerstone Family ServideS And CFSI LLC discussed in footnote
(1) to the table above. These persons directly Anldggregate of approximately 4.5% of the ClassiB in CFSI LLC. In addition, Messrs.
Miller, Shane and Lautman own an approximate aggee8.9% membership interest in Cornerstone FaBalyices LLC, which in turn owns
85% of the Class B units in CFSI LLC, which wilitially own all of the Class A units of our genepartner. As a result, these persons
collectively own, indirectly, an aggregate of appnoately 7.8% of the Class A units of our genei@itper. The Class A units of our general
partner are entitled to the remaining 50% inteoasdistributions that we pay to our general partmi#h respect to its general partner interest
and the remaining 75% of all distributions thatpes to our general partner with respect to itsitive distribution rights.

The Class A and Class B units of our general paanesubject to certain transfer and purchasesigihd obligations upon the occurre
of certain events, such as:

» achange of control of CFSI LLC or our general pairt
» transfers by certain holders of Class A units afgeneral partner; ¢

» the death or disability of a holder of Class B st our general partne

Relationships and Related Transactions with CFSI LIC and Cornerstone Family Services LLC
Agreements Governing the Partnersh

We, our general partner, our operating companycdingr parties have entered into various documerdsagreements that effected the
initial public offering transactions, including tiesting of assets in, and the assumption of ltaslby, us and our subsidiaries, and the
application of the proceeds of the initial publféeoing. These agreements are not the result ofsalength negotiations, and we cannot assure
you that they, or any of the transactions that {i@yide for, have been effected on terms at laa$avorable to the parties to these agreen
as could have been obtained from unaffiliated tpadies. All of the transaction expenses incumecbnnection with these transactions,
including the expenses associated with transfeassgts into our subsidiaries, have been paid fihenproceeds of the initial public offering.

Omnibus Agreement

On September 20, 2004 we entered into an omnitreeagent with McCown De Leeuw, Cornerstone Familywiges LLC, CFSI LLC,
our general partner and StoneMor Operating LLC.

Under the omnibus agreement, as long as our geparaler is an affiliate of McCown De Leeuw, McCofa Leeuw will agree, and
will cause its controlled affiliates to agree, tmengage, either directly or indirectly, in thesimess of owning and operating cemeteries and
funeral homes (including the sales of cemeteryfandral home products and services) in the UnitateS. On November 30, 2010, MDC IV
Liquidating Trusts became successors to McCown &suly, and McCown De Leeuw was subsequently teradndthe MDC IV Liquidating
Trusts assumed and agreed to be bound by and peafbof the obligations and duties of McCown Desuer under the omnibus agreement.

CFSI LLC had agreed to indemnify us for all fedesshite and local income tax liabilities attribuéato the operation of the assets
contributed by CFSI LLC to us prior to the 2004sitg of the public offering. CFSI LLC had also agpte¢o indemnify us against additional
income tax liabilities, if any, that arise from tbensummation of the 2004 transactions relateditdarmation in excess of those believed to
result at the time of the 2004 closing of our adifpublic offering. We had estimated that $600,006tate income taxes and no federal income
taxes would be due as a result of these formatarsactions. CFSI LLC had also agreed to indemrsfggainst the increase in income tax
liabilities of our corporate subsidiaries resultingm any reduction or elimination of our net ofarg losses to the extent those net operating
losses are used to offset any income tax gaincamnire resulting from the prior operation of the &ss€ CFSI LLC contributed to us in 2004,
from our formation transactions in excess of sugim @r income believed to result at the time of2004 closing of the initial public offering.
Until all of its indemnification obligations und#ére omnibus agreement had been satisfied in fHEICLC was subject to limitations on its
ability to dispose of or encumber its interestim general partner or the common units held bgxtépt upon a redemption of common units
by the partnership upon any
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exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment opfiand would also be prohibited from incurring angiébtedness or other liability. An
amendment to the omnibus agreement dated JanupPp?# was entered into by all parties to the onmsifigreement (and after due
consideration approved by our Conflicts Committeleich retained independent counsel; the committee etaired by Mr. Carver). An
accompanying certification by our general partrsetalelished that as of the date of the amendmer&) CEC’s indemnification obligations
under the omnibus agreement were discharged antllCESwvas no longer subject to the limitations grdhibition described above in this
paragraph. Those indemnification obligations partaithe taxable year 2004 of CFSI LLC. To our kiemge, there has been no inquiry from
or instigation of proceedings by any taxing auttyonihich could reasonably be expected to requidenmnification under the omnibus
agreement. We believe the expiration has occuriedl applicable statutes of limitations (includiagy extensions thereof) relating to the fil
of all tax returns which could reasonably be expe¢b require indemnification under the omnibuseagrent, except if there were certain
omissions of gross income of more than 25% or fr@ud general partner has certified to its knowketigere was no such omission or

fraud. CFSI LLC is also subject to certain limitatts on its ability to transfer its interest in @&neral partner or the common units held by it if
the effect of the proposed transfer would triggef@vnership change” under the Internal RevenueeQbdt would limit our ability to use our
federal net operating loss carryovers. Please‘ittad 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdricial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estiesat-Income Taxes.”

The omnibus agreement may not be further amendimbutithe prior approval of the Conflicts Committeeur general partner
determines that the proposed amendment will adiyeastect holders of our common units. Any furttegtion, notice, consent, approval or
waiver permitted or required to be taken or givgrub under the indemnification provisions of theniimus agreement as amended must be
taken or given by the Conflicts Committee of oungml partner.

Relationship with MDC IV Liquidating Trusts

MDC IV Liquidating Trusts is the beneficial ownefrapproximately 87.2% of the Class B units of CEBC through its direct ownersh
of approximately 10.1% of the Class B units of CEBC and indirectly through its ownership of appiraately 90.8% of the membership
interests in Cornerstone Family Services LLC, whiems approximately 85% of the Class B units of CHSC.

Under the Limited Liability Company Agreement of ®I-.LC, MDC IV Liquidating Trusts has the right tiesignate at least three
individuals, and such other greater number of iioiligls, to serve on the board of managers of CESI. Iln addition, for so long as Mr. Miller
serves as an officer of CFSI LLC, he will also seas a manager of CFSI LLC, and for so long asSflane serves as an officer of CFSI LLC,
he will also serve as a manager of CFSI LLC. Radhe conversion of Cornerstone into CFSI LLCiazkholders agreement among
Cornerstone and its stockholders required eackisbdder to vote all of its shares of Cornerstoneléxrt and maintain a board of directors of
Cornerstone comprised of at least three, and st greater number, of individuals designatedigyMDC IV Liquidating Trusts.

The Limited Liability Company Agreement of CFSI Llg@ntains provisions that require CFSI LLC, throutghdirect control of our
general partner and its indirect control of us andsubsidiaries, to prevent us, our subsidian@saur general partner from taking certain
significant actions without the approval of CFSICLThese actions include:

« certain acquisitions, borrowings and capital exjtenels by us, our subsidiaries or our general jgar
» issuances of equity interests in us or our subs&ipanc

» certain dispositions of equity interests in, oreas®f, us, our general partner or our subsidia

Under the Second Amended and Restated Limited litiaBiompany Agreement of Cornerstone Family SexsitLC, MDC IV
Liquidating Trusts has the right to designate ast¢hree individuals, and such other greater numbedividuals, to serve on the board of
managers of Cornerstone Family Services LLC. Intanhd for so long as Mr. Miller serves as an offiof Cornerstone Family Services, LLC,
he will also serve as a manager of CornerstonelF&@ervices LLC, and for so long as Mr. Shane seagan officer of Cornerstone Family
Services LLC, he will also serve as a manager oh@stone Family Services, LLC.

Under the Second Amended and Restated Limited litiaRiompany Agreement of Cornerstone Family SessitLC and the Limited
Liability Company Agreement of CFSI LLC, each magiagf Cornerstone Family Services LLC and each manaf CFSI LLC have agreed
cause Cornerstone Family Services LLC, CFSI LLC amylof their respective subsidiaries, as the oasgbe, to designate at least three
individuals, and such other greater number of iiolizls designated by MDC IV Liquidating Trusts tnge as members of the board of
managers of StoneMor Operating LLC; and to také sations as may be necessary to cause the eleftamiditional persons designated by
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts as managers of StoneMgregating LLC and to amend the limited liability cpamy agreement of StoneMor
Operating LLC as necessary.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The following table sets forth the aggregate fesd pr accrued for professional services rendeyelddioitte & Touche LLP for the auc
of our annual financial statements for fiscal ye#0$3 and 2012 and the aggregate fees paid orextéou audit-related services and all other
services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP fordisgears 2013 and 2012.

Year ended December 31

2013 2012
Audit fees $2,257,72. $1,018,94!
Audit-related fee: 306,26 143,68
Tax fees 1,099,33: 964,34«

$3,663,32, $2,126,97.

The category of “Audit fees” includes fees for amnual audit, quarterly reviews and services rezatlar connection with regulatory
filings with the SEC, such as the issuance of cohiédters and consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes féasservices related to employee benefit plan auditernal control reviews and
accounting consultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes fees for thastdtation and preparation of federal, state, agdlltax returns.

All above audit services, audit-related services tax services were pre-approved by the Audit Caibeni which concluded that the
provision of such services by Deloitte & Touche LivBs compatible with the maintenance of that firmependence in the conduct of its
auditing functions. The Audit Committee’s outsideldor independence policy provides for pre-applofall services performed by the
outside auditors.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(@) Financial Statemen

(1) The following financial statements of StoneMor Rars L.P. are included in Part Il, ltem
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&£13012
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital foryisars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(c) Exhibits
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Exhibit
Number

3.1*

3.2*

41.1°

4.1.2°

413

4.1.4°

42.1

422

10.1.1°

10.1.2

Description

Certificate of Limited Partnership of StoneMor Pars L.P. (incorporated by reference to the Regjistn Statement on Form S-1
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio\pril 9, 2004 (Exhibit 3.1))

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limiteh&ahip of StoneMor Partners L.P. dated as ofeBeajper 9, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Ragis’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 15, 200¢

Indenture, dated as of November 24, 2009, by armhgrétoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LC@;nerstone Family
Services of West Virginia Subsidiary, Inc., Oskslding of Maryland Subsidiary, Inc., the guarastoamed therein and
Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s CurrBeport on Form 8-K filed
on November 24, 2009

Form of 10.25% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporateceference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s CurrBefport on Form 8-K filed
on November 24, 2009

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Nover2ideP009, by and among StoneMor Partners L.PneBtor Operating LLC,
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Suiasid Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiaipg., the Initial Guarantors
party thereto and Banc of America Securities LL@drporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of RegrgtsaCurrent Report on Fol
8-K filed on November 24, 2009

Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Mag(@¥3, by and among StoneMor Partners L.P., Stoné\perating LLC,
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Suiasid Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiaipc., the guarantors named
therein and Wilmington Trust, National Associatias,trustee to Indenture, dated as of Novembe2@29 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registr’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 28, 2013)

Indenture, dated as of May 28, 2013, by and amaoge®ior Partners L.P., Cornerstone Family Servidé&/est Virginia
Subsidiary, Inc, the guarantors named therein aichMgton Trust, National Association, includingioof 7 7/8% Senior Note
due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitof.Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 28, 2013)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May2P83, by and among StoneMor Partners L.P., Comeegtamily Services of
West Virginia Subsidiary, Inc., the Initial Guararg party thereto, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, FeneSmith Incorporated, as
representative of the initial purchasers listedsohedule A to the Purchase Agreement (incorpotayeeference to Exhibit 4.4 of
Registrar’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 28, 2013)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Adgi2007, among StoneMor Operating LLC, as a Begrovarious
subsidiaries thereof, as additional Borrowers, 8ibor Partners L.P. and StoneMor GP LLC, as GuaranBank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lendeddd/C Issuer, and the other Lenders Party Heretd,Banc of Americ:
Securities LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bdakager (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I.Registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on August 21, 2007

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &gent, dated November 2, 2007, by and among Ston€Rd_LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCiowes subsidiaries thereof, the lenders party tbhexatl Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, iBw Line Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated byrehce to Exhibit 10.1.1
of Registrar’'s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20!
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10.1.3* Joinder to Amended and Restated Credit AgreemehCaadit Documents, dated December 21, 2007 (irecatpd by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 28, 2007

10.1.4* Commitment Letter, effective as of February 25,201y and among Bank of America, N.A., Bank of AmarSecurities, LLC
and StoneMor Operating LLC (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current RepartFrm 8-K filed March
2, 2009).

10.1.5* Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credéefvggnt, dated April 30, 2009, by and among StoneBft.LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, theders and Bank of
America, N.A.(incorporated by reference to Exhitit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 6, 2009)

10.1.6* Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &mgent, dated July 6, 2009, by and among StoneMdarlGR StoneMor
Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLC, certain Rliages of StoneMor Operating LLC, the Lenders 8aghk of America,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4R&fgistrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009

10.1.7* Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Crediééxgent, dated November 24, 2009, by and among i8tor@P LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitit2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{&dion November 24,
20009).

10.1.8* Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &ent, dated January 15, 2010, by and among Stan@Ma.LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, theders and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitiit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 21, 201C

10.1.9* Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &gsnt, dated May 4, 2010, by and among StoneMok &R StoneMor
Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLC, certain Rliases of StoneMor Operating LLC, the Lenders &aahk of America,
NL.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1R&gistrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 7, 2010)

10.1.10° Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credéefvient, dated September 22, 2010, by and among8ty GP LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, theders and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84Edion September 27,
2010).

10.1.171° Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credieément, dated January 28, 2011, by and among Stum@WILLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit1l of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 3, 2011

10.1.12 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, datélcd?9, 2011, among StoneMor Operating LLC, eatlts
Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor PartnePs,lthe Lenders party thereto and Bank of Ameita,, as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/Cuss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 efRtrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on May 5, 2011)

10.1.13 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restatedt@mgreement, dated August 4, 2011, among Stone®uerating LLC,
each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC, StoneWartners L.P., the Lenders party thereto and Bammerica, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/Cuss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 efjRtrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(
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10.1.14

10.1.15

10.1.16°

10.1.17

10.1.18

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restatelit 8geeement, dated October 28, 2011, among StaméMperating
LLC, each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC,refdlor Partners L.P., the Lenders party theretoBamk of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and IléSuer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 13.Registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on November 3, 2011

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, d#edary 19, 2012, among StoneMor Operating LLCh eads
Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor PartnePs,lthe Lenders party thereto and Bank of Ameita,, as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/Cuss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 efRtrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on January 24, 2012

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated €reglieement, dated February 19, 2013, by and arSoogeMor
Operating LLC, each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMérl& C, StoneMor Partners L.P., the Lenders pamtyeto and Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Lihender and L/C Issuer (incorporated by referendexaibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 22, 2013

Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restatedt@greement, as amended, dated May 8, 2013, byaarahg StoneMc
Operating LLC, each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMerlG&.C, StoneMor Partners L.P., the Lenders pamtyetto and Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Libhender and L/C Issuer (incorporated by referendextaibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 13, 2013)

Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Crglieement and Security Documents, dated Jun2dis3, by and
among StoneMor Operating LLC, its Subsidiariesn8kor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., the Lendarsypthereto and
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, $giLine Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated bynafee to Exhibit 10.1 ¢
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 21, 2013

Confirmation and Amendment Agreement, dated Janl@r2012, among StoneMor Operating LLC, eacho8itbsidiaries,
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P. and Bankrogrica, N.A., as Collateral Agent (incorporatsdréference to Exhib
10.2 of Registrar's Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 24, 201z

Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated 2rP011, among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor PaghelP., StoneMor
Operating LLC, the Subsidiary Debtors listed the@d Bank of America, N.A. as Collateral Agent(irporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 5, 2011)

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement, dated Zpr2011, among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Parthé?s StoneMor
Operating LLC, the Subsidiary Pledgors listed theesnd Bank of America, N.A. as administrative aotlateral agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 5, 2011)

Purchase Agreement, dated November 18, 2009, bamiodg StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operatlg, lCornerstone
Family Services of West Virginia Subsidiary, In@siris Holding of Maryland Subsidiary, Inc., theagantors named therein and
Banc of America Securities LLC, acting on behaliteélf and as the representative for the purclsasamed therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009

Purchase Agreement, dated May 16, 2013, by and g@8taneMor Partners L.P., Cornerstone Family Sesvaf West Virginia
Subsidiary, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors narhedefn and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smitledrnporated, acting on
behalf of itself and as the representative foritiiteal purchasers named therein (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 17, 2013)
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10.7.1*t

10.7.2*t

10.7.3*t

10.7.4*t

10.7.5*f

10.7.6*t

10.7.7*t

10.7.8*t

10.7.9*t

10.7.10*

10.7.11%

10.8.1*t

10.8.2*t

10.8.3*f

10.9.1*t

StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plargrasnded April 19, 2010 (incorporated by referanc&ppendix A to
Registrar’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on June 4, 20

Form of the Director Restricted Phantom Unit AgreetrUnder the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Termritige Plan, dated
November 8, 2006 (incorporated by reference to lkhD.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Form R-filed on November 1!
2006).

Form of the Key Employee Restricted Phantom Uniteg®gent Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Tiagantive Plan,
dated November 8, 2006 (incorporated by referem&exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report onR@-K filed on
November 15, 2006

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Unttee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivenPtlated as of
November 27, 2006 (incorporated by reference talktxh0.1 of Registrars Current Report on Form B-filed on December
2006).

Director Restricted Phantom Unit Agreement by aetivieen StoneMor GP LLC and Robert Hellman dateé 2®) 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 23, 2009

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Untlee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivemPtated as of
December 16, 2009 (incorporated by reference talitxt0.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8iled on December
22, 2009)

Form of the Executive Restricted Phantom Unit Agrert Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Terrertige Plan, dated
as of December 16, 2009 (incorporated by referemé&sxhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report arii 8-K filed on
December 22, 2009

Director Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Undee IStoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Riacorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2.8 of Registr's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20!

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Unttee StoneMor Partners L.P. Lofigrm Incentive Plan, dated as of A|
2, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1éf. Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fsrquarterly period ended
June 30, 2012

Executive Restricted Phantom Unit Agreement UnderStoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Rdated as of
November 7, 2012 (incorporated by reference to l&ikhD.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Form R-filed on November 1.
2012).

Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Under the StooelRartners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plan, datedf&3ctober 22,
2013.

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah&Lawrence Miller, effective as of SeptemberZm4
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLBC and Lawrence Miller, effective as of Januar®008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, exedutg®2, 2013 and retroactive to January 1, 28¢3nd between
StoneMor GP, LLC and Lawrence Miller (incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Cuti@eport on Form 8-K
filed on July 26, 2013’

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah&€William R. Shane, effective as of Septembei2p04
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004
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10.9.2*t

10.9.3*t

10.10.1*

10.10.2*

10.11*t

10.13.1t
10.13.21
10.13.3t
10.14.1*

10.14.2*1

10.15*

10.16*

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLBEC and William R. Shane, effective as of Janugrg008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Employment Agreement, effective April 1, 2012, nddetween StoneMor GP LLC and William Shane (ipoceited by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Regist’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 2, 2012).

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah&€Michael L. Stache, effective as of SeptembBelR04
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and Michael L. Stache, effective as of Japidar2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Employment Separation Agreement, executed on FgbA# 2013, by and between StoneMor GP LLC and R&aimberg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tleggRtran’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 1, 2013}

Letter Agreement by and between David Meyers andeéor GP LLC.
Confidentiality and No-Compete Agreement by and between David Meyers &meSlor GP LLC
Payback Agreement by and between David Meyers soteSlor GP LLC.

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweesn8Mor GP LLC and Lawrence Miller, Robert B. Hellmdr., Fenton F
Talbott, Jeffery A. Zawadsky, Martin R. Lautmangfithy K. Yost , Allen R. Freedman, effective Septem20, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweesn8Mor GP LLC and Howard Carver and Peter Grunebaffective
February 16, 2007 (incorporated by reference taliixh0.9 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Fat6rQ for its quarterly
period ended September 30, 20(

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Decem®@@ 4, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, joibgdts direct and
indirect subsidiary entities listed in Exhibit Atlee Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement and by Esmé@anagement Services
of Ohio, L.L.C., and SCI Funeral Services, Incinga by its direct and indirect subsidiary entitisged in Exhibit B to the
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, as well as b@&@G Funeral Services, Inc., and Alderwoods (Qldemetery
Management, Inc. (incorporated by reference to lkhiD.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8il&d on December 7,
2007).

Transition Agreement, dated December 7, 2007, lyaanong StoneMor Operating LLC, joined by thoséwéirect and
indirect subsidiary entities which are partiestte Purchase Agreement, as defined therein, andr&&ral Services, Inc.,
joined by those of its direct and indirect subsigiantities which are parties to the Purchase Ageg (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registr’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 7, 2007
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10.17.1

10.17.2

10.18*

10.19.1°

10.19.2°

10.20*

10.22*

211

Amended and Restated Purchase Agreement by andys®toneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Indiana LLC,&Mor Indiana
Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetery Holdings, Inc., Aresiiortuaries of Indiana, LLC, Memory Gardens Mamaggt Corporation,
Forest Lawn Funeral Home Properties, LLC, Gardémdesnory Cemetery LLC, Gill Funeral Home, LLC, GardView Funere
Home, LLC, Royal Oak Memorial Gardens of Ohio Ltderitage Hills Memory Gardens of Ohio Ltd., RokErtNelms and
Lynnette Gray, as receiver, dated April 2, 201@dimporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of RegmtsaCurrent Report on Form
8-K filed on May 5, 2010)

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Purchaseefgnt by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, StardkHiana
LLC, StoneMor Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetelgidings, Inc., Ansure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLI@emory Gardens
Management Corporation, Forest Lawn Funeral Hormpd?ties, LLC, Gardens of Memory Cemetery LLC, Gilineral Home,
LLC, Garden View Funeral Home, LLC, Royal Oak Membardens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage Hills Memory @ans of Ohio
Ltd., Robert E. Nelms, Robert Nelms, LLC and Lyneddray, as receiver, dated June 21, 2010 (incatpdiby reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 25, 2010

Settlement Agreement by and among StoneMor Indi&ia StoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Partners LEhapel Hill
Associates, Inc., Chapel Hill Funeral Home, In@yitigton Memorial Funeral Home, Inc., Covington M@l Gardens, Inc.,
Forest Lawn Memorial Chapel Inc., Forest Lawn Meyn@ardens Inc., Fred W. Meyer, Jr. by James R. Mag&pecial
Administrator to the Estate of Fred W. Meyer, James R. Meyer, Thomas E. Meyer, Nancy Cade, and.Reyer Associates,
LLC dated June 21, 2010 (incorporated by referéadexhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report @i 8-K filed on June 25,
2010).

Omnibus Agreement by and among McCown De Leeuw &ICoL.P., McCown De Leeuw & Co. IV AssociatesPL, MDC
Management Company IV, LLC, Delta Fund LLC, Cortame Family Services LLC, CFSI LLC, StoneMor Partne.P.,
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Operating LLC, dated &September 20, 2004 (incorporated by referendextabit 10.4 of the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Omnibus Agreement entered infaad effective as of, January 24, 2011 by andngndDC IV Trust
U/T/A November 30, 2010, MDC IV Associates TrusTiA November 30, 2010, Delta Trust U/T/A Novemb@r 3010
(successors respectively to McCown De Leeuw & ®@9LLP., a California limited partnership, McCowre Deeuw IV
Associates, L.P., a California limited partnersiiyejta Fund LLC, a California limited liability copany, and MDC Manageme
Company IV, LLC, a California limited liability copany), Cornerstone Family Services LLC, a Delaviianged liability
company, CFSI LLC, a Delaware limited liability cpamy, StoneMor Partners L.P., a Delaware limitetiheaship, StoneMor
GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, faself and on behalf of the Partnership in its cépaxs general partner of the
Partnership, and StoneMor Operating LLC, a Delaviariéed liability company (incorporated by refemnto Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 28, 2011

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreemgrdrid among StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor GP,IAESI LLC,
StoneMor Operating LLC, dated as of September Q04 Zincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2haf Registrans Quarterl
Report on Form 1-Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Lease Agreement, dated as of September 26, 20188)dgmong StoneMor Operating, LLC, StoneMor Penasya LLC and
StoneMor Pennsylvania Subsidiary LLC, the Archdsacef Philadelphia, and StoneMor Partners L.Pelgah its capacity as
guarantor (incorporated by reference to ExhibiLl10.the Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 2, 2013

Subsidiaries of Registrar
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23.1
31.1

31.2
32.1

32.2

99.1*

99.2*

99.3*

101

*

T

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLI

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13aa)4f Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer Pidsnt and Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule -14(a) of Timothy K. Yost, Chief Financial Office

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsa@xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exclafgt Rule 13a-14(b) of
Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, Presidemtd Chairman of the Board of Directors (furnishedewith).

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsa@xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exclafgt Rule 13a-14(b) of
Timothy K. Yost, Chief Financial Officer (furnishdakrewith).

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agmnent of StoneMor GP LLC, dated as of Septembe2@®4 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 19, 200°

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Linlitalility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLCtathas of Septemb
14, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.Registrar's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 19, 200°

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated ldrigbility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLGted as of
December 18, 2007 (incorporated by reference toli®0.2 of Registrant’'s Current Report on ForrK &iled on December 28,
2007).

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are thedielhg Interactive Data Files formatted in XBRL (eXsible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as oéiber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012; (ii) Codatdd Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2@12 and 2011; (iii) Consolidated Statement of RaghCapital; (iv)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011; and (@sNotthe Consolidated
Financial Statements. Users of this data are adiyagsesuant to Rule 401 of Regulation S-T that tiiermation contained in the
XBRL documents is unaudited and these are notffiead publicly filed financial statements of SteWor Partners L.F

Incorporated by reference, as indicatec
Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangeng
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

STONEMOR PARTNERS L.F
By: StoneMor GP LLC, its General Partt

March 17, 2014 By: /s/ Lawrence Miller
Lawrence Miller
Chief Executive Officer, President and
Chairman of the Boar

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signatures Title Date

/s/ Lawrence Miller Chief Executive Officer, Preside March 17, 201«
Lawrence Miller and Chairman of the Boa
(Principal Executive Officer

/sl Timothy K. Yost Chief Financial Officer an March 17, 201«
Timothy K. Yost Secretar
(Principal Financial Officer

/s/ William R. Shane Director March 17, 201«
William R. Shane

/s/ Allen R. Freedman Director March 17, 201«
Allen R. Freedmal

/s/ Peter K. Grunebaum Director March 17, 201«
Peter K. Grunebaul

/s/ Robert B. Hellman, Jr. Director March 17, 201«
Robert B. Hellman, J

/s/ Martin R. Lautman, Ph.D. Director March 17, 201«
Martin R. Lautman, Ph.L

/s/ Fenton R. Talbott Director March 17, 201«
Fenton R. Talbotl

/s/ Howard L. Carver Director March 17, 201«
Howard L. Carve

/s/ Howard T. Slayen Director March 17, 201«
Howard T. Slayel
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Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2%

4.1.1*

4.1.2*

4.1.3*

4.1.4*

4.2.1*

4.2.2*

10.1.7°

Exhibit Index

Description

Certificate of Limited Partnership of StoneMor Paris L.P. (incorporated by reference to the Reggistt Statement on Form S-1
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiopril 9, 2004 (Exhibit 3.1))

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limitetth&ahip of StoneMor Partners L.P. dated as ofe®aiper 9, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Regis’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 15, 200¢

Indenture, dated as of November 24, 2009, by armhgr$toneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LC@nerstone Family
Services of West Virginia Subsidiary, Inc., Oskielding of Maryland Subsidiary, Inc., the guarastoamed therein and
Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s CurrBeport on Form 8-K filed
on November 24, 2008

Form of 10.25% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporateceberence to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s CurrBaport on Form 8-K filed
on November 24, 2009

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveriBeP009, by and among StoneMor Partners L.Pnetor Operating LLC,
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Suiasid Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiaipc., the Initial Guarantors
party thereto and Banc of America Securities LL@drporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of RegigtsaCurrent Report on Fol
8-K filed on November 24, 2009

Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Mag@#3, by and among StoneMor Partners L.P., Stoné\perating LLC,
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Suiasid Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiaipg., the guarantors named
therein and Wilmington Trust, National Associatias,trustee to Indenture, dated as of Novembe2@30 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 28, 2013)

Indenture, dated as of May 28, 2013, by and amaoge®ior Partners L.P., Cornerstone Family Servidé&/est Virginia
Subsidiary, Inc, the guarantors named therein adchMgton Trust, National Association, includingrRoof 7 7/8% Senior Note
due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitof.Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 28, 2013)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May2P83, by and among StoneMor Partners L.P., Commeedtamily Services of
West Virginia Subsidiary, Inc., the Initial Guarard party thereto, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fen&ae&Smith Incorporated, as
representative of the initial purchasers listedsahedule A to the Purchase Agreement (incorpotayaéference to Exhibit 4.4 of
Registrar’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 28, 2013)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Adg2007, among StoneMor Operating LLC, as a Begrovarious
subsidiaries thereof, as additional Borrowers, 8tbor Partners L.P. and StoneMor GP LLC, as GuaranBank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lendeddr/C Issuer, and the other Lenders Party Heretd,Banc of Americi
Securities LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bdakager (incorporated by reference to Exhibit Iff.Registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on August 21, 2007
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10.1.2*

10.1.3*

10.1.4*

10.1.5*

10.1.6*

10.1.7*

10.1.8*

10.1.9*

10.1.10°

10.1.11

10.1.12

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Creditégent, dated November 2, 2007, by and among Ston€¥d_LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCjoter subsidiaries thereof, the lenders party tbematl Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, iBg Line Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated byrefice to Exhibit 10.1.1
of Registrar's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20!

Joinder to Amended and Restated Credit AgreemehCaedit Documents, dated December 21, 2007 (ircatpd by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 28, 2007

Commitment Letter, effective as of February 25,208y and among Bank of America, N.A., Bank of AmoarSecurities, LLC
and StoneMor Operating LLC (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Reportfmrm 8-K filed March
2, 2009).

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Cred@efgent, dated April 30, 2009, by and among Stone®MiLLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A.(incorporated by reference to Exhitit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 6, 2009)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &ment, dated July 6, 2009, by and among StoneMdrl&R StoneMor
Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLC, certain Rliases of StoneMor Operating LLC, the Lenders &aahk of America,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4R#gistrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Crediéérgent, dated November 24, 2009, by and among twm@P LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, theders and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiit2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{&dion November 24,
2009).

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &gent, dated January 15, 2010, by and among StaneMa.LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitit1l of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 21, 201C

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit émgent, dated May 4, 2010, by and among StoneMotIER, StoneMor
Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLC, certain Rliages of StoneMor Operating LLC, the Lenders 8aahk of America,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1R#gistrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 7, 2010)

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credéeftent, dated September 22, 2010, by and among8ts GP LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitit1l of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84Kdion September 27,
2010).

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credieément, dated January 28, 2011, by and among Stom@RILLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thadlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitiit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 3, 2011

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dai@d?9, 2011, among StoneMor Operating LLC, eatits
Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partnels,lthe Lenders party thereto and Bank of AmeRNtA,, as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/Cuss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 efjRtrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on May 5, 2011)
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10.1.13 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restatedt@mgreement, dated August 4, 2011, among Stone®uerating LLC,
each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC, StoneWartners L.P., the Lenders party thereto and Bammerica, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/Cuss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 efjRtrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

10.1.14° Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restateli Eggeement, dated October 28, 2011, among Stamédperating
LLC, each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC,r&tilor Partners L.P., the Lenders party theretoBartk of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and Il$Suer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1G.Registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on November 3, 2011

10.1.15 Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, diedary 19, 2012, among StoneMor Operating LLCh @ads
Subsidiaries, StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partnebs,lthe Lenders party thereto and Bank of Amefta,, as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/Cuss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 efjRtrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on January 24, 2012

10.1.16° First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated €haglieement, dated February 19, 2013, by and arsooigeMor
Operating LLC, each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMerlG&.C, StoneMor Partners L.P., the Lenders pamtyetto and Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Lihender and L/C Issuer (incorporated by referendextaibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 22, 2013

10.1.17 Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restatedt@xgrteement, as amended, dated May 8, 2013, byaamehg StoneMc
Operating LLC, each of its Subsidiaries, StoneMérl& C, StoneMor Partners L.P., the Lenders pamyeto and Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Lihender and L/C Issuer (incorporated by referendextaibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 13, 2013)

10.1.18 Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Césglieement and Security Documents, dated Jungdig, by and
among StoneMor Operating LLC, its Subsidiariesn8dor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., the Lendargypthereto and
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, $wiLine Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated bynegiee to Exhibit 10.1 ¢
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 21, 2013

10.2* Confirmation and Amendment Agreement, dated Jani@r2012, among StoneMor Operating LLC, each&itbsidiaries,
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P. and Bankragrica, N.A., as Collateral Agent (incorporatedreference to Exhib
10.2 of Registrar's Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 24, 201z

10.3* Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated 2@r2011, among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor PasthelP., StoneMor
Operating LLC, the Subsidiary Debtors listed theeid Bank of America, N.A. as Collateral Agent@imporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 5, 2011)

10.4* Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement, dated 2pr011, among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Parthd?s StoneMor
Operating LLC, the Subsidiary Pledgors listed threeend Bank of America, N.A. as administrative aotlateral agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 5, 2011)

10.5* Purchase Agreement, dated November 18, 2009, bamodg StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operatln@, ICornerstone
Family Services of West Virginia Subsidiary, In@siris Holding of Maryland Subsidiary, Inc., theagantors named therein and
Banc of America Securities LLC, acting on behalfteélf and as the representative for the purclsaseamed therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009
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10.6*

10.7.1*f

10.7.2*t

10.7.3*t

10.7.4*f

10.7.5*t

10.7.6*t

10.7.7*f

10.7.8*t

10.7.9*t

10.7.10*

10.7.11%

10.8.1*f

10.8.2*t

10.8.3*t

Purchase Agreement, dated May 16, 2013, by and g@i@tuneMor Partners L.P., Cornerstone Family Sesviaf West Virginii
Subsidiary, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors narhecein and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smitledrporated, acting on
behalf of itself and as the representative foritliteal purchasers named therein (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrar’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 17, 2013)

StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plargrasnded April 19, 2010 (incorporated by referencappendix A to
Registrar’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on June 4, 20

Form of the Director Restricted Phantom Unit AgreetUnder the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Termritice Plan, dated
November 8, 2006 (incorporated by reference to l&ikhD.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Form R-filed on November 1!
2006).

Form of the Key Employee Restricted Phantom Unite®gment Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Tliaoantive Plan,
dated November 8, 2006 (incorporated by referem@exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report onR@-K filed on
November 15, 2006

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Untlee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivemPtated as of
November 27, 2006 (incorporated by reference talkitxh0.1 of Registrars Current Report on Form R-filed on December :
2006).

Director Restricted Phantom Unit Agreement by aetivieen StoneMor GP LLC and Robert Hellman dateé 23) 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 23, 2009

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Unttee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivenPtlated as of
December 16, 2009 (incorporated by reference toliixt0.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8ited on December
22, 2009)

Form of the Executive Restricted Phantom Unit Agreet Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Terneritige Plan, dated
as of December 16, 2009 (incorporated by referemé&xhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report @i 8-K filed on
December 22, 2009

Director Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Undee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Rilacorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2.8 of Registr's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20(

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Untlee StoneMor Partners L.P. Lofigrm Incentive Plan, dated as of A
2, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1df.Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fsrquarterly period ended
June 30, 2012

Executive Restricted Phantom Unit Agreement Unlder3toneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Piated as of
November 7, 2012 (incorporated by reference to lkhD.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Form R-filed on November 1.
2012).

Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Under the StoweMartners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plan, datedfa&3ctober 22,
2013.

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah€Lawrence Miller, effective as of SeptemberZim4
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and Lawrence Miller, effective as of Januar2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, exedutg®2, 2013 and retroactive to January 1, 20¢3&nd between
StoneMor GP, LLC and Lawrence Miller (incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Cuti@eport on Form 8-K
filed on July 26, 2013’
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10.9.1*f

10.9.2*t

10.9.3*t

10.10.1*

10.10.2*

10.11*f

10.13.1t
10.13.2%
10.13.3%
10.14.1*

10.14.2*1

10.15*

10.16*

10.17.1*

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah€William R. Shane, effective as of Septembe2P04
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and William R. Shane, effective as of Janugrg008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Employment Agreement, effective April 1, 2012, nddetween StoneMor GP LLC and William Shane (ipoceited by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 2, 2012).

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah@Michael L. Stache, effective as of SeptemBe204
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and Michael L. Stache, effective as of Japudar2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of R&gis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Employment Separation Agreement, executed on Feb8# 2013, by and between StoneMor GP LLC and R&aimberg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tleggRtran’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 1, 2013}

Letter Agreement by and between David Meyers andeéor GP LLC.
Confidentiality and No-Compete Agreement by and between David Meyers &meSlor GP LLC
Payback Agreement by and between David Meyers &omeSlor GP LLC

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweesn8Mor GP LLC and Lawrence Miller, Robert B. Hellmdr., Fenton F
Talbott, Jeffery A. Zawadsky, Martin R. Lautmanifithy K. Yost , Allen R. Freedman, effective Septem20, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweesn8Mor GP LLC and Howard Carver and Peter Grunebaffective
February 16, 2007 (incorporated by reference talixh0.9 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on FatfrQ for its quarterly
period ended September 30, 20(

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated DecemP@0 4, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, joibgdts direct and
indirect subsidiary entities listed in Exhibit Atlee Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement and by Esmé@anagement Services
of Ohio, L.L.C., and SCI Funeral Services, Incingal by its direct and indirect subsidiary entitisted in Exhibit B to the
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, as well as b&@ Funeral Services, Inc., and Alderwoods (Qldemetery
Management, Inc. (incorporated by reference to lkhi0.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8il&d on December 7,
2007).

Transition Agreement, dated December 7, 2007, lyaainong StoneMor Operating LLC, joined by thoséwéirect and
indirect subsidiary entities which are partieshte Purchase Agreement, as defined therein, andF&@ral Services, Inc.,
joined by those of its direct and indirect subgigiantities which are parties to the Purchase Age¥d (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registr’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 7, 2007

Amended and Restated Purchase Agreement by andgetoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Indiana LLC, &t or
Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetery Holdings,.J#nsure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLC, Memory Gargétanagement
Corporation, Forest Lawn Fune
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10.17.2°

10.18*

10.19.1°

10.19.2°

10.20*

10.22*

211
23.1

Home Properties, LLC, Gardens of Memory CemeterZ | Gill Funeral Home, LLC, Garden View Funeral HorheC, Royal
Oak Memorial Gardens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage HilleiMory Gardens of Ohio Ltd., Robert E. Nelms andrgtte Gray, as
receiver, dated April 2, 2010 (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Répaor Form 8-K filed on
May 5, 2010)

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Purchassegnt by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, Stardkbiana
LLC, StoneMor Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetelgidings, Inc., Ansure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLi@emory Gardens
Management Corporation, Forest Lawn Funeral Hormpd?ties, LLC, Gardens of Memory Cemetery LLC, Gilineral Home,
LLC, Garden View Funeral Home, LLC, Royal Oak Membardens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage Hills Memory @ans of Ohio
Ltd., Robert E. Nelms, Robert Nelms, LLC and Lyneddray, as receiver, dated June 21, 2010 (incatpdiby reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 25, 2010

Settlement Agreement by and among StoneMor Indi&ia StoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Partners LEhapel Hill
Associates, Inc., Chapel Hill Funeral Home, In@yitigton Memorial Funeral Home, Inc., Covington M@l Gardens, Inc.,
Forest Lawn Memorial Chapel Inc., Forest Lawn Meyr@ardens Inc., Fred W. Meyer, Jr. by James R. Magepecial
Administrator to the Estate of Fred W. Meyer, James R. Meyer, Thomas E. Meyer, Nancy Cade, and.Meyer Associates,
LLC dated June 21, 2010 (incorporated by referéadexhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report @i 8-K filed on June 25,
2010).

Omnibus Agreement by and among McCown De Leeuw &ICpL.P., McCown De Leeuw & Co. IV AssociatesPL, MDC
Management Company IV, LLC, Delta Fund LLC, Cortene Family Services LLC, CFSI LLC, StoneMor Par#ne.P.,
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Operating LLC, dated &September 20, 2004 (incorporated by referendextabit 10.4 of the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Omnibus Agreement entered infaad effective as of, January 24, 2011 by andngdDC IV Trust
U/T/A November 30, 2010, MDC IV Associates TrusTIX November 30, 2010, Delta Trust U/T/A Novemb@r 3010
(successors respectively to McCown De Leeuw & ®@9oLLP., a California limited partnership, McCowre Deeuw IV
Associates, L.P., a California limited partnersiiyejta Fund LLC, a California limited liability copany, and MDC Manageme
Company IV, LLC, a California limited liability copany), Cornerstone Family Services LLC, a Delavianged liability
company, CFSI LLC, a Delaware limited liability cpamy, StoneMor Partners L.P., a Delaware limitetiheaship, StoneMor
GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, faself and on behalf of the Partnership in its cépaxs general partner of the
Partnership, and StoneMor Operating LLC, a Delaviariéed liability company (incorporated by refemnto Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 28, 2011

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreemgrariad among StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor GP,IQESI LLC,
StoneMor Operating LLC, dated as of September Q04 Zincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2haf Registrans Quarterl
Report on Form 1-Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Lease Agreement, dated as of September 26, 2018)dgmong StoneMor Operating, LLC, StoneMor Penasja LLC and
StoneMor Pennsylvania Subsidiary LLC, the Archdgmcef Philadelphia, and StoneMor Partners L.Pelgah its capacity as
guarantor (incorporated by reference to Exhibil10.the Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 2, 2013

Subsidiaries of Registrar
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLI
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31.1

31.2
32.1

32.2

99.1*

99.2*

99.3*

101

T

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13aa)4f Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer Pidsnt and Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule -14(a) of Timothy K. Yost, Chief Financial Office

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsa@xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exclafgt Rule 13a-14(b) of
Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, Presidemtd Chairman of the Board of Directors (furnishedewith).

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadgsa@xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exclafgt Rule 13a-14(b) of
Timothy K. Yost, Chief Financial Officer (furnishdakrewith).

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agnent of StoneMor GP LLC, dated as of Septembe2@®4 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 19, 200°

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Lintitallility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLC, etdias of Septemb
14, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9§.Registrar's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 19, 200°

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated ldrigbility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLGted as of
December 18, 2007 (incorporated by reference tolix®0.2 of Registrant’'s Current Report on ForrK 8iled on December 28,
2007).

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are thedfelhg Interactive Data Files formatted in XBRL (eXsible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as oéiber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012; (ii) Codatdd Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2@12 a@nd 2011; (iii) Consolidated Statement of RagnCapital; (iv)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yeladed December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011; and (\@sNotthe Consolidated
Financial Statements. Users of this data are adiyasesuant to Rule 401 of Regulation S-T that ttiermation contained in the
XBRL documents is unaudited and these are notffi@ad publicly filed financial statements of SteWor Partners L.F

Incorporated by reference, as indicated
Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangenTg
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Exhibit 10.7.11

UNIT APPRECIATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
UNDER THE
STONEMOR PARTNERS L.P. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

This Key Employee Unit Appreciation Rights Agreeméhe “Agreement”) entered into as of October 2213 (the “Agreement Date”),
by and between StoneMor GP LLC (the “Company”),dkaeral partner of and acting on behalf of StoneR&rtners L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (the “Partnership”), and David Meyar&ey employee of the Company or its Affiliatese(tParticipant”).

BACKGROUND:

In order to make certain awards to key employeescitbrs and consultants of the Company and itdi&tés, the Company maintains on
behalf of the Partnership the StoneMor Partners LoRg-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plaftig Plan is administered by the
Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Bloaf Directors (the “Board”) of the Company. Therfimittee has determined to grant
to the Participant, pursuant to the terms and ¢amdi of the Plan, an award (the “Award”) of Unippgreciation Rights (also called “UARS"),
which entitles the holder to receive, in whole Coomtunits of the Partnership (“Common Units”) theess of the Fair Market Value of a
Common Unit on the exercise date over the exelmase price established for the UARS, subject tdelras and conditions contained herein.
The exercise base price for the UAR is intendeebjgal Fair Market Value of a Common Unit on theebait Grant (as defined herein). The
Participant has determined to accept such Awarg.iAitially capitalized terms and phrases usedia Agreement, but not otherwise defined
herein, shall have the respective meanings asctibt#tem in the Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company, acting on behalf efRartnership, and the Participant, each inteniitg legally bound hereby,
agree as follows:

ARTICLE |
AWARD OF UARS

1.1 Grant of UARS and Vestingrhe Participant is hereby granted the followingRS under the Plan and the following terms shaleha
the following respective meanings as used heregftifris Agreement:

Date of Grar October 22, 201
Exercise Base Price for Each of the UA: $ 25.61
Total Number of UARS 25,00(

UARS vest at a percentage rate which is equaftacéion the numerator of which is the number déndar months which have
elapsed since October 22, 2013 and the denomiaftehich is 48, subject to the forfeiture provissorontained in Section 1.4 hereof.

*

Intended to Equal Fair Market Value on Date of &
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All of the UARS shall automatically vest upon a @ga of Control (as defined in the Plan), notwithdgiag that the UARS have n
otherwise vested, provided that, at the time ofGhange of Control, the Participant is then emplidyye the Company or any of its Affiliates.
All of the UARS shall automatically vest upon retitent at or after age 60 of a Participant who h#esaat 25 years of service with the
Company or any of its predecessor's companiesdtsmined by the Committee).

The term “permanent disability”, as used in Secfioh shall refer to a “disability” as defined irgulation 1.409A-3(i)(4)(i) and
any successor guidance under the Code. All deasisrio whether UARS have fully vested or as totladrea Participant has suffered a
“permanent disability” shall be made by the Comedtand its decision shall be final, binding andctusive in the absence of clear and
convincing evidence that such decision was not ntadeod faith.

1.2 Exercise of UARS

(a) UARS may not be exercised prior to vesting, anlg to the extent vested, and exercise is sulbjeall the terms and conditions
of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the ddions set forth in Section 1.2(c) hereof. UARSiehhhave vested may be exercised by giving
written exercise notice to the Company on the feupplied by the Company. UARS are not deemed eseztaintil the Participant has paid or
made suitable arrangements to pay all requireaviisholding under Section 2.3 hereof, which wiltinde (i) all foreign, federal, state and
local income tax withholding required to be withthély the Company in connection with the exercisthefUARS and (ii) the employee’s
portion of other foreign, federal, state and Iquayroll and other taxes due in connection withdkercise of the UARS.

(b) Upon proper exercise of UARS, the Participaifitlve entitled to receive, with respect to the Ua\Rhich are exercised, that
number of whole Common Units that is closest irr Market Value (but does not exceed) the excesmnfij of (i) the Fair Market Value of the
Common Units on the last trading date precedingebeipt by the Company of the written exercisecaofor if there is no trading in the
Common Units on such date, on the next preceditgaawhich there was trading) as reported in Ttadl Btreet Journglor other reporting
service approved by the Committee) over (i) therEise Base Price for each of the UARS containegkiction 1.1. No fractional Common
Units shall be issued; instead, cash shall beiloliged equal in Fair Market Value to the value effole Common Unit multiplied by the
fraction. In the event Common Units are not pullichded at the time a determination of Fair Maielue is required to be made herein, the
determination of Fair Market Value shall be madgaod faith by the Committee. The Commitgedetermination of Fair Market Value shal
final, binding and conclusive in absence of cleat eonvincing evidence that such decision was reatenin good faith.

(c) The Plan provides as followsfHe Committee may refuse to issue or transfer amiysldr other consideration under an Awar
in its sole discretion, it determines that the @ste or transfer of such Units or such other camaitbn might violate any applicable law or
regulation, the rules of the principal securitigsleange on which the Units are then traded, otleritie Partnership or an Affiliate to recover
the same under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Adtaay payment tendered to the Company by a Raatiti other holder or beneficiary in
connection with the exercise of such Award shalptmmptly refunded to the
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relevant Participant, holder or beneficiary.” Thereise of UARS may be subject to approval by timitéd partners of the Partnership as
required by the listing rules of the New York Stdekchange. In no event may a UAR be exercisedalation of the Second Amended and
Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of theriéaship.

1.3 Exercise TermSubject to Section 1.4 hereof, UARS’ may not kereised more than five (5) years after the Dat€@nt contained
in Section 1.1.

1.4 Forfeiture of UARS Upon Termination of Employmheln the event of the termination of the employmefithe Participant (whether
voluntary or involuntary and regardless of the osafor the termination) with the Company or its ildftes, all UARS (whether or not vested)
shall be deemed to be automatically forfeited, smtbe Participant’'s employment is on that datesteared to the Company or another
Affiliate. If a Participant’s employment is with gkffiliate and that entity ceases to be an Affiéiathe Participans’ employment will be deem:
to have terminated when the entity ceases to Wdfdiate unless the Participant transfers employti® the Company or its remaining
Affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in theemt of the termination of the Participant’'s empi@nt with the Company or any of its
Affiliates by reason of (a) a Change of Control daéined in the Plan); (b) the death of the Paytint; (c) the permanent disability of the
Participant (as determined by the Committee); dtHd retirement of the Participant at such agdha@s<ommittee shall approve, no forfeiture
shall apply.

1.5 No Rights as Holder of Common UnifShe Participant is not entitled to the rightsaadiolder of Common Units (including, but not
limited to, the right to receive distributions oer@mon Units) until certificates representing ther@won Units have been delivered to the
Participant after proper exercise of the UARS.

ARTICLE II
GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1 No Right Of Continued Employmenthe receipt of this Award does not give the Raréint, and nothing in the Plan or in this
Agreement shall confer upon the Participant, agltrio continue in the employment of the Compangror of its Affiliates. Nothing in the
Plan or in this Agreement shall affect any righiebihthe Company or any of its Affiliates may havdderminate the employment of the
Participant.

2.2 No Rights As A Limited PartneiNeither the Participant nor any other personldieéntitled to the privileges of ownership of
Common Units of the Partnership, limited partngrshterests in the Partnership, or otherwise hayerights as a limited partner, by reason of
the award of the UARS covered by this Agreement.

2.3 Tax Withholding The Participant is responsible to pay to the Camypall required tax withholding, whether foreigederal, state or
local in connection with the exercise of the UARS.

2.4 Administration Pursuant to the Plan, the Committee is vesteld @ghclusive authority to interpret and construePtan, to adopt
rules and regulations for carrying out the Plam ttnmake determinations with respect to all mattetating to the Plan and awards made
pursuant thereto. The authority to manage and abifite operation and administration of this
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Agreement shall be likewise vested in the Commjteel the Committee shall have all powers with eesfo this Agreement as it has with
respect to the Plan. Any interpretation of this égment by the Committee, and any decision madeedZommittee with respect to this
Agreement, shall be final and binding.

2.5 Effect of Plan; ConstructiariThe entire text of the Plan is expressly incoaped herein by this reference and so forms a fpani
Agreement. In the event of any inconsistency ocrdisancy between the provisions of this Agreemedtthe terms and conditions of the Plan
under which the UARS are granted, the provisionthefPlan shall govern and prevail. The UARS afgl Algreement are each subject in all
respects to, and the Company and the Participahtleereby agree to be bound by, all of the terndscanditions of the Plan, as the same may
have been amended from time to time in accordaritteits terms; provided, however, that no such agneent shall deprive the Participant,
without the Participant’s consent, of any rightenea or otherwise due to the Participant hereunder.

2.6 Amendment, Supplement or Waivérthis Agreement shall not be amended, supplemeategaived in whole or in part, except by
instrument in writing executed by the parties tis thgreement.

2.7 Captions The captions at the beginning of each of the ranetb Sections and Articles herein are for refergmurposes only and will
have no legal force or effect. Such captions voll Ime considered a part of this Agreement for psepaf interpreting, construing or applying
this Agreement and will not define, limit, exterkplain or describe the scope or extent of thise&grent or any of its terms and conditions.

2.8 Governing Law THE VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION, INTERPRETATION AND EFECT OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL
EXCLUSIVELY BE GOVERNED BY AND DETERMINED IN ACCORINCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF
PENNSYLVANIA (WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICE OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF), EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT
PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW.

2.9 Natices All notices, requests and demands to or upomebgective parties hereto to be effective shaihberiting, sent by facsimile
by overnight courier or by registered or certifiadil, postage prepaid and return receipt requestdtand-delivered by the Participant and
acknowledged in writing by the Company. Noticesht® Company shall be deemed to have been duly giverade upon actual receipt by the
Company. Such communications shall be addressedisraled to the parties listed below (except wiikie Agreement expressly provides
that it be directed to another) as follows, oruolsother address or recipient for a party as neslydveafter notified by such party hereunder:

(a) if to the Partnership or Compa StoneMor GP LLC
311 Veterans Highway, Suite
Levittown PA 1905¢
Attention: Chief Financial Office

(b) if to the Participant: to the address for tlzetiipant as it appears on the Company’s records.
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2.10_Severability If any provision hereof is found by a court ofguetent jurisdiction to be prohibited or unenfotdeait shall, as to
such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extefsuch prohibition or unenforceability, and syorbhibition or unenforceability shall not
invalidate the balance of such provision to theskit is not prohibited or unenforceable, nor lidate the other provisions hereof.

2.11 Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Constructidhis Agreement constitutes the entire understandnd supersedes any and all othe
agreements, oral or written, between the partiestbgin respect of the subject matter of this Agnent, and embodies the entire understar
of the parties with respect to the subject matézedf. This Agreement may be executed in one oeroounterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original against any party whose sigeatppears thereon. The rule of construction th&tiguities in a document are construed
against the draftsperson shall not apply to thissAment.

2.12 Binding AgreementThe terms and conditions of this Agreement dtwlbinding upon the estate, heirs, beneficiariesatner
representatives of the Participant to the samenetat said terms and conditions are binding uperParticipant.

2.13_Arbitration. Any dispute or disagreement with respect to amyign of this Agreement or its validity, constriact, meaning,
performance, or Participant’s rights hereunderldebettled by arbitration, conducted in Philati@pPennsylvania, in accordance with the
Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arhiion Association or its successor, as amended firmmto time. However, prior to
submission to arbitration the Participant will atfg to resolve any disputes or disagreements WwetPartnership over this Agreement amic
and informally, in good faith, for a period notdérceed two weeks. Thereafter, the dispute or dégagent will be submitted to arbitration. At
any time prior to a decision from the arbitratol{g)ng rendered, the Participant and the Partrerahy resolve the dispute by settlement. The
Participant and the Partnership shall equally stleeosts charged by the American Arbitration Agsion or its successor, but the Participan
and the Partnership shall otherwise be solely mesipte for their own respective counsel fees ambases. The decision of the arbitrator(s)
shall be made in writing, setting forth the awahd reasons for the decision and award and shalinoing and conclusive on the Participant
and the Partnership. Further, neither Participantime Partnership shall appeal any such awardyndadt of a court of competent jurisdiction
may be entered upon the award and may be enfoscedich in accordance with the provisions of therdwiHE PARTICIPANT HEREBY
WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, intendimdpé legally bound hereby, have executed this Agese as of the day first abo
written.

STONEMOR PARTNERS L.F
By: StoneMor GP LLC
By: /s/ Lawrence Miller

Name Lawrence Miller
Title: President and CEO

The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the foregoing Unit Appreciation Rights Agreemh and the Plan, and having r
them, hereby signifies his or her understandingod his or her agreement with, their terms andlitioms. The Participant hereby accepts this
Agreement in full satisfaction of any previous teit or verbal promises made to him or her by tiignBeship or the Company or any of its
other Affiliates with respect to this Award undbetPlan.

/s/ David Meyers (seal 10/22/2013
(Signature of Participan (Date)
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Exhibit 10.13.1

TONEMOR

STONEMOR PARTNERS L.P.

October 7, 2013

David Meyers
298 Highland Park Drive
Birmingham, AL 35242

Dear David,

| am pleased to confirm our offer of employmenydw for the position of incumbent Chief Operatinffi€2r at StoneMor GP LLC
(“StoneMor” or “Company”), the General Partner ebi®eMor Partners, L.P., effective October 22, 204 3his position you will report to
Larry Miller, Chief Executive Officer of StoneMor.

The terms of our employment offer include:

1.) Annual Base Salary: starting salary $300,000/par and paid on a weekly basis pursuant to atandompany payroll practices
and subject to all normal tax withholdings and deiguns.

2.) Target Annual Bonus: up to a maximum of 25%\phual Base Salary. The sum of $75,000 is guardrasghe minimum annual
bonus for the first full calendar year of employrenly, i.e. calendar year 2014. Except for theimum guaranteed annual bonus
for 2014, all annual bonus payments are at theatist of the Compensation Committee of the Bodmimectors of StoneMol

3.) Hiring Bonus: $12,500, paid November 1, 20

4.) Award under Long Term Incentive Plan (“Plar2%,000 Unit Appreciation Rights, subject to apptafahe Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors, with a basereise price equal to the closing market price atoer 21, 2013, with a 4 year
level monthly vesting schedule, subject to the seamd conditions set forth in the Plan and ourdstechUnit Appreciation Rights
Agreement

5.) Relocation Benefit: Temporary housing for 12¢slat Company’s expense in an apartment. Compaihgower the customary
buyer’s closing costs (excluding down payment)tifer purchase of a home. Home must be purchase@dbgniiber 31, 2014 in
order to receive benefit. Moving expenses to balersed pursuant to standard Company practice feerdsabmission of 3
competitive bids. This benefit is subject to thelesed Payback Agreement. Please provide us wétl3 thids for your moving
expenses at your earliest convenience. If any itm@$ot covered from the bids, we will adviselsat you can determine any oul
pocket costs attributable to yc

6.) Other Fringe Benefits: Eligible after 90 daybjgct to the terms and conditions of each Compgaoysored benefits plan to which
you are eligible. Summary Plan Descriptions willdvevided upon reques

7.) Company to provide a cell phone and basic platsafhioosing

8.) Travel Expenses: Covered by the Company expenseyp

9.) Time Off and Vacation: Time Off approved at Managetdiscretion
As with all employees, this offer is contingent npmmmpletion of a successful reference and backgtaheck. Further, you will be required to
provide legal documentation of your identity arghtito work in the Unite States. All employees jpqnStoneMor in a position of key
responsibility are required to sign a “Confidentiahnd Non-Compete Agreement.” The Confidentiadityd Non-Compete Agreement is

attached to this letter, and must be signed amalnetl by you before your first day of employmertilire to successfully meet any of these
conditions will result in an immediate withdrawdltbe offer of employment.

Your employment is subject to the Company poligiagch are set forth in the Company’s Employee Hadh as amended from time to time,
including its Code of Ethics.

This offer does not fix a term of your employmeantd as such, you will be employer “at-will”. Botto8eMor and you reserve the right to
terminate the employment relationship at any tiperureasonable prior notice to the extent practfoalany reason (or no reason).

311 Veterans Hwy, Suite — Levittown, PA 1905¢



Tel: 215.826.280!



By accepting this offer, you are confirming thatiyare not subject to a confidentiality or non-coteg@r similar obligation) with any prior
employer that would limit your ability to acceptdaexecute this position with StoneMor.

| want to emphasize | am confident you have theg®al and professional qualifications to be a cealributor to the future success of
StoneMor. In this regard, | know that Larry Millend the rest of the team joins me in sharing howhmwe look forward to working with you.

In considering this offer, please do not hesitateantact me for further information.

David, if you accept the terms set forth in thesofetter, | request that you sign and return ay¢opme no later than October 22, 2013.
| look forward to your response.

Sincerely,

/sl Penny Casey

Penny Casey
Vice President of Human Resources

ACCEPTED AND APPROVED:

/s/ David Meyers
David Meyers

Effective As Of October 22, 2013




Exhibit 10.13.2

CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON -COMPETE AGREEMENT

In consideration of the commencement of my emplayras Chief Operating Officer at StoneMor GP LLSt@neMor” or “Company”),
the General Partner of StoneMor Partners, L.Rdeasribed in my offer letter, and the other consitien as described in more detail below,
receipt and sufficiency of which | hereby acknovgedand intending to be legally bound hereby, hiB&eyers, state and agree as follows:

1. Business StoneMor GP LLC, its parents, affiliates, subsi@isrdivisions, and related companies or entities, their respective
predecessors, successors and assigns, now existirggeafter created, (collectively referred toeeas “StoneMor”), are engaged in the
deathcare industry and provide a broad scope afysts and services through the ownership, developraad operation of cemeteries and
funeral homes (the “Business”):

a. StoneMor invests substantial time, money, and gffor an ongoing basis, to train its employees wjitbcialized skills and
knowledge unique to StoneMor and its Businesset@lbp products and services for the Businessdiotain and expand its customer base,
and to improve and develop its products and sesyice

b. From the outset of and during my employment withn®Mor, | will have access to, receive, learn, ttgv@and/or conceive
information that is proprietary and/or confident@alStoneMor;

c. This information must be kept in strict confideriogrotect StoneMor’s Business and maintain its petitive position in the
marketplace, and this information would be usefubtoneMor’s existing and potential competitorsifatefinite periods of time;

d. From the outset of and during my employment withn®Mor, | will have access to and will be requitedlevelop, maintain,
and/or supervise technology, products and custoet&tionships and intellectual property that arkeiable to StoneMor and which it has a
legitimate interest in protecting;

e. StoneMor would be irreparably harmed by my subsetwerk with, for or as a competitor of StoneMouedo the possibility
that there would be inadvertent or other discloswfeStoneMor’s proprietary and/or confidentialarthation or that there would be improper
interference with its valuable customer relatiopskand goodwill;

f. The commencement of my employment with StoneMadisquate consideration for signing this Confiddibtiand Non-
Compete Agreement (the “Agreement”);

g. The restrictions in this Agreement are reasonamtergecessary to protect StoneMor's legitimate kassirinterests;

h. The post-termination restrictions set forth in tAgreement shall apply regardless of whether myleympent is terminated with
or without cause and regardless of whether theitation was initiated by me or by StoneMor; and

i. The post-termination restrictions set forth in thgreement may limit, but do not prohibit, me fr@arning a satisfactory
livelihood.

Initia
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2. Covenants.

a. No Solicitation. During my employment with StoneMor and for a pdrof two (2) years thereafter, | will not, dirgctr
indirectly: (i) solicit, entice, persuade or indumgy employee, director, officer, associate, cdasty) agent or independent contractor of the
Company to terminate his or her employment or eagemt by the Company to become employed or engageampetition with the
Company by any person, firm, corporation or othegibess enterprise other than a member of the Qompacept in furtherance of my
responsibility during my employment with StoneMor;(ii) authorize or assist in the taking of sucti@n by any third party. For purposes of
this Section 2.a, the terms “employee,” “directdofficer,” “associate,” “consultant,” “agent,” arfthdependent contractor” shall include any
person with such status at any time during my eympént and for one year following my terminationeafiployment.

b. No Competition During my employment with StoneMor and for a pdrof one (1) year thereafter, | will not, directly
indirectly, engage, participate, make any finanicigéstment in, or become employed by or rendersady or other services to or for any
person, firm, corporation or other business entegfthe “Competing Enterprise”) which is engaggicectly or indirectly, during the period of
my employment or at the time of the terminatiomgyf employment, as the case may be, in any Busuofabe type and character engaged in o
competitive with that conducted by the Companyrip state or marketing area in which the Compartoiag business or is qualified to do
business.

c. Confidentiality. During my employment and thereafter without limstto time, | will not (other than in the regutaurse and in
furtherance of the Company’s business) divulgeyifilir or make available to any person any knowledgeformation with respect to the
business or affairs of the Company which is comrfide, including, without limitation, “know-how,rade secrets, customer lists, pricing
policies, operational methods, marketing plangmatagies, product development techniques or plansiness acquisition or disposition plans,
new personnel employment plans, methods, techpicaksses, designs and design projects, inverdimhsesearch projects and financial
budgets and forecasts of the Company except (@)mretion which at the time is available to othershie business or generally known to the
public other than as a result of disclosure byGbenpany not permitted hereunder, and (2) when reduo do so by a court of competent
jurisdiction, by any governmental agency or by adyninistrative body or legislative body (includiagommittee thereof) with purported
apparent jurisdiction to order me to divulge, disel or make accessible such information. All memdaanotes, lists, records, electronically
stored data, recordings or videotapes and otherrdents (and all copies thereof) made or compilethbyor made available to me (whether
during my employment by the Company or by any prtedsor thereof) concerning the business of the @agnpr any predecessor thereof <
be the property of the Company and shall be dadivéo the Company promptly upon the terminatiomgfemployment.

d. Nondisclosure Except as set forth in Schedule A (attached bgreshall not disclose or utilize in my work withe Company
any Intellectual Property or secret or confidentiédrmation of others (including any prior emplagkg or any Intellectual Property, inventions
or innovations of my own which are not includedhiitthe scope of this agreement (collectively, 8Ptnventions”). For the purposes of this
Agreement, “Intellectual Property”

Initial
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shall include, but shall not be limited to, ideiasentions, methods, know-how, discoveries, proegsaorks of authorship, designs, analyses,
drawings, reports, trademarks, service marks, sdagos, trade dress, technical, business, sglesations and computer software
innovations. If disclosure of any Prior Inventioowd cause me to violate any prior confidentiatigreement, | understand that | should no
such Prior Inventions in Schedule A, but | shoultiyalisclose a cursory name for each such Prioentien, listing of the party/ies to which it
belongs and the fact that full disclosure as tdhd@igor Inventions has not been made for that medémo such disclosure is attached, |
represent that there are no Prior Inventionsnlthe course of my employment with the Compangicbiporate a Prior Invention into a
StoneMor service, product or process, the Compsihgiieby granted and shall have a nonexclusivajtyefree, irrevocable, perpetual,
worldwide license (with rights to sublicense thrbugultiple tiers of sublicenses) to make, have mauwify, use and sell such Prior
Invention. Notwithstanding the foregoing, | agrbattl will not incorporate, or permit to be incorpted, Prior Inventions in any StoneMor
service, product or process without the Compangita pvritten consent and | represent that | havertght to provide all such Prior Inventions.

e.Employee Innovation| acknowledge that all developments, includinghewut limitation, inventions, patentable or othéesgy
trade secrets, discoveries, improvements, ideasvatidgs that alone or jointly with others | magreceive, make, develop or acquire during
employment by the Company and any predecessomth@alectively, the “Developments”), are and shiamain the sole and exclusive
property of the Company and | hereby assigns t&tmapany all of my right, title and interest in silich Developments. | shall promptly and
fully disclose all future Developments to the Comya Board, and, at any time upon request andeaé¥pense of the Company, shall execute
acknowledge and deliver to the Company all instntsiéhat the Company shall prepare, give evidemoe take all other actions that are
necessary or desirable in the reasonable opinidmeo€ompany’s counsel, to enable the Companyaafid prosecute applications for and to
acquire, maintain and enforce all letters pateatiemark registrations or copyrights covering tlee&opments in all countries in which the
same are deemed necessary.

f. Remedies | acknowledge that the services to be renderetidwre of a special, unique and extraordinaryaaitar and, in
connection with such services, | will have accesartd be furnished with confidential informatiomavito the Company’s business and that
irreparable injury would be sustained by the Conygarthe event of my breach of any of the covenantgained in this Section 2, which
injury could not be remedied adequately by the veppof damages in an action at law. Accordinglggtee that, upon a breach or threatened
breach by me of any of such covenants, the Comghaly be entitled, in addition to and not in ligiileay and all other remedies, to an
injunction to be issued by any court of competearisfiction restraining the commission or contincewof any such breach or threatened br:
upon minimal bond, with or without surety, and thath an injunction will not work an undue hardstsipme. | acknowledge that the covenan
periods set forth in this Section shall be exterlgethe period of any breach by me. Further, amy@n breach by me shall result in the
forfeiture of any remaining payments of benefite do me hereunder.

g. Survival. The provisions of this Section 2 shall survive termination of this Agreement, without regardhe reasons therefore.
Initia
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3. Severability and Reformation. If any court determines that any of the provisiohghis Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the
remainder of such provisions shall not therebyfbected and shall be given full effect without redj#o the invalid provisions. If any court
construes any of the provisions of this Agreemengny part thereof, to be unreasonable becauthe afuration of such provision or the
geographic scope thereof, such court shall havedier to reduce the duration or restrict the gapkic scope of such provision and to enf
such provision as so reduced or restricted.

4. Waiver . A decision by StoneMor or any thigghrty beneficiary to enforce certain breaches isf Agreement but not others shall no
construed as a waiver of any possible remedy tteate®/or or any third-party beneficiary has for nmgdch of this Agreement regardless of
any claims that | may have against StoneMor.

5. Madification; Termination . This Agreement may not be modified or terminatadyhole or part, except in writing signed by an
authorized representative of StoneMor.

6. Choice of Law and Forum. This Agreement will be governed by Pennsylvania dgplicable to contracts entered into and performe
in Pennsylvania. | agree that this Agreement shallusively be enforced by any federal or statetoofucompetent jurisdiction in the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and hereby conseahgtpersonal jurisdiction of these courts.

7. Assignment. | agree that StoneMor may assign part or all f Agreement to any direct or indirect parent, iafid, subsidiary,
division, related company or entity of StoneMor an@ny transferee of substantially all of the tssé StoneMor and that any assignee shall
have the same rights as StoneMor. | understand Heate no rights to assign this Agreement.

8. Payback Agreement | acknowledge and agree that nothing in this Agrereinshall affect my duties and obligations contdiimethe
Payback Agreement by and between myself and Stoneited October , 2013.

9. No Other Agreements or Obligations | represent that, except as stated below, | havsigned any norompetition or other contre
that prohibits me from being employed by StoneMoassigning my works and ideas to StoneMor.

[Signature Page Follows]
Initia
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I INTEND TO BE LEGALLY BOUND BY THIS AGREEMENT:
DAVID MEYERS:

Date: 10/10/13 /sl David Meyers
David Meyers

STONEMOR GP LLC

Date: By:  /s/ Penelope Cast

Name Penelope Case
Title: VP, Human Resource

Initia
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SCHEDULE A
Employee Innovation and Non-Disclosure Agreement

| have set forth herein all such ideas, inventiomsthods, know-how, discoveries, processes, wdrksithorship, designs, analyses,
drawings, reports, trademarks, service marks, sdagos, trade dress, technical, business, sglesations, computer software innovations,
trade secrets and all other Intellectual Propehictvare not included within the scope of this Agment, or a short summary of anything that
cannot be listed, and | have disclosed in writm&toneMor on or before the date of this Agreentigatitle or identifying criteria, and a full
description, of each such item, including, withbimitation, the state of completion of each su@mif and whether and the extent to which eac
item is the subject of a trademark, service markopyright application or registration, or a patepplication or patent. | understand and agre
that no such ideas, inventions, methods, know-fitiszoveries, processes, works of authorship, desmmlyses, drawings, reports,
trademarks, service marks, slogans, logos, traefesdor technical, business, sales, operatiomécalj computer software innovations, trade
secrets or other Intellectual Property will be exiedld from the scope of this Agreement except te#tent disclosed and described below.

DAVID MEYERS:

Date:
David Meyers
STONEMOR GP LLC
By:

Date:
Name
Title:

Initia
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Exhibit 10.13.2

PAYBACK AGREEMENT

PAYBACK AGREEMENT dated 10/10/2013 between Stonel@® LLC (“StoneMor”), general partner of StoneMarthers, L.P., and David
Meyers (“Employee”).

WHEREAS, in connection with Employee’s acceptanica mwew position with StoneMor, StoneMor has offere reimburse Employee for
certain relocation expenses in accordance withiegdge relocation policy; and

WHEREAS, in consideration for such reimbursemetan&Mor wishes to establish, and Employee agreasdept, certain conditions under
which Employee must repay all such expenses assbyn8tbneMor on Employee’s behalf.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideratieneipt of which is hereby acknowledged, andnidirg to be legally bound heret
StoneMor and Employee agree as follows:

1.

In the event that Employee separates from empdoy with StoneMor, or with any successor emplayigich continues StoneMa&’
employment of Employee without interruption by agd@n of law or contract (“Successor Employer”)thin twelve (12) months
from the effective relocation date in Employee’svriecation for any reason except an employer-itgétitermination due to
reorganization or lack of work (a “Separation”), ployee agrees to reimburse StoneMor, or the Succé&ssployer, for all
expenses incurred or paid by StoneMor on Employeefslf in connection with Employee’s relocatioR€location Expenses”).
Such Relocation Expenses shall include, withouitdition, all moving and transportation expensespésale and purchase
assistance payments, mortgage subsidies and/aratepsecond mortgages, travel and lodging, insgraharges, and tax gross-up
payments incurred or paid by StoneM

In the event of a separation of employment for @ason other than a “Separation” as definetdeérpreceding paragraph,
StoneMor, or the Successor Employer, shall proiagloyee with an itemized list of Relocation Expesigicurred or paid to date.
All Relocation Expenses shall be due and payableérhployee within thirty (30) days after Employsefate of Separation or date
the itemized list of Relocation Expenses, whichesédater (“Due Date”). Any outstanding balance ethiemains unpaid by
Employee after the Due Date shall be subject sodharges calculated at 1% per month until sucinisalis paid in full

In addition, and without limiting any of the &going rights, Employee hereby authorizes Stonebtothe Successor Employer, to
the full extent permitted by law, to deduct RelamatExpenses and any accrued late charges fromdyegis final paycheck, bont
check or any other wages or payments otherwiseéalkenployee.

StoneMor may assign its rights under this Agreen@any Successor Employ:



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgieement effective on the date first above written

STONEMOR GP LLC EMPLOYEE
By:  /s/ Penelope Casey By:  /s/ David Meyers
Name Penelope Casey Name David Meyers

Title: VP, Human Resources Title: COO




StoneMor Partners L.P. Subsidiary And Managed Nonpofit* Entities

As of December 31, 2013

Entity Name

Alleghany Memorial Park LL(

Alleghany Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir
Altavista Memorial Park LLC

Altavista Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir
Arlington Development Compar

Augusta Memorial Park Perpetual Care Comg
Bethel Cemetery Associatiol

Beth Israel Cemetery Association of Woodbridge, Nensey*
Birchlawn Burial Park LLC

Birchlawn Burial Park Subsidiary, In
Bronswood Cemetery, In

Cedar Hill Funeral Home, In

Cemetery Investments LL

Cemetery Investments Subsidiary, |
Cemetery Management Services, L.L
Cemetery Management Services of -Atlantic States, L.L.C
Cemetery Management Services of Ohio, L.L
Chapel Hill Associates, Ini

Chapel Hill Funeral Home, Ini

Clover Leaf Park Cemetery Associatic

CMS West LLC

160

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Formation

Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
New Jerse!
Virginia
New Jerse!
New Jerse
Virginia
Virginia
lllinois
Maryland
Virginia
Virginia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Indiana
New Jerse!

Pennsylvani:



CMS West Subsidiary LL(

Columbia Memorial Park LL(

Columbia Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir
Cornerstone Family Insurance Services,

Cornerstone Family Services of New Jersey,
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia L
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Sulasid Inc.

Cornerstone Funeral and Cremation Services

Covenant Acquisition LL(C

Covenant Acquisition Subsidiary, Ir
Covington Memorial Funeral Home, Ir
Covington Memorial Gardens, In
Crown Hill Cemetery Associatior
Eloise B. Kyper Funeral Home, In
Forest Lawn Gardens, In

Forest Lawn Memorial Chapel, Ir
Forest Lawn Memory Gardens, It

Glen Haven Memorial Park LL

Glen Haven Memorial Park Subsidiary, I
Henlopen Memorial Park LL!
Henlopen Memorial Park Subsidiary LL
Henry Memorial Park LLC

Henry Memorial Park Subsidiary, In

Highland Memorial Park, Inc.

161

Pennsylvani:
Maryland
Maryland
Delaware
New Jerse
West Virginia
West Virginia
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Indiana
Indiana

Ohio
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Maryland
Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Ohio



Hillside Memorial Park Association, Inc
Juniata Memorial Park LL!

Kingwood Memorial Park Associatior
KIRIS LLC

KIRIS Subsidiary, Inc

Lakewood/Hamilton Cemetery LL

Lakewood/Hamilton Cemetery Subsidiary, |

Lakewood Memory Gardens South LI

Lakewood Memory Gardens South Subsidiary,

Laurel Hill Memorial Park LLC

Laurel Hill Memorial Park Subsidiary, In
Laurelwood Holding Compan

Legacy Estates, In

Locustwood Cemetery Associatio
Loewen [Virginia] LLC

Loewen [Virginia] Subsidiary, Inc
Lorraine Park Cemetery LL

Lorraine Park Cemetery Subsidiary, |
Modern Park Development LL

Modern Park Development Subsidiary, |
Northlawn Memorial Gardens

Oak Hill Cemetery LLC

Oak Hill Cemetery Subsidiary, In

Ohio Cemetery Holdings, Inc

162

Ohio
Pennsylvani:
Ohio
Virginia
Virginia
Tennesse
Tennesse
Georgia
Georgia
Virginia
Virginia
Pennsylvani:
New Jerse!
New Jerse
Virginia
Virginia
Delaware
Maryland
Maryland
Maryland
Ohio
Virginia
Virginia
Ohio



Osiris Holding Finance Compal

Osiris Holding of Maryland LLC

Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiary, In
Osiris Holding of Pennsylvania LL

Osiris Holding of Rhode Island LL

Osiris Holding of Rhode Island Subsidiary, |
Osiris Management, In

Osiris Telemarketing Cor|

Perpetual Gardens.Com, It

Plymouth Warehouse Facilities LL

Prince George Cemetery Corporat

PVD Acquisitions LLC

PVD Acquisitions Subsidiary, In
Rockbridge Memorial Gardens LL
Rockbridge Memorial Gardens Subsidiary Comp
Rolling Green Memorial Park LL!

Rose Lawn Cemeteries LL

Rose Lawn Cemeteries Subsidiary, Incorpor:
Roselawn Development LL

Roselawn Development Subsidiary Corpora
Russell Memorial Cemetery LL

Russell Memorial Cemetery Subsidiary, |

StoneMor Puerto Rico Cemetery and Funeral, Inc.
(formerly SCI Puerto Rico Funeral And Cemetery 8w, Inc.)

Shenandoah Memorial Park LL

163

Delaware
Delaware
Maryland
Pennsylvani:
Rhode Islanc
Rhode Islanc
New Jerse
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Pennsylvani:
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia

Virginia

Puerto Ricc

Virginia



Shenandoah Memorial Park Subsidiary,
Sierra View Memorial Par

Southern Memorial Sales LL

Southern Memorial Sales Subsidiary, |
Springhill Memory Gardens LL!
Springhill Memory Gardens Subsidiary, I
Star City Memorial Sales LL!

Star City Memorial Sales Subsidiary, I
Stephen R. Haky Funeral Home, |
Stitham LLC

Stitham Subsidiary, Incorporat
StoneMor Alabama LL(

StoneMor Alabama Subsidiary, Ir
StoneMor Arkansas Subsidiary LL
StoneMor California, Inc

StoneMor California Subsidiary, In
StoneMor Cemetery Products LL
StoneMor Colorado LL(

StoneMor Colorado Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Florida LLC

StoneMor Florida Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Georgia LL(

StoneMor Georgia Subsidiary, Ir
StoneMor GP LLC

164

Virginia
California
Virginia
Virginia
Maryland
Maryland
Virginia
Virginia
Pennsylvani:
Virginia
Virginia
Alabama
Alabama
Arkansas
California
California
Pennsylvani:
Colorada
Colorada
Florida
Florida
Georgia
Georgia

Delaware



StoneMor Hawaiian Joint Venture Group LI
StoneMor Hawaii LLC

StoneMor Hawaii Subsidiary, In
StoneMor Holding of Pennsylvania LL
StoneMor lllinois LLC

StoneMor lllinois Subsidiary LL(
StoneMor Indiana LL(

StoneMor Indiana Subsidiary LL
StoneMor lowa LLC

StoneMor lowa Subsidiary LL:
StoneMor Kansas LL(

StoneMor Kansas Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Kentucky LLC

StoneMor Kentucky Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Michigan LLC

StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Mississippi LLC

StoneMor Mississippi Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Missouri LLC

StoneMor Missouri Subsidiary LL
StoneMor North Carolina LL(
StoneMor North Carolina Subsidiary LL
StoneMor North Carolina Funeral Services,
StoneMor Ohio LLC

165

Hawaii

Hawalii

Hawaii
Pennsylvani:
lllinois

lllinois

Indiana
Indiana

lowa

lowa

Kansas
Kansas
Kentucky
Kentucky
Michigan
Michigan
Mississippi
Mississippi
Missouri
Missouri
North Caroline
North Caroline
North Carolineg
Ohio



StoneMor Ohio Subsidiary, In
StoneMor Oklahoma LL¢

StoneMor Oklahoma Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Operating LL(

StoneMor Oregon LL(

StoneMor Oregon Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Partners L.|

StoneMor Pennsylvania LL
StoneMor Pennsylvania Subsidiary LI
StoneMor Puerto Rico LL¢

StoneMor Puerto Rico Subsidiary L1
StoneMor South Carolina LL
StoneMor South Carolina Subsidiary LI
StoneMor Tennessee Subsidiary, |
StoneMor Washington, In

StoneMor Washington Subsidiary LL
Sunset Memorial Gardens LL

Sunset Memorial Gardens Subsidiary, |
Sunset Memorial Park LL

Sunset Memorial Park Subsidiary, |i
Temple Hill LLC

Temple Hill Subsidiary Corporatic
The Valhalla Cemetery Company LL

The Valhalla Cemetery Subsidiary Corporat

Ohio
Oklahoma
Oklahoma
Delaware
Oregon
Oregon
Delaware
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:
Puerto Ricc
Puerto Ricc
South Caroling
South Caroling
Tennesse
Washingtor
Washingtor
Virginia
Virginia
Maryland
Maryland
Virginia
Virginia
Alabama

Alabama



Tioga County Memorial Gardens LL Pennsylvani:

Virginia Memorial Service LLC Virginia
Virginia Memorial Service Subsidiary Corporati Virginia
WNCI LLC Delaware

W N C Subsidiary, Inc Maryland
Wicomico Memorial Parks LL( Maryland
Wicomico Memorial Parks Subsidiary, Ir Maryland
Willowbrook Management Cor| Connecticu
Woodlawn Memorial Park Subsidiary LL Pennsylvani:

* Entity is not a StoneMor Partners L.P. subsidjdqmyt a controlled nonprofit corporation, or a nafjt corporation in which a StoneMor
Partners L.P. subsidiary holds a voting interesd, t8 which management or operating services areiged by contract with a StoneMor
Partners L.P. subsidiar
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-192670 on Form S-3Registration Statement Nos. 333-
143863 and 333-176789 on Forn8®f our reports dated March 17, 2014 relatindhtndonsolidated financial statements of StoneMotnEes
L.P. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) and the ¢ifecess of the Company’s internal control oveaficial reporting appearing in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of StoneMor Partners L.P. far year ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 17, 2014
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CERTIFICATION
Exhibit 31.1
I, Lawrence Miller, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1@eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, ofi@Wor Partners L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentesi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal t@hover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014

By: /s/ Lawrence Miller
Lawrence Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer,
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CERTIFICATION
Exhibit 31.2
I, Timothy K. Yost, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1@eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, ofi@Wor Partners L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentesi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal t@hover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014

By: /s/ Timothy K. Yost
Timothy K. Yost
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial OffiQe
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18taf tnited States Code), the
undersigned officer of StoneMor GP, LLC, the gehpeatner of StoneMor Partners L.P. (the “Partni@3hdoes hereby certify with respect
the Annual Report of the Partnership on Form 1®kKtlie year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Reptir&i)

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2.  The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of
the Partnershig

/sl Lawrence Miller
President and Chief Executive Offic Date: March 17, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code) and is not éiled as part of the Report or as a separatéadigre document.
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18taf tnited States Code), the
undersigned officer of StoneMor GP, LLC, the gehpeatner of StoneMor Partners L.P. (the “Partni@3hdoes hereby certify with respect
the Annual Report of the Partnership on Form 1®kKtlie year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Reptir&i)

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2.  The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of
the Partnershig

/sl Timothy K. Yost
Chief Financial Office Date: March 17, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code) and is not éiled as part of the Report or as a separatéadigre document.
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